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DESIGN CONCEPT
RS

The cover design features a “bridge” as the central
visual element, symbolising Everbright Water’s
unwavering commitment and steady progress in
water environment management over the past two
decades. The bridge not only represents a physical
connection but also signifies Everbright Water’s
role as a link between technological innovation
and sustainable development, driving ongoing
advancements in the sector. It also embodies
Everbright Water’s long-term aspirations and vision
to continuously explore new paths in this field.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
NEIEN

China Everbright Water Limited (“Everbright Water” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is an
environmental protection company dedicated to water environment
management. The Company is listed on the Mainboard of
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX” or
“SGX-ST”) and the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “SEHK”") (stock codes: U9E.SG and 1857.HK)
with its controlling shareholder being China Everbright Environment
Group Limited (stock code: 257.HK, “Everbright Environment”).

Everbright Water has developed a full-fledged business coverage,
which includes raw water protection, water supply, municipal waste
water treatment, industrial waste water treatment, reusable water,
river-basin ecological restoration, and sludge treatment and disposal.
Meanwhile, the Company has also formed a full industry chain in the
water business, including project investment, planning and design,
technological research and development (‘R&D”), engineering
and construction, and operations management, among others.
It is determined to create value to industries through various
water-related businesses. The Company’s geographical footprint
spans across East, Central, South, North, Northeast and Northwest
China, covering 13 provinces, municipalities and autonomous
regions, namely Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei, Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Shandong,
Shaanxi, Henan, Hubei, Liaoning, Guangdong, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region and Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region,
in addition to an overseas business presence in Mauritius. As of
31 December 2024, the Company’s projects have a designed daily
water treatment capacity of approximately 7.70 million m?3,
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Board of
Directors

EST

Audit Committee

BHitEEE

Remuneration
Committee

HMESE

Nominating
Committee

RBEEG

Strategy
Committee

HEREES T

Joint Company
Secretaries

HEABWE

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Luan Zusheng (Chairman)

Executive Directors
Mr. Tao Junjie (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Yuexing (Vice President)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Zhai Haitao (Note)

Ms. Hao Gang

Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter

Mr. Soh Kok Leong

Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy
(appointed on 13 March 2025)

Mr. Soh Kok Leong (Chairman)
Mr. Zhai Haitao

Ms. Hao Gang

Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter

Ms. Hao Gang (Chairman)
Mr. Zhai Haitao
Mr. Soh Kok Leong

Mr. Zhai Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Luan Zusheng

Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter

Mr. Soh Kok Leong

Mr. Luan Zusheng (Chairman)
Mr. Tao Junjie

Mr. Wang Yuexing

Ms. Hao Gang

Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter

Ms. Kwan Yun Fui (ACG, ACS)
Ms. Ho Wing Tsz Wendy (FCG, FCS(PE))

Note:

Mr. Zhai Haitao will retire as an Independent
Non-Executive Director with effect from the
conclusion of the annual general meeting to be
held on 23 April 2025.
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Registered Office
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Shenzhen Office
FHMAE

Singapore Office
FONRPI A=

Hong Kong Office
EEMQE

Bermuda
Share Registrar

BnERNBR
B5ck

Singapore
Share Transfer
Agent
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Hong Kong

Share Registrar
and Transfer Office
EARRMBR
EikE

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Tel: +1 441 295 1422

Fax: +1 441 292 4720

Email: bermuda@conyers.com

26/F., Block A, Oriental Xintiandi Plaza
No.1003 Shennan Avenue, Futian District
Shenzhen, People’s Republic of China
518000

Tel: 86-755-8299 9100

Fax: 86-755-8299 9200

Email: info@ebwater.com

9 Battery Road, MYP Centre, #20-02
Singapore 049910

Tel: 65-6221 7666

Fax: 65-6225 7666

Email: info@ebwater.com

Room 3601, 36/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Tel: 852-2259 1268

Fax: 852-2433 6546

Email: info@ebwater.com

Conyers Corporate Services
(Bermuda) Limited

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services
Pte. Ltd.

1 Harbourfront Avenue,

#14-07 Keppel Bay Tower

Singapore 098632

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited
2103B, 21/F., 148 Electric Road, North Point
Hong Kong

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Tah 1 +1 441 295 1422

fBE  +1441 2924720

EH : bermuda@conyers.com
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(Bermuda) Limited
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Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
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Auditors
EstEm

Legal Advisors
RIREER

Principal Bankers

FEFRRT

Public Relations
ARAEER

For the reporting under
the SGX Listing Manual

KPMG LLP

(Public Accountants and Chartered
Accountants under the Accountants
Act 2004 of Singapore)

12 Marina View, #15-01

Asia Square Tower 2

Singapore 018961

Partner-in-charge: Ms. Yeo Lik Khim

(Appointed in Financial Year 2024)

For the reporting under
the SEHK Listing Rules

KPMG, Certified Public Accountants

(Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in
accordance with the Accounting and
Financial Reporting Council Ordinance)

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

(Appointed in Financial Year 2024)

Allen & Gledhill LLP
Li & Partners
China Commercial Law Firm

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Hong Kong Branch

China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

DBS Bank Limited, Hong Kong Branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China Limited

Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.

Citigate Dewe Rogerson

Sepr 7
fi i
KPMG LLP

( (ZBTIIB2004F S51HATE) T A
VAR oIS ey ol )

B S 1258
TMNEISE - ABE#15-01F
4% : 018961

TEEBRAN  BEELL
(FA2024 84 BR FF FEJERE )

SR |- A Al
7R

ZERETRERFT - MRS ATED
(B (Zat R BIERGFP) TaY
DR s B RE BT )

EFEBIR

FEITB105%

KFKESHE
(FA2024 84 B FF FEJERE )

X fmis B EHAm
FEXARENTT
ER RN

RERRRITRNDBERAA
REIERTT (BE) BRAA
REIERITI O BR AR
RRITIRD AR AR
FEDIT

REIERIRTT (T2M)

B BRAR]
REERIRITRIDBER DA
ERBTEBDIT

RE TRRITAID BR AR

IR iRITEB DT
PR E R HEERITRDBER AR

HELA



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2024 EHRE 7
JL = =
KREEER
DIVIDENDS
445N
Corporate Website . 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Aot
AE'I'%HME Interim
www.ebwater.com A
(HK cents) (AL 3.74 5.75 5.45 6.63 6.09
(Sing cent(s)) (ZEHFD) 0.67 1.01 0.98 1.13 1.05
Stock Codes .
o Final
B RS *H
(HK cents) (B 6.07 6.83 514 5.81 5.81*
;g;?ﬁ (Singcent(s)  (ZEHH) 104 119 086 099 1.02*
1857
IMPORTANT DATES
SGX BEEQF
1 32 Fi _
Annual General Meeting
U9E RRBFAE
Date & Time: 9:30 a.m. (Singapore time) on 23 April 2025 (Wednesday)
EEESESI 2025%4A23H (EH=) EF9IR305 (i)
Venue: Pan Pacific Singapore, Ocean 4 & 5 Room, Level 2,
HoBh 7 Raffles Boulevard, Marina Square, Singapore 039595
RTINS H T ARER B TSRS IS N T K TR R
Investor Relations “1#8Ocean 4 X5E & (H4R - 039595)
Contacts Last Day to Register Last Day to Register
IR EERRERLR for Determining the for Determining the
Entitlement to Attend and  Entitlement to
; o Vote at Annual General the FY2024 Proposed
lféZ:eh?Zi tzg nauines, Meeting Final Dividend
gm e SpEs AEZHERTEFARY RECSH0UHBEEE
AR AREES RELBREERZRARERLE BREREERZROER
_ _ B%AH 8% AH
China Everbright Water
Limited For Singapore 5:00 p.m. (Singapore time) 5:00 p.m. (Singapore time)
B S A Ak T Shareholders on 15 April 2025 (Tuesday) on 29 April 2025 (Tuesday)
BRAT HRFFMEILR 202554 A1650 (EH=) 20254 4290 (EH=)
, TFSRFIE (RN Rsf) NSEFIE (RN )
Investor Relations
B EBIR For Hong Kong  4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) ~ 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time)
Email: ir@ebwat Shareholders on 15 April 2025 (Tuesday) on 29 April 2025 (Tuesday)
mak: Irgebwater.com HREBRE 2025%4A158 (BHI=)  202544H298 (EH-)

T : ir@ebwater.com

TF4RE30) (BBREH)

TF4ARE30) (BBEM)

Payment Date of the FY2024 Proposed Final Dividend
2024 BUF ER B AR R B 2K+ B 58

On or around 23 May 2025 (Friday)
2025 5H23H (28H) %AIE

* The FY2024 Proposed Final Dividend is subject to the approval
by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming Annual

General Meeting.

¥ 202481 B FIZ 2 AR KB
BIF AR AR R EE R R
FAE LHEET AR



CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED

8 o B K K ok B PR 2 B
[G==]
MHEE
. FY2024 FY2023 Percentage
L 2024 2023 Change
PR E MBEFE FY2024 VS FY2023
202481 B FE ¥ Lk
RESLLLS N HK$000  HK$'000 20238 B EF &
e F#xT Tt FHEHLL
Revenue WA 6,851,918 6,704,684 2%
Gross Profit EF 2,617,462 2,822,383 (7%)
EBITDA BRFUSRIEINE R
ks s 2,197,255 2,469,511 11%
HNATER (11%)
Profit Attributable to BATIESIEEA o
Equity Holders of the Company FE(LZEFI 1,019,609 1,187,412 (14%)
Return on Shareholders’ Equity (%) B&5EE & EIERE (%) 8.8 10.6 (1.8ppt)
Basic Earnings per Share SRERER o
(HK cents) GEA) 35.64 41.51 (14%)
Total Dividend per Share SREERE
(HK cents) (F1l) 11.90 12.44 (4%)
(equivalent to Sing cents) (E{EHHD) 2.07 2.12 (2%)
31 31 Percentage
December December Change
2024 2023 31 December 2024
2024 20234 VS
12H31H 12A31H 31 December 2023
. A iy 202412 H31 Bt
Financial Position HK$'000  HK$'000 2023%12A31H
Bk F#x FiHT FEHEH L
Total Assets mEE 35,889,362 34,220,661 5%
Total Liabilities FEy=TE 21,897,684 20,768,319 5%
Equity Attributable to TAERERIFEEA o
Equity Holders of the Company FE(LRERS T1;635;1208 11,406,121 4%
Net Asset Value per Share (HK$) SIS EESE (GBT) 4.14 3.99 4%
Gearing Ratio BEAGEE
(Total Liabilites/Total Assets) (%) (48 £ E/4EEE) (%) 61.0 60.7 0.3ppt
Notes: Bst -
1. EBITDA is the earnings for the period before deduction of interest expense, 1. BHE - BIE - TEREHTEFBHIRFE

2
3.
4

taxes, depreciation and amortisation.

. ppt means percentage point.
FY2023 refers to the financial year ended 31 December 2023.
. FY2024 refers to the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

SN

MR - IrE R# R AT o

DPPUEE 735 o
202381 B FIE S
202451 B F/E S

FE2023F 1231 H I FE °
(R2024F 12731 H IFRTIFIZ »



ANNUAL REPORT 2024
2024 FERE 9

Revenue HK$'000

WA 55z

bl
W 6,727,967

FY2024 FY2023 FY2022
2024 AR 20238 B IE 20220 R

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company Hk$'000
AT FEABGERN 51

1,019,609 1,187,412 1,010,565

FY2024 FY2023 FY2022
202481 U E 20230 B E 20220 B E
Basic Earnings per Share Hk cents Net Asset Value per Share Hks
SRRERER BREERE 1
40 — 35.64 ﬂ 3530 4.0 — {} f? ':I'
_— () | ( 35 — ] 1 |
| | w0

30 —

FY2024 FY2023 FY2022 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
2024 BEE 20230 EBEFE 20220 BEE 2024%12831H 2023%12A31H 2022412 A31H
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
REERABERDE

CORPORATE MILESTONES
TRERER

First Quarter

Issued the 2024 First Tranche Medium Term Notes, which was
fully subscribed for by institutional investors in the national
inter-bank bond market (the “Institutional Investors”) of
mainland China, at a record low interest rate, underscoring the
Company’s deep understanding of the market conditions and the
market’s confidence in the Company’s growth prospects

Mr. Luan Zusheng was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board of the Company (the “Board”) and joined the Board as a
Non-Executive Director

Announced the full-year results for FY2023, with the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company increasing by 17%
as compared to FY2022*

LLaunched a series of themed environmental protection activities in
conjunction with the “World Water Day” and “China Water Week”
campaigns for the seventh consecutive year, engaging with local
communities and connecting with the public to advocate for
green and low-carbon development

Shortlisted as one of the “Top Ten Influential Enterprises in China’s
Water Industry” by E20 Environment Platform for the seventh
consecutive year

*FY2022 refers to the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

B -

o ZIT2024FEF—HPHMRE - YA+
BARh=BRTEGESMERERES
( [#BREE] ) RBEZE > BIAX
BRFE  BRARREMSRERNER
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o BARSEARRE/ARAEERLMAR
NAEREE ( [EBEE] ) BEHTES

o NI2023BMEFEEEF XL AR A
EEBEEAEBMBANE20228 KFE
#RE17%

o HBEEFLFEE [LRAKE] B [hH
KB HERIETERREETE -
EEMRE  BOIRZT  REL&G KRR
B

o EEFLFANEE20RKETE [HEKE
TREENRER] 2—

* 202281 B [ H5 8L F2022F 12 31 H1FAHBCEJE -
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Second Quarter

E_FE

Issued asset-backed securities (“ABS”), facilitating the
revitalisation of the Group’s existing assets, solidifying diverse
financing channels, and optimising its financing structure

Leveraged the Group’s environmental protection projects across
six cities in China to launch the “I Am a Little Environmental
Protection Ambassador” speech contest and a series of public
open events, engaging with local communities to promote the
concept of green and low-carbon living concept

Secured Anyang Municipal Waste Water Treatment Centre Phase |
Project in Henan Province, marking the Group’s significant
business breakthrough in Henan’s water market

BTEEXTES ( [AEXEES])
WHAEBREFEERE H ZEZTLR
BRE  BLEBESRE

Bt 2h AN SR T 5RO AR B X T AV ER
REBFAE [HENNREREE | EBE
HWEBEBRAZRABRINEE - RALREIRE
BrraEiREEES

RSAEZEmBISKEESRL—HT
RIER  BHREAKBEEABKETS
RSB R EB R
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CORPORATE MILESTONES
TEEREH

Third Quarter
BF=FE

2024

e The Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO) Pollution Control Project
along Jinshan Lake, part of the Group’s Jiangsu Zhenjiang Sponge
City Construction Public-Private Partnership (“PPP”) Project, was
awarded the “2024 Jiangsu Province Sponge City Demonstration
Project”

Included in the Singapore Governance and Transparency Index,
ranked 89"

Signed the Jiangsu Jiangyin Lingang Industrial Waste Water
Treatment Plant and Ancillary Pipeline Network Phase |
EPCO (Engineering Design-Procurement-Construction-Operation)
Project, further enhancing the Group’s asset-light and asset-heavy
businesses in the industrial waste water treatment sector

Capa i BEEARMALARTRSE. Lpuay
- apa
LABNS mA, BR. GE8 agAsEfne

@ ¥ iF P
BELaCiOEambindsndn
0 R 20 O

o H

MARE: LA (i)

Gih
ARERL AFH. awE BEE. -::-q
LLL T

surangeney 4
LANL S04 ARE. nud A5 dng | CUtAdsstanesed B

o NER[BIT BRI/ AR TH R BT ML

eBARAEE ([PPP] ) BEHRHNLS
IWCSOmm s Lera RIBEE £ &
[2024F B IHA BB M REIEE |
FE 5%
EMAF MK AR R EREIEHE -
i /& 858911
FEIH IR BIEREKEER
FREEM—HEPCO (Rit-HE-
MI-E%) BE  #—FPEEAEERN
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Fourth Quarter
FUEE

Signed a Memorandum of Understanding to explore opportunities
for cooperation in the industrial estate of Siak Regency, Riau
Province, Indonesia, supported by a delegation of relevant business
representatives, with the aim of fostering business exchanges and
collaboration in the water sector

Secured Zhengzhou Airport Economy Zone Waste Water
Treatment (Plant 4) Construction, Operation and Management
(“O&M”) Project in Henan Province, marking another significant
business expansion for the Group in Henan’s water market

Secured a water supply equipment service project in Bengkalis,
Indonesia and a technological process service for a petrochemical
waste water treatment project in Egypt, further enhancing the
Group’s capability in deploying asset-light business outside
mainland China

Awarded the “ListCo Excellence Award” jointly granted by
organisations including Hong Kong stock channel of ifeng.com
and Hong Kong media am730, for the fifth consecutive year

BET —EERTE  URREHRE
BREBMRZTIXEERNAIE XA
MHEALERAKRERR @ REKKREE
RBRHBEEREAE

ER 1557 9 S8 M A 22 78 [ 5 105 7K BE IR AR
METIREARIAABRERES
(ZEE) ) B EHRAKE#HE
AEKBHIBHX —EZXK MR

RENEEAGEARMEHKIER RE
R AR TS MR K Ak 15K ERIEIR R
TE2RYE £ TLEAKEPEE
SNERE B X M R B

BEFIFESC(RER®ER)
BEABHEE (am730) ERBHM AR T
[ T REIKE ]
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
TR AKERRAT

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
=SSR

MR. LUAN ZUSHENG
SHRTE

Non-Executive Director and Chairman

FUTESRESER

Dear Shareholders,

In FY2024, the People’s Republic of China (“China” or the “PRC”)
demonstrated remarkable economic resilience despite a complex
and rapidly evolving domestic and global landscape, as well as the
industrial challenges. The Chinese economy continued to improve
and made solid progress in high-quality development. Notably, the
Chinese government actively pursued its strategic goals of “Peaking
Carbon Dioxide Emissions and Achieving Carbon Neutrality”
(“Dual Carbons”) as part of its commitment to ecological civilisation
and further refined its policy framework for green and low-carbon
development. Driven by these policies and market demand, China’s
environmental protection sector actively addressed these challenges,
accelerating its transformation and upgrading, and advancing toward
sustainable and high-quality growth.

As a leading water environment management service provider
in China, Everbright Water demonstrated resilience in navigating
a challenging and dynamic industry landscape, while staying
committed to the principle of “Making Progress with Stability”. With
a key focus on the “water-related” sector, the Group enhanced
its core operational strengths while exploring new opportunities.
Over the year, the Group made significant achievements in both
operational capabilities and corporate governance, solidifying its
industry leading position and driving consistent progress toward
high-quality development.

BHBENRR -

CE2024BFEE MY EEZENER
SN FNIT RS, - REARIEAME ( [#
Bl ) KERBIAANERIN  CBEL
BEEEL SH=ERIEHE LHER
EARNIARERES  FRBITRETSH
ETmLW kA An) (TR ) EEH
F TE ﬁ@ﬁm%@ﬁﬁ o K
IﬁA ERMEERS T - FRRR
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ DR EE R AT AP 0 BA
EZeHEs  AIHEMNBERAMEBELSAIT

ERPE—RAIRBEEIAEREE - X
Kmﬁﬁﬁfﬁl%%ﬂ BN ITRERIR
B [kl &5 - B&E [2K]
%W HEZEERED  BRERRHEE
iEJZOEL FE - AEBEXRBESN - A
ETHBERT - TRREMLFER
SEERRELRELX -
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Market expansion advancing steadily. In FY2024, the Group
made significant progress in market expansion by reinforcing its
existing business areas and exploring new business fields while
balancing both asset-light and asset-heavy businesses to foster
synergistic growth. Investments in several waste water treatment
projects further strengthened the Group’s traditional business
advantages, while the addition of multiple asset-light projects,
both within and outside mainland China, enhanced this synergy.
In addition, a memorandum of understanding was signed to
explore opportunities for cooperation in Indonesia, deepening
international collaboration and laying the foundation for future
market development outside mainland China.

Technology-Driven initiatives progressing smoothly. In
FY2024, the Group reinforced its commitment to a technology-
driven strategy by establishing two R&D bases in China, enhancing
research capabilities and supporting the expansion of its industrial
waste water treatment business. Concurrently, the Group explored
the development of a “dark factory” technical framework and an
implementation roadmap, leveraging intelligent and automated
solutions to boost operational efficiency and quality.

Enhancements in operational quality and efficiency
progressing well. In FY2024, the Group advanced its “Five
Innovations” initiative - encompassing small inventions, small
transformations, small innovations, small designs, and small
suggestions - while progressing with the “Solar Power +” project.
These efforts greatly improved the quality and efficiency of intelligent
water treatment plant construction while promoting green and low-
carbon development. Concurrently, with its steadfast commitment
to the production and operation philosophy of “Prioritising Life,
Ensuring Safety and Compliance”, the Group achieved a year with
zero safety and environmental-related incidents, demonstrating
exceptional operational management.

Commitment to corporate responsibility actively pursued.
In FY2024, the Group actively fulfilled its environmental and social
responsibilities by treating approximately 1.763 billion m® of waste
water and producing approximately 48.5 million m® of reusable
water. The Group delivered high-quality water environment
management services to over 60 districts, counties and cities
across 13 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in
China. Throughout the year, the Group’s projects organised various
environmental public welfare activities, with 49 projects opened
to the public. These initiatives enhanced engagement among the
government authorities, enterprises and citizens, and fostered a
shared vision for green and low-carbon development.

TIEREBLSHEE - 20240 BFE - A&EE
BEFEAEF BEVE - BREE - mi5
MEKRAEE - WEZESKERER © #
— S REEREKEDS NP BERAINEE
%Iﬁ@éﬁ%%‘% BEBEEEEK IR
B %T—T\A{E{%Mﬁ- AR RTEH]
)EE’J/\T’E FEBBREBIREAE - AP
59|\%%4ﬁ%§i§§%w °

BEBEERBLS R - 2024 MEE - KEH
LARHEZ B gE A 0 - 727 BB 4T 3 i M 352
Mo A - AT HEBEKREEFNRER

MRt i E%%ﬂ%i [ 2 T
RMEAMEMAEE  BAEERL 88t

R E 4RI B EA%UJZ

BEENBIREA - 2024 BFE - &%

B EEE TR/ hash] (NEBR - DB
B NEF DRET  NERE) TE R
[Yetk+] HE  E—TRADZKBER

gxﬁléﬁf@ﬁﬁm?*@ﬂ<¥
BE R [HamE k-

BRI - AR
TEAH] NEEES

B 2FREET %%Eﬁ/\71a1R$1¢Eﬁ
EE PR TEUNESE °

EXEEBLSBIT - 2024 HEE - K
SERGBTREAMLEEMT - 2FTK
SHKEIBA17.63BIL K - AAKRKE ALY
4,8508 Y K APEBRRNEBRAEN
1384 (h) BRAEM60% @& &M
HELENKRRAERSE - HETTHEHBEZ2F
%@%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%m%%I%“Aé
g WEB49EEEBERARHEM &
fﬁﬁEJE@’&%ﬁ@@mﬁﬁﬁﬁo



16

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEREH

The achievements of FY2024 are a testament to the dedication
and hard work of all Everbright Water employees. On behalf of
the Board of directors (the “Directors”) and management of the
Company, | extend our sincere gratitude to our entire team and to
all stakeholders for their continued support and trust in the Group.

The Company remains committed to sharing its operational success
with its shareholders (the “Shareholders”) by implementing a
reasonable dividend distribution plan based on its operational
and financial performance, ensuring the effective safeguarding
of Shareholders’ interests. The Board has recommended a final
dividend of 5.81 Hong Kong cents (“HK cents”) (equivalent to
1.02 Singapore cents (“Sing cent(s)”)) per ordinary share to the
Shareholders for FY2024 (FY2023: 5.81 HK cents (equivalent to
0.99 Sing cent) per ordinary share). As a result, the total dividend
for FY2024 amounts to 11.90 HK cents (equivalent to 2.07 Sing
cents) per ordinary share (FY2023: 12.44 HK cents (equivalent to
2.12 Sing cents) per ordinary share).

Looking ahead, the Group will build on its achievements by
carefully analysing industry trends and leveraging its strengths
to further expand market presence both within and outside
mainland China, solidifying its high-quality traditional businesses
while strategically pursuing emerging opportunities. Meanwhile,
operational excellence remains a key priority to ensure the
stable and compliant operation of all projects. By embracing
digitalisation and fostering collaboration, the Group will unlock
the full potential of its existing assets, driving greater operational
quality and efficiency. Strengthening the team is essential as
the Group cultivates the collective expertise and dedication
to support high-quality development. With the unwavering
commitment of the employees and the continued support from
the Shareholders and stakeholders, the Board is confident that
the Group will achieve high-quality growth, deliver sustainable
returns for the Shareholders, create value for all stakeholders,
and contribute meaningfully to ecological civilisation construction
and sustainable development.

MR. LUAN ZUSHENG

Non-Executive Director and Chairman
18 March 2025
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
MR. TAO JUNJIE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Operating Results

In 2024, the road to global economic recovery faced substantial
challenges, with complex restructuring of supply chains
contributing to significant uncertainties in the macroeconomic
environment. Despite these challenges and ongoing pressure,
the Chinese economy demonstrated remarkable resilience in its
development. Amidst these macroeconomic pressures and the
need for transformation and upgrading, the Chinese environmental
protection industry and its enterprises continued to advance,
exploring new paths for growth. As a leading water environment
management service provider in China, the Group, with a focus
on green, low-carbon, and high-quality development in FY2024,
adhered to the principle of “Making Progress with Stability” and
concentrated on its primary responsibilities and key business
areas. By proactively addressing challenges and advancing with
determination, the Group maintained steady operations while
actively exploring new opportunities. With a strong momentum for
growth, the Group began to harness innovation, further reinforcing
its position as an industry leader.

MR E

Executive Director and CEO
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S
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In terms of operating results for FY2024, by prioritising development
as its primary task, the Group navigated both internal and external
challenges to deliver steady operating performance. It recorded
a revenue of HK$6.85 billion, representing an increase of 2%
from HK$6.70 billion in FY2023; EBITDA were HK$2.20 billion,
representing a decrease of 11% from HK$2.47 billion in FY2023;
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company reached
HK$1.02 billion, representing a decrease of 14% from HK$1.19 billion
in FY2023; basic earnings per share were HK35.64 cents,
representing a decrease of 14% or HK5.87 cents from HK41.51 cents
in FY2023; overall gross profit margin was 38%, down by 4 ppt
compared to 42% in FY2023. The Group has ready access to
diversified financing channels, holds quality assets, and maintains a
healthy financial position.

In relation to market expansion, during the year under review, the
Group adopted strategies that focused on strengthening its existing
business areas and exploring new business fields while balancing
both asset-light and asset-heavy businesses to foster synergistic
growth. The Group also reinforced its traditional business strength
through investments and implementation of several municipal waste
water treatment projects, including Anyang Municipal Waste Water
Treatment Centre Phase | Project in Henan Province. Focusing on the
industrial waste water treatment sector, the Group secured several
asset-light projects including Jiangsu Jiangyin Lingang Industrial
Waste Water Treatment Plant and Ancillary Pipeline Network Phase |
EPCO Project, as well as Zhengzhou Airport Economy Zone Waste
Water Treatment (Plant 4) Construction, O&M Project in Henan
Province. Through the adoption of various business models, these
efforts further integrated the Group’s core business capabilities and
expanded its business scope to include comprehensive industrial
park waste water treatment services. Leveraging its technical service
entities such as Xuzhou Municipal Engineering Design Institute Co.,
Ltd., the Group enhanced its service capability in the asset-light
business to deliver high-value services, further improving synergistic
development of both asset-light and asset-heavy businesses.
Meanwhile, the Group continued exploring opportunities in the
“water-related” business sector, gaining valuable experience for
future expansion of innovative projects. During the year under review,
the Group proactively strengthened its business expansion team for
markets outside mainland China and optimised the relevant systems,
with a particular focus on identifying expansion opportunities in
regions such as Southeast and Central Asia. The Group successfully
secured several asset-light projects, including a water supply
equipment service project in Bengkalis, Indonesia, and a technological
process service for a petrochemical waste water treatment project in
Egypt. In addition, a Memorandum of Understanding was signed to
explore opportunities for cooperation in the industrial estate of Siak
Regency, Riau Province, Indonesia. The signing was supported by
a delegation of relevant business representatives, with the aim of
fostering business exchanges and collaboration in the water sector.
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In FY2024, the Group invested in and implemented 5 new projects and
signed 2 supplementary agreements to its existing projects, with a total
investment value of approximately RMB896 million. It also undertook
various new asset-light businesses externally such as O&M, technical
services and technological processes, with a total contract value of
approximately RMB1.033 billion, with an additional designed daily
municipal waste water treatment capacity of 103,000 m?, designed
daily industrial waste water treatment capacity of 80,000 m?, and
designed daily reusable water supply capacity of 9,000 m?® (including
the treatment and supply capacity of O&M projects).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group invested in and held 171
environmental protection projects, with a total investment of
approximately RMB31.675 billion. In addition, it undertook various
asset-light business, including 12 O&M services, as well as a range
of engineering, procurement and construction (‘EPC”) projects,
EPCO projects, equipment supply and technical services. The Group
has a business presence in more than 60 districts, counties and
cities across 13 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in
China, in addition to an overseas market in Mauritius.

A summary of the number of project(s) and water treatment/supply
capacity is set out below:

20248 - AEBEKREEESEFEE
WHEZB2HREBEENEAGE  PRIEE
HREEHB.96B T ARY  FIAZINEZTE
g BTRY  IE2SRBEREEER -
HBRARSEMN10.33BTARE - #Higm
BOSKEIB R RE103,00032 5 K/H -
THEKREZFRES,000 2 5K/H
kB AR EHEE9, 00032 5K/ (BEE
EETEBNEEMEERE) -

HE2024F12A310  AEFBKENEA
17TVERRRIER - B RBREL316.758 T
AREE o o REBETSBEREEETR
BEI12EETEERY  UE—RJHNT
2#e ( [EPC] ) IHE - EPCOIEE * &
EHEREMBMRY - EBEETERFEHEA
13(8% - ™ B)REM60Z[EEET - /8
¥ BERSKY -

TEEREEHERKEE/ K AERE
mE -

Water Treatment/

Number of Supply Capacity
Projects (m3/day)
Project Type® HRHE KRR/ IR
HBERIO (&) (ZF2K/8)
Municipal waste water treatment projects®  TES/KERIEIEH @ 136 5,873,000
Industrial waste water treatment projects®® T3 EE/KEZIFIER @ O 26 496,000
Reusable water projects® FoKEIAIEER® 8 324,600
River-basin ecological restoration projects M REIEE 6 115,000
Water supply projects fftKIEH 3 250,000
Raw water protection project [R/KIRFEIE B 1 600,000
Sludge treatment and disposal projects EREEEEIRR 2 Not Applicable @A
Livestock and poultry manure resource BEBHSERE 1 Not Applicable 7~
utilisation project FHAEE
Total et 183 7,658,600
Notes: Hrat -
(1) EPC project(s) excluded (1) THEPCHEHH
2)  O8M project(s) included (2) BZFELEH
(3 EPCO project(s) included (3) BEPCOHEH
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In terms of technological innovation, during the year under review,
the Group focused on technology empowerment, driving technology
research and innovation to address market pain points and
challenges, while strengthening the application and commercialisation
of technological innovation achievements. Focusing on operational
and technical improvements, the Group made progress in areas
such as aerator cleaning in waste water treatment projects, in-situ
sludge reduction technology, and sulfur-based autotrophic biological
denitrification plants pilot testing and research, further promoting
cost reduction and efficiency enhancement in project operations. To
support industrial waste water treatment advancements, one R&D
base was established in Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, and another
in Zibo, Shandong Province. These facilities provide experimental
support for business development and scientific research. Through
follow-up services and systematic analysis of technical issues, the
Group actively refined and improved the quality of its self-developed
technological processes. In FY2024, the Group delivered a range of
technological processes to both internal and external clients, with a
total contract value of approximately RMB124 million. Additionally,
48 new patents (including 8 invention patents) were obtained, and
2 key research papers were published.

In terms of operations management, during the year under review,
the Group leveraged digitalisation, innovative models, the “Five
Innovations” initiative (small inventions, small transformations, small
innovations, small designs, and small suggestions), and other key
initiatives to enhance project operations management, diversify
income streams, and improve efficiency, further exploring an
operational service model that integrates operation, technology and
data. Some of the Group’s projects implemented energy management
contracting, making technological energy-saving improvements to
reduce costs and increase efficiency. Some projects of the Group
recycled residual oxygen to generate additional profit. The Group
further refined evaluation criteria for star-rated factories, continuously
improving the quality and efficiency of “intelligent water plant”
construction. Based on industry exchanges and in-depth learning,
the Group explored the development of a “dark factory” technical
framework and an implementation roadmap that meets the Group’s
needs. Additionally, the Group further solidified the “Solar Power +”
model that integrates new energy with environmental protection
business scenarios. As at 31 December 2024, 7 projects of the
Group had seen their solar power facilities commence operation, with
a total installed capacity of approximately 14 MWp, generating over
13 million KWh of green electricity per annum. In FY2024, 5 waste
water treatment plants of the Group received regulatory approval
for tariff hike, ranging from 6% to 87%, and secured subsidies of
approximately RMB41 million in total. Additionally, in FY2024, the
Group treated approximately 1.763 billion m® of waste water and
supplied approximately 48.5 million m® of reusable water.
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In relation to project construction, during the year under review, the
Group focused on comprehensive management of projects under
construction and in the planning stage, ensuring the orderly progress
of all construction activities. This resulted in the Group achieving
the “three zeros” goal — zero incident in safety, environment, and
occupational health — across all construction projects for the third
consecutive year, maintaining high safety standards. A key milestone
was that Guangdong Nanxiong Livestock and Poultry Manure
Resource Utilisation Project (“Nanxiong Project”), as the Group’s
first demonstration project in the area of “rural non-point source
pollution management + comprehensive resource utilisation”, was
completed and put into operation during the year under review, laying
a solid foundation for the Group to create new business growth. In
FY2024, the Group had 8 projects that commenced construction,
with a designed daily water treatment capacity of 154,000 m?; and
13 projects that either completed construction or commenced
operation upon completion, with a total designed daily water
treatment capacity of 209,000 m®. Among which, Nanxiong Project,
which commenced construction and began operation within the
same year, has a daily livestock and poultry manure treatment
capacity of 300 tonnes.

In terms of the capital market, during the year under review, the
Group continued to actively explore diverse financing channels and
enhance the effectiveness of its financing management, providing
stable financial support for its development and operations. It further
reduced financial costs by optimising the loan tenures, currencies and
interest rates, while also enhancing its collection of trade receivables
to mitigate liquidity risks. The Group’s major financing arrangements
in FY2024 are set out below:

Issuance date

Financing arrangements and uses of proceeds

TRERITE RDBEFEER  NEB2HH#
FiEE - ERBEEANEZANEIE  GF#E
REEERIE  EEF-FERERER
T2 REMBXRR Z@Z] MEZ -
FELELAR ERHEERIESERL
FAEE ( [HAHER] ) FAAEEEE
[ENERSARREAE+ERESF A
FEHAREBEENCDBEFEANERKE A
AEBITENER RS FRIFER -
2024 EE - ANEBEHEESEEE A LE
R RETEKEERE154,00032 75K ¢ 131E
THE ERTE TR EMNE - R HKEER
209,000 75K - Hep - mifEIE B KB
FEANRAIERWEAIRE  RFTHERES
BH# 53008 o

BAMGMBLIE  OEFER  NEBE#
BEREBHRMERENZTILRR - &7
MEEEND  ARERRREABENES
XFE G E—SELEETRNHR - BEMF
KGR BEEBRMHRA 2 OHEER
W B TE - BB RE ERE -
2024 EFE  AEBETERELHMT ¢

Issuance size (RMB)

BITHH MEZERERES AR BRITHRE (ARHE)
April 2024 Issuance of ABS to qualified investors in mainland China pursuant 2 billion
202444 F to an asset-backed products scheme, the proceeds of which were  >pfE5¢
used to repay the loans borrowed by the Group (in line with its
financial management approach of replacing high-interest loans with
low-interest ones) and replenish the Group’s working capital.
BRIBEBEEXRFHEETE RhTBEAmaERNEEREERTE
EXFES  BEEARNEERERER (KEXEEMESE
RERSEERNMBERTM) MERAEENLEES -
January 2024 Issuance of the 2024 First Tranche Medium Term Notes to the 1.5 billion
202441 8 Institutional Investors in mainland China, the proceeds of which were 155

used to replenish the working capital of the Company’s subsidiaries
and repay the interest-bearing debts of the Group.

RAB R MBI EERIT2024FEE —HHHRE - 5545%
AREAARRIZMBRRINEEE S MEERNEBENBE
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In terms of social responsibility, during the year under review, the
Group actively demonstrated its commitment to social responsibility
by organising and participating in various environmental protection
public welfare activities. Notably, around key environmental days
such as the “World Environment Day” and the “World Water Day”,
the Group leveraged its environmental projects across different
regions to host a variety of lively and engaging events, such as
the “Little Environmental Protection Ambassador” speech contest,
combining presentations, art, and educational programmes to
promote environmental awareness in an interactive and enjoyable
manner. In FY2024, the Group’s projects welcomed approximately
12,000 visitors from all walks of life and attracted approximately
6,000 online viewers. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
49 projects that were open for public visits.

During the year under review, with its unwavering commitment
to corporate governance, social responsibility, and sustainable
development, the Group has been honoured with numerous
prestigious awards, both domestically and internationally. Key awards
and recognitions are listed below:

Award
BREEZRE

HeETHE  RBEAFERN  AEBBEEZE
THEET  BERIEZEN2BTHEE
REFTENRZEE - B > B [HRIR
%A | [tRKE ] FREEELH K
SEKATESHAIIRIRIEE £45H &
£ BEFEHEA  REEH [NERR
&5 RV EEBESEZY  BR  EEMNR
REBES  EEEXETRARZHIRRFR
T o 2024 HEE AEEZBEEKTR
FEEEAZXEBEIRATOI2EAR &
FHRREE T3 46,000 AKX o B E2024%F
12A31H » AEBEHXE49EEEETRAR
FAIR o

CEFEEAN  AEEELEXER HEE
T AHEEREHNEEB O EPEE
MINRELZTHEBRR TERERARE
LN

Awarding Organisation(s)

AR

One of the “Top Ten Influential Enterprises
in China’s Water Industry” (for the seventh consecutive year)

[HEKE+ARFENRE] 2— BEFELF)

E20 Environment Platform
E20IREF &

Singapore Governance and Transparency Index
(the 89™ position)

¥R IR BB E R (5589hL)

Singapore Institute of Directors, Centre for
Governance and Sustainability at the
National University of Singapore Business School,

CPA Australia
FINEESDE - INEEY KEGEET
KNEBEEBERIAT  BANEEFAE

ListCo Excellence Award (for the fifth consecutive year)
Y FTMARIKE GEEERF)

The “ListCo Excellence Awards” (jointly launched by
organisations including Hong Kong stock channel of

ifeng.com and Hong Kong media am730)
[EH EmamAsR] 71E (B (BE®BR)
BHAEEE (am730) FHEHS RI¥)

Shandong Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project
(Northern Plant), Ji'nan Waste Water Treatment Project
(Plant 2), and Jiangsu Lianyungang Dapu Waste Water
Treatment Project were honoured as “Double-Hundred
Leap” model waste water treatment plants

IWEOSETKEIRIER (b)) -~ Ero/KEIRIER

(ZRR) FoI#EEB AR5 KEIEE B &Y
(& BB S 5KERERK

E20 Environment Platform
E20%REBF A&




24

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

MBS

Award
HEERE

Awarding Organisation(s)

TRBEE

Tianjin Beitang Waste Water Treatment Project and
Beitang Reusable Water Project were honoured as
“Excellent Case on Municipal Waste Water Treatment”
and “Excellent Case on Reusable Water”

REIESKERIEIE B N AL yE B4k IE B &R
(MBS HAOREERZEN | & fﬁiﬁ@ﬁﬁ%%x%i

E20 Environment Platform
E20IR%EF &

Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO) Pollution Control Project
along Jinshan Lake, part of the Jiangsu Zhenjiang
Sponge City Construction PPP Project, was awarded the
“2024 Jiangsu Province Sponge City Demonstration Project

/Iéﬁﬁ/l T HEI T 2R PPPIE B R &Y
HEILCSOR M5 4R RIRTE R éﬂéf’%ﬁ
[20245 S T8k BT REIEE | MBI

2024 Jiangsu Province Sponge City Demonstration
Project Selection (jointly issued by the Jiangsu
Sponge City Alliance and the Jiangsu Sponge City
Technology Research Institute)

2024F [E L AR& B4R T R 8078 B aTiE

(ETEE BREEE THE T 8E N
B OBEE B )

Beijing Daxing Tiantanghe Waste Water Treatment Project
was recognised as “Practice Teaching Base for ‘Grand
Ideological-Political Courses’ across Beijing Schools”

Education Commission of Beijing Municipal
Committee of the Communist Party of China,
the Beijing Municipal Education Commission

AR ER 057K IR TR B BT [1E M ER
[RBER] BEEHEEM ]

M RTEHRETIEZES

CARTHREZEE

The Company upholds the principle of sharing its operating results with
the Shareholders and is committed to creating value for Shareholders
through sustainable development. The Board has recommended a
final dividend of HK5.81 cents (equivalent to 1.02 Sing cents) per
ordinary share to the Shareholders for FY2024 (FY2023: HK5.81
cents (equivalent to 0.99 Sing cent) per ordinary share), which makes
the total dividend for FY2024 amounting to HK11.90 cents (equivalent
to 2.07 Sing cents) per ordinary share (FY2023: HK12.44 cents
(equivalent to 2.12 Sing cents) per ordinary share).

Business Prospects

Looking forward, despite the complex and challenging external
situation and increasingly intense market competition, the Chinese
environmental protection industry is creating new development
opportunities amidst the ongoing deepening of ecological civilisation
construction and the steady implementation of green and low-carbon
development strategies in China. The Group will continue to uphold
the overarching guiding principle of “Making Progress with Stability
and Promoting Stability through Progress”, maintaining a strong
commitment to the work while upholding accountability, consolidating
its strength, and pursuing innovative breakthroughs. Focusing on
“water-related” areas, the Group is dedicated to creating a new
landscape of green, low-carbon, and high-quality development. The
Group is committed to becoming China’s leading operator in “water-
related” business, creating values for the Shareholders and other
stakeholders of the Group, and working together with all sectors of
society to build a green and sustainable beautiful future.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

In FY2024, the revenue of the Group increased slightly by 2% to
HK$6,851.92 milion compared with the revenue of HK$6,704.68 milion
in FY2023, among which the construction service revenue increased
to HK$2,646.30 million (FY2023: HK$2,066.02 million), the operation
income decreased to HK$2,820.98 million (FY2023: HK$3,104.69
million) and the finance income remained at a similar level of
HK$1,097.01 million (FY2023: HK$1,097.18 million). Gross profit
of the Group decreased from HK$2,822.38 million in FY2023 to
HK$2,617.46 million in FY2024, representing a decrease of 7%. The
profit of the Group decreased from HK$1,261.21 million in FY2023
to HK$1,126.99 million in FY2024, representing a decrease of 11%.
The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company in FY2024
amounted to HK$1,019.61 million, representing a decrease of 14%
over FY2023.

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total assets amounted
to approximately HK$35.89 billion with net assets amounting to
HK$13.99 billion. Net asset value per share attributable to equity
holders of the Company was HK$4.14 per share, representing an
increase of 4% as compared to HK$3.99 per share as at the end of
FY2023. As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio (total liabilities
over total assets) of the Group was 61.0%, which increased slightly
by 0.3 ppt from 60.7% at the end of FY2023.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group adopts a prudent approach to cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and minimise cost
of funds. lts primary sources of financing for operations include
internally-generated cash flows, loan facilities from banks, and
proceeds raised from issuance of corporate bonds, ABS, medium
term notes, super and short-term commercial papers and perpetual
capital instruments. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash
and bank balances of approximately HK$1.85 billion, representing a
decrease of HK$33.60 million as compared to HK$1.88 billion at the
end of FY2023. Most of the Group’s cash and bank balances were
denominated in HK$ and RMB, representing approximately 97%.
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ARARIR S
BORROWINGS AND DEBT SECURITIES OF THE Z&£BENESRERES
GROUP
Amounts payable within one year or less, or on demand —FE By A (] 3L 15 B SR+ 20 1E
At 31 December 2024 At 31 December 2023
M2024%12A31H 2023512 A31H
Secured Unsecured Secured Unsecured
BEA I A B Eiig
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FERT FET FAET
452,917 3,728,412 218,916 4,387,977
Amounts payable after one year —FIRETFE
At 31 December 2024 At 31 December 2023
R2024%F12H31H R2023F12H31H
Secured Unsecured Secured Unsecured
BER KA BHEA i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FAT FAT
4,268,921 7,939,360 2,426,280 8,372,200

The Group is dedicated to broadening financing channels and
increasing bank loan facility limits to reserve funding for developing
water environment management business. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had outstanding borrowings of HK$16.39 billion,
representing an increase of HK$984.24 million as compared to
HK$15.41 billion as at the end of FY2023. The borrowings included
secured interest-bearing borrowings of HK$4.72 billion and
unsecured interest-bearing borrowings of HK$11.67 billion. The
borrowings are all denominated in RMB. Borrowings at fixed rates and
at floating rates accounted for 54% and 46% of the total borrowings,
respectively. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank loan
facilities of HK$11.72 billion, of which HK$3.63 billion have not been
utilised. The remaining terms of the bank loan facilities range from
1 to 18 years. During FY2024, while paying vigilant attention to and
monitoring interest rate risks continuously and cautiously, the Group
did not adopt any interest rate hedging policy.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS

The Group mainly operates in the PRC. Currency exposure arises
within entities of the Group when transactions are mainly denominated
in foreign currencies such as United States dollars, Euros, Singapore
dollars (“SGD”), Korean won, HK$ and RMB. In addition, the Group
is exposed to currency translation risk upon translation of the net
assets of foreign operations into the Group’s reporting currency of
HK$. During FY2024, the Group was affected by the changes in the
exchange rates and did not adopt any formal hedging policies nor use
any financial instrument for hedging purposes. Although the Group
was exposed to foreign currency exchange risks, the Board believes
that the future currency fluctuations will not have any material impact
on the Group’s operations.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Certain bank loan facilities and issuance of ABS of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 were secured by certain revenue, intangible
assets, contract assets and receivables in connection with the
Group’s service concession arrangements. As at 31 December 2024,
the aggregate net book value of pledged assets amounted to
HK$8.78 billion.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had outstanding purchase
commitments of HK$1.32 billion in connection with the construction
contracts and an outstanding capital commitment of HK$22.35 million
in connection with an unlisted equity investment. The Group intends
to finance the above commitments using internal resources of funds,
external borrowings, or a combination of both.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company provided financial guarantees
to two subsidiaries. The Board does not consider it probable that a
claim will be made against the Company under the guarantees. The
maximum liability of the Company as at 31 December 2024 for the
provision of the guarantees was HK$1,995.22 million. Notwithstanding
the above, the Group did not recognise any contingent liabilities at
the consolidated level as at 31 December 2024.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held the following other financial
assets:

BRMBAR BEARNKRSERE
HEXRBE - EXWRERLE

HZE2024FE12A318 - KEFEEHEBEUT
HE & aEE -

The Group INEE

At 31 At 31
December 2024 December 2023
20245 20234
12H31H 12H31H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET BT

Current BENEA
Unlisted investments, at fair value AR BEFENIELETRE - 88,150
Unlisted equity investment, at fair value AR (EBEFFE8IIE FHIRERE 32,928 32,998
Total st 32,928 121,148

As at 31 December 2024, the above unlisted investments were wealth
management products issued by a financial institution in Hong Kong
which were fully redeemed during the year ended 31 December 2024.
The wealth management products were mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual
cash flows were not solely payments of principal and interest.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the above unlisted equity
investment represents the 6% equity interest in Yancheng CCCC
Shanghai Dredging Water Environment Investment Co., Ltd.

Details of the other financial assets are set out in note 24 of the
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during FY2024.
The Group did not hold any significant investment, whose value
accounted for 5% or more of the Group’s total assets, during FY2024.

TRANSACTION IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY OR ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed under the section entitled “Significant Investments,
Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and
Joint Ventures” in the Chief Executive Officer’s Report of this Annual
Report, the Group did not have other transactions in the securities of
the Company or its subsidiaries during FY2024.
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FUTURE PLANS FORMATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section entitled “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the listing document issued by the Company dated
24 April 2019, the Group did not have other future plans for material
investments or capital assets during FY2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 8 January 2025, the Company announced the completion of
issuance of China Everbright Water Limited First Tranche Medium
Term Notes 2025 (the “2025 First Tranche MTN”) on 6 January 2025
and 7 January 2025, which was fully subscribed for by the
Institutional Investors in mainland China. The 2025 First Tranche MTN
has a principal amount of RMB1.5 billion, with a maturity period of
5 years (with an interest rate adjustment option to be exercised by
the Company and a resale option to be exercised by the noteholders
at the end of the third interest-bearing year) and an interest rate of
1.78%. The proceeds from the issuance of the 2025 First Tranche
MTN are used to replenish the working capital of the Company.

INTERNAL MANAGEMENT

Corporate management and risk control are essential for ensuring
efficient, healthy and sustainable corporate development. The
Group has formed a comprehensive management structure, with
four committees under the Board, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nominating Committee and the Strategy
Committee. Additionally, the Group has formed the Management
Committee, which serves as the decision-making body for its daily
operational management. The Management Committee meets at
least once a month to discuss current matters related to the Group’s
operation and management, ensuring its sustainable development.

The Group has also set up various functional departments, including
the Investment & Development Department, the Technology
& Development Department, the Operations and Information
Management Department, the Safety & Environmental Management
Department, the Budget Management Department, the Procurement
Management Department, the Finance Management Department,
the Human Resources Department, the Supervision Department,
the Internal Audit Department, the Legal & Risk Management
Department, and the General Management Department. Moreover, in
response to business needs, the Group has also set up eight regional
management centres, to ensure effective project management by
region and foster beneficial synergies.
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The Group has continuously improved its internal management by
establishing a comprehensive management system and emergency
response capabilities. Additionally, the Group has fully implemented
the Environmental, Safety, Health and Social Responsibility (‘ESHS”)
Management System (the “ESHS Management System”) and the
Risk Management System at all levels. These systems standardise
management processes across project investment, construction
and operations, aiming to identify and control risks, and improve the
overall operational efficiency and effectiveness.

During the year under review, the Group streamlined its organisational
structure and the division of responsibilities among its management
team. It also continued to optimise its internal management system,
resulting in a significant improvement in operational compliance. The
safety and environmental management team continued to maintain
a record of zero incident in both safety and environment, ensuring
stable project operations while simultaneously enhancing economic
benefits.

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

Talent is the most valuable asset of an enterprise and the primary
driving force behind its development. The Group highly values its
employees, adhering to a “People-Oriented” philosophy. The
Group protects the interests and well-being of its employees,
enriching their lifestyles and cultivating their values. During the year
under review, the Group thoroughly implemented the talent-driven
strategy, focusing on the continuous development of various talent
teams. By combining both online and offline methods, the Group
organised specialised trainings on various topics, such as “Cloud-
like Sailing Project - Intelligent Water”, as well as on procurement
compliance, budget management, safety and environmental
management, operations management, and human resource
management. These efforts aimed to empower managers and
employees through continuous learning, preparing them to embrace
new opportunities and challenges. The Group also made full use of
the advantages of business diversification to offer employees with
various development opportunities. In addition to facilitating internal
transfers between regions or departments, the Group effectively
utilised the internal talent pool by giving priority to its existing
employees for managerial positions in the functional departments
at the headquarters and various project companies. This approach
provided diverse development opportunities and unlocked employee
potential. Additionally, the Group has continuously enhanced its
employee promotion and incentive mechanisms to improve internal
development channels and promote outstanding frontline employees
and young talent to key positions, thereby ensuring a strong talent
foundation for the Group’s high-quality development. The Group has
strengthened safety and health awareness, actively improving labour
conditions and medical insurance benefits in the workplace. It has
also set up “Workers’ Medical Boxes” for employees, supporting
their physical and mental well-being.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 1,800
employees (including those in Hong Kong and Singapore). Their
remunerations are determined based on qualifications, experience,
job nature, performance and market conditions. In addition to
discretionary bonuses, the Group offers other benefits such as
pension schemes, medical insurance as well as other protection
schemes in compliance with the local laws and regulations. The Group
is also committed to providing equal opportunities for all employees
in various aspects and supporting their continuous professional
development to enhance their knowledge, skills and professionalism.
Details of the salaries and other benefits of the employees are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

During the year under review, the Group continued to strengthen its
risk management initiatives. Based on the requirements set out in its
Risk Management Policy and Risk Management Manual, the Group
thoroughly identified and assessed the principal risks faced during
the year under review and formulated and implemented targeted
control measures, which were generally effective. During the year
under review, the Group’s principal risks were as follows:

1. Policy Changing Risk

Description: The Group is exposed to various risks associated
with changes in regulations and policies relating to waste
water treatment, river-basin ecological restoration, sponge
city construction, reusable water, water supply, waste water
source heat pump, potential new business investment projects
and PPP model in the PRC. Failure to take effective measures
to address such policy changes could adversely affect the
operating results and development prospects of the Group.

Responsive measures:

(1) Closely monitoring changes in laws and policies. The
Group arranged for designated personnel to regularly update
and summarise the national laws and policies, and closely
monitor significant changes in the industry laws and policies.

(2) Organising teams and engaging experts to conduct
research and interpretation. The Group organised internal
teams to conduct research and provide interpretations
of new regulations and policies, ensuring timely internal
dissemination and implementation of new regulations
and policies. External experts were also consulted for
explanations when necessary.

(3) Promptly adjusting strategies and business models.
The Group closely monitored laws and policies related to
“Dual Carbons” and legislative developments concerning
PPP model. It also monitored regulatory changes, market
dynamics, and emerging business models, promptly
adjusting its development direction to adapt to evolving
environmental protection policies.

HE2024FE 128310 KEEESHERD
1,800 8T (FEBELFMK) - EEZ
FENIRBER - £ TEHEE - KRB

LG ERETE - BT RIGIEAIN » KEE
TkMA@mﬂ%ﬁE'@%ﬁW$ﬁ§~

BRREALBES MAEZZROEMER
[FETESE o i NREBEHAOES T H A
ﬁﬁﬁkﬁiﬁﬁﬁ'ﬂﬁﬁm#f%ﬁﬁ
B2 UREIRTHE B 2 A - BaE A
%%@°%%EE%M&E@%W%%%%
R 5 RR M LS

F 2 E bR B A HE E 1

CEFEAN AEEFEHERKREEREM

@IWF ERNE (AREEHE) M (&
REEFM) Bk - $$laﬁ@@$7

Wﬁﬁuumiﬁﬂ }E i‘ﬂLﬁJ—k AAE‘&%IJ El:l:

- HIELHET BHEENEZRE -

%%ﬁ@o%@@i@ﬁ*$%§%$%@
WU -

1. BERSFER

Wk - REEEE P ERISKEE - R
EREEE  BRMMER - PKEA
oK~ TEIKRER - BEMEHRER

A RPPPIEHIM A AR BELDAR -
ERERmAE RN SRR
TEHAEENEE LML EREA S

RAHLE -

EYIER

(1) BEETEBREEREL  AEETH
EANBERFRZEZEZRENTEHE
%%l'%ﬂﬁiéﬁiﬁﬁ%

(2) ABERX - IEERWEHEE -
FRBENEEEHEBER A%
B 15 & 40 4% N 20 E B OE 1T AT 9T
fRE &hﬁﬂ%ﬁiﬁﬁ“*
5 o BB - KKEIFEINE
REFIREITAAR -

(3) REAEBBMEBZEN - NE
Eﬁ%%&f%ﬁjmﬁiﬁﬁ

- PPP#HIMERIE - B
Ewﬁhﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&%%%
ﬁT M &%WW%%@%W



82

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
I\‘Ib‘%*ﬁﬂ:

2. New Business Investment and Market Competition Risks

Description: With a large number of capital and competitors
entering the water industry, the overall market competition
has become increasingly intense. In the event that the Group
fails to effectively analyse and forecast market trends and
industry developments, deploy existing resources according to
its strengths, or explore new business investments that yield
reasonable profits, it may result in unsatisfactory investment
returns or diminished competitive advantages.

Responsive measures:

U

@)

(&)

@

Focusing on the main responsibilities and principal
businesses and adhering to high-quality development.
The Group reviewed and optimised its development
strategies, focusing on its main “water-related”
responsibilities and principal businesses. Additionally, the
Group enhanced its market competitiveness by actively
reducing costs, strengthening its asset-light service
capability, improving efficiency, and expanding upstream
and downstream operations.

Enhancing research efforts on new business areas. In
addition to solidifying its traditional businesses, the Group,
during the year under review, arranged for a professional
research team to enhance research efforts on new business
opportunities and business expansion. It actively pursued
new business models and sought new opportunities within
the water industry and the Group’s business development.
Increasing efforts to expand its business outside
mainland China. The Group has been actively expanding
its business outside mainland China by strengthening its
business development team and enhancing its business
expansion system, paying close attention to expansion
opportunities in regions such as Southeast and Central
Asia, thus steadily expanding its business outside mainland
China gradually.

Promoting business development through technological
advancement. The Group actively promoted mature
technologies and drove business development through its
initiatives such as “Five Innovations” and “Open Competition
for the Best Candidate”.
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3. Environmental Compliance and Safe Production
Management Risks

Description: During the year under review, the PRC government
introduced and revised various laws and regulations related to
environmental compliance and safety production management,
strengthening oversight and enforcement actions. As a result,
enterprises now face more severe legal consequences and
environmental remediation liabilities for breaches of environmental
laws. With an increasing number of under-construction and
operating projects, the Group experienced increasingly severe
pressure regarding environmental compliance and safety
production management.

Responsive measures:

U]

@

3

@

®)

Enhancing process control. The Group has strengthened
its control across various aspects including business
development, design, engineering construction and
operation, striving to avoid and address the adverse factors
and potential risks in the projects during the early stages of
such projects.

Emphasising the construction of safety management.
The Group comprehensively promoted and implemented the
accountability of safety and environment for all personnel,
enhancing their safety and environmental awareness as well
as sense of responsibility, strengthening the supervisory
assessment of accountability, and supervising the
implementation of safety and environmental requirements.
Conducting investigations and specialised
rectifications. During the year under review, the Group
continued to conduct investigations and implement
remediation measures at all levels for potential accident
hazards in both under-construction and operating projects.
Enhancing efforts in education and trainings. The
Group implemented a safety and environmental personnel
registration management system and strengthened the
training and assessment of registered personnel. Through
the safety and environmental management qualification
examination, it further enhanced the awareness of
environmental risk prevention among the safety and
environmental management personnel, and improved the
capability of environmental compliance management.
Strengthening monitoring and early warnings. The
Group fully utiised the information sharing platform,
environmental protection monitoring platform and inspection
platform. These platforms are designed to focus on the
precautionary warnings of project operation indicators,
provide early warnings and preventive measures, and
implement precautionary controls.
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Trade Receivables Risk

Description: The primary customers of the Group are local PRC
governments in the regions where its projects are located. A
decline in these customers’ financial capacity or delays in their
payment of service charges could negatively affect the Group’s
capital management and profitability. During the year under
review, affected by the macroeconomic environment, the Group
faced risks related to the collection of trade receivables.

Responsive measures:

(1

@)

(©)

()

Optimising the management mechanism. During the
year under review, the Group placed high emphasis on the
collection of trade receivables, treating trade receivables as
a top priority. A specialised “Trade Receivable Management
Team”, led by the Chief Executive Officer, was established
to oversee the progress of receivables collection through
dedicated personnel and effective communication. The
Group also regularly holds specialised meetings to analyse
the overall situation of trade receivables, develop specific
working plans and collection strategies, and refine the
performance evaluation criteria for the collection of trade
receivables. Additionally, the “2024 Trade Receivables
Incentive and Penalty Management Measures” were
introduced. A comprehensive working mechanism consisting
of “dedicated teams, detailed accounts, incentives, and
assessments” has been established across all levels.
Categorising trade receivables and implementing
measures to maximise collections. For the undisputed
arrears, the Group enhanced its oversight and follow-up
with project companies, assigned designated personnel
to liaise with local governments for collection, and applied
timely pressure on local governments to expedite payment;
for the arrears where the water price has not been
determined due to unsettlement of projects, the Group
promptly streamlined and improved the preliminary work
and procedures for the recognition of water tariff, ensuring
that water tariff would be promptly recognised and
collected; for the disputed arrears, the Group strengthened
dispute negotiation, actively negotiated and resolved
conflicts through governmental visits and other means.
Exploring diversified collection channels. The
Company explored different settlement proposals for
the trade receivables, such as “settlement of historical
debts by instalments” and other methods to reduce trade
receivables. It also fully utilised financial instruments to
accelerate cash inflow.

Strengthening liquidity management. The Group
enhanced liquidity management by forecasting cash flows
over the entire operating cycle, optimising capital utilisation
efficiency to satisfy the liquidity needs for daily operations
and business development.
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Construction Project Management Risk

Description: Construction projects may be affected by various
factors, such as design deficiencies, inadequate staffing,
tight construction timelines, and insufficient oversight of
subcontractors by contractors. These challenges can result
in issues such as compromised construction safety, quality
shortcomings, schedule delays, and cost overruns, thereby
increasing the risk of financial losses and potential breach
of contract. During the year under review, the progress and
cost control of certain construction projects were affected by
incomplete construction procedures and fluctuations in labour
and material costs.

Responsive measures:

(1) Strengthening project information management. The
Company implemented a project management information
system to oversee the entire project management process
and conducted regular data analysis to strengthen its
project management capabilities.

(2) Strengthening control over construction progress.
The Company comprehensively tracked the progress of
each construction project and organised special meetings
in a timely manner to analyse problems and implement
targeted measures for projects experiencing delays.

(8) Enhancing control over construction budgets. The
Group strictly controlled engineering budgets and reduced
construction costs by enhancing contract negotiation,
controlling construction budgets, supervising construction
units and subcontractors, conducting on-site supervisions
and inspections, and rigorously examining approvals.

(4) Conducting on-site specialised and random
inspections. The Group continued to carry out safety,
environmental and quality inspections of construction
projects, including both targeted and random checks,
which covered various critical areas and work processes.
These included safety and technical briefings, reviews of
construction plans and supplier inspections.
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6. Staff Deployment Risk

Description: Due to business development and increasingly
competitive conditions in the water industry, coupled with the
time-consuming process of training key personnel, management
and technical talents, the Group faces certain difficulties in staff
deployment.

Responsive measures:

()

&

(©)

Cultivating corporate culture. During the year under
review, the Group has been committed to cultivating
its corporate culture to create a conducive working
environment and ensure the overall stability of its workforce.
Establishing a reserve talent pool and conducting
regular employee training. The Group attached great
importance to talent development and employee training
by regularly inviting external specialists for professional
development in order to enhance the capabilities of reserve
talents and young employees.

Optimising the selection and appointment system
and streamlining the promotion paths for employees.
The Group identified outstanding talents through internal
competitions, which effectively filled vacancies in key roles
and addressed the problems of individuals holding multiple
positions in key roles across certain projects. This initiative
has also created career growth opportunities for reserve
talents in key management positions, revitalising both the
internal and external talent markets. During the year under
review, the Group’s workforce remained stable and all
relevant works were carried out in an orderly manner.
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Financing Management Risk

Description: Given the business model of the water industry
(such as Build-Operate-Transfer projects), the Group is required
to invest a significant amount of capital for construction in the
early stage and gradually receive service fees once the project
completes construction and enters the operation period. Failure
to effectively manage its financing costs or secure financing
at an appropriate scale could negatively affect the Group’s
business development and financial condition.

Responsive measures:

(1) Formulating financing plans through scientific
methods. During the year under review, the Group
continued to monitor the financing environment within and
outside of mainland China as well as the trends in RMB
exchange rates. Additionally, the Group made reasonable
forecasts of capital needs, coordinated the management of
funds within and outside of mainland China, and formulated
the financing plans by taking into account the actual
financial ratios and loan restrictions, thereby effectively
controlling financing costs and risks.

(2) Adjusting the loan structure in a timely manner.
Through various financing channels, the Group adjusted
the loan structure as and when appropriate, and strictly
controlled the gearing ratio and use of capital to ensure
adequate capital reserves and manageable financing costs.

(3) Strengthening liquidity management. During the year
under review, the Group continued to urge various project
companies to actively collect waste water treatment service
fees, striving to reduce the scale of trade receivables and
overdue trade receivable balances.
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Cost Control Risk

Description: Due to market fluctuations and relevant policies
enacted by the PRC government, the prices for raw materials,
energy, finance, and labour have increased, leading to higher
costs.

Responsive measures:

()

&

(©)

Maximising operating capabilities. The Group has
consistently focused on energy saving and cost reduction
throughout its business operations. It implemented
various cost-reduction measures, such as operational
standardisation and refined management. Additionally,
the Group conducted feasibility studies on topics, such
as unmanned factory operations and “Intelligent Water”
to enhance operational performance and strengthen
cost management.

Leveraging the advantages of centralised procurement.
The Group fully capitalised on the scale and flexibility
benefits of centralised and regional procurement. By
introducing more qualified suppliers, the Group effectively
controlled procurement costs and ensured procurement
quality through more robust cooperative relationships with
long-term suppliers.

Strengthening budget management and process
control. The Group reinforced strict budget controls for
all under-construction and operating projects, rigorously
controlling project investments and operating costs through
regular assessments. The Group held periodic analysis
meetings to review operational conditions and conducted
specialised studies on cost control.
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ENVIRONMENTALAND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT

The Group actively reinforces its market position in the water
environment sector, consistently expanding its portfolio of high-quality
water projects. With its strong business capability, the Group actively
promotes the sustainable development of water environment across
various regions, contributing to the national ecological civilisation
construction. Drawing on its expertise in the water sector, the Group
strategically deploys its business operations across the “water-
related” management value chain, encouraging value innovation and
creation within the industry.

While focusing on the “Dual Carbons” strategic goal, the Group
has continuously refined its greenhouse gas information disclosure
framework and developed “Low-Carbon Demonstration Projects”
that seamlessly integrate various carbon reduction, pollution
reduction and resource utilisation measures, promoting low-carbon
development within the industry. All of the Group’s projects have
either obtained or are actively applying for international management
standard certifications, including 1ISO 9001 Quality Management
System, ISO 14001 Environmental Management System, and
ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety Management System.
Moreover, before making any project investments, the Group conducts
a comprehensive identification and evaluation of environmental and
social risks to ensure effective control over them. The Group also
ensures that all construction projects have obtained the necessary
approvals and permits, including environmental impact assessment
approvals, before commencing construction.

As aleading water environment management service providerin China,
the Group prioritises project compliance with utmost diligence. The
Group upholds the highest standards of professionalism and strictly
adhere to the relevant requirements detailed in the environmental
impact assessment reports, ensuring that the discharge indicators
of its operational projects meet Grade 1A or higher standards as
specified in the Discharge Standard of Pollutants for Municipal
Wastewater Treatment Plants (GB18918-2002). The Group continues
to report on the environmental performance of the projects under
its management, including waste water treatment and discharge
monitoring, odour control, noise control, waste management, climate
change resilience, energy and material usage, and water resource
utilisation. Through these efforts, the Group’s projects effectively
minimise environmental impact from municipal and industrial waste
water discharge, protect public health, and promote the sustainable
development of the water environment. Notably, there were no
breaches of relevant laws and regulations resulting in significant
losses or impacts to the Group recorded in FY2024.
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To ensure consistent operational practices and integrate social
responsibility into the Group’s business operations and daily
management, the Group has developed and implemented the
ESHS Management System, the Risk Management System, and
the “Intelligent Water” Information Management System. These
systems were established to standardise internal management,
enhance risk control, optimise the management system, and
strengthen emergency response capabilities, all with the goal of
promoting sustainable development. Throughout FY2024, the Group
continued to implement the ESHS Management System across all
levels, including employees, on-site third-party contractors, and
subcontractors. The Group also takes preventive measures against
risks associated with its investments and operations, considering
environmental, social, and governance factors, to reduce potential
risks’ impact on the business. Additionally, the Group is committed to
identifying and regularly reviewing relevant climate change risks and
opportunities at all levels of its operations. This encompasses factors
such as extreme weather events, policy changes, environmental
compliance, technological advancements, and innovation.

The Group is dedicated to transparently disclosing reliable and
consistent information on its operational performance to the public.
To achieve this, the Group proactively publishes information such as
environmental impact assessment approvals, annual environmental
monitoring plans, environmental emergency preparedness and
response plans, as well as monitoring results related to effluent
discharge, odour emissions and noise to its corporate website
and other government-designated platforms for public scrutiny.
Through these actions, the Group demonstrates its commitment to
social and environmental responsibility while promoting sustainable
development.

The Group is firmly committed to the philosophy of “Development
Driven by Technological Innovation”. This commitment is reflected
in the Group’s efforts to enhance technology applications and foster
collaboration between industry and academia. Throughout the
year under review, the Group has undertaken initiatives in technical
management, as well as upgrading and transforming newly developed
projects. Additionally, the Group has initiated pilot programmes in
critical areas, implementing intelligent and precise control systems in
waste water treatment processes.
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In line with the national initiatives and the Group’s core values, the
Group actively promotes environmental science education, enhancing
public awareness of water protection and supporting sustainable
community development. The Group continues to open its waste
water treatment facilities and plants for public visits, transforming
them into environmental protection education hubs that integrate
visits, hands-on experiences, and science education.

As at 31 December 2024, a total of 49 projects of the Group were
officially opened to the public. These projects received 266 batches of
visitors, totalling 12,112 visitors. The Group actively provides public visits
both virtually and in person. In FY2024, the virtual tours have reached
over 6,230 online views. In addition, the Group collaborates with local
environmental protection, technology associations, and government
organisations to encourage the public to increase awareness towards
water conservation and environmental protection.

In recognition of the Group’s commitment to environmental education,
the Group’s projects received multiple accolades in FY2024. A total
of 4 projects were honoured with titles such as “Environmental
Education Hub”, “Science Popularisation and Education Hub”
at national, provincial and municipal levels, while 1 project was
recognised as an “Open Day Promotion and Education Centre”.

DIVIDEND
(@) Current financial year reported on

Any dividend declared for the current financial year reported on?
Yes

As part of the Directors’ continuing efforts to enhance the
Shareholders’ return, the Directors have recommended a final
dividend of HK5.81 cents (equivalent to 1.02 Sing cents) per
ordinary share for FY2024, which is subject to the approval
by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on or around 23 April 2025 (Wednesday)
(the “FY2024 AGM”).
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Name of Dividend  BRE & FY2024 Proposed Final Dividend 2024 8f B [Z i R BARR B
Dividend Type REESE Cash e
Dividend Amount BESE HK5.81 cents (equivalent to TR E@AR5.8181L
1.02 Sing cents) per ordinary share  (5{E1.02%1%)
Tax Rate B=x One-Tier Tax Exempt —RTRIER R
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(b) Corresponding period of the immediately preceding
financial year

(b) E—BMBFENHESD

Name of Dividend HKRE & FY2023 Final Dividend 20230 BUF E R EAAR B
Dividend Type BREESR Cash He
Dividend Amount RE £ HK5.81 cents (equivalent to BT mARS.8181L

0.99 Sing cent) per ordinary share (%180.99%1%)

Tax Rate BE One-Tier Tax Exempt

—RFRIREFR R

(c) Date payable

Subject to the Shareholders’ approval, the FY2024 Proposed
Final Dividend will be paid on or around 23 May 2025 (Friday).

(d) Books closure date

Details on closure of books are set out in the section below
entitled “Closure of Register of Transfer and Register of
Members — (b) For determining the entitlement to the FY2024
Proposed Final Dividend”.

FY2024 AGM

The FY2024 AGM is expected to be held on or around 23 April
2025 (Wednesday). The notice of the AGM will be published on the
SGXNet and the websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited (“HKEX”) and the Company and its printed version will be
despatched to the relevant Shareholders in due course®.

* The Company has adopted an electronic communication regime. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10 July 2023.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF TRANSFER AND
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(@)

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM

For Singapore Shareholders

The Register of Transfer and Register of Members of the
Company will be closed at 5:00 p.m. (Singapore time) on
15 April 2025 (Tuesday) for the purpose of determining the
entitlement of Singapore Shareholders to attend and vote
at the FY2024 AGM. Duly completed registrable transfers
of shares received by the Company’s Singapore Share
Transfer Agent, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services
Pte. Ltd., 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay
Tower, Singapore 098632 up to 5:00 p.m. (Singapore time)
on 15 April 2025 (Tuesday) will be registered to determine
Singapore Shareholders’ entitlements to attend and vote at
the FY2024 AGM.

For Hong Kong Shareholders

The Hong Kong branch register of members of the Company
will be closed from 16 April 2025 (Wednesday) to 23 April 2025
(Wednesday), both days inclusive, for the purpose of
determining the entitlement of Hong Kong Shareholders
to attend and vote at the FY2024 AGM. Duly completed
registrable transfers of shares received by the Company’s
Hong Kong Share Registrar and Transfer Office, Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, 2103B, 21/F., 148 Electric
Road, North Point, Hong Kong, up to 4:30 p.m. (Hong
Kong time) on 15 April 2025 (Tuesday), will be registered to
determine Hong Kong Shareholders’ entitlements to attend
and vote at the FY2024 AGM.
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(b)

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

For determining the entitlement to the FY2024 Proposed
Final Dividend

For Singapore Shareholders

The Register of Transfer and Register of Members of the
Company will be closed at 5:00 p.m. (Singapore time) on
29 April 2025 (Tuesday), being the Singapore Books
Closure Date for the purpose of determining the entitlement
of the Singapore Shareholders to the FY2024 Proposed
Final Dividend.

Duly completed registrable transfers of shares received by
the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, Boardroom
Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., 1 Harbourfront
Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632 up to
5:00 p.m.(Singapore time) on 29 April 2025 (Tuesday) will be
registered before entitlements to the FY2024 Proposed Final
Dividend are determined. Members whose securities accounts
with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with
shares as at 5:00 p.m.(Singapore time) on 29 April 2025
(Tuesday) will rank for the FY2024 Proposed Final Dividend.

For Hong Kong Shareholders

The Hong Kong branch register of members of the Company
will be closed from 30 April 2025 (Wednesday) to 2 May 2025
(Friday), both days inclusive, during this period no transfer of
shares will be registered. Shareholders whose names appear
on the Hong Kong branch register of members of the Company
as at 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on 29 April 2025 (Tuesday)
will be entitled to the FY2024 Proposed Final Dividend.

Duly completed registrable transfers of shares received by the
Company’s Hong Kong Share Registrar and Transfer Office,
Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited, 2103B, 21/F,
148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong, up to 4:30 p.m.
(Hong Kong time) on 29 April 2025 (Tuesday), will be registered
before entitlements to the FY2024 Proposed Final Dividend are
determined.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of its listed securities for the year ended
31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not
have any subsidiary holdings.

CONVERTIBLES, PREFERENCE SHARES AND
TREASURY SHARES

The Company did not have any outstanding convertibles, preference
shares and treasury shares as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no sales,
transfers, disposal, cancellation and/or use of treasury shares.

MR. TAO JUNJIE

Executive Director and CEO
18 March 2025
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS As at 18 March 2025

_H_%EJZE #2202543 5185

MR. LUAN ZUSHENG
SIARE

Non-Executive Director and Chairman

FIUTESRESER

Mr. Luan, aged 59, is the Non-Executive Director and Chairman of
the Company. He is also the chairman of the Strategy Committee
and a member of the Nominating Committee.

Mr. Luan is currently the executive director and the chief executive
officer of Everbright Environment (together with its subsidiaries,
“Everbright Environment Group”). Mr. Luan is currently a director
of Sun Life Everbright Life Insurance Co., Ltd. He was a director of
Everbright Financial Holding Asset Management Co., Ltd. Prior to
joining Everbright Environment Group, Mr. Luan was the director of
the office and the officer for deepening reform of the leading group
office for the comprehensive deepening reform, and the secretary
general of the office of China Everbright Group Ltd., the indirect
controlling shareholder of the Company, the president of Shijiazhuang
and Wuxi Branches, the vice president and risk director of Shenzhen
Branch, the assistant to the president and risk director of Fuzhou
Branch, of China Everbright Bank Company Limited (“Everbright
Bank”), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
SEHK and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (the “SSE”), the general
manager of small and medium enterprises business department and
the general manager of the microfinance business department of
Everbright Bank.

Mr. Luan holds a Master’s Degree in Accounting from the Department
of Accounting of Nankai University and a Doctorate degree in Political
Economics from the Department of Economics of Nankai University.
Mr. Luan is also a Certified Intermediate Accountant in the PRC.

Mr. Luan joined the Board in March 2024.

Date of Appointment:
18 March 2024

Date of Last Re-Election:
26 April 2024

Present directorship in other listed companies:
China Everbright Environment Group Limited (listed on the SEHK)

Past directorship in other listed companies held over the preceding 3 years:
NIL
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MERTE

Mr. Tao, aged 59, is the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. He is also a member of the Strategy Committee,
and a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Tao has rich experience in engineering construction and
operations management. Mr. Tao was formerly the general manager
of the Department of Safety and Environmental Management of
Everbright Environment, a Vice President of the Company, a director
of several subsidiaries of the Company, the deputy general manager
of Everbright Environmental Engineering (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and
the general manager of China Everbright Water Investments Limited.
Mr. Tao also worked for Shandong Jianzhu University (formerly
known as Shandong Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering)
in the PRC.

Mr. Tao holds a Doctorate degree in Environmental Engineering
from Wuhan University of Technology in the PRC, a Master’s
degree in Architecture and Civil Engineering from Xi’an University of
Architecture and Technology in the PRC and a Bachelor’s degree in
Water Supply and Sewerage Engineering from Shandong Jianzhu
University in the PRC. He also holds the certificate of Certified
Supervision Engineer, the certificate of Certified Safety Engineer
and the title of Engineering Technology Researcher in the PRC.

Mr. Tao joined the Board in October 2021.

Date of Appointment:
5 October 2021

Date of Last Re-Election:
26 April 2022

Present directorship in other listed companies:
NIL

Past directorship in other listed companies held over the preceding 3 years:
NIL
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS As at 18 March 2025
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MR. WANG YUEXING
EHEKE

Executive Director and Vice President

| BITESREIAR

Mr. Wang, aged 55, is the Executive Director and Vice President
of the Company. He is also a member of the Strategy Committee,
and a director and/or the general manager of several subsidiaries
of the Company.

Mr. Wang has extensive experience in engineering construction and
operations management. Mr. Wang was formerly the Deputy General
Manager of Everbright Environmental Protection Technological
Development (Beijing) Limited and Everbright Environmental Protection
Engineering (Shenzhen) Limited, and the Plant Manager of Ji'nan
Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 1).

Mr. Wang holds a Master’s degree in Environmental Engineering
from Tsinghua University, a Master of Business Administration
degree from Shandong University and a Bachelor’s degree in Civil
Engineering from South China University of Technology. Mr. Wang
also holds the titles of Certified Cost Engineer and Certified Senior
Engineer in China.

Mr. Wang joined the Board in March 2024.

Date of Appointment:
18 March 2024

Date of Last Re-Election:
26 April 2024

Present directorship in other listed companies:
NIL

Past directorship in other listed companies held over the preceding 3 years:
NIL
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BZiBEkE

Mr. Zhai, aged 56, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company, the chairman of the Nominating Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Zhai has extensive experience and knowledge in banking,
capital market and management. He is currently the President
and Partner of Primavera Capital Group, and the Independent
Non-Executive Director of China Life Insurance Company Limited
(the shares of which are listed on the New York Stock Exchange
(the “NYSE”), the SEHK and the SSE). Mr. Zhai was formerly
the Independent Non-Executive Director of Everbright Environment.
He was also formerly the Managing Director of Goldman Sachs
Asia LLC and the Chief Representative of Goldman Sachs Beijing
Office. Prior to joining Goldman Sachs, Mr. Zhai worked at the
International Department of the People’s Bank of China in Beijing,
and was the Deputy Representative of the People’s Bank of China
Representative Office for the Americas based in New York.

Mr. Zhai holds a Master’s degree in International Affairs from
Columbia University, a Master of Business Administration degree
from New York University and a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Economics from Peking University.

Mr. Zhai joined the Board in August 2015.

Date of Appointment:
14 August 2015

Date of Last Re-Election:
26 April 2024

Present directorship in other listed companies:
China Life Insurance Company Limited
(listed on the NYSE, the SSE and the SEHK)

Past directorship in other listed companies held over the preceding 3 years:
China Everbright Environment Group Limited (listed on the SEHK)
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS As at 18 March 2025
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MS. HAO GANG
il am

Independent Non-Executive Director

BYFHTES

Ms. Hao, aged 66, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company. She is also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Strategy Committee.

Ms. Hao is currently an Associate Professor at the Department
of Management Sciences, the Associate Dean (China Executive
Programmes and Advancement) of the College of Business, the
Co-Director of CityU-Tsinghual EMBA/MPA (PPP) dual degree
programme at the College of Business and the Director of EMBA
(Chinese) programme, City University of Hong Kong. Prior to that,
she took a number of roles at the City University of Hong Kong,
mainly responsible for university development and international
programme, amongst others. Ms. Hao also worked in Techno-
Economic Research Institute of National Economic Commission of
the PRC and participated in a number of major national investment
and research projects in China. In addition, Ms. Hao is currently
the Independent Non-Executive Director of Million Hope Industries
Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed on the SEHK).

Ms. Hao holds a Doctorate degree in Decision Sciences and
Operations Management from University of Pittsburgh in the United
States, a Master’s degree in Industrial Administration from Tianjin
University and a Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics from
Sichuan University.

Ms. Hao joined the Board in March 2018.

Date of Appointment:
16 March 2018

Date of Last Re-Election:
26 April 2023

Present directorship in other listed companies:
Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (listed on the SEHK)

Past directorship in other listed companies held over the preceding 3 years:
NIL
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Mr. Ng, aged 58, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company. He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Nominating Committee and the Strategy Committee.

Mr. Ng is an experienced and respected public and corporate
leader. He was the Chief Executive of Singapore’s National Water
Agency, Public Utilities Board. Prior to leading Public Utilities Board,
Mr. Ng had served, variously, as the Commissioner of Police and
the Commissioner of Prisons in Singapore. Now retired from public
service, he is currently the non-executive chairman of Willowmore
Pte. Ltd., a start-up technology company.

Mr. Ng holds a Master in Public Administration degree from
Harvard University, the United States; a Master of Business
Administration  (Accountancy) degree from the Nanyang
Technological University, Singapore; and a Master of Arts degree
and a Bachelor of Arts (Engineering Science and Economics)
degree from the University of Oxford, the United Kingdom.
Mr. Ng has also completed the Advanced Management Programme
at the Harvard Business School, the United States.

Mr. Ng joined the Board in March 2024.

Date of Appointment:
18 March 2024

Date of Last Re-Election:
26 April 2024

Present directorship in other listed companies:
NIL

Past directorship in other listed companies held over the preceding 3 years:
NIL
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS As at 18 March 2025
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MR. SOH KOK LEONG
HEIRF%E

Independent Non-Executive Director

- B BTEE

Mr. Soh, aged 61, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nominating Committee.

Mr. Soh has extensive experience in accounting, auditing and capital
markets. He was with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) for
over 35 years, with more than 23 years of experience as Assurance
Partner. He retired from PwC in June 2023. During his tenure with
PwC, he led the audits of various large SGX-ST-listed companies,
Chinese state-owned enterprises and multinational companies.
Apart from his professional experience, Mr. Soh has been active in
various charities, non-profit organisations and professional bodies
in Singapore. He is a board member and chairman of the audit
committee of Methodist Welfare Services and also a board member
and Honorary Treasurer of Netball Singapore.

Mr. Soh holds a Bachelor of Accountancy degree from the National
University of Singapore. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants and a Fellow of Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand.

Mr. Soh joined the Board in March 2024.

Date of Appointment:
18 March 2024

Date of Last Re-Election:
26 April 2024

Present directorship in other listed companies:
NIL

Past directorship in other listed companies held over the preceding 3 years:
NIL
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Ms. Chan, aged 63, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company.

Ms. Chan has over 40 years of extensive experience in public and
private sectors, with wide exposure to policy analysis, strategic
planning, project management, trade promotion and executive
training. She is currently the Managing Director of the Hong
Kong Shipowners Association. Previously, Ms. Chan served as a
Directorate-rank Administrative Officer in the Government of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region and as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Estate Agents Authority in Hong Kong.

Owing to her experience and contribution, Ms. Chan was named one
of “China’s 100 Outstanding Businesswomen” in 2007 and the “Ten
Outstanding Women in China Shipping” in 2018.

Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor of Social Science degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master of Management
degree from Macquarie University, in Australia.

Ms. Chan joined the Board in March 2025.

Date of Appointment:
13 March 2025

Date of Last Re-Election:
N/A

Present directorship in other listed companies:
NIL

Past directorship in other listed companies held over the preceding 3 years:
NIL
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MR. WANG GUANPING

Mr. Wang, aged 52, is the Vice President of the Company. He is also
a director and/or the general manager of several subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Wang has rich experience in technology management and R&D. He
was granted several invention patents and utility models. Mr. Wang was
formerly the Assistant Dean of Everbright Environmental Research Institute,
Chief Technology Officer of China Environmental Protection Science and
Technology Holdings Limited, Deputy Chief Engineer of Shenzhen Liyuan
Water Design and Consultant Limited and Chief Engineer of Operation
Branch of Wuhan Kaidi Water Services Co., Ltd.

Mr. Wang holds a Doctorate degree in Environmental Engineering from
Tsinghua University, a Master’s degree in Municipal Engineering from
Tongji University and a Bachelor’s degree in Water Supply and Sewerage
Engineering from Huazhong University of Science and Technology. He
holds the title of Certified Senior Engineer.

Mr. Wang joined the Group in February 2016.

MR. ZHANG GUOFENG

Mr. Zhang, aged 48, is the Vice President of the Company. He is also a
director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhang has rich experience in project investment, operations
management and mergers and acquisitions. He was formerly the General
Manager of the Investment Development Department at Everbright
Environmental Protection (China) Limited, the Deputy General Manager
of Everbright Water (Zibo) Limited and the Supervisor of Everbright
Environmental Energy (Xintai) Limited.

Mr. Zhang holds a Master of Business Administration degree from
Yunnan University of Finance and Economics and a Bachelor’s degree
in Engineering from Qingdao University of Science and Technology. He
is a Certified International Accountant with China Association of Chief
Accountants, a Certified Management Accountant with the Institute of
Certified Management Accountants in the USA and a member of the
Association of International Accountants.

Mr. Zhang joined the Group in March 2017.
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MR. WU ZHIGUO

Mr. Wu, aged 47, is the Vice President of the Company. He is also
a director and/or the general manager of several subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Wu has rich experience in waste water treatment and engineering
construction management.

Mr. Wu holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Civil Engineering from Xuzhou
University of Technology. He also holds the titles of Human Resources
Professional (Intermediate) and Certified Senior Economist.

Mr. Wu joined the Group in May 2016.

MR. SONG LIBIN

Mr. Song, aged 42, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

Mr. Song has extensive experience in accounting management.
Mr. Song was formerly the Deputy General Manager of the finance
department of Everbright Environment, the Deputy Financial Director
of Southwest Regional Liquefied Petroleum Gas Operation Centre of
China Gas Holdings Limited (“China Gas”, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the SEHK), and the Financial Director of
Guangxi Zhongyou Energy Co., Ltd under China Gas.

Mr. Song holds a Master’s Degree in Economics from the University
of International Business and Economics and a Bachelor’s degree in
Management and Law from Tiangong University. He is also a Certified
Public Accountant in China.

Mr. Song joined the Group in March 2024.
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MS. KWAN YUN FUI

Ms. Kwan, aged 37, is the Legal Counsel and Joint Company Secretary
of the Company.

Ms. Kwan has more than 10 years of working experience as a practicing
lawyer and an in-house legal counsel. Prior to joining the Company,
Ms. Kwan was a practising lawyer at Messrs Shook Lin & Bok in
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. Her areas of practice included corporate
banking and finance, corporate real estate, and other corporate and
commercial matters.

Ms. Kwan holds a Postgraduate Diploma in Bar Vocational Studies
and a Bachelor of Law (Honours) degree from Cardiff University, United
Kingdom. She is also admitted as a Barrister-at-law, England and Wales
and an advocate and solicitor of the High Court in Malaya. Ms. Kwan is
also an associate of Chartered Secretaries Institute of Singapore and
The Chartered Governance Institute, Singapore Division.

Ms. Kwan joined the Group in July 2017.
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This is an abstract of Everbright Water’'s Sustainability Report for
FY2024. The full Sustainability Report for FY2024 is prepared in
accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) Standards,
the SGX Listing Manual (Rules 711A, 711B and Practice Note 7.6
Sustainability Reporting Guide) and the SEHK Listing Rules (Rule
13.91 and Appendix C2 Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) Reporting Guide). It is also prepared with reference to
the latest ESG Reporting Code to ensure smooth transition to full
compliance by FY2025A. To assess the potential climate-related
risks and opportunities that the Group may encounter, the Group
adopts the Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) and with reference to
the CDP* Climate Change and Water Security Questionnaires to
enhance ESG disclosures in the Sustainability Report for FY2024.
In addition, the Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”) of the
United Nations are fully integrated into the Group’s environmental
and social management strategies. This integration aligns with its
core value of “Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful
China” and demonstrates its commitment to addressing the world’s
most pressing issues.

The full report, in both Chinese and English languages, is available
for download on the SGXNet (www.sgx.com) and the websites of
Everbright Water (www.ebwater.com) and HKEX (www.hkexnews.hk).

N FY2025: the financial year ending 31 December 2025.
* CDP: a non-profit organisation that runs a global information disclosure system and
helps manage environmental impacts.
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Environmental and Social Policies
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In response to the ecological environment protection requirements
laid out in the PRC government’s “14™" Five-Year Plan”, as well as
the realisation of the “Dual Carbon” goals of gradually reducing
carbon emissions after reaching its peak, the Group holds
a significant responsibility in promoting green development,
ecological protection and efficient water environment management.
The Group has established an enterprise operations management
system to enhance its operational efficiency and ensure the
continuous provision of efficient and high-quality water environment
management services, thereby contributing to ecological civilisation
and sustainable development in China.

The Group has consistently demonstrated its commitment to
corporate social responsibility. By actively implementing the ESHS
Management System and the Risk Management System at all levels,
the environmental, occupational health, and safety risks faced by
each project company are effectively managed. Comprehensive
and standardised contingency plans have also been established
to strengthen the effective response to emergencies, aiming to
stabilise operations. Furthermore, the Group extends its corporate
social responsibility management to contractor management. At
the same time, the Group has established and implemented the
Contractor ESHS Management Measures. These measures require
the Group to evaluate contractors from various aspects, including
corporate background, qualifications, construction operations,
and environmental performance.

The Group firmly adheres to the principles of corporate social
responsibility and green operations by actively evaluating its
environmental and social performance against internationally
recognised standards, including the World Bank Group’s
Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines. 95.2% of the
Group’s eligible project companies have obtained relevant
international management standard certificates, including /SO
9001 Quality Management System, SO 14001 Environmental
Management System and SO 45001 Occupational Health and
Safety Management System.
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Climate change has a significant global impact, affecting all regions  RIFE{CEHEHREA T FRFE  FEEH

across the world. In recent years, the frequency and intensity of
extreme weather events, including storms, floods, and droughts,
have significantly increased. To strengthen the Group’s resilience
against climate change, climate change risks have been included
in the Risk Management System to develop more comprehensive
emergency and natural disaster contingency plans.

The Group acknowledges that climate change poses various risks
to its business. Physical risks, such as water stress, floods, and
extreme weather, can adversely affect its assets and supply chains.
Additionally, transition risks such as policy changes and reputational
damage, may lead to potential financial impacts. Everbright Water
is actively addressing these challenges by committing to reducing
greenhouse gas emissions and enhance resilience against climate
change. Furthermore, the Group aims to capitalise on opportunities
to foster a cleaner water environment, thereby improving urban
climate resilience and contributing to sustainable development.

The Group actively contributes to the development of sustainable
cities by strengthening its resilience against flooding. The Group’s
Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO) Pollution Control Project along
Jinshan Lake, part of the Jiangsu Zhenjiang Sponge City Construction
PPP Project, was awarded the title of “2024 Jiangsu Province Sponge
City Demonstration Project” the highest honour in the province’s
Sponge City Construction initiative. It was also selected as one of the
exemplary PPP projects by the National Development and Reform
Commission and was featured in the Ministry of Finance’s “Compilation
of PPP Demonstration Project Cases — Water Industry (Volume 2)”.
This further affirms the project’s success in promoting environmental
sustainability and climate resilience.
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Environmental Performance
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Amidst increasingly severe environmental challenges, the Group
has aligned itself with China’s policies, strictly complying with the
environmental regulations and discharge standards. The Group’s
projects are mainly focused on water environment management,
including raw water protection, water supply, municipal waste water
treatment, industrial waste water treatment, reusable water and
river-basin ecological restoration. All of the Group’s waste water
projects are equipped with online effluent monitoring systems,
which transmit relevant real-time data to local ecological and
environmental regulatory authorities. Additionally, qualified third-
party laboratories are commissioned to conduct regular testing of
effluent discharge samples to ensure consistent compliance with
the relevant discharge standards.

The Group is also continuously improving the condition of China’s
water bodies and enhancing sanitary conditions and aquatic
ecological environment through the implementation of “Intelligent
Water” and the upgrading of water resource security protection
measures. These efforts significantly reduce the environmental
impact caused by waste water discharge while safeguarding public
health and well-being.
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WASTE WATER TREATMENT

The Group has established strict discharge standards for all of
its wastewater treatment projects. All treated effluent from these
projects complies with or outperforms the Grade 1A standard of
the Discharge Standard of Pollutants for Municipal Wastewater
Treatment Plant (GB18918-2002) or the Class IV standard of the
Environmental Quality Standards for Surface Water (GB3838-2002).
During FY2024, the Group treated approximately 1,763,080,000 m®
of waste water and reduced approximately 432,463 tonnes of
chemical oxygen demand (COD) discharge.

In addition, the Group’s reusable water projects treat effluent from
waste water treatment plants in accordance with The Reuse of
Urban Recycling Water — Water Quality Standard for Industrial Uses
(GB/T19923-2005) or equivalent standards. This treatment process
enables the effluent water to be reused in power plant operations
and for general industrial purposes. During FY2024, the Group’s
reusable water project produced approximately 48,480,000 m® of
reusable water.
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Talent Development
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The Group emphasises that innovation and transformation are crucial
for corporate development, and an excellent team is key to achieving
this. Believing in mutual success through strong leadership, the
Group adheres to a “People-Oriented” philosophy and places great
importance on building a talented team.

The Group provides employees with attractive career development
opportunities and a caring working environment. The Group’s
Staff Handbook and Code of Conduct cover topics including
remuneration and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest days, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination,
the prevention of child labour and forced labour, as well as other
benefits and welfare. These policies also advocate a fair and open
workplace and ensure that employees are protected from all forms
of discrimination against gender, age, race, nationality, marital
status, religion, and other factors.

During FY2024, the Group continued its focus on talent cultivation
and recruitment. Through training and development programmes
for its backup talent pool, Everbright Water has strengthened its
leadership pipeline by enhancing the overall quality and management
capabilities of its future leaders. The Group also carried out ethics
training activities, emphasising the importance of mental and cultural
development for all employees, and strengthening their sense of
responsibility to the Company, others and society. A series of staff
development plans and measures were initiated to establish a
proactive and innovative team:
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Talent Development (contd)
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The average training hours per employee in FY2024 were 61.48 hours.
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The internal performance appraisal system establishes clear and actionable goals
for employees and conducts continuous assessments to closely monitor their
professional development. Through this system, the Group is able to cultivate
outstanding employees who embrace the core values of the Group.
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The Group established a managerial and technical backup talent pool to recognise
high-performing individuals and prioritise them for internal promotion opportunities.
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This programme allows experienced workers to guide new employees, helping them
to get familiarise with the corporate culture, goals, and to understand their career
development path.
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This programme involves inviting local and overseas technical experts to provide
training for managerial and technical employees to further develop Everbright Water’s
professional talent pool.
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BARKBHEEASE -

LA — 3%

Mutual learning and promotion are fostered through the sharing of operational
and management experiences, as well as benchmarking exchanges among the
Group’s project companies. This approach leads to improvements in production and
operational efficiency.
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Health and Safety
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The Group places a high priority on safety in production and is
determined to prevent any non-compliance incidents, ensuring the
smooth completion of operational goals and fully safeguarding the
health and safety of both employees and the public.

The Group has implemented a comprehensive ESHS Management
System to monitor operational safety and employee occupational
health at both ongoing and construction projects. ESHS management
teams are established at each project company to ensure regular
safety management and promote risk awareness. Additionally, the
Group extends this system to its supply chain by including health and
safety requirements in supplier contracts and conducting ongoing
assessments of key suppliers’ health and safety performance.

To increase the safety and environmental awareness of employees,
the Group organises a “Safe Production Month” campaign every year
at the project level. In addition, the Group is committed to achieving
the “Dual Zero” safety and environmental management goals: zero
safety incidents and zero environmental incidents.These goals are
achieved through promoting safety management responsibility, safety
inspections, risk prevention and hazard management, education
and training, emergency drills, safety production investments, and
establishing a safety culture.

Furthermore, the Group protects its employees’ health by providing
annual medical check-ups and occupational disease prevention
screenings. Moreover, the Group set up an Employee Safeguard and
Safety Fund, which can be disbursed upon application to support
employees who suffer from accidents or diseases, relieving the
financial burden on their families.

During FY2024, the Group successfully achieved zero work-related
injuries.
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As a leader in China’s water industry, Everbright Water is dedicated
to promoting ecological civilisation and environmental protection.
Leveraging its technological, resource, and talent advantages,
the Group actively collaborates with local educational institutions,
science and technology associations, environmental protection
associations, and government agencies at project locations, to
promote green living and water resource protection. 24 waste water
treatment projects of the Group have been honoured with titles such

s “Science Popularisation and Education Hub”, “Environmental
Education Hub”, “Open Day Promotion and Education Centre”, and
“Practice Teaching Base for ‘Grand Ideological-Political Courses’
across Beijing Schools”.

The Group proactively responds to the requirements under the
Notice on Further Opening the National Environmental Protection
Facilities and Urban Waste Water and Waste Treatment Facilities to
the Public issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment and
the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC by
opening its waste water treatment facilities to the public. The Group
is committed to transforming itself into a leading hub in China for
public visits and environmental education that offers on-site visits,
hands-on learning and technical training simultaneously.
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Community Involvement (cont'd)
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2024 “WORLD WATER DAY” AND
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“CHINA WATER WEEK” ENVIRONMENTAL PUBLIC WELFARE ACTIVITIES
2024 [HRKB] Kk [HEKE] BRAZBEFE

In 2024, Everbright Water held a series of activities to celebrate
the 32" “World Water Day” and the 37" “China Water Week”
between 22 - 28 March. These activities focused on raising
awareness about water environment management and
preservation, as well as enhancing public’s understanding of
water resources and their conservation. The events included
open days at waste water treatment facilities, science education
sessions, environmental protection lectures, and themed artwork
activities. Notably, Everbright Water's project companies in
Tianjin and Binzhou held educational lectures at local schools,
imparting knowledge about water conservation and water
environment protection, and related policies. These efforts not
only strengthened the Company’s brand but also fostered a
stronger sense of environmental protection responsibility among
the youth.

At the same time, the Group’s project company in Jiangyin
collaborated with the Chinese local media to organise over 100
young reporters to visit waste water treatment facilities and watch
the animated film “The Purification Journey of Little Water Drops”.
This allowed children to experience the waste water treatment
process firsthand and sow the seeds of environmental protection.

BERE2024FFE32fF [HAKE] B
37E [HEKE] TEHRE @ HAKE
E3HA22E28BHET —RIES - B
FEHAZRLREN - EHEEHFERRE
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NIBEBE AREEMERENTHEE
FE o EREABKMKRERENKER
HAE  BAARAREER 255
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Community Involvement (cont'd)
N
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HTEZH @

2024 “WORLD ENVIRONMENT DAY” ENVIRONMENTAL PUBLIC WELFARE ACTIVITIES
2024%F [HRABRFER | RRABED

B ’Jﬁ ! ’{;"l

. .,." 1 ununu

#AERET

RATRAE ERREE]

YRR
ANEET (R 8B BE - KFE

MR &RG) HH2024F [HED/N
RREH ] /,\u%ttﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁl%ﬁu

In conjunction with “World Environment Day”, Everbright Water
launched the 2024 “I Am a Little Environmental Protection
Ambassador” speech contest and a series of public open days in
six cities (Ji’nan, Zibo, Nanning, Tianjin, Nanjing and Shenyang).

This initiative has jointly fulfiled the Group’s corporate social J&EE) - & —RIEEHRABIT T ELESE
responsibility, integrated into ecological civilisation development, 1T @ ALY PARER @ BB S LI
advocated for a society that pursues a green and low-carbon 4k @K AEE - BFHEE X - &M

lifestyle, and works together to build a beautiful homeland with
blue skies, green landscapes, and clear waters. Everbright Water
has been hosting environmental public welfare activities on “World
Environment Day” for seven consecutive years to illuminate the
path toward environmental protection.

BKEBRE » K AKBE H‘EE‘?&E
HH] EBLFRRRRAREE -
Juf&ﬁZEﬂ
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Community Involvement (contd)
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ECOLOGICAL EDUCATION ACTIVITIES AT NANTONG CITY
MBETLERHETEE

In 2024, Everbright Water collaborated with the Haimen
Branch of Nantong Municipal Bureau of Ecology and
Environment to leverage four municipal ecological civilisation
practical education hubs, such as the Liyashan Marine Science
Popularisation and Education Hub, to conduct ecological
education activities. These activities aimed to enhance public
awareness of biodiversity and encourage environmental
protection. During the events, volunteers participated in
beach cleanups at Qinglong Port, learning about the Marine
Environmental Protection Law and the waste water treatment
process, thereby deepening their understanding of the
ecological environment.

The Group also organised ecological research and public open
days to engage the community and promote greater attention
to ecological protection. Looking ahead, the Group plans to
collaborate with relevant Chinese local institutions to further
develop unique educational hubs, with an aim to enhance public
awareness of environmental protection.

20245 » R AKGEBEAET EPILRE
RERAE  ROMNBEGTILEFERE
REEMENETRLERNAHEER
Ei MRAREHREY  RALRY
EMEHRENRE > HEIRBRE - &
B SMECTERBETEE  TH
(BFREREER) MBEKEEBRE -
o8 BT A REIR IRV AR A

AEENMAERME R ARFEAKAFE
B RolHexR2E  REHLERF
EHRT c RERKR - AEBEF & HE
BEmHEERERAGE  E—FHE
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Community Involvement (cont'd)
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During FY2024, a total of 49 projects of the Group were officially
opened to the public, receiving 266 batches of visitors, totalling
12,112 visitors. The Group actively organises public visits through
both online and offline approaches. In particular, the Group offers
virtual tours of its waste water treatment facilities using various
methods such as uploading videos to official media platforms,
playing pre-recorded videos, and live streaming, attracting more
than 6,230 online views during FY2024. Additionally, the Group
collaborates with local environmental protection and technology
associations, and government organisations to carry out ecological
environmental protection education activities, encouraging
the public to value and conserve water while learning about
environmental science, and promoting public awareness and sense
of responsibility towards environmental protection. In recognition
of the Group’s commitment to environmental education within the
community, its projects received multiple honours in FY2024: a total
of four projects were honoured with titles such as “Environmental
Education Hub” or “Science Popularisation and Education Hub”
at national, provincial, and municipal levels, and one project was
recognised as an “Open Day Promotion and Education Centre”.

R2024HFE - A&EBE BH491EIE
BERARERMBN - £EF266H A
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[EFM] - 2024 BFERS| T BB
6,230 N\ XWMEGEFT RN - A - AEE
HFREHERR  MEBERBTKESE
AERERRERERBETY  KABEARR
BKBRKREMRREEANH - HBEARE
HRFRENEHBMNETK - EBHAE
EHHERER¥ENET  AEBEAER
2024 R F B EL(EHETE - HU@EIER
EBHAER 4 TR [REBEEM] K
[BIEHEHE | SE—([EEHEXE [AR
FREBHEFR L] LEREH -




ANNUAL REPORT 2024
2024 FERE

gas

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEER/RS

China Everbright Water Limited (“Everbright Water’ or the
“Company”’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed
to achieving high standards of corporate governance to ensure
investor confidence in the Company as a trusted business enterprise.
The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) and the
management (the “Management”) of the Company will continue
to uphold good corporate governance practices to enhance long-
term value and returns for the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”), and protect their interests.

This corporate governance report (this “CG Report”) outlines the
Company’s corporate governance practices for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024” or the “year under review”)
which are in line with the (i) principles and provisions of the Code
of Corporate Governance 2018 (the “SG CG Code”), which forms
part of the continuing obligations of the listing manual (the “SGX
Listing Manual”) of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(“SGX” or “SGX-ST”); and the (i) principles and code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “HK CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Rules (the “SEHK Listing Rules”) Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “SEHK”). Throughout FY2024, the Company has
complied with the principles and provisions of the SG CG Code and
HK CG Code.

Corporate Governance Recognition
TEERR

REXARKBERAR ([XKKE]
% [AAF] ZEREMNERAHHE
(AEEH] ) NI RERSEEND
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The Company has been included in the SGX Fast Track Programme since 2019.
This programme was launched by Singapore Exchange Regulation Pte. Ltd.
(“SGX RegCo”) to recognise listed companies that uphold a high standard of
corporate governance and demonstrate a strong compliance track record. As
part of this programme, the Company benefits from prioritised clearance for

selected corporate action submissions to SGX RegCo.
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(A) CORPORATE CULTURE

As a leading water environment management service provider in
China, the Group is always dedicated to building and promoting
its corporate culture of “Upholding the Laws, Promoting
Accountability, and Pursuing Dream”.

Talent is the most valuable asset of an enterprise and the primary
driving force behind its development. The Group highly values
its employees, adhering to a “People-Oriented” philosophy. The
Group protects the interests and well-being of its employees,
enriching their lifestyles and cultivating their values. During the year
under review, the Group thoroughly implemented the talent-driven
strategy, focusing on the continuous development of various talent
teams. By combining both online and offline methods, the Group
organised specialised trainings on various topics, such as “Cloud-
like Sailing Project - Intelligent Water”. These efforts aimed to
enhance the proficiency of the managers and employees, preparing
them to embrace new opportunities and challenges. The Group
also made full use of the advantages of business diversification
to offer employees with various development opportunities.
In addition to facilitating internal transfers between regions or
departments, the Group effectively utilised the internal talent pool
by giving priority to its existing employees for managerial positions
in the functional departments at the headquarters and various
project companies. This approach provided diverse development
opportunities and unlocked employee potential. Additionally,
the Group has strengthened the staff’'s awareness of rules and
ethics by developing various policies, such as anti-corruption
policy, providing trainings on corporate culture and promoting the
concepts of “Acting Legally, Ethically and Responsibly”.

Corporate
Culture

EX{

g

Upholding the Laws
BRE

Promoting Accountability

BER
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(B) BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s conduct of its affairs

Principle 1
SG CG Code

v

The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of
the Company. Its key responsibilities include providing leadership

Shareholders.

(B)
EEEWES

EFTREF

R A1
F N 2 E A< Al

EEeHAREBEANFNESRKY  EFXEH
EEEEENEREIEE  UHFEEBREN

and supervision to the Management for the benefits of all the FZg o
All Directors recognise that they have to discharge their duties A =S E 5T A EEE LA LA
and responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries, acting objectively y\u%j\é’j%ﬁE THBENRR  BEHLA
in the best interests of the Company and hold the Management A QB HENZRITS @ EXE i@%ﬁﬁg‘;
accountable for performance, and the Board is accountable to the HEBE ZSeREHAENNEBLBSEUE
Shareholders through effective governance of the business. ﬁﬁ%ﬁ;\ °
The Board’s principal functions include, but are not limited to:
EEENTFEBEBRBETRR :
)
@

©)

®

Formulating and approving the overall policies of the
Group. Apart from those matters which are subject to
the approval of the Shareholders under the bye-laws
of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), the SGX Listing
Manual, the SEHK Listing Rules, and other applicable

Providing entrepreneurial leadership,
setting strategic objectives, and
ensuring that the necessary financial
and human resources are in place for
the Group to meet its objectives

laws, rules, and regulations, the Board is the final R RaEE S EBERERE B
decision-making body of the Company AEEBAEE B EREEHE
Bl ERBEREENEBBREK - R TRERNQFIHA MANER

| ( TRl ) - FRAT ETFM - BT EmAR A

REMBRAER EARMKROAMABRRLENER

N EEERAR AR REORF M

@ ®

Reviewing and approving Establishing a prudent and Establishing goals
corporate strategies, financial effective control system to for the Management
objectives and direction of the assess and manage risks, and monitoring the
Group including safeguarding the achievement of these goals
EMMU ENEBR D LR Shareholders’ interests and AEEERTFRE  ER
& B RIZAMBER A the Group’s assets BERER

2R ) R R R A AR
REIENESIES - BIERE
PR R s AN AN SR (B B EE O
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The Board’s principal functions include, but are not limited to (cont’d):
EZENEFEBREEETRY (&) -
©)
Ensuring the Management’s Reviewing the Management’s Approving annual

leadership is of high quality,

performance

budgets, and investment

effectiveness and integrity EEEEELRE and divestment proposals
RREREEL - BRI B EEEARE - B
BRRHRE BiRR

€D

Reviewing the internal controls, risk management,
financial performance and reporting compliance

Identifying the key stakeholder groups and
recognising that their perceptions affect the

ZURBEG  BRES  HHEEENBENS Company's reputation
ol BUTERHEHRE RAZEEE
ARROBRE
) @
© (&) ®

Setting the Group’s values and
standards (including ethical
standards), and ensuring that
obligations to the Shareholders
and other stakeholders are
understood and met

Considering the sustainability
issues, such as environmental,
health, safety and social
factors, as part of its strategic
formulation

T Il 75 BBE 5 5 R AT AR 1 R
a2 it

Assuming responsibility
for corporate governance

EELEERNEME

HEAEBNEEMRE (8 o5 (HNIBIE . (@5 -
FEEEE)  REAEEE  gmz)
FRICFETT T B A E A 5 1)

HEEG

In respect of its corporate governance functions, the Board is
responsible for the following:

(1) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management of the Company (the “Senior Management”);

©) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices

on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

HE MBI ARRNEEERRE N
R

B MERRAARREELSRERE
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4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the directors of the Group; and

5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the SG CG Code,
HK CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

The Board performed the above duties during the year under review.

All Directors exercise due diligence and independent judgment, and
are obliged to act in good faith and consider at all times the interests
of the Company.

Board Authority

The Board approves a document, known as the Board Authority
Matrix, which sets out the matters reserved for the Board’s decision.
Such document provides clear directions to the Management on
matters that must be approved by the Board. The Board Authority
Matrix is reviewed by the Board at least once a year and revised
accordingly when necessary.

(6) BMIADAMTIMBELEATE -
EECEEATHNERARELLE
AR R -

REBEFEAN  EFECET LIRS -

FIEESOHMEE - REFEZAHE - B8
ABETTELIREIARN R RN R B A o

E=EER

EXeET NEREFERRIFENX
- HPSIRTEGEFTSRRNEE - %X
e TEIRE —ERM eS| - AT &2
ERELREZeRUNEE -EF22E
FoRHBEZSRRFELTEHN  LELE
R 8R28 BRI IBER o

The matters reserved for the Board’s decision include, but are not limited to:

BREFSARNFEBEETRRY

Q
X
() ()
Corporate strategy Financials Board / management composition
R B EEg/EEAENEARK
e Strategic plans and e Capital plans and e Appointment of Directors,
objectives significant borrowings E(eydM?nac??mSeg[ ggrsog”‘;' g
st = B 2 as defined in code) an
REEFTEIRBE BRFFEIREBARER Senior Management
e Substantial major e Financial reports and B XEEEAE
acquisition or dividends (E&ERIIFEEEAFA)
disposal of assets BTSSR R AR A KERERENRE
BEAKBRHEERE

e Annual budgets
e \enturing into new FEEY
business areas

R AR

e Appointment and dismissal of
Company Secretary

NAMERN R E SRR
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Delegation by the Board EEgRE

In discharging its duties, the Board delegated specific functions RETERER EET@ " X£82 ( [ES
to its committees (the “Board Committees”), comprising the &ZEE€ ]| ) KT FESSM EER L -
Audit Committee (“AC”), the Remuneration Committee (‘RC”), EHhEZEepiiEtZEee ( [BFEE
the Nominating Committee (“NC”) and the Strategy Committee & )  FFZE<e ( [HFMEES] ) -
(“SC”). Each Board Committee functions within its written terms 122 ZE8<€ ( [EEZEET] ) NEKZE
of reference and procedures, which are reviewed on a regular E® (  BRKRZEESE | ) BEE=2XLE
basis. The terms of reference of each of the Board Committees eRBREMmMBE A ﬂ] BFE T’E ,

are available on the SGXNet (www.sgx.com) and the websites ZEBESGEMEFESTHER -

of The Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (‘HKEX") e ZEB8enlBE&EETnR —J ESGXN et
(www. hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.ebwater.com). Each (WWW.sgx com) - BEERSGNEEMAR
of the Board Committees reports its activities regularly to the NG ( ; (WWW.hkexnews.hk)

Aﬁ
X
%

S
S

Board. Please refer to the other sections of this CG Report for JNEINN w.ebwater.com) #BULER] o

further information on the activities of the Board Committees. FRE=E $<§ ZEeHTHRESSER T
1’E FREESZEeTENE—FFE -
ELHACEE RRETFHEME Y

Board of Directors

=g
Audit Remuneration Nominating Strategy
Committee Committee Committee Committee
EBItZEEE FMZEES REZEEE BHZEY
Board Process BEEERERF

The Board and the various Board Committees meet regularly, with EFe&h&EEZeLZE8eTrHEMER é%
Directors attending and actively participating in such meetings. #HiEGLEE:%  -EFeNEESLEe0
Decisions by the Board and the Board Committees may be obtained  iB& .ﬁﬂ?LLJ& ZRMFNMELRE © é?A
at meetings or made via circular resolutions. The key features of the — f2FHIT BT ¢

Board process are as follows:
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Schedule of meetings
=g SRS

Schedules of regular Board and Board Committee meetings and the annual general
meeting are planned prior to the start of the financial year.

EEeNEF R BT e NRRBEF ASNRHEROEM BFERIRATRE -
Board meetings are held at least four times a year and no less than once in each quarter.
EXREEREBFELBRAER  BEEEL—R -

Ad hoc meetings are held when necessary.

EERENARGREE -

Participation by telephone and video conference at Board and Board Committee
meetings are allowed under the Bye-Laws.

BRIBAR > AFBBEENRASR2NEETSNEEFSLESEH -

At least 14 days’ notice is served before each regular meeting.
BREHRERARAIE14RELEBA -

Meeting agenda

ERFREAR

Matters to be discussed are included in the meeting agenda after consultation with the
Directors and Senior Management and approved by the Chairman of the Board / Board
Committees.

MR ERAREAEERSREEBTHESR/ES LTI RLERMAER

B2 -

Dispatch of
meeting papers

BEERXM

Agenda and meeting materials are dispatched to Directors at least three days prior to
the date of Board / Board Committee meeting.

EXEQ/EFE R R B eRNBERER AR EER AN = RBEXTES -

Detailed meeting materials (including meeting papers and explanatory or background
information) are sent via electronic means / paper form in a secure and timely manner.
HANEREN (BESEXHNBRELIEREN) RBEF 7 /HRIARIA
TR R RERX -

Any additional information or materials requested by the Directors will be provided
promptly.

EFRERNEATEMER SR BIR# -

Proceedings of Board /
Board Committee
meetings
Exg/EEgZES
SRER

The relevant Management are invited to make presentations and answer the Directors’
queries on the relevant agenda.

ERAEREERAWEBAEEREETERLEZEZNREM -

The Directors are encouraged to discuss freely and openly challenge the views presented
by the Management and other Directors.

EXTEANRIARIBREEENAMERRONEE -

The Chairman of the Board ensures that each agenda is allocated sufficient time for
discussion and each Director is given sufficient opportunity to express his/her opinions.

EERARRABTHFEIEEHNIRBEHLETEUEERINBEURER
BR-

Upon request, briefings on complex matters will be arranged for Directors prior to meetings.
MESRANRERMERFERESRHEMG® -




78

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEER

S

Minutes are recorded with sufficient details (including any questions raised, the

corresponding responses and dissenting views) of the matters considered and decisions

reached by the Board or the Board Committees

CRLB LB EET RN EFT L EEMERFTEAMERRENFABNR
(BIEFRENEMME  HEDNERRHEER) -

Draft and final versions are circulated to Directors / Board Committee members for
comments / records in a timely manner.

ETE%.:E%E’J%JJ%&E—

Minutes =8

SRR

RSN

MEF/EFEZ8EKE  HERH

e Minutes of the Board and Board Committee meetings are confirmed at the subsequent

meetings.

REKEZ I HAEZSNESFS

EEENEELE -

e Minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and open for inspection by Directors /

Board Committee members.

SHRCHANRMERT

FHEREEELEETNEEH -

The Board has adopted a policy requiring the Directors with a
conflict of interest to recuse themselves from deliberations and
abstain from voting on any related resolution(s).

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient insurance
coverage on Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions taken
against the Directors arising from corporate activities.

Where necessary, the Company also engages external consultants
to provide professional opinions on specific projects or corporate
exercises to facilitate the Board’s decision-making process. The
Board’s decision-making process is an objective one. The Directors
are given separate and independent access to the Management
to address any enquiries. When necessary, the Directors can seek
independent professional advice, concerning any aspect of the
Group’s operations or undertakings in order to fulfil their roles and
responsibilities as Directors, at the Company’s expense.

E=EC RN AR - BRFENGERNE
SR EEL TR RMER mﬁﬁi

BN EFFIE K =058 M Al 88 | B AR
RITBHMAMNAENZEZRET  ARAFER
EEMBEEE REBERR o

WMERE > ARR]NEEFIBERLIEE
Iﬁiﬂim%ﬁiﬂmt EXER  LHBES
SIEERE - EFGNREBRIEHN o

EEMAREBLRNERERN EUE
i EEMASKEARASEELREBE

MAEMNBYEEER  UNETIEAEEHN
ACHEE  SXKZEXEERNEBEERE
ZERN/NE] 2287
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Board and Board Committee Meetings

During FY2024, the Board held six meetings in total. Out of the
six Board meetings, two were half-year and full-year regular
Board meetings, mainly to review and approve the Group’s
financial results. A Board meeting was scheduled in November
2024 to have an in-depth discussion on the Group’s strategic
directions. The Group’s annual budget was also discussed and
reviewed during one of the Board meetings. Furthermore, the
Management provided regular updates to the Board on the
Group’s progress and developments during these meetings.

Below are (a) the number of Board meetings and the Board
Committee meetings held during FY2024; and (b) the individual
attendance of the Directors and Board Committee members at
these meetings® and at the AGM (defined below) held in FY2024.

Directors/ Audit

EEeREESZEESE
R2024FHEFEERN  EFeHERAAE
moAmE$A§%¢ EMXBFFER
2FEETeTHes  TEZAEHRILE
KEIMM%¥AO“$§%ﬂmMﬁ1H
BIgH WEARSAEBNER R -
KEIM¢F%% REP—LREEZESES

LR EER - I BEEERZESRS
MeHmESeREAEEN TN ER K
BB -

AT R(a)20240 B EERITHEEES S
%&%%@éé@ FNE  K(b)ERIE
ENEFECLELHE LEN20248 B F
ERITNZSSZMBRERFRE (&
W) 155 e

Remuneration Nominating Strategy  Annual General

Board Committee members Board Committee Committee = Committee ~ Committee Meeting
B3/ ETSZEEMHE Exg EiZE% FHEEE REZEE BHEEE RREFAE
Number of Meetings Held 2024EF BUE S 6 4 2 2 1 1

in FY2024 BRNERRE

Non-Executive Director (“NED”)  FZTEE ([##1ZE /)

Mr. Luan Zusheng' il 3/3 N.A. N.A. N.A. 1/1 11
Executive Directors (“EDs”) HITEE ([HE])

Mr. Hu Yanguo? HRRER 5t A2 2/3 N.A. N.A. 1/2 N.A. N.A.
Mr. Tao Junjie B 6/6 NA. NA. NA 1 11
Mr. Luo Juniing? s 3/3 NA. NA. NA. NA. NA.
Mr. Wang Yuexing' FAHE LA 3/3 NA. NA. N.A. 11 11
Independent Non-Executive BUHHITEE

Directors (“INEDs”) ([BLHHE])

Mr. Zhai Haitao BREE 6/6 4/4 22 2/2 NA. 1
Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paut* R BE ST A 3/3 2/2 2/2 2/2 N.A. 11
Ms. Cheng Fong Yeg* BEER L 3/3 2/2 2/2 N.A. N.A. 11
Ms. Hao Gang At 6/6 4/4 N.A. N.A. 1/1 11
Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter® BB RAES 3/3 2/2 N.A. N.A. 11 1/1
Mr. Soh Kok Leong® BREI R A 3/3 2/2 N.A. N.A. N.A. 11

N.A. = Not a Director or member of the relevant Board Committee at the time
such meeting was held.

Note:
AGM: The Company’s Annual General Meeting
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Notes:

1. Mr. Luan Zusheng and Mr. Wang Yuexing were appointed as Directors and
their respective positions in Board Committees with effect from 18 March
2024. Therefore, they were not present in any relevant meetings held prior
to this date.

2. Mr. Hu Yanguo resigned as Director with effect from 18 March 2024. Due to
a prior engagement, Mr. Hu was unable to attend both the Board meeting
and NC meeting, which were held on the same day in March 2024.

3. Mr. Luo Junling resigned as Director with effect from 18 March 2024.

4, Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul and Ms. Cheng Fong Yee retired as Directors with
effect from the conclusion of the AGM on 26 April 2024.

5. Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter and Mr. Soh Kok Leong were appointed as
Directors with effect from 18 March 2024, with their positions in the Board
Committees taking effect on 26 April 2024. Therefore, they were not
present in any relevant meetings held prior to these dates.

6. Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy was appointed as Director with effect from
13 March 2025. As such, she is not included in the aforesaid summary.

Directors’ Orientations and Trainings

Each newly appointed Director will receive a formal letter outlining
his/her duties and obligations. Appropriate orientations and
trainings will be conducted to ensure that they are familiar with
the Company’s business, operations, governance practices and
regulatory requirements.

The Company will arrange for newly-appointed Directors with no
prior experience as a director in an SGX-listed company to attend
mandatory training conducted by Singapore Institute of Directors
(“SID”) at the expense of the Company. The relevant Directors, namely
Mr. Luan Zusheng, Mr. Wang Yuexing, Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter and
Mr. Soh Kok Leong (all of whom were appointed on 18 March 2024)
have completed all nine modules under the Listing Entity Director
(‘LED”) Programme. Arrangement has been made for the
newly-appointed Director, Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy, to attend the
LED Programme in March 2025.

In compliance with Rule 3.09D of the SEHK Listing Rules:

° Each of Mr. Luan Zusheng, Mr. Wang Yuexing, Mr. Ng Joo Hee
Peter and Mr. Soh Kok Leong (all of whom were appointed as
Directors on 18 March 2024) obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D on 27 February 2024, and confirmed that they
understood their obligations as Directors.

° Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy, who was appointed as Director
on 13 March 2025, obtained the legal advice referred to in
Rule 3.09D on 25 February 2025, and confirmed that she
understood her obligations as a Director.
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The Company provides ongoing training and professional
development programs for Directors, such as seminars, trainings and
site visits. From time to time, the Directors are provided with briefings
and/or materials by the professional advisers, auditors, Management
and the Company Secretary in areas such as directors’ duties
and responsibilities, corporate governance practices, and financial
reporting standards. Regular updates on the Group’s performance,
positions and prospects are also provided to the Directors. At
the same time, the Directors are encouraged to attend external
lectures and seminars and to keep themselves abreast of the latest
developments relevant to the business of the Group. Additionally, the
Company regularly arranges site visits for the Directors to provide
them with valuable first-hand insight into the Group’s operations and
foster engagement with the operational staff of the project companies.
As part of the NC’s annual assessment of the skill set of the Board
and the Board Committees, the NC will also recommend to the
Board on matters relating to the review of training and professional
development programmes for the Directors.

Summary of the trainings during FY2024:

e The external auditors regularly briefed the AC on the
developments in accounting and governance standards;

e The external lawyers were invited to provide trainings on
various topics, including the changes to the Public-Private
Partnership (“PPP”) mechanism in Ching;

e The Company arranged site visits for the Directors to the water
plants in Ji'nan and Zibo;

e The Board received monthly updates on the Group’s financial
performance and business from the Management;

e  The Management regularly updated the Board on the business
strategies, key industry development and trends, either at the
Board meetings or through circulated materials; and

e The Directors completed the sustainability training course
organised by SID, save for Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy who will
undergo the training in March 2025.
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Below is a summary of the trainings* which the Directors received
during FY2024:

AT EEFME2024H BF EE XA E

4B 44
o=}

Directors Types of Trainings N°t
= EIEEE
NED HHE
Mr. Luan Zusheng' BEAERRE A AB,CD
EDs HE
Mr. Hu Yanguo? BATE B A A2 AB,C,D
Mr. Tao Junjie PREAREE AB,C,D
Mr. Luo Junling? FERsET A2 AB,CD
Mr. Wang Yuexing' T4 B S A AB,CD
INEDs BUHHE
Mr. Zhai Haitao BERisE ACD
Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul® MRAEDRE o A3 AC
Ms. Cheng Fong Yee® BBl {2 13 AC
Ms. Hao Gang M2z = A,C,D
Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter’ B LA ACD
Mr. Soh Kok Leong' BRE R A AC,D
Notes: Kist -
Types of Trainings: EIIERR -
A:  Attending seminars/ conferences/ forums A BRI /e e
B:  Giving talks at seminars/ conferences B: EWE S/ S LT R
C:  Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, C: RIEGESE RIREBNEERE ST HLK
environmental protection business or directors’ duties and responsibilties, etc. A~ FIFIE FTE R
D:  Attending site visit(s) arranged by the Company D: ZERRNAIZHEMEER

~

Mr. Luan Zusheng, Mr. Wang Yuexing, Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter and Mr. Soh
Kok Leong were appointed as Directors with effect from 18 March 2024.

2. Mr. Hu Yanguo and Mr. Luo Junling resigned as Directors with effect from
18 March 2024.

3. Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul and Ms. Cheng Fong Yee retired as Directors with
effect from the conclusion of the AGM on 26 April 2024.

4. Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy was appointed as Director with effect from
13 March 2025. As such, she is not included in the aforesaid summary.
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ol and Zibo Water Plants el
r EEMRERE RISEKER

e BRI

Company Secretaries

All the Directors have separate and independent access to the
Company Secretaries at all times.

The Company Secretaries are accountable to the Board for
ensuring that Board policies and procedures are followed and
Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. They also
provide advice to the Board on governance matters and facilitate
the induction and professional development of the Directors.
Currently, Ms. Kwan Yun Fui and Ms. Ho Wing Tsz Wendy are the
Company’s Joint Company Secretaries.

At least one of the Joint Company Secretaries attends all Board
and Board Committee meetings and ensures that they are
conducted in accordance with the Bye-laws and the relevant
rules and regulations. The appointment and removal of any Joint
Company Secretary is subject to the approval of the Board. The
Joint Company Secretaries, under the direction of the Chairman of
the Board, ensure effective information flow within the Board and
the Board Committees and between the Management and the
INEDs.
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Ms. Ho Wing Tsz Wendy (“Ms. Ho”), an executive director of
company secretarial services of Tricor Services Limited, has been
engaged by the Company as one of its Joint Company Secretaries.
Her primary contact person at the Company is Ms. Kwan Yun Fui
(“Ms. Kwan”), the Legal Counsel and Joint Company Secretary of
the Company. Ms. Kwan is a full-time employee of the Company.
During FY2024, each of Ms. Kwan and Ms. Ho has undertaken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training, in compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the SEHK Listing Rules.

Board Composition Principle 2
and Balance ‘ SG CG Code

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised seven Directors,
including two EDs, one NED and four INEDs.

The Directors during FY2024 and up to the date of this CG Report
(i.e. 18 March 2025) were:

EPORT

kEXLt ([Axt] ) BEEZXREH
ERAPRAWERBONE - REEE
RARNRWBELARWE - HEARRANE
EMBARARRREARBHRBEAAINE
Bamat (Bt )  BRLIRAR
A2REER - M2024FMHFERN - R
TP EI A D15/ NSRRI E RIS
A ST TEER P E TR RIS 3. 201RHIARE ©

BB WA RAD
- g bEERTA

MN2024€E12A310 EEemtEL2EEA
B BEMLHNE  —RIERELRNRE L
JEME o

K204 B EARBERCEE AREH
Hy (BP2025%F3A18H) Z2EEWMT ¢

NED FHE
Luan Zusheng (Chairman) (appointed on 18 March 2024) BIER (BER) (R2024F3H18HEZ(T)
EDs HE
Hu Yanguo (Chairman) (resigned on 18 March 2024) R (BEER) (R20249F3 4 18HE#HTF)
Tao Junjie (Chief Executive Officer) FRER (BF)
Luo Junling (Chief Financial Officer) (resigned on 18 March 2024)  Z&{&%8 (BBHIEE) (1R202443 4 18HBHE)
Wang Yuexing (Vice President) (appointed on 18 March 2024) THE (BIBE) (R2024F3H18HEZ(T)
INEDs BUHHE
Zhai Haitao s
Lim Yu Neng Paull MAEDBE
(retired at the conclusion of the AGM held on 26 April 2024) (FR2024%4 5 26 AETTHIR R FA B 45 RIERIT)
Cheng Fong Yee EPE &
(retired at the conclusion of the AGM held on 26 April 2024) (R20244F 4 526 HEE7THIIR R A F A S 45 R 1£RIT)
Hao Gang ol
Ng Joo Hee Peter (appointed on 18 March 2024) BINE (R2024F3 5 18HEZ(F)
Soh Kok Leong (appointed on 18 March 2024) BRR (R2024F3H18HEZ(E)

Chan Pui Shan Sandy (aopointed on 13 March 2025) e i

(R20254E3 /513 HEZE(F)
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An updated list of the Directors with their respective roles
and functions is available on the SGXNet and the websites of
HKEX and the Company. INEDs are identified in all corporate
communications that disclose the names of Directors.

In addition, there is no relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) between Board
members and in particular, between the Chairman of the Board
and the CEO.

Independence of Directors

The Company acknowledges that Board independence is critical to
good corporate governance. To ensure that independent views are
available to the Board, the Company has put in place the following
mechanisms:

(1) Composition

As at 31 December 2024, four out of seven Directors were
considered independent and five out of seven Directors
were NEDs. Therefore, the Board has complied with the
requirements of the SG CG Code that the independent
directors make up a majority of the Board where the chairman
of the Board is not independent. The Company has also
surpassed Rule 3.10A of the SEHK Listing Rules requiring
the number of INEDs to make up at least one-third of the
Board and Rule 3.10 of the SEHK Listing Rules requiring
the appointment of at least three INEDs with at least one
of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting or related financial management expertise. The
NC and the Board are thus of the view that there is
sufficiently strong independent element on the Board to
enable the independent exercise of objective judgment
on corporate affairs of the Group, taking into account
factors such as the number of independent directors
and the size and scope of the affairs and operations of
the Group.

Furthermore, the AC, the RC and the NC are chaired by
INEDs. As at 31 December 2024, the AC and the RC
comprised solely of INEDs, and the majority of the NC
members were also INEDs; and the Company had no
Lead Independent Director. Considering the Company’s
current business operations and Board’s composition as at
31 December 2024 (i.e. seven members with majority being
INEDs), the Company is of the view that the appointment of
a Lead Independent Director for the year under review is not
necessary. Nevertheless, the Board will annually examine the
need for such appointment.
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(3)

Independence Assessment

Each INED is required to complete a Director’s Independence
Checklist annually to confirm his/her independence based on
the guidelines as set out in the SGX Listing Manual and SG
CG Code. The Company has also received from each of the
INEDs an annual confirmation on his/her independence as
required under Rule 3.13 of the SEHK Listing Rules.

Based on the assessment of the independence of the Board,
the NC and the Board are of the view that all the INEDs
as at the date of this CG Report (i.e. 18 March 2025) are
independent, save for Mr. Zhai Haitao who will retire and
not offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM (as
disclosed below). In view of his retirement, the Board had
approved the appointment of a new INED, being Ms. Chan Pui
Shan Sandy, with effect from 13 March 2025.

Each of Ms. Hao Gang (appointed in March 2018), Mr. Ng
Joo Hee Peter (appointed in March 2024), Mr. Soh Kok Leong
(appointed in March 2024) and Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy
(appointed in March 2025) has no relationship with the Group,
its related corporations, its 5% Shareholders or its officers that
could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with
the exercise of their independent business judgment in the
best interests of the Company and the Group. Therefore, the
NC and the Board consider them to be independent.

Pursuant to Rule 210(5)(d)(iv) of the SGX Listing Manual, Mr. Zhai
Haitao will not be considered independent upon the conclusion
of the forthcoming AGM and accordingly, he will not offer himself
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM and will retire as the
INED with effect from the conclusion of the AGM.

Board Decision Making

INEDs play an important role in the Board’s decision-making
process. They constructively challenge and assist in developing
proposals on strategy, review the performance of the
Management in achieving targets and objectives, and monitor
the reporting of performance. In particular, the Chairman of
the Board ensures that each of the INEDs is given sufficient
time to express his/her opinions during the Board meetings.
During FY2024, the Chairman and the INEDs met at least once
without the presence of the other EDs and the Management.
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Based on the composition of the Board as at 31 December
2024, the NC and the Board are of the view that the Board
was an appropriate size, structure and composition to
facilitate effective decision-making, and to meet the objective
of having a balance of skills and experiences, taking into
account the size and scope of the Company’s operations.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has established a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”), which is available on the Company’s website,
to ensure the diversity of the Board members and balance of skills.
A diverse Board embraces and makes good use of differences in
the skills, industry knowledge and professional experience, cultural
and educational backgrounds and other qualities of the Directors
and does not discriminate on the grounds of race, age, gender
or religious belief. These differences will be taken into account
in determining the optimal composition of the Board and when
possible should be balanced appropriately.

The Board Diversity Policy provides that the NC shall consider
a combination of factors such as skills, industry knowledge,
professional experience, cultural, educational background and
gender when reviewing and assessing the composition of the
Board and when making recommendations to the Board for the
appointment of Directors to ensure an optimal balanced composition
of the Board. The skills, knowledge and experience to be considered
include accounting, audit and/or finance, risk management and/or
governance, banking and/or capital markets, industry experience
and etc. The Board Diversity Policy also requires the NC to review
and recommend to the Board in relation to board diversity.

The NC has put in place a skill matrix to help identify the gaps in
the Directors' skills. The skill matrix classifies the skills, knowledge
and professional experience of Directors into a few key categories,
such as accounting, audit and/or finance, risk management and/or
governance, banking and/or capital markets, industry experience, etc.

In considering and reviewing the Board composition, both the
NC and the Board will strictly adhere to the Board Diversity Policy
and consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity, including age,
gender, skills, knowledge, culture, experience, expertise, professional
and educational qualifications, backgrounds and other personal
qualities of the Directors. While all Director appointments will
ultimately be based on merit and the expected contributions of the
incoming Director, considerable weight would be given to ensuring a
diverse Board with a balanced composition.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Board members comprised 72024 12A31H 25k EmEET
business leaders, industry experts, professionals and ¥ - @3t B ¥KEENEMESHHE
academic experts, with industry, accounting, finance, business, %84 - T2 HE - EE A LT HNEMRER
management and academic backgrounds, and the details of the  #BAK @ RESSHEMEBHOT -

Board composition were as follows:

Gender Diversity (No. of Directors) Age Group (No. of Directors) Independence (No. of Directors)
HRIZ it (EEAH) FHRE (BEEA%) B (AL

50-55 years old

50-55%%
- -
Male 2 56-60 years old Independent
S 56-607% 3 LAV
-
Female 60-65 years old Non-Independent
M 60-657% FESE L
3 =
66-70 years old
66-705%
Directorship with Everbright Water (No. of Years) _ 4
RAERKEERIESHE (#&)

Directors’ Skill Matrix (No. of Directors)
EEREERE (2B 2)

Accounting, Audit and/or Finance —
ERRE R

Risk Management and/or Governance — 4
F\b2E IR R/ E R

Banking and/or Capital Markets —
R1T M/ B AT

Industry Experience
(Water, Environmental Protection)

TR Ok RIRRE)

Political and Regulatory Development
AR BTG R EAR - BUatEEERI LS

REGARE

Note: Btat -
Mr. Zhai Haitao, who served as INED for nine years, will retire as INED with effect B EZEEAIETH U IFHEZNE - 2025645235
from the conclusion of the AGM to be held on 23 April 2025, BITHIR R FR BAERIGTIRFIE L IEHEBT -
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Based on the foregoing, the composition and diversity of the Board ~ R it - EE @ AR Z TLEE 2
enabled the Management to benefit from a diverse and objective T IRXE
external perspective, on issues raised before the Board. Each Director EEHINL R AEITERE «c- BRESH L
has been appointed based on his/her calibre, expertise, experience  RIFEEL H - HBEMH CH R HE A E
and potential contribution to the Group and its businesses. Profiles of CKREEMESKREERENERIMESS
the current Directors as at 18 March 2025 are set out in the section T - i £ 20253 18HAMEZ BT EEW
entitled “Board of Directors” on pages 46 to 53 of this Annual Report. BN REAFEREFICEZTELSIENMEN

[EEgKE] —&-
Diversity Targets and Progress in FY2024: 2024 EEZ T/L B IERER -

o

P

Skills Diversity
BeEZ it

=

O / Gender Diversity O

MBI T

Skills Diversity
KEEZ Tk

Board Independence
EEEBUM

@ Target Strengthen the Board’s core skill set in different aspects.
B MREFETRFTEMNZOKEEAES

During the year under review, the Board has appointed two Directors with different background

and professional experience, enhancing the diversity of expertise and skills within the Board:

ROBEFE  EFSRETHMUAETRABESMERLRNES -
RBE EMZEAL

(@  Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter was appointed in March 2024. He is an experienced and respected
public and corporate leader, having served as the Chief Executive of Singapore’s National

8% T HERE L EA

° . Water Agency and held various senior government positions; and

IR ZOKBRER L EEL RS RBUTEY : &

(b)  Mr. Soh Kok Leong was appointed in March 2024. He is a qualified Chartered Accountant,

with more than 23 years of experience as Assurance Partner.

FEBIRSEAEN2024F3 AR - WRAERFFTSEAED -

a8 -

EMERENR2024F3AERIE - RAKREE A ABHMN R NEREMW » BET

BEAEB23FNETEBA

|EEEMBETUES T
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Gender Diversity

HBIZ Tt

At least one female Director, or 15% female representation on the Board. The NC and the Board
will take opportunities to increase the proportion of female Directors on the Board over time when
selecting and making recommendations on suitable candidates as Directors.
EEEPELA—RUMERHIS%LUNE - REZBEREFEEEEREBEENIKE
ABEERR - FHIEEREETRSEEFETLMERNLLA -

In this regard, the NC will strive to ensure that:
HUME - REZESHENHER

(@) if external search consultants are engaged to identify candidates for Board appointments,
the brief will include a requirement to present female candidates;

HESASNBEERRE Y EEZTSEMMREA - HEESGEERER LIERE AR ELK

(b)  when seeking to identify a new Director for appointment to the Board, the NC will request
female candidates be submitted for consideration;

EERBNFEFTNAZERTER  REZEERERREALMEREAUEEZE

Target
BR

(c) female representation on the Board will be continually improved over time, based on the set
objectives of the Board; and

REEZENCTERR  BEFSHMERRMAZEEEREAHERS TG M - &

(d) at least one female Director will serve as a NC member.

EL—BREEERIRLZEGNE -

As at 31 December 2024, the Board has maintained its target of having one female Director.

R2024F12A31H  EFCHFEE B LEESTNEEZ -

As part of its effort to enhance gender diversity, the Board has appointed an additional
»®. Progress female Director in March 2025 and, subject to re-election at the forthcoming AGM, has also
50 R proposed her as a NC member. This increases female representation on the Board to two and

adds a female member to the NC.

RTEMERZTE EEEN2025F3IAEERELZ —BMES  WIREHEREERR K

SLrEEEXRETRLZEGNE - MBEHEFSTHXERKENERE - UEREE

BEERA—RBLUKE - BB TESSEIRRMAZ T LEEGE ©

Board Independence

ExeBVM
Target Maintain the majority independence on the Board.
BiE HFEFSLBNERNE L -

«®. Progress  The Board has continued to maintain this target.

coc ER ExelBersE AR -
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Having reviewed the Board’s composition, expertise and experience,
as well as its diversity, the NC and the Board are of the view that
the current Board composition is sufficiently diverse in terms
of gender, skills and experience and therefore, are satisfied
with the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy.

Principle 3
Chairman and CEO ‘ e ot e
In line with the SG CG Code and HK CG Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the CEO are separate persons to ensure that there is
an appropriate balance of power and authority within the Company.

EEHNTEFENEK  ERMERNUKL
Ziltik REZEENESEAREAN
ExgaAMl RERKRFEEREIZ T
£ At HHEES S TLERENERS
MRBRBBRERE -

R
ESRNRR FR G R EE TR

REFMBEEXERTAMNELLREART
A EFRMGHENAEHTRABEET
PARELR N RN BB AEAE ) AR A T L 2@ 8
Yo

The key responsibilities of each Chairman and CEO are set out below:

EERNEHEENEZRENT ¢

Chairman

EsR

Mr. Luan Zusheng
gaRR ks

e Provides leadership to the
Board
HEEEE

e Monitors Board effectiveness

EIREEENMEE

e [osters constructive
relationships among Directors
and between the Board and
the Management
EREE/RINESEREIRE
Z B 2RI R R

e Promotes high standards of
corporate governance

RESZEENTEEER

A
\/

A
Y

CEO
k=

Mr. Tao Junjie

BEANSE

e Develops strategies for the
Board’s approval
HIE R ARESTSHE

e |Implements decisions and plans
approved by the Board
WITEFSHUERRE NGHE

e |eads day-to-day management

of the Group
BEAEENAEER
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The Chairman and the CEO do not have any financial, business, ZZ=RBEEH 7BV EEMGE %275 X
family, material or other relevant relationships with each other. fE - EARKEAMMEEBER -

The Board is of the view that sufficient safeguards and checks EZ8:34  AAFEEXAINERENREE
are in place to ensure that the process of decision-making by &' UERESSNAKBREEB YN BH
the Board is independent and based on collective decisions REZZBEEMNBMELHN  FZEMEA
without any individual exercising considerable concentration of HBRETHEREE -

power or influence.

Principle 4 & 8ll4
Nominating Committee ‘ e ot Code REZES gbéi&ﬁ¥ﬁ;‘é§ﬂu
As at 31 December 2024, the NC comprised four members and R 2024F 128310 @ IRB L E&HMNE K
majority of whom (including the NC Chairman) were INEDs, namely: BHK -  KZHKE (BEREZESE
&) =B IEHE - B :
Mr. Luan Zusheng (NED & Chairman of Board)
BHBREE GFHE  EFR)
Mr. Zhai Haitao (NC Chairman & INED) Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter (INED)
BERAE (RREZEQTF  BIUFNE) BERESRE OBUIENE)
Mr. Soh Kok Leong (INED)
BMEIR%E (BUIFNE)
The primary functions of the NC include, but are not limited to:
REZEENFEBRBIFETRR
)
©) ©)
Reviewing annually the structure, size and Establishing and implementing procedures
composition (including the skills, knowledge for, reviewing, assessing and making
and experience) of the Board and making recommendations to the Board on the review
recommendation on any proposed changes of Board succession plans for Directors, in
to the Board to complement the Company’s particular, the Chairman, the CEO, and the
corporate strategy and objectives Key Management Personnel, the process and
SBEEHEESNNE  SEMARK (81 criteria for evaluation of the performance of
RhE - AISRFIARES) e R AR e T e the Board, the Board Committees and the
EelEMBEEREURARND TN E SR Directors, the review of training and professional
& BE development programmes for the Board

and the Directors, and the appointment and
re-appointment of the Directors

HEE (LHEESER  #xm) NXEE
BABMESSHETHIIHERETERH
AEREF TREFSRREER  HES
2 EEGLEGNEFTNENTMHGER
Binid EHEFENEFNHEIIMNEE
BERAR EFZANEFZANEEH



ANNUAL REPORT 2024
2024 F B 93

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

T

EERARS

The primary functions of the NC include, but are not limited to (cont'd):

REZESNTIEREBRTETEL (&) :

© (©)

®

Assessing the independence of INEDs by taking
into account the circumstances set out in Rule
3.13 of the SEHK Listing Rules, Rule 210(5)(d) of
the SGX Listing Manual and Provision 2.1 of the
SG CG Code and other salient factors

ZEEBRAT EMARRNE3A3ME - IR LT
F 1 55210(5)(dl) 5 A0 A0 b 3% Eoa T A E
2AGREMBMNBRAALEMBERE -
A FE R B

6

Determining whether or not a Director is able
to and has been adequately carrying out
his/her duties as a Director, taking into account
the number of board representations in listed
companies and other principal commitments
BEEEEEM T ARESSERNEE
MEMFEBRS  ATBREEFEERAL
ERDBITITHERRAARIESTNRE

Developing a process for evaluation of the
performance of the Board as a whole, the Board
Committees and the Directors and assessing

A\

Reviewing training and professional development
programmes for the Board

EHESENHINMEXRERT R

the effectiveness of the Board as a whole
and its Board Committees and assessing the
contribution by the Chairman, chairmen of the
Board Committees and each individual Director
to the effectiveness of the Board

FIEHHEESRE SESTSZESNES
MERKRNER T HhESeRBNESS
ZEEMNERE  FIHESR - EEELEE
FREMEEZTRESLHAIMFTELNNER

The NC has adequate resources to perform and discharge its IREZZE€HAE RHNERE 2@ HETT
responsibilities properly. BE -

Summary of the NC’s work during FY2024:
B EEEE2024MBFEERN TEAL !

e Reviewed the appointment of members to the Board and the changes to the composition of the Board and
Board Committees;

EHNEFENENZENNEZTSNETSZESERNEDIBR
e Reviewed the independence status of INEDs;
FHBE I ER B IEAREE
e Reviewed the performance of each individual Director, each individual Board Committee and the Board as a whole;
BEHNREF REFSZESNEFTSREHRR
e Reviewed the re-election of the retiring Directors at the forthcoming AGM,;
FHREBFPNEERRBFAG LHNEEBNR
e Reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board; and
EHEFSNRE  RENEX &
e Reviewed the Board Diversity Policy.
EHNEFELTTILBE -
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Board Membership

The NC seeks to refresh board membership progressively and in an
orderly manner. All appointments to the Board are made based on
merit, measured against objective criteria while taking into account
the individual’s skills, experience, knowledge and competencies.
They must also be able to discharge their responsibilities while
upholding the highest standards of governance.

The Board recognises the contributions of Directors who have, over
time, developed deep insights into the Group’s business. It exercises
discretion to retain the services of such directors where appropriate,
to avoid an abrupt loss of experienced directors.

When the need for a new Director arises, the NC consults with the
Board and Management to determine the selection criteria and
shortlist potential candidates. Candidates are sourced through a
network of contacts and appropriate external databases. Selection
criteria include skills, experience, educational background,
age and gender. The NC interviews candidates and makes its
recommendations for the Board’s approval.

The Board will then review and discuss the candidacy of the
candidate, and if appropriate, approve the appointment of the new
Director. The Company promptly announces any new appointment
of Directors in accordance with the SEHK Listing Rules and SGX
Listing Manual.

In considering the re-appointment of a Director, the NC evaluates
such Director’s board representation and time commitments,
contribution and performance, such as his/her attendance
at meetings of the Board or the Board Committees (where
applicable), participation, candour and any special contributions.
Upon the NC’s recommendation, the Board will review and
if appropriate, approve the nomination of a Director for
re-election for the Shareholders’ approval at the AGMs.

Each INED is appointed for a term of 3 years from their appointment
date, subject to renewal.

All Directors (including the Chairman of the Board and the CEO) are
subject to the provisions of the Bye-laws whereby:

(1) each Director shall retire at least once every three years and
shall be eligible for re-election (Bye-law 86(1)); and

(2) any Directors newly appointed by the Board shall hold
office only until the first AGM of the Company after his/her
appointment and shall be eligible for re-election (Bye-law 85(6)).

EEENE

REZESN KBS EFRBENESTESK
E - TAEEENZIHNAAKE A%E]
ﬁﬁ%ﬂh ETEE  REEEREAR
£ R MEBREES - WEBEVBERNE
Eﬂﬁ%fmﬂhiﬁaﬁéhhﬁo

%%EWU IKL%'EEH&HTF?EI]LE %%
ETHMASENER  BREMELHOERD
TREE EXEMNBREEERBATEER
BHEF  NH2KREENEETRARK -

E%%%%%M’k%*i?ﬁ@é%A&ﬁ
BE  UEBTEREETHEETREA - K
%AEL@%%A%%& =N BUR B T
KR REFRERERGE - K ?ﬂzzjbga'
Fik &IE%U REZESHREAETER -
WiREEBRHEZTSRL -

EEEHRBBEHNARIREANERE - &
BENBRT E%A%%&ﬁﬁimé
(G $ATE§EEH%§$&%%@F
AP £ AR BRI S P BT F AR TE

EEZREHNZAEER  RERZEEH8
AEZREENEETSERBE LG
BA-BRMERR HMEGEEEES
At EFeZz8ega (WER)
ML ER - 2HEE - 8 RIZE AR AR
R - REREZEGFELNKE  EF9
BEHMALE (NEE) REZBEFHER

ERRBFRE L4 ESEE -

SEBIFNENEHAREEA B
=4 EE AT -

PEESE (BREFEMER) HAETH
A TIIRRTE -

(1) BRESB=-FREZELSEH
Aéﬂﬁk@&(%%%%ﬁ%@ gl

2) EFGHEANTERNEST 2EHE
EEREZARARABEERR
BFREAIL  UHEEBRBRET

(4BBI5E85(6)fK) -
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The following Directors are subject to retirement at the forthcoming
AGM:

(1) Mr. Tao Junjie and Ms. Hao Gang (Bye-law 86(1)); and

2) Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy (Bye-law 85(6)).

Following a review of their expertise, experience, overall contribution
to the Company, the Board and/or Board Committee meetings,
the NC and the Board recommended Mr. Tao Junjie, Ms. Hao
Gang and Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy be nominated for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM and accordingly, the above-named
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. The
relevant information on the above-named Directors can be found
in the section entitled “Board of Directors” on pages 46 to 53
of this Annual Report and the Circular to Shareholders dated
28 March 2025.

All Directors are required to declare their board representations
and principal commitments. When a Director holds multiple board
representations, the NC will consider whether he/she is able to
adequately carry out his/her duties as a Director, taking into account
such Director’s number of board representations in listed companies,
the time and effort required for his/her other board representations
and his/her other principal commitments.

Presently, the NC does not recommend setting any limits on the
number of board representations in listed companies a Director
may hold, considering the time and effort required for each board
representation may vary, depending on the type of directorship
(executive or non-executive). The Board will determine the maximum
number of board representations in listed companies that any Director
may hold as and when required.

Given that (i) majority of the Directors do not hold any other
directorships in listed companies; (i) only three Directors hold
directorships in two listed companies (including the Company);
(iii) their high level of attendance at Board and Board Committee
meetings; and (iv) their contributions, performance and level of
preparedness at Board and Board Committee meetings, the
NC is satisfied that all Directors have been able to devote
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company to
discharge their duties as Directors.

There is no Alternate Director on the Board.

UTEFHREEBRBFAE EEER

(1) BEEAELERMElZLE (ABIFE86(1)
&) = AN

(2) Bt (488)585(6)1%) °

KENHRENTENHR  LBRUARHEK
DA EBEEM/HNEESLTESTLTEN
BREEREZE  RELZEGNESTSESR
BEERNLE - BRIl REMM L ERE
ERRBFAE LET LESHFA
ERITEERET - P ESHNHEBES
AEAFEREFEICEEZFESIEMHEN
[EfeX8] —SMRBEHA20254F
3A28HE MR FBETFE o

EEEHTHBEEEMARESTENE
BIEAREEARE EBEEFTBERAFN
E5g RAZEBeMREZEFEHMLE
TRAREFSERNEE - FIHEMNREIBE
WARMIH EMERBREREBZEER
BHEATDETEERARRIZEFNRE -

ARl R2Z BT EEZERISZESHE
Hit EHARESSERNBE  T2EE
NeREFERUMBNEREMB O ATES
RIBEFBUMBRE (RTHIENTT) MA
TR - E5eRERERBETERESA
FEENLTRREFNHE LR -

ERNONAZHESTLTARANEM EHRBEE
EFERG  (NVEA=RESFAMKX LT LA
(BEARA) BEEFRE  (IHVREKE
HFEZEREFTEZEEERE  M(v)EE
REZENEEEZEQERLMNER - K
HENERREE REZEE8RA 2HRES
HREARACHANEEREIEEELRTE
B eMETEFRESHRE -

EFxehUERHES -
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Principle 5 Py RBI5
Board Performance & <C o ERABRA R E TR
The Board and the NC have adopted a formal evaluation process to & =& FMIELEZ B SRA ERNTEIEF K

assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and of each Board I EEFeBENESEESeLTE@NANW
Committee separately, as well as the contribution by the Chairman, M ' UNEER  EF@ZE8eEFMEE
chairmen of the Board Committees and each individual Director to EEHEES AN FE -

the effectiveness of the Board.

Evaluation Process

13/}":*5%

Questionnaire Board members to complete the evaluation Analysis and
development form and self-appraisal form and NC members preparation of
RERAEH S to complete a Board Committee appraisal form assessment report

BEEgNETRERB R RHERRELRE DT MR B AR E
HREENETKNEFTER B EARE

Regular follow-up Action plan Discussion with
and monitoring development the Board

h T IR % BL e TEE 8 REESIH
M’?}%ﬁ-‘a ) | 'l!
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The criteria for evaluating the performance of the Board as a whole
include, amongst others, the Company’s financial performance
for that financial year, an evaluation of the size and composition
of the Board, the Board’s access to information, accountability,
Board procedures and its performance in discharging its principal
responsibilities. The assessment criteria for an individual Director
include, amongst others, meeting attendance, adequacy in meeting
preparation, generation of constructive ideas, leadership abilities,
keeping abreast of industry developments, and contributions in
specific areas. The evaluation criteria for the Board Committees
include, amongst others, the composition of the committees,
their contribution in assisting the Board for better decision-
making, adequacy of expertise among committee members, the
performance of chairmen of the Board Committees in discharging
their responsibilities, and the quality of communication between the
Board Committees and the Board.

During FY2024, (i) all Directors had completed all the relevant
evaluation and self-appraisal forms, and (ii) following the
review of the Board’s performance as a whole, the Board
Committees’ performance and the contributions of individual
Directors in FY2024, the NC is of the view that the
Board’s performance as a whole, the Board Committees’
performance and the contributions of individual Directors
are satisfactory.

No external facilitator was used during the evaluation process
in FY2024.

(C) REMUNERATION MATTERS AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Principle 6
./ SG CG Code
As at 31 December 2024, the RC comprised three Directors, all of
whom are INEDs, namely:

Remuneration Committee

AHESSEBRANTESRBEAIRR
AAREZVRFETFNRBRE EF
MRRMEX - EFSHEEMNEN  BE
B EEERFUANESSHEBETEIZN
BETHMERRE - FESREZEARRD
SEBEEIRR @& HFEE HaERE
wHELSM  ERUEBRWED  FE7
HOTXRRAREE ERTARIANER -
MAEEEEEZEeRANBRERKRETR
RN EFSZESNAX  BBEFSEL
FERRNER  EFEXNBHEBEHEXNE
MENIM BEFSZESTIFNBREET
Bh EFSZECHEZTEZAMNER

BE o

R2024BEE » (N2RBEEHE TN
FrEHETEEERFHEERSE  R(IHEE
BI04 BFEESENERERE 59
ZEENRBENBLEENEH  BRES
ERAEETENERRE EZgZEEN
RENBRESNWEMESARE -

R2024BMFEERN - WEINBEHHA LR E
LR o

(C) #HMFEEMFMES S

R8I6
IO AT R
R2024F12A31H  FMEESH=-"RES
4RK - 2ERAEN IEME - B ¢

FHEES

Mr. Zhai Haitao (INED)

BERrE OBUIFRE)

Ms. Hao Gang (RC Chairman & INED)
MElZ: (FMEZEESEF  BUIENE)

Mr. Soh Kok Leong (INED)

HEIR KL OBIFRE)
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The primary functions of the RC include, but are not limited to:
FMEE eI ERESFENRER

©)

©)

The RC has adequate resources to perform and discharge its

©)

Reviewing and submitting its
recommendation to the Board on
the policy and general framework of
remuneration for the Board and Key
Management Personnel (including
Senior Management), and on the
establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy

BRTMEZSRIEER  NDEH
EEXSRFEEBEAER (BEARE
BRE) NFMBRLEBEIER IR
AR A7 IE 3 K33 B B9 3 BN IR B e A2

Reviewing and recommending to the Board (or
determining with delegated responsibility) the specific
remuneration packages and terms of employment for
each Director and the Key Management Personnel
(including Senior Management), including but not
limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, benefits-in-kind, pension rights and
compensation payments

ERTMEFEES (RERBREETTEE) 8%
ERFTEEBEAE (BERREREE) N5 T H M
FBERBEER  BEETRNRERHES:  FHFe 2
B - B BYWRN - RKSEMNRBEXN

Reviewing and approving
compensation arrangements
relating to the dismissal or removal
of Directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate

e R ERERTRAEMERRE
HERABNEETY  ABRZE
ZHEES KRR — B AAREEAL
FR—% - BRARETEREREE

responsibilities properly.

Summary of the RC’s work during FY2024:
FMESSE2024MBEFE RN TIEEL:

@

Reviewing and recommending to the Board in
consultation with the Chairman share option schemes,
share award plans or any long-term incentive schemes
which may be set up from time to time, in particular
to review whether Directors and Key Management
Personnel should be eligible for such schemes and also
evaluating the costs and benefits of such schemes and
doing all acts necessary in connection therewith

B RBRAEERIMNEZTSEZBRETS - KD
RN T RIS EM Al e MR REEEETE - L H
ERNEENFTEEBABRRANELETENE
1o ANGHEZF B A Mg s - WERIE LA
A — B EITE

FZ B R RN ERE ZEE 0 E

P

17

e Reviewed the remuneration payment for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023”) for the Directors
and the Key Management Personnel (including Senior Management) of the Company; and
FHARARAEZRTEZEEAE (BRESMAEEE) HE2023F12A31 A LM BFE (120230 BEFE ] ) B9%
BEEmA R &

e Reviewed the remuneration framework for FY2024 for the Directors (including the Directors newly appointed in
FY2024) and the Key Management Personnel (including Senior Management) of the Company.

EHARAES (BR0UMBFEHRENES) NIBEEAS (BESAEERE) 20240 RFEHHMIER -
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Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policy

The RC is responsible for ensuring that a formal, transparent and
objective procedure is in place for developing an appropriate
remuneration policy for Directors and executives and a competitive
framework for determining the remuneration packages of Directors
and Key Management Personnel. The RC proposes for the Board’s
approval, a framework of remuneration, including but not limited to,
fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind for
the Directors and Key Management Personnel. The RC also ensures
that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in any
decision-making relating to his/her own remuneration.

The Company will also engage a third-party remuneration consultant,
on a regular basis or as requested by the RC, to review and make
recommendations on the remuneration framework and level for the
Directors and Key Management Personnel. The Company did not
engage a third-party remuneration consultant in FY2024.

Principle 7
SG CG Code

Under the framework developed by the RC, the RC considers the
following factors in determining the Directors’ remuneration:

Level and Mix of
Remuneration

(1) qualifications and experience of the Directors required by the
Company;

2) for INEDs, the general level of fees earned in their professional
capacity or billed by professionals in their industry;

(3) time spent in preparing for meetings and actual attendance;

4) indirect costs and expenses incurred by the Directors;

5) such remuneration as may be considered fair and reasonable,
having regard to the nature and size of the business of the
Company;

(6) level of remuneration which is directly linked to the extent
of involvement and participation in and contribution to the
business of the Company;

(7) level of commitment and the ability to devote sufficient time
and attention to the business of the Company; and

(8) where special circumstances justify, the payment of additional
remuneration.

FEH MR NEF

FNEZESAERRARAEYIER - BH
REBNREF  REENHTASHIEES
WEMBEMARE INIER  UEFTES
NMEZEBABNTHETE -FTHEESYH
EENTEZEEBABNFMERMNESGE
HEm R g - ERaEETRRESMN
FEEBAENER  Fe 2R HE -
HEMEYRN - FMEZE e MRRfimE
iﬁiﬁfﬂﬂ HEAYKRSHEAER 5 ZHAEH
JIRER o

RARltEERNETFMEESNERTE
BER-HHMER  BHEERETEEREA
BHHMAERAMKTE - WH LR EE -
NAEIPR2024 B F E A FILFE S8 = 77 Z
AR -

HrEN K S AN A7
HMAEE P a4 =pESa:l|

ERFMEZESHENER  FHEZESR
BTNIARFOREESEHHH -

(1) ARARERNEFEEL MER

(2) HRBIUFREMS  SEFKEA
BERENARRA - RIRREFED
ER AL ATIEE — AR B FKE

(3) REEHEZBENEBRLEFESEMTEEN
ST

(4) EFEEGMEBEANRL
(5) REBAATEBHMENRETRS
NEAEHFHH

(6) FHEKFEERBRRUARAEBES
HMEREE

(7)  HAREEBRA R ENE N
B EEENNLMARNEES &

(8) HERKIBRTHEENTHERINRI -
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Annual reviews are carried out by the RC to ensure that Key
Management Personnel are appropriately rewarded, giving due
regard to the financial health and business needs of the Group
without being excessive, and thereby maximising the Shareholders’
value. The Group’s remuneration framework, remuneration packages
and bonus distribution plans for the Directors and Key Management
Personnel for each financial year are reviewed and discussed by the
RC, which comprises three INEDs, before submitting to the Board
for approval.

The EDs have entered into service agreements with the Company.
Their compensation consists of basic salary, fixed allowance and
performance-linked bonus. The bonuses of the EDs and the Key
Management Personnel are based on the Group’s performance
and such individual’s performance and contribution to the Company
in that year. In particular, the Company sets up a bonus pool and
an objective bonus determination mechanism for the EDs and the
Key Management Personnel at the beginning of each financial year,
which is reviewed and approved by the RC, as delegated by the
Board. To incentivise the EDs and the Key Management Personnel
to successfully manage the Company, the performance-linked
bonus makes up a substantial portion of their total remuneration in a
financial year. The amount of the performance-linked bonus for each
ED and Key Management Personnel is linked to the achievement of
certain key financial indicators of the Company in that financial year
and his/her annual appraisal result.

The Group’s remuneration policy aims to provide remuneration
packages appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors
and the Key Management Personnel.

The INEDs receive Directors’ fees according to their level of
contributions and other factors such as effort and time spent for
serving on the Board and the Board Committees, as well as the
responsibilities and obligations of the Directors. The Company
recognises the need to pay competitive fees to attract, motivate and
retain the Directors without being excessive to the extent that their
independence might be compromised.

Directors’ fees are recommended by the Board for approval by the
Shareholders at the AGMs.
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Disclosure on Remuneration ‘ ggng'glgfde AV EE fﬁbggﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ%‘rﬁﬂ

E=gME ERNRFRKBITE  LHEIEHE
FBAIRRKBITENBRBFIEN - D
BEAENHIM AT A AR A NRARNEE
AEXERRETHNEEND R E IE E B
EEMKBEBRNRE -

The Board believes that it is not in the best interests of the Company
to fully disclose precise remuneration given the highly competitive
industry conditions for the environmental water sectors, particularly
in China. The disclosure of the Directors’ and the Senior
Management’s remuneration in this CG report is appropriate.

EENFEE Y SNEREN 20248 BFZ
N F AR -

BREFNHHKFMASHT

A breakdown of the remuneration of the Directors and the Senior
Management (who are not Directors) for FY2024 is set out below.

(1) The level and mix of each Director’s remuneration are as (1)
follows:

Directors’ Benefits

Fee Salary in kind Total
Remuneration Band and Esle TH RUER nE
Name of Director HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
FHEENESSE BT BT BT BT
NED HHE
Mr. Luan Zusheng' BERR AT - - - -
EDs #HE
Mr. Hu Yanguo? FARE B 5 A2 - 324,000 224,000 548,000
Mr. Tao Junjie® PR A - 1,300,000 418,000 1,718,000
Mr. Luo Junling? EREEIE? - 240,000 227,000 467,000
Mr. Wang Yuexing®® TR E S s - 770,000 350,000 1,120,000
INEDs BUHHE
Mr. Zhai Haitao YIS e 467,000 - 82,000 549,000
Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul* MElBe S At 187,000 - 53,000 240,000
Ms. Cheng Fong Yee* PRl E A 150,000 - 41,000 191,000
Ms. Hao Gang M2z + 467,000 - 64,000 531,000
Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter® EME S 368,000 - 35,000 403,000
Mr. Soh Kok Leong® BRED R S S 447,000 - 29,000 476,000
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Notes: Btat -

1. Mr Luan Zusheng, who was appointed as NED with effect from 18 March 1. RERLFEZTRBIHNE  H2024%F
2024, was not entitled to receive any Director’s fees, salary, discretionary 3H18H LR + WHBENKKTEEHE -
bonus or benefits in kinds from the Company. THE - E EYiEF)

2. Mr Hu Yanguo and Mr. Luo Junling resigned as Directors with effect from 2. HHREEISE £ RFEEE L LT EE - H2024F
18 March 2024. As such, they were not entitled to bonuses for FY2024. SHI18HELR It + 1 FHEEERF2024

HBFERES o

3. The bonus amounts for EDs and the Senior Management are not yet 3. B EMEREIEEBL)EL IR BIED 15
finalised. Such details will be disclosed separately when the bonuses R HERRBFILE - f5STTIRRE -
are confirmed and paid.

4. Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul and Ms. Cheng Fong Yee retired as INEDs with 4.  #lgEE £ R BB HEL +RITF B IFHZE
effect from the conclusion of the AGM held on 26 April 2024. H2024F 4526 HEE7THIR R FEAX @45 K12

5. Mr. Wang Yuexing, Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter and Mr. Soh Kok Leong were 5. ITHWELYE  EHERLRMERALEEZE
appointed as Directors with effect from 18 March 2024. BEFE - F20247F3A 18 LR -

(2)  The level and mix of each Senior Management's (who is nota  (2) & IFEFZ = AR E I E & H B K F 1

i ion i : HAEWT
Director) remuneration in bands are as follows: L=

Remuneration Band and Benefits

Name of Senior Management Salary (%) in kind (%) Total (%)

FHEENSREEBEREE IE(%) BEYRER (%) HERE(%)

Below SGD250,000

250,00087 0% T X T

Mr. Wang Guanping FREFEE 71 29 100

Mr. Zhang Guofeng SRENSE LA 68 32 100

Mr. Wu Zhiguo RERHSE 68 32 100

Mr. Song Libin' REXR LA 70 30 100

Ms. Kwan Yun Fui Rk 2t 88 12 100

Notes: Btat -

1. Mr. Song Libin was appointed as Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) with effect 1. RNEWRELEZIRERENFE ([EEHME
from 18 March 2024, EJ) » H2024F3 A 18 AHEAER

2. The bonus amounts for the EDs and the Senior Management are not yet 2. B SR ESIEEBHI IS HIEERBES - 1F
finalised. Such details will be disclosed separately when the bonuses are HED RN S TTIREE -
confirmed and paid.

The aggregate amount of the total remuneration paid to the Senior 2024 BFE X NGEmAEREMN MR

Management during FY2024 was HK$4,402,000.

There are no employees of the Group who are immediate family
members of a Director or the CEO and whose remuneration exceeds
SGD50,000 during FY2024.

The Company does not have any employee share scheme.

A4,402,0005 7T °

2024 FEN - TMFEESHEHERT
BEAEARSEE T EEEB50,000%7 113 T
MBS -

ARRBIRBEMRE THIEE -
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(D) ACCOUNTABILITY, AUDIT AND AUDIT

COMMITTEE
Risk Management and ‘ Principle 9
Internal Controls SG CG Code

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance to the
integrity and reliability of the financial information and to safeguard
and maintain the accountability of the assets. While no cost-
effective internal control system can provide absolute assurance
against loss or misstatement, the AC, with the participation of the
Board, reviews at least once a year the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems to
ensure that they are designed to provide reasonable assurance
that assets are safeguarded, operational controls are in place,
business risks are suitably managed, proper accounting records are
maintained and the integrity of financial information used for financial
reporting is preserved.

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” model for risk
management:

(D) HEH - BB EED

E R E IR EA9
BB IR B A TR

AEBEWERERMABEGERE LY
BIEESNTE LA SFHRHESIEZEELIFESH
MRE  WREMNEEEENEESH - EE
2B R BB R am O ) BRAE I B8 R BE AR
HREFETLRBERFERRAL - BEFEE
SHEZFEN2ATEF PR -RBHEAR
SERREEMAZENERNTD EMA
Ml - REEREBEE  EHEE  EE
BEBERR BEETECHE  REE
BRENMBEESNTUBEMNOMBEED
ERETRETHERM T AENRE -

AEERB [ZBH&] BANETAR
B

9,

Three Lines of Defence

=B &R

S,

©

First Line of Defence

E—ER &

Second Line of Defence

EIER AR

Third Line of Defence
E=EH R

Business units, project companies
and regional centres — They
are responsible for continuous
identification, assessment,
monitoring and reporting of
risks in operating processes
and implementation of specific
processes for risk management
and internal control systems.

FBRE - BB ARMERE A O
— REBEHELBREPHNER
FEHA - AT BEERER
B i B B 3R N A EBAE i R AT EY

g 3z FO0
,E-%Emﬁi ©

The functional departments
of the headquarter — They are
responsible for the regular
review of overall risk levels and
effectiveness of control measures
in managing principal risks.

REBEE T — KREBAETH
FIEEBHERER  BEHEE
[E\ B B PR FE BB A R o

Internal Audit Department — It is
responsible for the regular review
of the follow-up actions taken in
enhancing risk management and
internal control systems.

NER — HERETHEZRR
ERMATIEH RANENEE

(EPI
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In addition, the Company has implemented two major management
systems to address risks in different aspects of the Company,
namely the Risk Management System and the Environmental, Safety,
Health and Social Responsibility (‘ESHS”) Management System
(‘ESHS Management System”). The Risk Management System
provides the procedures for risk identification and assessment,
risk register compilation, risk tactics development, risk event
management, risk event reporting, and the review and audit of such
system. The Company updates its risk register on a quarterly basis.
Any material findings on the risk management will be escalated
to the AC and the Board. The AC and the Board also review the
material risks relating to environmental, social and governance of the
Group and its corresponding actions, on a regular basis. The ESHS
Management System provides a series of standardised operating
procedures to address the environmental, safety, health and social
responsibility risks.

The internal auditors conduct an annual review of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s key internal controls including
management of financial, operational, compliance, information
technology and sustainability risks. The external auditors may
also report on matters relating to internal control, as part of
their usual audit procedures. Any material non-compliance and
recommendations for improvements are reported to the AC.
The AC also reviews and continues to monitor the effectiveness
of the actions taken by the Management in response to the
recommendations made by the internal and external auditors. Based
on the work performed by the internal and external auditors, the AC
reviews the findings from the internal and external auditors on the
Group’s internal controls and the Management’s responses to the
auditors’ recommendations for improvement to the Group’s internal
controls and discussions between the auditors and Management.
The Company may, from time to time, appoint external advisers
to assist in assessing and identifying key risks and the related key
controls established by the Company.

The Board has received assurance from the CEO and the CFO that
the financial records of the Company have been properly maintained
and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
Company’s operations and finances; and regarding the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems (including financial, operational, compliance and
information technology controls).

FH o KRR BT MAETIERERKEY
AARETREEMAENRR - BER
EEBEMRE T2 @B#REEKM4EER
( [ESHS| ) E#E iR ( [ESHSEER

)  RREEEBREHT -—RINEF
ETEBRBRMFTG  BEAREAHER
‘% BERBRERE  BEERBREMN - BE

REM  FEMEARBREEERSE o
1‘ AEEZRFRREHETLE - FﬂEA}—L
REEMNERNERBE L REETZES
BEg - Ei *igﬂl%$/’\ﬁjmﬁn~$5§$
EEMNRE  HENEANERNRRKEERE
$HE - -ESHSEREBRIEMHT —RIIFE
{EmERERIRE 22 @E??%H?\i@%{i
[RBg °
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Risk management falls under the purview of the AC, and no other
dedicated committee is set up at the Board level. Nonetheless, a
Risk Assessment Committee is set up by the Company to assist the
Management Committee in making decisions on new investment
projects. In relation to new investment projects that require
Board approval, the Risk Assessment Committee’s findings and
recommendations will also be submitted to the Board for consideration.

For more information on the Risk Assessment
Committee, please refer to the section entitled
“Internal Management” on pages 29 to 30 of this
Annual Report.

The Company’s Legal and Risk Management Department is
responsible for summarising the risk management results of
each department and regional management centre, assessing
the potential material risks faced by the Group according to its
risk management programme, and formulating and implementing
the risk management plans for the next year. The Legal and Risk
Management Department is also responsible for maintaining and
updating the Company’s risk register.

For more information on the principal risks and
responsive measures, please refer to the section
entitled “Chief Executive Officer’s Report” on pages
31 to 38 of this Annual Report.

The Board has reviewed and, with the concurrence of the
AC, is satisfied with the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems
in addressing financial, operational, compliance and
information technology controls and sustainability risks as at
31 December 2024.

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the Group’s financial statements. The Finance Management
Department of the Company is supervised by the CFO. With the
assistance of the Finance Management Department, the Directors
ensure that the Group’s financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and applicable
accounting principles. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

A statement by the external auditor of the Company, about its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
included in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 150 to 157
of this Annual Report.
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As at 31 December 2024, the AC comprised four Directors, all of B‘/\2024¢12H 31H ' B ZECHUEES
whom are INEDs, namely: AR EERBIEHE - AN

Mr. Zhai Haitao (INED)
BgskEt (BIENE)

Mr. Soh Kok Leong (AC Chairman & INED) Ms. Hao Gang (INED)
MBEIREE (FAZEQEF  BUFEHE) RllZt CBIEmE)

Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter (INED)
BERELRE (BIIFNE)

The Board considers Mr. Soh Kok Leong, who has extensive #EIRGAEE:T Bt LEATISHEE
experience in accounting, auditing and capital markets with more HEZ2E&5% @ WHA23FMNEFEATAEE AL
than 23 years of experience as Assurance Partner, to be wel- 5 EEeRAHLELSERELETLZE
qualified to chair the AC. gEE o

Majority of the AC members have accounting or finance B ZEEMNAZHKXEVAEEZHIER
background. The members of the AC, collectively, possess recent EH& > B L8 &K EHE F BABITET
and relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or  ZEB @R EFMEMN ST HABY K ERE ST E
experience to discharge the AC’s responsibilities. B B BT AN S A B o

The AC does not comprise former partners or directors of the TitZEE@HFRETMKERAARIEAE
Company’s existing auditing firms or auditing corporations: (a) within -~ FTEI BTk BT A B MR EE B A
a period of two years commencing on the date of their ceasingto be &% : (a) B R IHETEFEHKABALE
a partner of the auditing firm or director of the auditing corporation; BFT AR EZTZHEMFEA : RIEEMAIBR
and in any case, (b) for as long as they have any financial interest in T ° (b)RE%TF?EEZ%ﬂ'Eﬂi$i‘%Fﬁ_X%u+
the auditing firm or auditing corporation. AP M B TS R 2

The AC is guided by the terms of reference which stipulate its Bt EZESHEBEHEEBITHRE -

principal functions.
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The primary functions of the AC include, but are not limited to:

B ZEENTIEREBEBENRR :

©)

©)

®

Reviewing the significant financial
reporting issues and judgments
and monitoring the integrity of the
financial statements of the Group
and annual reports and accounts,
half-year reports and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and
any announcements relating to the
Company’s financial performance

HHBANPKREMBENER B
RAEBEMBwEK  FERENE
B ¥FEHRE  FTERT (WHE
o) AREMEARRFNBEREGHA

M AETEME

©)

Reviewing and reporting to the Board at least annually
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
internal controls, comprising financial, operational,
compliance and information technology controls and
risk management systems (such review may be carried
out internally or with the assistance of any competent
third parties), which shall cover the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function
BEEL-REAVMESSREREEENE - &
- SRANEERMERANEREEE RGN FT D L
BN (LWEERMAIABRARRABHARIELAE
NHE=F B TET)  ATEBEREESM
MEMEBENER  BITEBRMER « FIIHERM
BENFTRME

Reviewing and monitoring the
adequacy and effectiveness, scope
and results of the Group’s internal
audit function
ERMERAEERNBE B
TOMEMBERMYE  REABEMER

©

Reviewing the scope and results of the external audit,
and the independence and objectivity of the external
auditor(s)

EHIFEAOBEMSER - LARINEFFT AN A
SRR BT

Reviewing any interested person
transactions (“IPTs”) as defined
in the SGX Listing Manual and
connected transactions (“CTs”) as
defined in the SEHK Listing Rules,
and reviewing the procedures

25 B 22 A T T 1P E 2 6 R
ATZS ( [BBMALRZ] ) M
B EmARAIAERNBERS
( TREXRB] ) WHEBHIVZSE
R HHEFF

(©)

Reviewing potential conflicts of interest, if any, including
reviewing and considering transactions in which there
may be potential conflicts of interest between the
controlling Shareholders (as defined in the SEHK Listing
Rules), interested persons (as defined in the SGX
Listing Manual) and connected persons (as defined in
the SEHK Listing Rules) and recommending whether
those who are in a position of conflict should abstain
from participating in any discussions or deliberations
of the Board or voting on resolutions of the Board in
relation to such transactions as well as ensuring that
proper measures to mitigate such conflicts of interest
have been put in place

EHEENNRER (1F) @ BEEHNEEEZER
R (EERBRM EMHRA)  BBMAL (EEREH
R ETFEM) REEALT (EERBBRA EmARAD

Z B GRS FHEEENRE R - WA RN =
MATEAAEEES SR THE2EZEXHH W
FE IR R ER &R - AEREIRIEE BRI
gV EaEagS
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The AC has the explicit authority to investigate any matters within
its terms of reference. It has full access to, and the co-operation of
the Management and full discretion to invite any Director or any key
executive to attend its meetings. The AC has adequate resources,
including access to external auditor(s), to enable it to discharge its
responsibilities properly.

The AC is well informed by the Management and external auditor(s)
of changes to accounting standards, the SGX Listing Manual, the
SEHK Listing Rules and other regulations which could have an
impact on the Group’s business and financial statements.

The AC met four times in FY2024 and the relevant Directors,
Management and the external auditor(s) were invited to attend the
meetings.

Summary of the AC’s work during FY2024:
BN ZESE2024 N EE R TERE

B RE S AANABNENIATHBESR
BEIAMWEMEIER E2EEEEEELEE
EEENREG  AIEITRESBEMNESX
TEEHABHEESR -FHRECHA
RANER (BIREINEFENZE) &
ZEEWEITRE

EIEEMINERTEIABRITZE S M AR
AREEHARENEBNMERRELTE
M EEHER - R ET M BT L™
RAIMEMERBEE o

E L EERE2024BBMEERNEBR TUAE
#EEE  EEEBRINPEEERY
BT -

e Reviewed the Group's audited consolidated financial results for FY2023 and unaudited consolidated financial
results for the first half of FY2024;
EHAREE R 2023 I F S EFH4RE MG B L2024 R FE L FRIRKEE RS MBS

e Reviewed, with the Management and the external auditors, the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group, the audit approach and methodology applied, in particular the Key Audit Matters in the Independent
Auditor’s report;
SR E IR E RIMNDERT N E B AN R E RN S RBIRIED] - PREEAME F RTE - FAIRB B RE
WH AR T FIE

e Reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems;
EHAEERREREMABZEGEROT S RBRM

e Reviewed the report of the internal auditors and the internal audit plan;
EH N ERT RS RN ERTETE

e Reviewed the IPTs and CTs (including continuing connected transactions) and the related disclosures;
EHHEBMA TR RAERS (BREFERERS) MAREKE

e Reviewed the adequancy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function;
FHAEEEGT A BERBETENER BEIERAKER BIRIREREHBEERERE,;

e Reviewed and recommended to the Board the proposed change of auditors; and
EHNTMEFSHEFUERREEEAMNEE &

e Met with the internal auditors and external auditors separately twice, without the presence of any EDs and

Management, to review any matters that might be raised.
EREEMPEMERBLEFENERT - BAFETAMINETAET T MREFSHE -
£H

ik Al Bt A (E
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Financial Matters

HBEE

In the review of the Group’s consolidated financial statement for R EF AL B 202481 B F E W44 M S HRE
FY2024, the AC discussed with the Management and the external B - B EZE D WBEIRE RINDETAIA R
auditors the accounting principles that were applied and their  FriRAEEHREIA N E B A EF EIEHRE
judgment of items that might affect the integrity of the financial ~ TEMUHIERFELERHE - BAEE @D E
statements. The following significant matters impacting the financial ~ B 2 B2 E IR B K ANEBEE ST AN 1 5 A N2 22871
statements were reviewed by the AC, and discussed with the HHERMNEAEE :

Management and the external auditors:

Significant Matters

EXEHE

How the issue was addressed by the AC

FREEEEMEELNBRGE

Assessing expected
credit loss allowance of
trade receivables
HEEWAR M IEREE
izt ]

The AC and the Board receive regular updates from the Management on the ageing
analysis of trade receivables, the progress of trade receivables collection and
repayment schedule discussions with customers in the year. The AC is satisfied
with the attention and effort taken by the Management on the receivables collection.
Besides taking into account the opinion and findings from the Management and
the external auditors, the AC also considered and reviewed the methodology used
in the estimation of expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance of trade receivables and
the appropriateness, completeness and reasonableness of the factors used in the
estimation based on their knowledge of the business of the Group, the industry, the
current and future economic environment.
EZESLEFEeTHRIEEERAASEERENRNERR QR ERER
HEFETHENERBALER BT EZEHEREHMEYKIER YK TEH
ARERFINMENBSIRTIRE -BERETEEERINFEAMOHER RER
Oh  BALZEGHRBEHASERITEERNTHE - B RARREHERENH
i HERKEFEREEER ( [RBGEEHE| ) BEARITENIEMER
MAZREAMN 2EERESIEEET TS -

The AC is satisfied that ECL allowance of trade receivables as at 31 December 2024
was adequate.

FiTZ BHN2024F12 A31 AR RUSRAIBHIEE B IRREN B HIEERTME

Impairment assessment
of goodwill

AR E A =

The AC considered the approach and methodology applied by the Management on
both the assessment for impairment indicators and the impairment assessment of
goodwill. In addition to considering opinion and findings from the Management and
the external auditors, the AC also reviewed the approach used in the valuation and the
reasonableness of key assumptions used in the cash flows forecast, including future
revenue growth rate, operating margin, terminal growth rate and discount rate based
on their knowledge of the business of the Group and the industry.

B ZESERTEREAMNMGAENRMEEMENATEANTT AL -
REBETEEBEMIIMEAMNERMERI  EHAZEGERBAULERKR
RITEEBN THAETEEANAZNBeREBTAREANEERS (BFEX
RWABRER EBLMEX  REERERFEER) BN ETERN -

The AC is satisfied with the appropriateness of the methodology applied and the
reasonableness of the key assumptions used.

B RERUMRBIAZAERELIMEIERRZAEREERTME

Following the review and discussions, the AC recommended to the KEB R wE B LEQRREFSIE
Board to approve the full-year financial statements for FY2024. 2024 B B2 B ISRk o
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External Auditors

The AC has reviewed the non-audit services provided to the
Group by the external auditors, KPMG LLP (“KPMG SG”) and
KPMG (“KPMG HK”) during FY2024, and is of the opinion that the
provision of such services does not affect the independence and

SMEREF T ED

B ZELEHN TIBEFMKPMG  LLP
( [KPMGH i ) MESE TSI
( [KPMGE&E#® | ) 2024 FE AR A
EERENIEF RS - IIZE/M%TET It 48 AR

objectivity of the external auditors. WP EINER R ETRT A B L M AR B o
Details of the fees paid and/or payable by the Group in respect of ~ ANE&EE 2024 B F EE LIEFT RS
the audit and non-audit services during FY2024 are set out below: NR/SENEROFBEOT :
Fees paid and/or payable to the external auditors of the Company,
KPMG SG and KPMG HK, and their affiliates HK$’000
ENR/RENSE AT PIBESAMKPMGH K EKPMGEEUR EBERBENER THERT
Audit fees =B 1,668
Non-audit fees FEEH
() Audit-related services (“ARS”) () FEH1ERARRTS ([ BEtEBARE ) 1,139
(i) Non ARS (i) FEEEETAERAARTS -
Fees paid and/or payable to other auditors HK$’000
ENR/RESHMETHNER FHExT
Audit fees =B 1,461

The AC has reviewed the adequacy of the resources and experience
of KPMG SG and KPMG HK as well as the quality of the external
auditors by taking into account the audit engagement partners
assigned to the audit, the engagement hours and audit experience,
and the audit quality indicators presented by the external auditors.

Accordingly, the AC and Board recommend the re-appointment of
KPMG SG and KPMG HK at the forthcoming AGM. The Company
has complied with Rules 712, 715 and 716 of the SGX Listing
Manual in relation to the appointment of its external auditors for
FY2024 and in making the above-mentioned re-appointment
recommendation.

EAZEZESCEHKPMGHIINE EKPMGE
‘&

BB RSB Y 7T R M LA R IMNED R AR Y
= WEETRERETES TENEG

HEABA B HRBBHREAERAR
SMNEREETED AR BT E EEIR o

Al - B ZEeHEETEZENERR
HBEFRg HERE KPI\/IG%ﬂJDi)EZ&KPMG
BB $ATE2024HM51¢FEP&1’EH%
T ERHEEREST TR W FM
FET121& ~ BT1IEMT16IKMIRTE -
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Internal Audit

The Company has an Internal Audit Department (“IA”) to strengthen the
internal audit function and promote sound risk management, including
financial, operational, compliance, information technology controls,
sustainability and good corporate governance. The AC approves the
recruitment, removal and evaluation of the internal auditors.

The IA reports primarily to the AC and has full access to the relevant
documents, records, properties and personnel of the Company and
the Group. The IA reports to the AC at least twice in a year regarding
the progress and major findings of the internal audit process. The
AC reviews at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of
the internal audit function of the Company and ensures that the
Company’s internal audit team is formed by the sufficient number of
personnel with relevant qualifications and experience.

The |A comprises employees whose roles and responsibilities
are dedicated to carrying out the internal audit function for
the Company. In FY2024, the IA was headed by Mr. Li Ke, who
has more than ten years of working experience in internal audit.
He was supported by a team of five employees, all of whom
have experience in finance, internal audit or project operations
management. None of the personnel of the IA had any relationship
or conflict of interest that could impair their objectivity and
independence in conducting their internal audit function. The AC
is of the view that the Company’s internal audit function is
independent, effective and adequately resourced.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an internal control system
to safeguard the Shareholders’ investments and the Group’s
businesses and assets, while the Management is responsible for
establishing and implementing the internal control procedures in a
timely and appropriate manner.

The IA's main scope of work covers the review and evaluation
of processes and areas of concern identified. The IA assists the
Management in enhancing existing risk management initiatives
and carrying out regular independent monitoring of key controls
and procedures. The findings and recommendations in relation to
the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and process
improvements are presented to the AC and the Management.

REREET

AARERAANER ( [REH] ) - AR
ABEPETBEEE ReE2MEREE (81

B B2 AR BEERINES - AIEE
HEMREFNERER) - BARBEHENR

ERERAT RN RORNES - B E A -

NEDEBRAFTRE GRS TIF Al 2@
BRI ARABMAEENBEE X - L8k - WE
MAB - ARFZVBFMAMETLZEGE
BABETERANEAREHEEPEERD
T 2B - B ZERELEBF ARBEAR
Al AP EET BBE R FE D LA RIE - WRESR
ARRIMABEEGEE 2B ERAEH
FEEMERIAR o

NEIHBEMEERITAR A PR B EE
B TAEAK - R2024ERFE - RBEHHE
BEABTHEE BB T FAIPETH
¥k UYESHARETAKNBEEKSE T
MY - ZARETIHBRAYE - REE:
HIBHEEZEELER AEBIELMAR
FEAMBEERSIFZERMEBEELESHITA
HEABENTEHENB LT - BHEES
REXRATNABETBERB L - BEXE
BRAER °

EEGREEENBIEHRG  URERE
MRENAEENEGNEE  EREAR
2 B 350 LA 8 07 3% 8 57 0 b B
R -

NEMNETETFHREBREEEMFEAE
TEREMREFMEBE - AFE B EIEE K
ZHANEREEEE - HRERBIZERIMEZF
HEITE MBI ER - WA H B AR IE B R
FrEfGE ) FE 0 MM A R RO S & 48 R M 5
MBEFEZESNEEEER -
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Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses identified
during reviews are reported together with recommended corrective
actions to the AC on a regular basis. In particular, the Company
had certain outstanding licenses and/or permits in relation to
its business and operations as at November 2014 (“Licences
and/or Permits”) as disclosed in the Company’s circular dated
12 November 2014. Most of such Licences and/or Permits had
been obtained in the financial years ended 31 December 2015, 2016
and 2017, as disclosed in the relevant annual reports. The Company
did not have any further updates in FY2024.

The results of the internal audit findings are also shared with the
external auditors for consideration in their audit planning.

Whistle-Blowing Policy

The Company has put in place a whistleblowing policy which
applies to all the directors and employees (including but not limited
to permanent, full-time, part-time and contract employees, etc.) of
the Group and any parties who deal with the Group (including but
not limited to investors, customers, contractors, suppliers, creditors
and debtors, etc.). The policy is designed to provide the employees
and external parties with confidential whistleblowing channels to
report to the Group any actual or suspected illegal activities and
misconducts in corporate financial reporting, internal control or
other areas.

Whistle-blowers are able to contact the AC Chairman and CEO
directly through the email addresses which are provided on the
Company’s website. The identity of the whistle-blower and all
concerns or irregularities raised are treated confidentially, and
every effort will be made to ensure that confidentiality is maintained
throughout the process.

The Company has designated the IA to investigate whistle-blowing
reports made in good faith. The Audit Committee is responsible
for overseeing and monitoring the whistle-blowing policy and
mechanism, and making decisions on further actions (if needed)
based on the investigation conducted by the IA.

The Company is also committed to ensuring that the
whistle-blowers are protected against detrimental or unfair treatment.

NESTHAEBTZECEREEERMA
B EKRNTE R NAIIE G B E 53
IRET  URREMEEENES - AR2F %
FEHEAE2014F 11 A12 8 6% 538 P #)
BTARRAFN20145F 11 A AREESE TR
HEXEBBOFUZM/SME ( [FAR
M/E#E] ) o ARBIEREZ=2015F -
20164 « 201712 A31H It BFE+
BMETAREZEZEFTEM/SHE - TR
HEAFERSTHRETZSER - XARE
2024 R F [E R EREINE FT ©

MEEH R BRI BB PR - A
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RBEARBTE) REMEAREESE XS
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Anti-Corruption Policy

The Group maintains a zero-tolerance approach to corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering during the course of
its business activities. As such, it has formulated an anti-corruption
policy (the “Anti-Corruption Policy”) which prohibits all forms of
corruption practice by making reference to the relevant laws and
regulations. The Anti-Corruption Policy forms an integral part of
the Group’s corporate governance framework, which sets out the
specific behavioural guidelines that the employees of the Group
must follow to combat corruption. The Anti-Corruption Policy
is reviewed and updated on a regular basis to stay aligned with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best
practices. All the employees are informed and expected to act with
integrity, impartiality and honesty. The Group regularly organises and
arranges various training on anti-corruption for the directors and
employees of the Group.

Dealings in Securities

The Company has adopted an internal code (the “Internal Code”)
governing dealings in securities by Directors, officers and relevant
employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group. The Internal
Code is in line with the requirements of the SEHK Listing Rules and
HK CG Code on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the SEHK Listing Rules, in
addition to the requirements of the SGX Listing Manual and the
SG CG Code. The Internal Code has been disseminated to all the
Directors, officers and relevant employees of the Group.

The Directors, officers and relevant employees of the Group have
been informed not to deal in the Company’s securities at all times
whilst in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information and
during the periods commencing:

(1) 30 days immediately preceding the publication date of the
announcement of the Company’s interim results (and quarterly
results, if any) or, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant half-year (and the relevant quarter, if applicable) up to
the publication date of the results; and

2) 60 days immediately preceding the publication date of the
announcement of the Company’s full-year results or, if shorter,
the period from the end of financial year and up to the
publication date of the results.
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The Directors, officers and relevant employees of the Group are also
required to comply with relevant insider trading laws at all times,
even when dealing in securities within permitted trading period or
while they are in possession of unpublished inside information or
price-sensitive information of the Company and they are not to deal
in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations.

Having made specific enquiries with all the Directors, each Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standard as set
out in the Model Code and the Internal Code throughout FY2024.

Inside Information Policy and Procedures

The Company has formulated an inside information policy and
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The inside information policy provides guidelines to the Directors,
officers and relevant employees of the Group (likely possessing the
unpublished inside information) to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to the public in an equal and
timely manner in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
The procedures include, among others, regularly reminding the
Directors, officers and relevant employees of the Group to comply
with the securities dealing restrictions as set out in the Model Code
and the Internal Code, as well as notifying them of the relevant
blackout periods applicable to the publication of the interim and
full-year results of the Company.

All Directors and those employees who may have access to, and
monitor, the information of the Group are responsible for taking
appropriate precautions to prevent abuse or misuse of such
information. The employees of the Group are strictly prohibited from
using inside information for their own benefit.
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(E) INTERNAL MANAGEMENT

Management Functions

As mentioned above, the Board approved a document, known as
the Board Authority Matrix, which sets out the matters reserved
for the Board’s decision and provides clear directions to the
Management on matters that must be approved by the Board.
The matters delegated by the Board to the Management are

(E) PISPEEIR
B B R ER BE

WmEXFrat EFECHE-—OER [ES
SRBBE] X HPJRARBRE
CRRFEMNIES - BREEERERETR
HEEHEFESHENSTH EFGREMH
EEERRNER - BRAARANEELZE

generally considered and decided by the Management Committee
of the Company (the “MC”).

As at 31 December 2024, the MC comprised:

Mr. Tao Junjie (MC Chairman, ED & CEO)
MERLE (EBELESEFR EREE)

The primary functions of the MC include, but are not limited to:
EEZEENT2REBR/ETRRN

2 ( [BEBZREE] ) £T7ERMRE -

MR2024F12A31H
ANBHK :

Mr. Wang Yuexing (ED & Vice President)
IHREEE (RENEIEE)

Mr. Wang Guanping (Vice President)
FREFEE (BIBH)

Mr. Zhang Guofeng (Vice President)
REISEEAE (RIBH)

Mr. Wu Zhiguo (Vice President)
REELE (R18H)

Mr. Song Libin (Chief Financial Officer)
REREE (BEMBE)

©)

The decision-making authority
for the day-to-day administration,
operations, management and
personnel matters
BEXBEBHRELE S8
REHETHR  EZ BEEA
EEEARER

©)

management of

EiR

Responsible for the

business operations
BEHEXRKES

o)
©
Formulating and implementing

annual work tasks and
medium-term development
plans for the Group
HENXEEAEEFEIIER
R HAERARE

daily

CEEZEEAMNT
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The MC holds meetings on a regular and ad hoc basis. It holds
meetings at least once a month and has a weekly communication
mechanism. The MC reviews and discusses the Group’s investment
proposals on new projects, appointment and removal of key
executives at headquarter departments, regional management centres
and project companies, performance appraisals, status of financial
budget execution, and the major works done and progress of the
headquarter departments and regional management centres, etc.

To assist the MC in decision-making process, the Company also
established a Risk Assessment Committee (the “RAC”) and a
Technology Committee (the “TC”) to assess the risks and make
recommendations in undertaking new investment projects and
construction works. Any new investment project, before being
submitted to the MC for consideration, will be reviewed by the
RAC and the TC respectively. The MC will then take into account
the findings and recommendations made by the RAC and the TC. In
relation to investment projects with investment amounts exceeding
certain thresholds, the Board approval will be sought before the
definitive agreement is executed.

In relation to each meeting held by the MC, minutes duly signed by
its chairman are retained by the Company as records.

(F) SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder Rights and
Conduct of General Meetings

Principle 11
SG CG Code

The Company treats all Shareholders fairly and equitably,
and recognises, protects and facilitates the exercise of the
Shareholders’ rights.

The Company encourages Shareholders to attend the general
meetings to ensure a high level of accountability and to stay
informed of the Company’s strategy and goals. The Shareholders
are informed of general meetings through notices sent to
them. In FY2024, the notice of AGM was despatched to the
Shareholders, published on the Business Times as well as
uploaded onto the SGXNet and the websites of HKEX and the
Company. The Company also uploaded the Management’s
presentation slides to be used at the AGM in advance. The
Board welcomes questions from Shareholders who have an
opportunity to raise issues either informally or formally, before
or at the general meetings. To facilitate the Shareholders’
communication with the Directors and the Management, a
question-and-answer session is held at all the general meetings
before voting is carried out.
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Resolutions at general meetings are made on each substantially
separate issue. All the resolutions at the general meetings are
single-item resolutions.

The Company encourages all the Directors to attend its general
meetings to address Shareholders’ questions. For the AGM
held in FY2024, all the nine Directors at that time (including
the Chairman of the Board and the chairmen of all the Board
Committees), CFO and the General Manager of the Finance
Management Department attended the meeting.

The Company’s external auditors and the Legal Counsel and Joint
Company Secretary are also invited to attend the general meetings
to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries from the
Shareholders.

The Company conducts poll voting for all resolutions to be passed
at its general meetings. The rules, including voting procedures,
are explained by the scrutineers during the general meetings. If any
Shareholder is unable to attend, the Bye-laws allow each Shareholder
to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote at the general
meetings on his/her behalf. Meeting minutes are prepared for all the
general meetings (including the details of the question-and-answer
sessions therein) and are uploaded on the SGXNet and the websites
of HKEX and the Company within one month after the general
meetings and are properly maintained as the Company’s records.

All the Directors attended the AGM held on 26 April 2024
FTAZE S THR2024F4 A26 ARTHR R AT RS
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Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a Special General
Meeting and to Put Forward Proposals

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene a special
general meeting are prepared in accordance with Bye-law 57 of the
Bye-laws.

BRERAMRRIEBASNRIZBRNESF

BRERAKIBATEFBRKRRENARE -

FRRFREKBARESTIRREMETE -

(1)

One or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Joint Company Secretaries, to require a special
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition.

The requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and
must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of those Shareholders.

The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Joint Company Secretaries.

The special general meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of the requisition.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, themselves
may do so in accordance with the provisions of Section
74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the
“Bermuda Companies Act”).

The written requisition to convene a special general meeting shall be
submitted to the Board or the Joint Company Secretaries at 9 Battery
Road, MYP Centre, #20-02, Singapore 049910 or Room 3601, 36/F,,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

(1)
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Dividend Policy

The Group has adopted a policy on the payment of dividend (the
“Dividend Policy”) since 2019, in compliance with the HK CG Code
and SG CG Code, which establishes an appropriate procedure for
declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the Company.

The Company declares and/or recommends the payment of
dividends to the Shareholders after the Board considers the
factors, such as: the funding needs for the operations and
business development of the Company from time to time; the
market situation from time to time; the solvency requirements of
the Bermuda Companies Act; cash flow and financial condition of
the Company; the requirements of the Bye-laws and the relevant
laws, rules and regulations applicable to the Company; and so on.
When assessing the Company’s performance for each financial
year or interim financial period, the Board shall seek to maintain
stable dividends based on the capital expenditures and cash flow
for each financial year or interim financial period, while smoothing
the effect of any variation in the cash flow that may be due to
one-off gains or losses in the same period. The Board shall have
the full discretion on whether to pay a dividend, subject to the
Shareholders’ approval, if applicable.

The Board shall review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis.

In accordance with the Dividend Policy, the Company declared and
paid an interim one-tier tax exempt dividend of 6.09 Hong Kong
cents (equivalent to 1.05 Singapore cents (“Sing cents”)) per
ordinary share for the six months ended 30 June 2024. In addition,
the Board recommended a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of
5.81 Hong Kong cents (equivalent to 1.02 Sing cents) (“FY2024
Final Dividend”) per ordinary share for FY2024, which will be
subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.

For more information on the details of shareholders
and public float, please refer to the section entitled
“Statistics of Shareholdings” on pages 309 to 314 of
this Annual Report.
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The Company recognises the importance of good communication
with the Shareholders and the investment community and
also recognises the value of providing current and relevant
information to the Shareholders and the investors. The Company
has established a shareholders communication policy (the
“Shareholders Communication Policy”) with the objective of
ensuring the Shareholders and the investors have timely access to
comprehensive, consistent, and up-to-date information about the
Company. The policy is available on the SGXNet and the websites of
HKEX and the Company.

To facilitate the Shareholders in excercising their ownership
rights, the Company ensures that all material information is
disclosed on a comprehensive, accurate and timely basis on the
SGXNet and the websites of HKEX and the Company, especially
information pertaining to the Group’s business development
and financial performance which could have a material impact
on the share price of the Company. The Company also uploads
all its press releases, presentation slides to be used at analyst
pbriefings and other disclosure documents which includes material
information on these platforms.

In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company, and
pursuant to the SGX Listing Manual, SEHK Listing Rules and the
Bermuda Companies Act, the Board ensures that the Shareholders
are fully informed of all major developments that impact the Group
on a timely and equal basis.

Information is disseminated to the Shareholders on a timely basis through:

1 SGXNet announcements;

(1)

2) HKEX announcements;

(3) press releases;

4) results briefings and analyst briefing presentations;

5) annual reports;

(6) interim reports; and

(7) the Company’s website at www.ebwater.com, at which the

Shareholders can access information on the Group.

The Company does not practise selective disclosure of material
information. All the material information is available on the SGXNet
and the websites of HKEX and the Company.

R )RR BRI A FRARFF R 4F /8 @ Y
B2 YRAIARRMTEE R ERIE
BEENEE - ARFRIEHE T RFBAK
®( TRRBEMAEEK]) - §HEERER MK
BEYAERBRSARFE2E - —HEEH
BE R » ZEAIESGXNet » BT A
NAAEE EER -

BTERBRTEMRERE - ARBERMAE
MEEES (LERHARRKRETEAY
ENXBERMPGEERE) D@ - R
K B i # BR FESGXNet ~ B FAFA LR AR
Mub £ o ARBIBEZFFE LEFER
DMEAENEERNMEMEE TERERD
R A »

RETARRNFERBERBALT AR
EWmFAM - B ER AR A RERRE
MRE  EFSBRRBREFFFFEDSE
MERNEEBELENMEERENR -

EEBBIA T A RBERETT MR

EMHIESGXNet I A E
BMEBRIIMURN RS

FER
XEBHMAMAOWEAENTEER
FERE

REImRE &

P& B8 AT 55 8 AN 1 B 48 vk JE X AN SR [ Y

=B @t Awww.ebwater.com °

(1
(2
(3
(4
(5
(6
(7

—_— — — — — ~— ~—

ARPAEBEBRIEZERESRES M
o FMBEERERBITELESGXNet » BXR
PRAIZAR R BBV AE A £



ANNUAL REPORT 2024
2024 F ERE

12

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERBS

In order to reinforce mutual understanding between the Shareholders
and the Company, the Company established and maintained a
number of ways to strengthen its communication with investors.

Measures that the Company has taken are as follows:
RRATERBMEERBIT

RMBRRERNNF ZENHEEER - AR
AR ARET T Z B NgREREEEBN
TR e

) )

©) ©) ©)
Organising analyst briefings Attending meetings or telephone Organising road shows
to explain its latest published conferences requested by for the investors or
financial information as well as investors, Shareholders or potential investors. This

to provide its business updates
when necessary

BRSTAEN S - BERT
NP BER - WiERF R M

analysts on an ongoing basis
throughout the year to assist
them in understanding the latest
updates relating to the Company

may be conducted solely
by the Company itself
or by collaborating with
investment banks

AT EBFER JEIREE  WRRIDTEANE BIREERNBEREE
ko 2ELEH2NESe BIP A o BIERARQT
ENEEEE  EBMM TR BiTRPFEKERT
NN EORS € TIE A
@ © ©
Organising site visits for Ensuring important information Engaging an external

investors or potential investors
to the Group’s projects

ABREELBEEREERIN

SENEEEMER MEZRFER

The Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through the investor relations department via
ir@ebwater.com.

The Board has reviewed the engagement with Shareholders
during FY2024 and is satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy.

of the Group is announced in a
timely manner without delay

RAKERA LB REFQ

public relations company to
manage investor relations
matters
BRI R R IR
BEHREE
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(G) STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT AND

SUSTAINABILITY

Strategy Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Strategy Committee (the “SC”)

comprised five Directors, namely:

Mr. Luan Zusheng (SC Chairman, NED and Chairman)
BERTE (BREEELF  IREREER)

(G) HBRERMINFHANRE

BHREES

The primary functions of the SC include, but are not limited to:

BRZEENEEREBEENRR :

R2024% 127318 -
ZRg

BEEED
1) AERESMHERK A1

( [Eng

Mr. Tao Junjie (ED & CEO)
MEREE (BEREE)

Mr. Wang Yuexing (ED & Vice President)
IBEEE (RERERE)

Ms. Hao Gang (INED)
MBlZt CEIEHE)

Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter (INED)
EMELRE (BUERE)

©)

Assisting the Board in
formulating the strategic
development direction
of the Company and
overseeing the strategic
planning of the Company
and the implementation
of such strategies

BN E E & HIF] AR A

MERERT R BEE
ZN/NGIE R R
MEE

During its meetings, the SC may invite the Key Management
Personnel to participate in discussions regarding the Company’s
strategies and development directions. The SC then reports its
recommendations on the Company’s development strategies to the

Board for discussion and approval.

©)
Reviewing the medium-
term and long-term strategic
objectives proposed by the
Management and overseeing
the Management’s performance
in relation to such strategies

EFEEERENTHANES
BEEIZ EEEEEMEZE
B AR M R IR

©)

Considering sustainability
issues in formulating
strategies and overseeing

the monitoring and
management of the
environmental, social and

governance factors that are
material to the business of
the Company

T E BRE I B A AR

FEE - BEEHARFER

BEATYENRE  LaM

ERAEMNEITMER
ﬁkmgééggﬁﬁauﬁﬁﬁ‘ TLP%I%%@}\
BE—RAZ2EFARARANEBELERTM -
i%i%@%%ﬂﬁ%#$ ﬁ?@ﬁwm
%%ﬁ%%@ﬁﬁ# CHEFSImML



ANNUAL REPORT 2024
2024 F ERE

123

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERBS

) Principle 13
Engagement with Stakeholders ‘/ SG CG Code
Stakeholder engagement is an indispensable part of the Group’s
sustainable development strategy. The Board adopts an inclusive
approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests
of materials stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to
ensure that the best interests of the Company are served. The
Group maintained constant interaction and close communication
with stakeholders through various communication channels, to
gain insights into how its business affects different stakeholders.
Through collecting valuable suggestions and expectations from the
stakeholders in relation to the Group’s sustainable development, the
Group identifies areas for improvement on business policies and
project operations, and identifies issues that have significant impacts
on its sustainable development, enabling the Group to formulate
long-term development strategies.

For more information on engagement with
stakeholders, please refer to the section entitled
“Sustainability Report” on pages 58 to 70 of this
Annual Report.

(H) EMPLOYEE GENDER DIVERSITY

The Group operates in the environmental protection industry, where
project operations and engineering construction demand high levels
of physical labour and shift work. Due to traditional cultural factors,
the water industry has been facing shortage of female talents.
Therefore, increasing the proportion of female employees remains a
challenge for the Group.

Nonetheless, the Company has attracted female talents and
maintained female representation within its workforce.
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As at 31 December 2024, gender diversity of the workforce is as
below:

Total number of employees: 1,797
ETHEZ 1,79TA

Female

i 31%

Male

hREERE

.@‘ Senior Management &
= 4 750 g |
2 B AR

Female
/,4 1

Male

EEI
7‘.!

The Group recognises the importance of diversity and will continue
to step up its efforts in increasing the female proportion in the
workforce.

(K) MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in this Annual Report, there are no material
contracts of the Group involving the interests of any Director
(including the CEQ) or controlling shareholder subsisting at the
end of FY2024, or entered into since the end of the previous
financial year.

(L) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted a new set of Bye-laws with effect from
26 April 2023 pursuant to the special resolution passed at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 26 April 2023.

During the year under review, there was no change in the Bye-laws.
An up-to-date version of the Bye-laws is also available on the SGXNet
and the websites of HKEX and the Company.

Middle Management

17%
8%

MR2024F12A31H
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General and Technical Staff
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Everbright Water Limited (“Everbright Water” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to submit
this Annual Report to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) together with the audited financial statements for
the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024” or the “year
under review”).

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the financial statements are drawn up so as to present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Group
and of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and the
financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this Directors’ Statement (being 25 February 2025)
(this “Statement”), there are reasonable grounds to believe
that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they fall due.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year under review.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year under
review, particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of FY2024 (if any), an analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators
and a discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” and the “Chief Executive
Officer's Report” on pages 14 to 45 of this Annual Report. A
description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group is set out in the section entitled “Principal Risks and
Uncertainties” in the “Chief Executive Officer's Report” on pages
31 to 38 of this Annual Report. A discussion on the Group’s
environmental policies, relationship with its key stakeholders and
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group is provided in the section entitled
“Environmental and Social Management” in the “Chief Executive
Officer’s Report” on pages 39 to 41 of this Annual Report and the
sustainability report of the Company for FY2024. A copy of the
sustainability report is available on the Company’s website under
“CSR & Recognitions — Sustainability Report”.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers of
the Group respectively during FY2024 is as follows:

TERFRHER

REER2024FBHFERNZEERF MHEE
BmERMT :

Percentage of the Group’s total

HREETIREZEDL
Revenue Purchases
WA REgs
The largest customer BRAEKP 14%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREPER 42%
The largest supplier RAIER 7%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate RAREEEER 24%

None of the Directors, their close associates and the Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, each own more
than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

Results

The financial results of the Group for FY2024 and the Company’s
financial position at the end of FY2024 are set out in the financial
statements on pages 158 to 290 of this Annual Report.

Interim Dividend

An interim dividend of 6.09 Hong Kong cents (“HK cents”)
(equivalent to 1.05 Singapore cents (“Sing cent(s)”)) per ordinary
share was paid to the Shareholders on 11 September 2024 (for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023”): HK6.63 cents
(equivalent to 1.13 Sing cents) per ordinary share).

Final Dividend

The Board recommended a final dividend of HK5.81 cents
(equivalent to 1.02 Sing cents) per ordinary share for FY2024
(FY2023: HK5.81 cents (equivalent to 0.99 Sing cent) per ordinary
share), subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
AGM (as defined below).

Note:
AGM: The Company’s Annual General Meeting
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Share Capital

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year under review. Details of the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

Debentures Issued

During FY2024, the Company had completed the issuance of the
followings:

(@ China Everbright Water Limited First Tranche Medium Term
Notes 2024 (the “2024 First Tranche MTNs”) with a principal
amount of RMB1.5 billion. The 2024 First Tranche MTNs were
fully subscribed for by the institutional investors in the national
inter-bank bond market of mainland China (the “Institutional
Investors”), with a maturity period of five years (with an interest
rate adjustment option to be exercised by the Company and
a resale option to be exercised by the noteholders at the end
of the third interest-bearing year) and an interest rate of 2.80%
per annum. The proceeds from the issuance of the 2024 First
Tranche MTNs were used to replenish the working capital of the
Company’s subsidiaries and repay the interest-bearing debts of
the Group. Details of the 2024 First Tranche MTNs are set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 2 January 2024 and 8
January 2024; and

(b) Asset-backed securities (“ABS”) with a principal amount of
RMB?2 billion pursuant to an asset-backed products scheme.
The ABS comprised preference ABS and subordinate ABS.
The preference ABS were issued to qualified Institutional
Investors with a principal amount of RMB1.9 billion. The
preference ABS were classified into seven classes, with
maturity periods ranging from approximately one to nine years
and the composite interest rate of 2.67% per annum. The
subordinate ABS with a principal amount of RMB100 million
was issued to Everbright Water (Shenzhen) Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. The proceeds from the
issuance of ABS were used to repay the loans borrowed by
the Group and replenish the Group’s working capital. Details
of the ABS are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 17 April 2024, 19 April 2024, 23 April 2024 and
17 May 2024.
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Debentures Issued (cont’d)

During FY2024, the following bonds/notes had been repaid/delisted:

(@)

The Company had repaid all of the outstanding principal
amount plus accrued interest under China Everbright Water
Limited First Tranche Medium Term Notes 2021 (the “2021
First Tranche MTNs”) in full on 15 January 2024. Details of
the maturity and repayment of 2021 First Tranche MTNs are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 8 January
2024; and

The Company had repaid all the outstanding principal and
interest in full under the third tranche of RMB-denominated
corporate bonds (also known as HEY KKEABR A A
2019F RFEITARIES (£ —H]) ) (the “Third Tranche
Corporate Bonds”) on 22 January 2024. The Third Tranche
Corporate Bonds were delisted on 22 January 2024. Details
of the payment of principal and interest and delisting of the
Third Tranche Corporate Bonds are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 11 January 2024.

Details of the debentures issued during FY2024 are also set out in
note 28 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not issue any other
debentures during FY2024.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution amounted to approximately HK$8,174,887,000
(31 December 2023: HK$8,018,448,000).

Charitable Donations

No charitable donations were made by the Group during FY2024
(FY2023: Nil).
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Directors (Note)

The Directors during FY2024 and up to the date of this Statement

(being 25 February 2025) were:

Non-Executive Director
Luan Zusheng (Chairman)
(appointed on 18 March 2024)

Executive Directors
Hu Yanguo (Chairrman)

(resigned on 18 March 2024)
Tao Junjie (Chief Executive Officer)
Luo Junling (Chief Financial Officer)

(resigned on 18 March 2024)
Wang Yuexing (Vice President)

(appointed on 18 March 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Zhai Haitao

Hao Gang

Ng Joo Hee Peter
(appointed on 18 March 2024)

Soh Kok Leong
(appointed on 18 March 2024)

Lim Yu Neng Paul
(retired at the conclusion of the AGM held
on 26 April 2024)

Cheng Fong Yee
(retired at the conclusion of the AGM held
on 26 April 2024)

The Independent Non-Executive Directors are appointed for
a specific term, subject to re-election. They are all subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the bye-laws of the

Company (the “Bye-laws”).

Note: Subsequent to the date of this Statement, Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy
was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director with
effect from 13 March 2025. For further details, please refer to the
(i) “Corporate Information” on pages 4 to 6 of this Annual Report;
(ii) biographical details of the Directors on pages 46 to 63 of this Annual
Report; and (iii) “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 71 to 124 of

this Annual Report.
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
EETEH

Changes in Information of Directors

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Rules (the “SEHK Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”), the
change in information of the Directors since the Company’s last
published 2024 Interim Report is as follows:

Ms. Hao Gang was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (the shares of
which are listed on the SEHK) with effect from 12 November 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of other
information which is required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51B(1)
of the SEHK Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.
Management Contracts

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year under review.

Directors’ Interests

Under Singapore Law

According to the Company’s register of Directors’ shareholdings,
none of the Directors holding office at the end of FY2024 had any
interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related
corporations, and there was no change between the end of FY2024
and 21 January 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
EETEH

Directors’ Interests (cont’d)

Under Hong Kong Law

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company and their respective associates had
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”))
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
C3 to the SEHK Listing Rules.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, holding companies
or fellow subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate at
any time during the year under review.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than any
Directors or chief executive of the Company) were substantial
Shareholders and had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company or the SEHK:
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the

Company (cont’d)

Long position of substantial Shareholders in shares of the Compan

TERRREMALTRED TR G RAEAER G
MEERXE (&)

TERRRARBRINZ TR

Approximate

Number of percentage of total
shares held issued shares

Name of substantial Nature of (ordinary shares) (Note (1))
Shareholder Capacity interest BEZRHEAR KB BITRDEE
FTERRHE 514 EaME ZER) B (M)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest of controlled ~ Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
(“Huijin”) (Note (2)) corporation interest
hRESREFREENR SR NGIlE o NI 2

([Ef]) @)
China Everbright Group Ltd. Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
(“China Everbright Group”) corporation interest
(Note (3) SIEARMER  ARER
R KEER D A A

( [FEXAREEH] )

(FHEE(3))
China Everbright Holdings Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
Company Limited (“CE Hong corporation interest
Kong’") (Note (4)) REHIARER  ARES
FE R REEBR AR

( [RKRE\EE] ) (ME@)
Guildford Limited (“Guildford”)  Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
(Note (5)) corporation interest

(HEE(5)) RS A R8s NRER
Everbright Environment Interest of controlled  Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
(Note (6)) corporation interest
KRIBE (Hiike)) R NGCIlE o NRER
China Everbright Water Beneficial owner Corporate 2,084,724,572 72.87%
Holdings Limited (‘CEWHL”) EnEAA interest
B KKK 1R IRB PR A 7 NRER

( [HERARBER] )
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
EETEH

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company (cont’d)

Long position of substantial Shareholders in shares of the Company

FERRREMATREQTRG R EBER G
HEERAE (F)

I2RRRARERNZ TR (B)

(cont’d)
Notes:

1) Based on 2,860,876,723 issued ordinary shares of the Company as at
31 December 2024.

2 Huijin is indirectly wholly owned by the State Council of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and holds 63.16% equity interest in China
Everbright Group. It is deemed to be interested in the 2,084,724,572
shares indirectly held by China Everbright Group.

) China Everbright Group holds 100% equity interest in CE Hong Kong. It is
deemed to be interested in the 2,084,724,572 shares indirectly held by CE
Hong Kong.

(4) CE Hong Kong holds 100% equity interest in Guildford. It is deemed to be
interested in the 2,084,724,572 shares indirectly held by Guildford.

(5)  Guildford holds 39.57% equity interest in Everbright Environment. It is
deemed to be interested in the 2,084,724,572 shares indirectly held by
Everbright Environment.

6) Everbright Environment holds 100% equity interest in CEWHL. It is deemed
to be interested in the 2,084,724,572 shares directly held by CEWHL.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified of any other persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company or substantial Shareholders) who
had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’
Contracts

Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company,
or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and
in which a Director or any entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, subsisted at the end of FY2024 or at any time
during FY2024.
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No Competition between Everbright Environment and the
Company

In connection with the separate listing of the Company on the SEHK,
the Company implemented various corporate governance measures
to confirm that the directors of both Everbright Environment and the
Company will be able to function and operate independently and
effectively in the best interest of the respective companies. Details
relating to the non-existence of competition between Everbright
Environment and the Company are set out in the section entitled
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholder” of the listing document
issued by the Company dated 24 April 2019 (the “HK Listing
Document”). Up to the date of this Statement, there is no change in
the details previously disclosed in the HK Listing Document.

Directors’ Interests in a Competing Business
During the year under review and up to the date of this Statement:

° Mr. Luan Zusheng, in addition to his role as the Non-Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Company, is also a director of
Everbright Environment.

° Mr. Zhai Haitao, in addition to his role as the Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company, was also a director
of Everbright Environment (retired on 30 May 2024). Mr. Zhai
will retire as a Director of the Company upon the conclusion
of the forthcoming AGM.

° Mr. Hu Yanguo, in addition to his previous role as an Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Company (resigned on
18 March 2024), was also a director of Everbright Environment
(resigned with effect on 27 March 2024).

Everbright Environment is a listed intermediate holding company of
the Company and is engaged in environmental protection business.
Everbright Environment may be in competition with the Group.
However, as stated in the section entitled “No Competition between
Everbright Environment and the Company” above, the Company
implemented various corporate governance measures to ensure the
independence between Everbright Environment and the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors are considered to
have interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

HKRBRRERR BT FHERT

BARARRRBIMBL L™ - ARAIEE
EEREXERTERE  BRIEARBERAR
AZEFTYRBYARMUANTEZBERAZ
RIEMNS 2 T ABITREENER - BAXX
REEARBIFEHRF ZHBDIERAE
NEIFTTEE B EIR2019F4 A24 0 2 FH X
([EBEWXMH] ) A TERZERBIRAEE
R —8-BEEABARZFEY  FEL™M
XM EBEARIL BB

ESRNEEER 2R
REBFEALEEABHARZEY

. RERTERETARRFNTES
REERI  METRKRRES -

° BEBELAEBRETARARGBYIEH
TEBIN NEEETHXARRES
(B2024F5H30H#RIF) - Bt
BREERRAFASERERIA
NEESE -

° AR B R BT ET AR R BTT
FEENEER (H2024F3H18H
FEFE) N MBEEAXRKIRRES

(B2024%E3 27 H A FFF) °

RARRBEBARNB 2 EmPEZEERAF - &
EERFREFD - AARERAXEEF
BES AWM MEX [ERRREALQF
NeaEHF] —&rd - ARAREHERSHE
EEERER  BRAARRTEARNRA]ZHE
BB ZNE

BEXEBEEIN  SIEEFRRSEERANE
BRGEZIHEBRK A EBREFHE
B A -



ANNUAL REPORT 2024
2024 F ERE

135

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
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Equity-linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during FY2024 and
subsisted at the end of FY2024.

Warrants

As at the end of FY2024, there were no warrants issued by the
Company to take up any unissued shares of the Company.

Share Options

The Company has no share option scheme during FY2024.

Pre-emptive Rights

Bye-law 12(1) of the Bye-laws provides that (subject to any direction
to the contrary that may be given by the Company in general
meetings) any issue of shares for cash to existing Shareholders
holding shares of any class shall be offered to such Shareholders
in proportion as nearly as may be to the number of shares of such
class then held by them and the provisions of the second sentence
of Bye-law 12(2) with such adaptations as are necessary shall
apply. Bye-law 12(2) of the Bye-laws provides, inter alia, that except
permitted by the listing manual of Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (the “SGX Listing Manual”) or the SEHK Listing
Rules or any direction given by the Company in general meetings,
all new shares shall before issue be offered to such persons who
as at the date of the offer are entitled to receive notices from
the Company of general meetings in proportion, as far as the
circumstances admit, to the number of the existing shares to which
they are entitled. Save for the foregoing, there is no provision for
pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of its listed securities during FY2024.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available

to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.
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Material Related Party Transactions

Material related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year under review are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements. In relation to those material related party transactions
that also constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company as defined in the SEHK
Listing Rules, the Company has complied with the relevant
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
SEHK Listing Rules during the year under review, and the details of
which are set out in the section entitled “Connected Transactions
and/or Continuing Connected Transactions” below.

Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions

During FY2024, the Company and the Group had the following
connected transactions and/or continuing connected transactions,
details of which are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the SEHK Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Deposit services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into a new deposit
services framework agreement (the “Deposit Services Framework
Agreement”) with China Everbright Group, a controlling shareholder
of Everbright Environment, for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2023.

Pursuant to the Deposit Services Framework Agreement, China
Everbright Group shall procure China Everbright Bank Company
Limited (“CE Bank”) to provide deposit services (including current
and fixed deposits) to the Group within or outside the PRC in
accordance with rules and regulations prescribed by the People’s
Bank of China (“PBOC”) and/or other relevant rules and regulations.
The deposit services to be provided by CE Bank shall be on normal
commercial terms agreed through arm’s length negotiations between
the parties and no less favourable than the terms available to the
Group from independent third parties. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2022.

During FY2024, the maximum daily closing balance of the Group’s
deposits (including interests accrued thereon) placed in CE Bank
amounted to approximately HK$92,574,000. The said amount was
below the annual cap of HK$150,000,000 for FY2024 as stated in
the Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2022.
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (cont’d)

Loan services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into a new
loan services framework agreement (the “Loan Services
Framework Agreement’) with China Everbright Group,
a controlling shareholder of Everbright Environment, for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2023.

Pursuant to the Loan Services Framework Agreement, China
Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to provide loan services
(including revolving credit facilities and fixed term loans) to the
Group within or outside the PRC in accordance with the rules and
regulations prescribed by the PBOC and/or other relevant rules and
regulations. The loan services to be provided by CE Bank shall be on
normal commercial terms agreed through arm’s length negotiations
between the parties and no less favourable than the terms available
to the Group from independent third parties. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2022.

During FY2024, the maximum daily closing balance of the
Group’s loans (excluding loans which do not require security
over the assets of the Group) provided by CE Bank amounted
to approximately HK$42,022,000. The said amount was below
the annual cap of HK$150,000,000 for FY2024 as stated in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2022.

Underwriting and advisory services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into a new
underwriting and advisory services framework agreement
(the “Underwriting and Advisory Services Framework
Agreement”) with China Everbright Group, a controlling
shareholder of Everbright Environment, for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2023.
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (cont’d)

Underwriting and advisory services (cont’d)

Pursuant to the Underwriting and Advisory Services Framework
Agreement, China Everbright Group shall procure its subsidiaries
and associates, including but not limited to Everbright Securities
Company Limited (“EB Securities”) and its associates, to provide
the underwriting and advisory services to the Group with respect
to the issuance and/or quotation of securities (including but not
limited to convertible bonds, hybrid bonds, corporate bonds,
asset-backed securities, ordinary shares, preference shares,
rights and/or other securities) by the Group within or outside
the PRC in accordance with relevant rules and regulations. The
underwriting and advisory services to be provided by EB Securities
shall be on normal commercial terms agreed through arm’s
length negotiations between the parties and no less favourable
than the terms available to the Group from independent third
parties. Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
15 December 2022.

During FY2024, the aggregate underwriting commission, sponsor
fees and financial advisory service fees paid or payable to EB
Securities amounted to HK$976,000. The said amount was below
the annual cap of HK$20,000,000 for FY2024 as stated in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2022.

Sludge treatment and hazardous waste treatment services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into a new sludge
treatment and hazardous waste treatment services framework
agreement (the “Sludge Treatment and Hazardous Waste
Treatment Services Framework Agreement”) with Everbright
Environment, a controlling shareholder of the Company, for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2023.

Pursuant to the Sludge Treatment and Hazardous Waste Treatment
Services Framework Agreement, Everbright Environment shall
procure its subsidiaries and associates to provide sludge treatment
and hazardous waste treatment services to the Group in respect of
the specific needs of the Group’s waste water treatment or water
environment treatment projects. The amount payable by the Group
under each sludge treatment and hazardous waste treatment
services contract shall be determined based on normal commercial
terms agreed through arm’s length negotiations between the parties,
and no less favourable than the terms available to the Group from
independent third parties. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 15 December 2022.
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (cont’d)

Sludge treatment and hazardous waste treatment services (cont’d)

During FY2024, the aggregate fee paid or payable to Everbright
Environment and/or its subsidiaries and/or its associates with
respect to the receipt of sludge treatment and hazardous waste
treatment services amounted to HK$1,759,000. The said amount
was below the annual cap of HK$160,000,000 for FY2024 as stated
in the Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2022.

Lease of the premises

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into a new property
lease framework agreement (the “Property Lease Framework
Agreement”) with Everbright Environment, a controlling shareholder
of the Company, for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2023.

Pursuant to the Property Lease Framework Agreement, Everbright
Environment shall or shall procure its subsidiaries and associates
to lease office premises, meeting rooms and guest rooms to the
Group of which the rent payable by the Group under each tenancy
agreement shall be determined through arm’s length negotiations
with reference to the prevailing market conditions and the rental
level of similar properties in the vicinity. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2022.

During FY2024, the aggregate rental paid or payable to Everbright
Environment and its subsidiaries amounted to HK$5,108,000.
The said amount was below the annual cap of HK$12,000,000
for FY2024 as stated in the Company’s announcement dated
15 December 2022.
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (cont’d)

Employee healthcare protection services

On 15 December 2022, the Company entered into a new
employee healthcare protection services framework agreement
(the “Employee Healthcare Protection Services Framework
Agreement”) with China Everbright Group, a controlling shareholder
of Everbright Environment, for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2023.

Pursuant to the Employee Healthcare Protection Services
Framework Agreement, China Everbright Group shall procure
its subsidiaries and associates, including but not limited to Sun
Life Everbright Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (“Sun Life Everbright”)
and its associates, to provide the Healthcare Protection Entrusted
Management Scheme, the Long-term Supplemental Medical
Insurance Protection Scheme and other employee healthcare
protection services to the Group in accordance with the relevant
laws, rules and regulations. The employee healthcare protection
services to be provided by Sun Life Everbright shall be on normal
commercial terms agreed through arm’s length negotiations between
the parties and no less favourable than the terms available to the
Group from independent third parties. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2022.

During FY2024, the aggregate fees paid or payable to Sun Life
Everbright under the Employee Healthcare Protection Services
Framework Agreement amounted to HK$14,738,000. Such fees
include the principal deposited or to be deposited, the management
fees and medical insurance fees paid or payable under the relevant
schemes of the employee healthcare protection services under the
Employee Healthcare Protection Services Framework Agreement.
The said amount was below the annual cap of RMB35,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$38,500,000) for FY2024 as stated in
the Company’s announcement dated 15 December 2022.
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

Connected Transaction

Concession Agreement in relation to Shandong Laoshan Project

On 13 March 2024, the Company entered into a concession
agreement with Qingdao Water Group Environmental Energy Co.,
Ltd. (“Qingdao Environmental Energy”’) and Qingdao Laoshan
District Urban Management Bureau (a governmental authority
under the People’s Government of Laoshan District, Qingdao City,
Shandong Province, the PRC), pursuant to which the Company and
Qingdao Environmental Energy would jointly incorporate a project
company for the implementation of the phase Il and phase | upgrading
(concession right) project in relation to the waste water treatment
plant at Zhangcun River, Laoshan District, Qingdao City, Shandong
Province, the PRC (“Shandong Laoshan Project”). As Qingdao
Environmental Energy is a substantial shareholder of Everbright
Water (Qingdao) Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, Qingdao Environmental Energy is a connected person of
the Company at the subsidiary level. The total investment amount of
Shandong Laoshan Project was expected to be RMB688,330,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$764,046,300). Details are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 13 March 2024.

During FY2024, no payment was made by the Group for the
investment amount of Shandong Laoshan Project.

Save for the information disclosed above, during FY2024, the
Group did not enter into any other transactions which constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions that
were subject to reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of the
SEHK Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

Update to the Connected Transaction Conducted in FY2023

Water Construction Subcontracting Agreement

On 13 February 2023, Everbright Water Technology Development
(Nanjing) Limited (‘EW Tech Nanjing”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a water construction subcontracting
agreement (the “Water Construction Subcontracting
Agreement”) with Everbright Environmental Protection (China)
Limited (“EEP China”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Everbright
Environment, pursuant to which EW Tech Nanjing has agreed to
undertake the construction works for EEP China regarding the
renovation of the pavement, water facilities and rainwater storage
systems in respect of the Hainan Boao Zero Carbon Demonstration
Zone Construction Project in Boao Town, Qionghai City, Hainan
Province, the PRC in accordance with the terms thereunder. The
total contract price of the Water Construction Subcontracting
Agreement was estimated to be approximately RMB16,757,200.00
(equivalent to approximately HK$19,350,376.70). In any event, the
total contract price shall not exceed RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$28,868,750). Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 13 February 2023.

In accordance with the Water Construction Subcontracting
Agreement, EW Tech Nanjing has submitted monthly reports to EEP
China outlining the progress of the construction works, and EEP
China has correspondingly conducted audit to determine the fees
payable to EW Tech Nanjing. The construction work thereunder was
completed in FY2023. Accordingly, during FY2023, approximately
RMB10,402,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$11,509,000),
being part payment of the contract price, was paid to EW Tech
Nanjing. During FY2024, following further audit conducted by EEP
China, an additional part payment of approximately RMB4,856,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$5,265,000) was paid to EW Tech
Nanjing, bringing the aggregate amount paid by EEP China to
EW Tech Nanjing during FY2023 and FY2024 to approximately
RMB15,258,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$16,774,000).

It is expected that the final payment under the Water Construction
Subcontracting Agreement will be made by 31 December 2025,
and that the final aggregate amount paid by EEP China to EW
Tech Nanjing will not exceed RMB25,000,000, which is the
previously disclosed maximum total contract price under the Water
Construction Subcontracting Agreement. The Company will make
the relevant disclosures accordingly.
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

Confirmation of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Independent Non-Executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such
transactions were entered into:

° in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

° on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they were on
normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

° in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

Report of the Auditor

KPMG, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. KPMG
has issued a letter to the Board containing a conclusion that the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group above
are in compliance with Rule 14A.56 of the SEHK Listing Rules, and
nothing has come to their attention that the continuing connected
transactions:

(i) have not been approved by the Board;

(ii) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group where the transactions involve
the provision of goods or services by the Group;

(iii) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the continuing
connected transactions; and

(ivy  have exceeded their respective annual caps for FY2024 set
by the Company.
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Connected Transactions and/or Continuing Connected
Transactions (cont’d)

Directors’ Interest in the above Transactions

When the Board considered entering into the continuing connected
transactions back in December 2022, the then Executive Director
and Chairman, Mr. Hu Yanguo, was also an executive director and
the vice president of Everbright Environment; and the Independent
Non-Executive Director, Mr. Zhai Haitao, was also an independent
non-executive director of Everbright Environment. Due to their
connected relationship with Everbright Environment at that time,
they abstained from voting on the approval of the Property Lease
Framework Agreement, the Sludge Treatment and Hazardous Waste
Treatment Services Framework Agreement and the related annual
caps during that meeting. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 15 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a material
interest in any transactions, arrangements or contracts which
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions.

Interested Person Transactions Mandate and Aggregate Value
of Such Transactions

The Group obtained a general mandate (the “IPT Mandate”) from
the Shareholders for interested person transactions (the “IPTs”)
during its AGM held on 26 April 2023 pursuant to Rule 920 of the
SGX Listing Manual. The IPT Mandate was renewed during the
Company’s AGM held on 26 April 2024. The aggregate value of the
IPTs exceeding SGD100,000 during FY2024 are set out as follows:
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Interested Person Transactions Mandate and Aggregate Value
of Such Transactions (cont’d)

BRALIRZRERZEXRZNWAEE (&)

Name of Nature of Aggregate value of all IPTs Aggregate value of all IPTs
interested relationship during FY2024 (excluding conducted under the IPT
person BERNME transactions less than Mandate during FY2024
A L B8 SGD100,000 and transactions (excluding transactions less
conducted under the IPT than SGD100,000)
Mandate) 2024 NFERRIBEABA X
224 BEENFERABALR SEEMETHRAEEBALR
ZHBEEE (£8P M100,0008 SHAEE (£FE2R100,000%
IETRBEEBALIRZERE  IBRTHRBZERM)
FREATH RS BRIM)
Everbright Controlling Nil HK$12,187,000
Environment shareholder i3 (equivalent to SGD2,087,000)
RREBIE PERRRR R 12,187,000/
(%{E2,087,000% 04 7T )
Sun Life Associate of Nil HK$18,048,000
Everbright the controlling i3 (equivalent to SGD3,091,000)
FE R KA shareholder 18,048,000/ 7T
PRI R BB A (55183,091,000%F 103 7T)
EB Securities Associate of Nil HK$976,000
HRFBEH the controlling = (equivalent to SGD167,000)
shareholder 976,000/8 7T
PR OB A (%8167 000 A1)
China CYTS Associate of HK$788,000 Nil
Tours Holding the controlling (equivalent to SGD135,000) L3
Co., Ltd. shareholder 788,00078 7T
PERERRG  IERARRAVEREEA (518135,000%7 h03%7T)
BRAA]
Sufficiency of Public Float EHNARERE

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the best knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
Annual Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under Rule 8.08 of the SEHK Listing Rules and Rule 723 of the
SGX Listing Manual. For more details, please refer to the section
entitled “Statistics of Shareholdings” set out on pages 309 to 314 of
this Annual Report.
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Permitted Indemnity Provisions

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance for the
Directors and the Senior Management, and the insurance coverage
and the sum insured under the policy are reviewed annually.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2024 are set out in notes 27 to 28 to the financial
statements.

Five-Year Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 291 to 292
this Annual Report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year under review are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements.

Retirement Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of laws of Hong Kong) for employees who
are subject to the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of laws of
Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the Group’s
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at 10% and 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, respectively.

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Company in mainland
China are members of the retirement schemes operated by the
local authorities. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to these schemes to fund the benefits.
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Retirement Schemes (cont’d)

The Group also makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund
in Singapore. Pursuant to the Central Provident Fund Act 1953 of
Singapore, both the employer and its employees are required to make
regular contributions at certain rate based on the employees’ income.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to
the profit or loss during FY2024 amounted to approximately
HK$47,689,000 (FY2023: HK$59,154,000).

Confirmation of Independence

In accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the SEHK Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that all
Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent and satisfy
the requirements under Rule 3.13 and the Company has received an
annual confirmation of independence from each of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors pursuant to the SEHK Listing Rules.

Audit Committee

The members of the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) at the date of this Statement are as follows:

Soh Kok Leong (Chairman)
Zhai Haitao

Hao Gang

Ng Joo Hee Peter

All members of the Audit Committee are Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The Audit Committee carried out its
functions as required by the SGX Listing Manual, the Code of
Corporate Governance 2018 and the SEHK Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
SEHK Listing Rules.

Based on the internal control established and maintained by the
Group, the work performed by the internal and external auditors (to
the extent as required by them to form an opinion on the financial
statements), and the reviews conducted by the management of the
Company (the “Management”), the Board, with the concurrence
of the Audit Committee, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal
controls addressing financial, operational and compliance risks were
adequate as at the date of this Statement.
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED

EETEH

B RKIEB R AT
’

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
Audit Committee (cont’d) BT EEE (#)
After reviewing the risk management and internal control systems of £ 7 7N & & 59 [ 5 & 32 F1 79 2042 41 68
the Group, the Board and the Audit Committee are satisfied withthe E% @  EEFeMETZEeHZEEEXE
adequacy and effectiveness of such systems for FY2024. 2024 FEEM D HEMBERIERTHE ©
Further details of the Risk Management and Internal Controls, BREBREEMAILES - BFZE S
Audit Committee, and Internal Audit are set out in the Corporate [ A &f 3= EIJr MMEZHBHIRAFERSE
Governance Report on pages 103 to 114 of this Annual Report. FI03EEFIM4AZDEETRARE -

The Audit Committee has held four meetings since the last directors’
statement. In performing its functions, the Audit Committee met with
the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope
of their work, the results of their examination and evaluation of the
Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following, inter alia:

° assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal
and external auditors;

° half-yearly and annual financial statements of the Group prior
to their submission to the Directors for adoption; and

° interested person transactions (as defined in the SGX Listing
Manual), connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions (as defined in the SEHK Listing Rules).

The Audit Committee has full access to the Management and is
given the required resources to discharge its functions. It has full
authority and the discretion to invite any Director or executive officer
to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also recommends the
appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit
and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and
objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to the
Board that KPMG LLP and KPMG be nominated for re-appointment
as auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.

Events after the Reporting Period

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in note 40 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
EETEH

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP retired as the auditor of the Company and did
not seek for re-appointment at the AGM held on 26 April 2024
(“2024 AGM").

KPMG LLP and KPMG were appointed as the auditors of the
Company at the 2024 AGM in place of the retiring auditor Ernst &
Young LLP.

KPMG LLP and KPMG will retire at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution

for the re-appointment of KPMG LLP and KPMG as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change in
auditors of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Luan Zusheng
Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Tao Junjie
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

25 February 2025

EaTEm
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB S

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

To the Shareholders of China Everbright Water Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

KPMG

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Everbright Water Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial staterments section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”) together
with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB S

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

To the Shareholders of China Everbright Water Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key audit matters (cont’d)

HF B AKFHRA FARE
(REFZEMA L BRAA])

REESEE (8

Assessing expected credit loss allowance of trade receivables

FHEEBARR VR B ERE

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 191.

B B RN 23 R FE 191 AT E A 5T HE

The key audit matter
BERESEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAHETNMEEZSE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total gross carrying
amount of trade receivables was HK$6,071,978,000, with
an allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECLS”) of these
assets of HK$778,263,000.

MR2024F12A31H - ESEEWERREABERER
6,071,978,000/87C - X FEENRHEEBHE ( [HE
HIEEEEB] ) 8% /778,263,000 7T °

Management measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL,
based on the historical repayment and loss patterns for
different groups of the customers, and ageing of trade
receivables.
EIEBIRIBETRIE 4RI BB SRR B R AR S LA K i
WEER B R - REERNZAREREEBERN SR
ERWRTHEREME -

The loss allowance is assessed collectively using a
provision matrix, based on factors such as the ageing
of trade receivable balances, the repayment history
of the Group’s customers and credit risk profile of the
customers (including segmentation).
EFiEREDIRBRERUSRREHNERR  SEETFPHNE
FEREREFPHEERRML (BFESH) FRE - K
PR B 1T R BB AT A4 -

We identified the assessment for the loss allowance of
trade receivables as a key audit matter because this
assessment of ECLs is inherently subjective and involves
significant management estimation.

BV EYER R E B R ER T L e R ST R1E
TYHRRAATESMEEBEARE FATHN WHKEKX
BB EhET -

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowance for
trade receivables included the following:

B EYRRIEREERREENETREFEET
%18

° understanding and evaluating the Group’s policy
and method for estimating the ECL allowance
with reference to the requirements of the
applicable accounting standard;
2RREASTHEANRATE - TRETEEEERG
STTREEEEBRBEBONBRRITE

° assessing the appropriateness of the key
assumptions used by management in the ECL
assessment, including the basis for segmentation
of the trade receivables based on similar credit
risk profile of its customers;

A EREEEEREEEEN R ANEE
BRELRE  BERBREZZFPEUNGEER
R VE R E W RN D SRR E 2

° assessing the inputs used by the management in
the ECL assessment, including whether the trade
receivables were categorised in the appropriate
ageing bucket by comparing individual items to
the relevant underlying billing notice, on a sample
basis; and
A A B R EE TR E BB BT LA
AR @ ARE - BFEGERER EAEENRE
WAL URTERBEAESSEREZEE
BERERAR R ¢ K

° re-performing the calculation of the ECL
allowance as at 31 December 2024 based on
the Group’s ECL allowance policies, inputs and
assumptions.
BREEEENEREEEBERELICE - WA
NBRE - EFETER2024F12 A31BWMEHEE
EiaRE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB S

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

To the Shareholders of China Everbright Water Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key audit matters (cont’d)

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB AT

HF B AKFHRA FARE
(REFZEMA L BRAA])

REESEE (8

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 184.

BRI 17 RE 184 HFr# & 51 IHE

The key audit matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMHETNAEEZEE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
goodwill of the Group was HK$1,342,426,000, which
had been allocated to the groups of cash generating
units (“CGUs”) comprising wastewater treatment
plants. Goodwill represented 5% of the Group’s total
non-current assets.
R2024F12A31H EXEEENEEEER
1,342,426,0008 7T ' ENEZBFEITKEEMNE
EHET ( [ReEEHER] ) AR - BBLESEFE
MENVEEBTERISY °

Management performs impairment test on goodwill
annually at the end of each reporting period or whenever
there is an indication of impairment. This involves
comparing the carrying value of each group of CGUs
to which goodwill has been allocated with its respective
recoverable amount, determined as the higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal, to assess
whether an impairment loss should be recognised.
Value in use is assessed based on discounted cash flow
forecasts.

EREFSFRERGFPRILT R ETRE HEEE
TRENR EEEERESEFENZERSED
BIMEREREEAZENAKESE (AEREE
HEAABERHEKNAMEPHNRSEETE) - Ut
ELHERARMEER - EREERBEFRRESRERNA
HEITRHE -

This assessment requires the exercise of significant
estimation about the future market conditions and future
cash flows including sales growth rates and discount
rates, all of which involve inherent uncertainty.
ZAHEERERRMSRR R AR KB REEL ERMG
i BREHEEREANTIRE - MEL P RER T
EE o

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of
goodwill included the following:

HARME R ERENETRF B ISR

° understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
impairment assessment of goodwill;

TR N ETE R R R B R (A AT A 80 B B2 0 ER R &Y
RETAE i

° assessing the appropriateness of management’s
identification of groups of CGUs, with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
K2ERITEHENNATER - THEEERR
ReENETARNREE

° comparing the cashflow forecasts prepared in
the previous year with the actual performance of
the businesses for the current year and inquired
with- management about any significant variations
identified to assess whether there were any
indications of management bias;

R F—FERENRERETRAERFENHER
EBRR - WREEEARMBRNERERE
2 AR EREENEEEE RRETR

° evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards, and
evaluating the reasonableness of the discount
rates used by the management by benchmarking
against those of comparable companies, with the
assistance of our internal valuation specialists;
R2EZRTEFEANRTE - fHEEET AN
B WERPABEEEROBET - AL
NRINITR R GEE - FFEEEEMEROTTIR
EaBIM
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB S

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

To the Shareholders of China Everbright Water Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key audit matters (cont’d)

Impairment assessment of goodwill (cont’d)

BENRENE (&)

HF B AKFHRA FARE
(REFZEMA L BRAA])

REESEE (8

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 184. (cont’d)

BRI 17 RE 184 HFr# & 51 IHE

The key audit matter (cont’d)
BRETEE (H)

(%)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (cont’d)

BRNFFOMAEEZEER (F)

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter as the goodwill impairment
assessments prepared by management involve
significant estimation and assumptions which could be
subject to management bias.

MR EEERENEEREN G REAMA RRE
HigteX2 el Es AIRENTE  BtRMHHmE
BT A BRI AR ERTFIA

° assessing the reasonableness of sales growth
rates applied, with reference to our understanding
of the business, historical trends and available
industry information and market data;
DERMUEBNRE BEBBARATERH
TREMEMISHIE - FHEMERNEHEERE
HA IR

° performing sensitivity analyses of the sales growth
rates and discount rates, and considering the
resulting impact on the impairment assessment
for the year and whether there were any indicators
of management bias;
HIHERRENMRRETHRESN - AEE
HEXFERENENOTE  URETEEMAE
EEERRENIR

° re-performing the calculation to assess the
mathematical accuracy; and

EETA EARH A BT RN - &

° assessing the reasonableness of the disclosure
in the consolidated financial statements with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
SDERTGAEANRTE @ FHEEE M BRERD
BENSIEMN -
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BB S

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

To the Shareholders of China Everbright Water Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Information other than the consolidated financial statements
and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB S

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

To the Shareholders of China Everbright Water Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

HF B AKFHRA FARE
(REFZEMA L BRAA])
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE
Shareholders of China Everbright Water Limited B B EA KB HR L FIRR

To the
(incorp

orated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated

financ

ial statements (cont’d)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit fi

ndings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We als

o provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and,

where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB S

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

To the Shareholders of China Everbright Water Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (cont’d)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam Kai Wa.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

25 February 2025
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED

158 REXAABERA D
""‘ PAPAN
,\\7r\ E LI& %
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 # % 2024 € 12 A 31 BIFHBREE
Note 2024 2023
o 20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Revenue PN 5 6,851,918 6,704,684
Direct costs and operating expenses BEEAAREEER (4,234,456) (3,882,301)
Gross profit EF 2,617,462 2,822,383
Other income and gains, net B A R TR 6 65,187 46,007
Administrative and other operating T R A b=
expenses =935 (702,557) (641,273)
Finance income BRI A 7 13,529 26,658
Finance costs BI75 & 7 (541,076) (590,921)
Share of (losses)/profits gl
of associates (EB8) 187 (7,174) 2,008
Share of profit of a joint venture Friga & AT 689 1,261
Profit before tax BRELATE R 8 1,446,060 1,666,123
Income tax expense RS 11 (319,066) (404,910)
Profit for the year REEEF 1,126,994 1,261,213
Other comprehensive loss Hih2mEEE
Other comprehensive loss not to TEREZHARERN
be reclassified to profit or loss in DEEEm 2 HAM
subsequent periods: ZHEE
Exchange differences arising on BRENGEEERZE2W
translation of functional currency EEEEZIER ERE
to presentation currency (270,523) (445,920)
Other comprehensive loss for BRETEHRAEREE
the year, net of income tax Hit2HER (270,523) (445,920)
Total comprehensive income KEEZEMBE
for the year k] 856,471 815,293

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (conT’'D)
g AN
l\‘7r\ E Lly % (n\ﬁ
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412 318 LB FE
Note 2024 2023
k3 20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit attributable to: EERFESD
Equity holders of the Company RArlE=FAA 1,019,609 1,187,412
Holders of perpetual capital KEERTH
instruments HFBA 25,047 37,578
Non-controlling interests FEERR A R 82,338 36,223
1,126,994 1,261,213
Total comprehensive income EEEEmREEAETS
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company ZAYNEL: £3E 2 DN 769,515 774,922
Holders of perpetual capital KEERTH
instruments HFBA 25,047 37,578
Non-controlling interests FEERR A R 61,909 2,793
856,471 815,293
Earnings per share attributable to RATERFTEAEML 13
equity holders of the Company BREF
- Basic and diluted —HAR R #E HK35.64cents  HK41.51cents
35.64 %1l 4151784

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBINR

As at 31 December 2024 1202412 H31H

As at 31 December

M12H31H
Note 2024 2023
FMsE 20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&xT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment E S 14 989,156 970,663
Right-of-use assets FAEEE 15(a) 82,310 88,500
Investment properties "B 10,918 11,096
1,082,384 1,070,259
Intangible assets B EE 16 2,318,584 2,156,026
Goodwill EES 17 1,342,426 1,364,093
Interests in associates B2 N B RE R 18 3,540 11,953
Interest in a joint venture B ERT 19 1,903 1,262
Contract assets BHEE 21 20,883,947 19,779,711
Other receivables H At fE R IE 23 255,498 235,125
Deferred tax assets BT IAE = 29(b) 42,954 880
Total non-current assets FRBEEHATE 25,931,236 24,619,309
Current assets REBEE
Contract assets BHEE 21 2,173,568 2,157,706
Other financial assets HibemEE 24 32,928 121,148
Inventories FE 22 57,159 58,336
Trade and other receivables P LA BR 3 B L Ath FE U 3008 23 5,846,666 5,382,761
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREeEEY 25 1,847,805 1,881,401
Total current assets REEEMRE 9,958,126 9,601,352
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables JE AT BR R K EL At A< 5R0E 26 3,283,728 3,241,736
Borrowings B8 27 4,181,329 4,606,893
Current tax liabilities MEBIEAE 29(a) 53,013 84,410
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) 3,341 5,412
Total current liabilities REEEHATE 7,521,411 7,938,451
Net current assets REBEEFRE 2,436,715 1,662,901
Total assets less current liabilities BMEERARBEE 28,367,951 26,282,210

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (conT’ D)
1T B M AR R )

As at 31 December 2024 1202412 H31H

As at 31 December

»12831H
Note 2024 2023
R & 20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Other payables E e IR 26 61,406 -
Borrowings =8 27 12,208,281 10,798,480
Deferred tax liabilities BIEHIEAE 29(b) 2,105,199 2,029,945
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) 1,387 1,443
Total non-current liabilities FREBEEAEE 14,376,273 12,829,868
Net assets EEFH 13,991,678 13,452,342
Equity =
Equity attributable to equity KATERBTEA
holders of the Company LR
Share capital fi& A< 30 2,860,877 2,860,877
Reserves s 31 8,974,243 8,545,244
11,835,120 11,406,121
Perpetual capital instruments KEEATH 32 806,982 806,982
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R A 1,349,576 1,239,239
Total equity T2 13,991,678 13,452,342

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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162 FE KA ERA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY
AT ZH BRI R

As at 31 December 2024 1202412 H31H

As at 31 December

M12H31H
Note 2024 2023
FMsE 20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&xT FHETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries hp=pNSIY 05 20 10,322,881 10,023,114
Total non-current assets FRBEELTE 10,322,881 10,023,114
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H fib Ui 3118 23 9,381,972 10,505,695
Other financial assets HEthemEE 24 - 88,150
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEEY 25 122,815 42 470
Total current assets FEBEEMAR 9,504,787 10,636,315
Current liabilities REBAaE
Other payables H A pE 208 26 166,888 183,082
Borrowings ] 27 3,002,204 3,624,164
Total current liabilities REEELE 3,169,092 3,807,246
Net current assets REBEERRE 6,335,695 6,829,069
Total assets less current HEERRE
liabilities =V 16,658,576 16,852,183
Non-current liability FRBEE
Borrowings o 27 5,833,775 6,049,733
Total non-current liability FREBEEHEEE 5,833,775 6,049,733
Net assets EEFHE 10,824,801 10,802,450
Equity s
Share capital %N 30 2,860,877 2,860,877
Reserves s 31 7,156,942 7,134,591
10,017,819 9,995,468
Perpetual capital instruments KEEARTH 32 806,982 806,982
Total equity e 10,824,801 10,802,450

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412 318 LB FE

o CO9R YUBY OF 2 ML [ S T L Pl %)

‘SjuswalelS [eloueUl 8y Jo Ued [edbeiul ue wloy sejou BulAuedwoooe ay |

8/9'166'CH 9/G'6YEt 286'908 0cH'Gesth ,968'298'9 6028 .c08'6cc’} 065668 (©1G'G29'H)  ,G9L'66S L //8'098°C HIEHT B0 v20g Jequedeq | Y
(L70'52) - (L70'52) - - - - - - - - (CET2)  (2e |iou) syuswnAsUl
YERET fences fenadlied Jo
YEELLILY  siepoy o) uonauisig
8cy'8y 8ch '8y - - - - - - - - - Slepjoyeleys
Buijonuoo-uou
WoJ) SaUeIpISaNS
B pauMO Ajjoym-uou
EVEHEES Aq pangosl
LA MFHE  suopnauuod eyde)
(ee0'sl) - - (ee0's/l)  (geo'szl) - - - - - - () By ey (¢ e10U) parejoep
b YCOCUED  PpUspIND WU 1208
(rgv'eon) - - (rgv'sal)  (ev'sel) - - - - - - (cLE) e (¢! sou) pereiosp
R A AR =N PUSPIN [eul} £202
'SJaUMO
D&Y se Ayoeded
HURBELY JI9Y} Ul SI8UMO
BOEREMY UM suonoesuelL
- - - - Gmgcel) - - Gl8Tet - - - ((1e22) ()& @10U) BvESR
ETEE e 2 Kioynyers o} Jejsuel|
17’988 606'19 190'ee GIG'B9.  609'6LO'L - - - (760'060) - - 3o Jeak 8y} Joj LU
UHETM BAISUBY8IdWO [e10|
(ezs'oLe)  (eer'oe) - (re0'0Se) - - - - (re0'0S2) - - SeoUBIBlID
uolresues
WEEYE foueuno ubiaiod
EE :1eak ay} 1o} sSO|
BITHEME onsuayaidwod epo
v66'92L L 8£€'28 1v0'Se 609'6L0°F  6096IO°L - - - - - - [E%:3E:2v4 Jeak auy Joj Woid
crE'Ter'el 6E26EC 286'908 L0V L .8/9'908'9 €028 Q08'6ce'  WGHL'9LL  BIYSIETY)  LG9L'66SE £/8'098°C HIH | H¥0eL 20 Aenuep | 1y
EEAA dnoxy
UYL Y4 UL UL UL Y4 UL UL UYL UL Y4
000$¥H  000$MH 000:$4H 000$¥H  000$MH 000.$1H 000$¥H  000$MH  000$MH 000.$YH 000.$4H
BHw BHWEE HIVEEX By ERY YENE 9B L EE BROMW M
fainba s)saJepul sjuswinisul  [ejol sbujuies SoMesal WYY  dMesal EHH wniwaid  jeydes
[eloL Buijonuod  eudes pauleldy  JaYo aniasal Kioynielg  anssal aleys aleys
-UoN lenjadiad snjdins uonejsues)
panquuon fouauind
uBiaio4
SEY BTy

Auedwo? ay} Jo s1apjoy Ainba o0} ajqenquny




PR ARKBERDE

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY (conT’D)
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412 318 LB FE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
,\\7|'\ EE@/HLE%

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412 318 LB FE

Note 2024 2023
M &E 20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cash flows from operating activities K& EZHELHE
Profit before tax BRA BT & 1,446,060 1,666,123
Adjustments for: FEEE
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERRIETE
equipment 8 50,502 51,771
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREESERE 8 10,873 10,055
Amortisation of intangible assets A B 5 8 148,744 150,641
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, BEWE  HE&&E
plant and equipment 2B (M) 8 630 (19)
Loss on disposal of intangible assets RERTEECEE 8 - 2,853
Finance costs M5ER 7 541,076 590,921
Finance income A 7 (13,529) (26,658)
Share of losses/(profits) of associates FriGEs & A REHE (&8F)) 18 7,174 (2,008)
Share of profit of a joint venture Frih—RaEtERT 19 (689) (1,261)
Fair value changes of other financial Hitt&mEEAABE
assets, net BE)FRE 6 (7,500) 32,804
Allowance for expected credit losses FEW R R IBERE BB 18
on trade receivables, net s FRE 8 164,170 194,487
Allowance for expected credit losses HithpE W BREEE
on other receivables, net BB TR 8 20,523 466
Allowance for expected credit losses AHEERBEREEE
on contract assets B 8 1,623 1,282
Effect of foreign exchange rates fEEREFB e
changes, net HER (31,634) (100,668)
Operating cash flows before EEESBHAINEE
working capital changes RERE 2,338,023 2,570,789
Changes in working capital: EELESEEH .
Decrease in inventories FERY 283 26,126
Increase in contract assets BHEEN (1,362,547) (1,433,887)
Increase in trade and other receivables JFEE UK B R R L Ath R U SR IE I N (865,498) (1,565,580)
Increase in trade and other payables JE AT R U EL A FE T SRIB 4E 1 113,634 116,264

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (conT'D)
N EE@MLE%(@

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412 318 LB FE

Note 2024 2023
M &E 20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cash generated from/(used in) ReTFEMES (BA) B
operations Be 223,895 (286,288)
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) BT EARHEAME
income tax paid ( [HEBE] ) A5 (281,834) (242,495)
Net cash flows used in operating RETHBANESRE
activities HEE (57,939) (528,783)
Cash flows from investing activities #BRETHEELHE
Purchases of items of property, plant and B E%¥% - W= k&E
equipment (85,909) (54,079)
Proceeds from disposals of property, BEWME - BENKE
plant and equipment FT{S K18 314 233
Payment for additions of intangible assets RN &B B EE K (295,631) (1,636)
Capital contribution to an associate AE—HEE AT - (443)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from  JEUR —E1E & A &) FUA
associates (&) rEL (9,012) 2,836
Proceeds from redemption of other EBEoHMSmMERE
financial assets Fri8 kI8 80,278 9,790
Interest received EHFIE 13,529 26,658
Net cash flows used in investing RETHMBANRERE
activities HEE (296,431) (16,641)
Cash flows from financing activites BEZTHELHRE
Proceeds from the issuance of BITHHARE ( [RHERE] )
medium-term notes (“MTN”) FT{S5KI8 1,631,700 3,868,200
Proceeds from the issurance of super BITHESRES ( [BES
and short-term commercial papers mMER| ) FEHA
(“SCP”) - 1,152,800
Proceeds from the issuance of BUEESRES ( [EE
asset-backed securities (“ABS”) iﬁ%?ﬂ ) FT1350R 2,065,300 -
Payments for expenses related to XN BEETHHEE
issuance of MTN, ABS and new BESEHFESHM
bank loans R IRTTERORAX (9,759) (14,111)
New bank loans FIEIRITER 4,502,515 4,262,849
Repayments of corporate bonds BEQFES (761,460) (858,363)
Repayments of ABS BEEETHES (147,474) (152,684)
Repayments of SCP EEREHRES - (2,225,800)
Repayments of MTN EEFHRE (1,087,800) (1,089,500)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CASH FLOWS (conT'D)
TERHERER @
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412 318 LB FE
Note 2024 2023
M &E 20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Repayments of bank loans EBIBITER (4,971,167) (4,393,707)
Interest paid ERFLE (536,096) (550,329)
Principal elements of lease payments MENFTHARE (8,093) (7,132)
Interest elements of lease payments MERNREFE ED (381) (353)
Increase in restricted bank balances PR I ER1TAEERIG HN (197) (18,919)
Dividends paid to the shareholders of ENARERE ( [BRR] )
the Company (the “Shareholders”) [es) (342,238) (336,718)
Distributions to holders of perpetual EfKEEATEAEREAA
capital instruments EOBADITS (25,047) (25,558)
Capital contributions from non-controling  Ff /& 2 &l A FE#5 A%
shareholders of subsidiaries fREEE 48,428 10,040
Net cash flows generated from/ RESEEES (BA)
(used in) financing activities HRESREFEE 358,231 (379,285)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash HERREEEY
and cash equivalents i Of2) FEE 3,861 (924,709)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FOzRERIALEEY
beginning of the year 1,861,907 2,844,990
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations RekReEEYHEE
on cash and cash equivalents, net RENF A FER (37,340) (58,374)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRZEESRRESEEY
end of the year 1,828,428 1,861,907
Analysis of the balances of cash ReRBESESENERDNT
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RE BN KR REIR S
the consolidated statement of financial NMIREEEY
position 25 1,847,805 1,881,401
Less: Restricted bank balances B ZBR BRI TAA R 25 (19,377) (19,494)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated AR RERMTH
in the consolidated statement of HeRRSEEY
cash flows 1,828,428 1,861,907

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda and is dual primary listed on the Mainboard of
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the
Mainboard of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The registered address of the Company is Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal
place of business is located at 26th Floor, Block A, Oriental
Xintiandi Plaza, No. 1003 Shennan Avenue, Futian District,
Shenzhen, PRC 518000.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company’s subsidiaries are primarily involved in the water
environment management business in the PRC.

The immediate holding company of the Company is
China Everbright Water Holdings Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).
In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding entity
of the Company is China Investment Corporation, an entity
established in the PRC.

As at the date of this report, the Company had direct and
indirect interests in the following major subsidiaries, the
particulars of which are set out below:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

1.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

CORPORATE INFORMATION (cont’d)

Notes:

Q)

The financial information of all significant subsidiaries (if any) are
audited by member firm of KPMG in China for group consolidation
purpose. For this purpose, a subsidiary or an associated
company is considered significant, as defined under the Listing
Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, if
its net tangible assets represent 20% or more of the Group’s
consolidated net tangible assets, or if its pre-tax profits account for
20% or more of the Group’s consolidated pre-tax profits. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Group did not have any subsidiaries and
associated company which was considered significant for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Company is committed to contributing 79.6474% of EB Water
Nanning’s registered capital. The remaining 20.3526% registered
capital is contributed by three PRC joint venture partners. Except
for one of the PRC joint venture partners, who is committed
to contributing 19.3742% of registered capital and shall not
be entitled to the net profit of EB Water Nanning, the Company
and other two PRC joint venture partners share the net profit of
EB Water Nanning on the basis of their respective proportions of
actual contribution.

W (Qingdao) Holdings, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the foreign joint venture partner of EB Water
Qingdao, is committed to contributing 60% of EB Water Qingdao’s
registered capital. The remaining 40% registered capital is
contributed by a PRC joint venture partner. EW (Qingdao) Holdings
is fully entitled to the net profit of EB Water Qingdao’s certain
project for the first 14 years of the joint venture period. From the
15th year of the joint venture period onwards, the net profit of EB
Water Qingdao’s certain project is to be shared by EW (Qingdao)
Holdings and the PRC joint venture partner on a 98:2 basis.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the local government authorities in the PRC
(the “Grantors”). Pursuant to the service concession arrangements,
the Group was granted rights to construct, operate and maintain
waste water treatment and other environmental protection related
projects in the PRC for a period of 14 to 30 years. The Group has
the obligation to maintain and restore the relevant projects in good
condition. The service fees are based on the extent of services
rendered and are subject to approvals from the relevant local
government authorities. Upon expiry of the concession periods,
the relevant projects and facilities will be transferred to the local
government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the Grantors and the Group have the rights to
terminate the agreements in the event of a material breach of the
terms of the agreements.

Operating rights of the waste water treatment and other
environmental protection related projects are recognised as
“Intangible assets” in the statements of financial position.
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RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

1.

2.1

CORPORATE INFORMATION (cont’d)

Notes: (cont’d)

(5)  Certain subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the Grantors. Pursuant to the service
concession arrangements, the Group has to design, construct
and/or upgrade, operate and maintain waste water treatment and
other environmental protection related projects in the PRC for a
period of 8 to 41 years. The Group has the obligation to maintain
the relevant projects in good condition. The Grantors guarantee
the Group will receive minimum annual payments in connection
with the arrangements. Upon expiry of the concession periods,
the relevant projects and facilities will be transferred to the local
government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. The standard rights of the Grantors to terminate the
agreements include the failure of the Group to construct, upgrade
or operate the relevant projects and in the event of a material
breach of the terms of the agreements. The standard rights of
the Group to terminate the agreements include failure to receive
payments for waste water treatment service from the Grantors and
in the event of a material breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in
constructing or upgrading the waste water treatment and other
environmental protection related projects is recognised as
“Contract assets” in the statements of financial position.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, which comprise
all standards and interpretations approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “lASB”). These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated. All IFRS Accounting Standards effective
for the accounting period commencing from 1 January
2024, together with the relevant transitional provisions are
as follows, have been consistently applied by the Group in
the preparation of the financial statements throughout the
financial periods:

° Amendments to IAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

° Amendments to IAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants

° Amendments to IFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

° Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7, Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The application of these amendments to accounting
standards and interpretations does not have a material effect
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS ACCOUNTING 2.3 EMEM{E i RERAERR %R E2ER

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and amended AEBERARRTBHREFEAUTE
IFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are MR AR 8 R A R R T R S AT B R
not yet effective, in this financial statements. TSR E R o

Amendments to IAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability
REETRERIE21R 2 18R] - = AT LT

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity
RIS RSB RE TSR ZNER] - B RIGIEE AT EET /A A

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments
BB A TSR RSB M BT 2 AER] » 2B LA E 2 155]

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11,
Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7

BUPRBA IS R E R FRBCEF 1S - BRI BEHEERIE 1595 - FE79
FOF ~ F109 KBRS 251 ERIFE 752 55T

IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

REATEIRELERISE 18R - AR K A FRAIB

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Pub//c’ Accountability: Disclosures
RIS IR E ERIEN - FLARZFTEANE L E] - 7

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint venture

BIRR B T s 2R B 105 R BEPR S st MR 2858 2 185] - REZHAR LN A]
A E PR EEHERLTE

Note 1: The effective date for these amendments was deferred MHET -
indefinitely. Early adoption continues to be permitted.

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on
or after

BAME [BH] =&

Z &R ETH R

1 January 2025
20251 H1H

1 January 2026
20261 A31H

1 January 2026
2026F1H1H

1 January 2026
20261 °41H

1 January 2027
2027F1/31H

1 January 2027
2027F1A1H

Note 1
B 7T

TE B TE S A R SR R HE
B SR R AR o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(€ the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
the financial and operating policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Interests in associates (cont’d)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of an associate is included
in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in
the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associate are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in the
associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group’s investment in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

Service concession arrangements

The Group has entered into a number of service concession
arrangements with the Grantors.

Under these service concession arrangements:

° the Grantors control or regulate the services the Group
must provide with the infrastructure, to whom it must
provide them, and at what price; and

° the Grantors control, through ownership, beneficial
entitlement or otherwise, any significant residual
interest in the infrastructure at the end of the term
of the arrangement, or the infrastructure is used for
its entire useful life under the arrangements, or both
the Group’s practical ability to sell or pledge the
infrastructure is restricted and continuing right of use
of the infrastructure is given to the Grantors throughout
the period of the arrangements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Service concession arrangements (cont’d)

Consideration given by the grantor

A financial asset (receivable under service concession
arrangement) is recognised to the extent that the Group
has an unconditional right to receive cash or another
financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor for the
construction services rendered and/or the consideration
paid and payable by the Group for the right to manage
and operate the infrastructure for public service. The Group
has an unconditional right to receive cash if the grantor
contractually guarantees to pay the Group (a) specified or
determinable amounts or (b) the shortfall, if any, between
amounts received from users of the public service and
specified or determinable amounts, even if the payment is
contingent on the Group ensuring that the infrastructure
meets specified requirements. The financial asset (receivable
under service concession arrangement) is accounted for in
accordance with the policy set out for “Financial instruments”
below.

The intangible asset, which represents a right to charge users
of the public service during period of operation, is measured
based on the total transaction price for the construction
service. The intangible asset (operating concession) is stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss. Amortisation is provided on a straight-line
basis over the operation phase of the concession periods.

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a
financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, then each
component of the consideration is accounted for separately
and is recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration.

Construction of service concession related infrastructure

Revenue relating to construction services is accounted for in
accordance with the policy for “Revenue recognition” below.

Operating services

Revenue relating to operating services is accounted for in
accordance with the policy for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable
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PR ARKBERDE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Fair value measurement (cont’d)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, construction contract assets, financial assets
and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the greater of
its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

(cont’d)

Related parties

INFORMATION

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

0) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the

other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity;

(V) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vl a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it

is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 2.5% to 4%
Plant and machinery 2.5% to 20%
Leasehold improvements, furniture

and fixtures 20% to 25%

Motor vehicles and office equipment 12.5% to 25%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (cont’d)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.

Business combinations and goodwvill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred to
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group from the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

24

EXEFBRERENR (&)

W - BENMREARITE (8)

R TR A AR R E R 1R 51
B BATEIIRTE  -MABHEER
HRERNEEXAREREAES
MERMEEERAR - FRTENKT
HAAHEARESEEZEEDNE - K
R R nl o

<A RBAREEAZE - FTEE
RERWBAMN LA EBENE B
BAARBESAKREMEZREENI
BEHNLAREE AEEHRKE
77 BB A A PTRSE R BE BN B [ %
1T LA 4 ER A8 A 18 7 122 Tl ) BB 0 A8
M- BBEEHEH  AEEGERE
AR A BIE S ABKREE 5 AT @5 & E
FEMEELED - G ER BT
FEiRf AR - W T ERA AER A
RIB R PI 158 ERE - JFE
WD AEEMEARS B AR
BEME - WERBEKARELRT
RRFIST o

BEASENEESGR - BAREASRIK
X U BE B RO AR K AR R IR
AHEEAENSREENAE - UED
BEDENER - R EROBREE
HEARTFORARITETA -

HEBEHOEBRETT  KERFAN
BERERNKBEEHN AR BEEN
AE MEENEAKEREEER
o R o

Y 7 s 88 R T S AR B IR IR
B AR EBEER DBEREEX
BEMNIARERRAAEETE  H
RABEZHERREBD - D HASE
s ARETEENTE  HRE
Hen DRI



184
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Business combinations and goodwill (cont’d)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.

The following intangible assets are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives are
as follows:

Concession rights
Patents and trademarks
Computer software
Customer relationships

14 to 30 years
10 to 20 years
5 years
5 years

The useful life of the patents and trademarks of the Group
is determined based on the shorter of their statutory validity
periods and the expected benefit periods.

The useful life of the customer relationships of the Group is
determined based on the expected benefit periods with
reference to the historical customer attrition rate.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the intangible assets is
derecognised is the difference between the net sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant intangible asset.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (cont’d)

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new water
environment technologies is capitalised and deferred only
when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or
sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project
and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Water environment technologies development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

(i) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics and the Group’s business model
for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

M

Financial assets (cont’d)
Initial recognition and measurement (cont’d)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
OCl, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely
payments of principal and interest’ on the principal
amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular
way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost
if both of the following conditions are met:

- The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows.

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

(cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

M

Financial assets (cont’d)
Subsequent measurement (cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments
of principal and interest are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost, as
described above, debt instruments may be designated
at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition
if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through OCI. Dividends on equity investments
are recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

0) Financial assets (cont’d)
Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

- the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards
of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of
the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(i)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses, and interest-bearing
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process. Amortised cost
is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in
the profit or loss.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9 requires the Group to record an allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL”) for all loans and other debt
financial assets not held at FVTPL using a forward-looking
ECL approach.

The ECL allowance is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The
shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the asset’s
original effective interest rate (“EIR”).

For contract assets and trade receivables, the Group has
applied the standard’s simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime expected credit losses. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group’s historical repayment and loss patterns for different
groups of the customers, and ageing of trade receivables.

Other receivables are assessed for impairment based on
12-month expected credit losses: 12-month ECLs are the
portion of lifetime ECLs that result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the asset is less than 12
months). However, when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECL.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise raw materials and consumables
used in the repairs and maintenance of the waste water
treatment plants, are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal. When inventories are consumed,
the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an
expense in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and
short-term deposits that are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the
management of its short-term commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
restricted bank balances are excluded from cash and cash
equivalent.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Income tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

24

REFTHERER (&)

FiEH (&)
FIERMAERSEER  SE R

ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂ%uﬁ
RELEHIAEE - E£RAJER ERT
ﬂﬂT%ﬁﬁ%TﬁmﬁHE%Q\
EERPAT AR R KRB BHAS
E%Wﬂ%%%ﬁ?’ﬁ%%%%ﬁ
ERIEEE - B TNIIERERSN

° BEAMIKINERE=ENIEIL
MEEERNPVBERIL IEE
BEHRITPNEEXEE
BZEZXSETBIITZES
SHRE R ERER &

o B2 [ 8§ A 7 LBRENERE
ﬁ%mTﬁmﬁﬁ%ﬁ RA

EERMEERRAUELENAE
RORRE O N A &R A B A
AERHEZEREZEZNBR
T A TURERELCHRAEE -

ELERHEENREBEERSHREH
REZ > WHETAIEBE BHER
ﬁﬂ%uﬂﬁﬁmﬁ% DR FER IR &
E%*$°$ﬁMMELRE§Fh
NEREHREHNMG - LRRAEE

%ﬁi%%%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬂ%@%
BB BRI IR & RS T DARERR

EXERAEENABRRAENEES
Ry BEFENRMEANTE (M
BERSHRECRMIXEELE R B
ME (RBOR) REMLE) SHE -



ANNUAL REPORT 2024
2024 F ERE

195

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Income tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income tax
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

0) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer and excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The
Group recognises revenue when it transfers control
over a product or service to a customer.

The Group has satisfied a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

(a) The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

(cont’d)

Revenue recognition (cont’d)

M

Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d)

(b) The Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced

(c) The Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternate use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date

If none of the above conditions are met, the Group
recognises revenue at the point in time at which the
performance obligation is satisfied.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the surveyors’
assessment of work performed and the costs incurred
up to the end of reporting period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract.

When the Group provides more than one service in
a service concession arrangement, the transaction
price will be allocated to each performance obligation
by reference to their relative stand-alone selling
prices. If the stand-alone selling prices are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected
cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment
approach, depending on the availability of observable
information.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of
a financing component if it is significant.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 24 EXSFBEXEM (#)

(cont’d)

Revenue recognition (cont’d) RARER (1)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d) (i) EEARWBA (&)
Construction service revenue FEERFEWA
The Group’s performance in respect of construction MEREREME  ~EEZE
services creates or enhances an asset or work in HNITRBIESIRR TREFEER
progress that the customer controls as the asset EWRAIEN A REEZHINE
is created or enhanced, thus the Group satisfies EXTEEIRE  BUtAEEE
a performance obligation and recognises revenue TROETEREREEBRER
from construction service over time, by reference to FEERRTG UL AL 2 E R = B FE
completion of the specific transaction assessed on the EETZIEEZAMEEE
basis of the surveyors’ assessment of work performed WEMKCDELENKAIES R
and the costs incurred up to the end of the reporting ZANEHBRR AN 2 B oL o

period as a percentage of total estimated costs for
each contract.

Revenue from the construction services under a R IR TG R fF 8 & 2 BE Y
service concession agreement is estimated on a cost- BERBRAL2ZNHEAB
plus basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of HRERMtEURERBER 2R
gross margin at the date of the agreement applicable 11T 35 E I = 18 DA R 0 EOA
to similar construction services rendered. TG -

Operation revenue EEIRLA

The Group recognises revenue from environmental RIBEEE RS R - AEBEE
water project operation services when the related REKBKRIERBELRBH
services are rendered. The operation revenue from WA TR oK e A R AR S B
reusable water supply service is recognised at a WABREEREER - IR
point in time when the Group has delivered water to SEEREFPRMNK: BFPE
the customer; the customer has accepted the water; BUK 0 NEEF IR EER
the Group has the present right to payment and A R ERER - T AR
the collection of the consideration is probable. The B RGIFTEEELTHEEM
other operation revenue from service concession BEE W AR R MRS & A
arrangements is recognised over the period of time kP REUE BB FREF &=
that the services are rendered and the benefits TR ©

are received and consumed simultaneously by the

customers.

Sales of machineries RIEHE

Revenue from the sales of machineries is recognised HEHEWAREEEH EE
at the point in time when control of the asset is BEaBEFPEER  —RARP
transferred to the customer, generally when the MEKmMEY S B XEER
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal B BASEBBRGKK
title of the completed products and the Group has 7 WAR A U ENE B R o

present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(cont’d)

Revenue recognition (cont’d)

0) Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d)
Technical service income

Revenue from the technical service income services
is recognised over time, by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation.

(ii) Revenue from other sources
Finance income

Finance income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer
and assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or
provide services to the customer. The combination of those
rights and performance obligations gives rise to a net asset
or a net liability depending on the relationship between
the remaining rights and the performance obligations. The
contract is an asset and recognised as contract assets if the
measure of the remaining rights exceeds the measure of the
remaining performance obligation. Conversely, the contract is
a liability and recognised as contract liabilities if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights.

The Group recognises the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer within contract assets if the Group
expects to recover those costs.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is RMB. This
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is the Company’s presentation currency. The
Company has used Hong Kong dollars as its presentation
currency to be consistent with that of China Everbright
Water Holdings Limited, the immediate holding company
of the Company. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge
of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These
are recognised in other comprehensive income until the net
investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative
amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and
credits attributable to exchange differences on those
monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.

24
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
(cont’d)

INFORMATION

Foreign currencies (cont’d)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item.

The functional currencies of the Company, certain overseas
subsidiaries and an associate are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their statements of comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of
other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the Company, certain overseas subsidiaries
and an associate are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of these entities which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, and assets at
the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future periods.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”),
Transfer-Operate-Transfer (“TOT”) and Build-Own-Operate
(“BOO”) arrangements in respect of its environmental water
projects.

The Group has concluded that all the BOT and TOT
arrangements and certain BOO arrangements are service
concession arrangements under IFRIC 12 Service Concession
Arrangements, because the local government controls and
regulates the services that the Group must provide with the
infrastructure at a pre-determined service charge. In respect
of BOT and TOT arrangements, upon expiry of concession
right agreements, the infrastructure has to be transferred
to the local government at nil consideration. Infrastructure
for BOO arrangements is used in the service concession
arrangements for its entire or substantially entire useful life.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (cont’d)

Estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

The Group estimates the expected loss allowances for trade
receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of
estimates and judgements. ECLs are based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience may also not be representative of customer’s
actual default in the future. At each reporting date, historical
credit loss rates are updated.

Revenue recognition for construction work

The Group recognises contract revenue over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation at the reporting date. The
progress is measured based on the Group’s effort or inputs
to the satisfaction of the performance obligation, by reference
to the surveyors’ assessment of work performed and the
costs incurred up to the end of the reporting period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each performance
obligation in the contract. Significant assumptions are
required to estimate the completion progress of the
performance obligation. The Group reviews and revises the
estimates in each construction contract as the contract
progresses.

Impairment losses for goodwill

As explained in the accounting policy set out in note 2.4 for
“Business combinations and goodwill”, goodwill is allocated
to a cash-generating unit or to a group of cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination for the purpose of impairment assessment, which
requires significant judgement. The Group determined that the
group of cash-generating units to which goodwill was allocated
reflected the lowest level at which goodwill was monitored
for internal reporting and was not larger than an operating
segment in accordance with IAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This involves an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. The carrying amount of goodwiill
at the reporting date is disclosed in note 17.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. wEHITER
Operating segments are identified based on the internal 1 B TR AR = B A AKCER 5 ) A B
reports about components of the Group that are WEHZA  HBAAQFERERE ([§
regularly reviewed by the Company’s management (the BE| ) %%@EH =0 ol
“Management’) and the Board for the purpose of resource BREFEEHRKRE
allocation and performance assessment.
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly DEEE  BENMAGERIEEERE
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be F—oE UkAEA EEE’J%/E’\@E
allocated on a reasonable basis. The Group operates in a WIBEWERE - AEBEKEE X5
single business segment which is the water environment DE HAKEKIRFEREER - #
management business. No operating segments have been EEREDEABEK TIKE RS
aggregated to form the following reportable operating D ER o
segment.
Business segment EL SR
The Group had only one operating segment for the years HE2024F12A31BILFER - &%
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: one), namely the water B REELL S (20234F  11&) -
environment management business, the details of which are BIKIRIFRIBER - BT -

set out below:

° Water environment management - Engagement in ° KIRFRIE —REMBSKE
municipal waste water treatment, industrial waste EE I%V*E’iﬁ K Fok
water treatment, water supply, reusable water, sludge OSREEREE - BEH™
treatment and disposal, sponge city construction, Lux MR EBHEISER
river-basin ecological restoration, livestock and EFA - BEBRRERNAKKERERE
poultry manure resource utilisation, leachate Rt ( (8] kT
treatment, research and development (‘R&D”) of eSS
water environment technologies and engineering
construction.

Geographical information 15 & R

(@  Revenue from external customers @  REIARREZIA

Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31ALLEE

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Mainland China R A 3, 6,833,305 6,653,554
Germany = 18,613 51,130

6,851,918 6,704,684

The revenue information of continuing operations LB ENBAGERTIER
above is based on the locations at which the services PRIGIR (I BEEI 5 o
were provided.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

(b)

rasEs (&)

Non-current assets ) FERBEE
As at 31 December
W12H831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Mainland China AR R A3, 25,884,707 24,611,079
Hong Kong BA 959 3,164
Singapore i 583 2,753
Germany = 130 171
Mauritius EESkET 1,903 1,262
25,888,282 24,618,429
The above table sets out information about the ERIRT AEBIFERDEE
geographical location of the Group’s total non-current GEIEFSMEERIN) ([BE
assets excludes deferred tax assets (“specified FRBEE]) @B DM
non-current assets”). The geographical location &5 o EE IFMEN K B Ky I 73
of the specified non-current assets is based on MIRBEENERMTHIEE -
the physical location of the asset, in the case of HAYIX - MFE R - AE
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets BREREEMKNEELEEN
and investment properties, the location of the XEAERIKE  BERE
operation to which they are allocated, in the case of B GHNEERHMERIIA
intangible assets, goodwill, contract assets and other TR TS B A & P M R IE -
receivables, and the location of operations, in the case Bt N B B &N B I LA IR
of interests in associates and joint venture. B ERLE T AR o
FEEF

Major customers

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHEIT

Customer 1** BEE—* 941,466 N/A*
Customer 2** BE = 846,890 875,462

ok

The corresponding revenue from this customer is not disclosed
as such revenue alone did not account for 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue.

The customers are local government authorities.

BHRZEP WA BT REAEERAD
10%HIAL - BAEARBEZEFPEH
YA e

B REWBTHE o
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

5. REVENUE 5. WA

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with EZEEARWA
customers
Construction service revenue from PRSI S e PR iR 3 PR TS
service concession arrangements WA 2,646,298 2,066,019
Operation income from service RIS AT LR L HERE S A
concession arrangements 2,820,981 3,104,693
Sales of machineries and technical SR HE KT AR TS YA
service income 287,628 436,790
5,754,907 5,607,502
Revenue from other sources H A 2RRATURA
Finance income from service RS IF R ST P BT U
concession arrangements 1,097,011 1,097,182
6,851,918 6,704,684
Timing of revenue recognition PN AT
At a point in time A — BRI Bh 238,075 384,516
Over time R — R A 5,516,832 5,222,986
5,754,907 5,607,502
Finance income from service R IF R B e BT U
concession arrangements 1,097,011 1,097,182
6,851,918 6,704,684
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REVENUE (cont’d)

The aggregated amount of construction service
revenue, finance income and operation income from
service concession arrangements are derived from the
local government authorities in the PRC amounted to
HK$6,427,112,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023:HK$6,179,504,000). Details of concentrations of credit
risk arising from these customers are set out in note 39.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue
reversal of HK$75,192,000 (2023: revenue recognition of
HK$155,895,000) was related to performance obligations
satisfied in previous periods, due to a change in an estimate
of the transaction price.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at 31 December are as follows:

WA (&)

HZE2024FE12A31BIFFEEN - KB
b B BT AL R 2 IR SRR U~ B
TEURA B8 &R A 4858 46,427,112,000
T (20234 : 6,179,504,000/7T) ©
HEEEFPASIENEERRETFR
MI3E39 °

HZE2024F 128318 IEFE - Ri@
FHREXRNBOSTHBOKAS
% A 075,192,000/ 7T (20234 :
WA 4 58 AfER155,895,000/87T)
ZAEREHRER ZERMEFTEER
EE KD

R12A318  ENEEL TENE
T (RKBITHBHIARET) X5
ST

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
Unsatisfied performance obligations BRI RT A A L HE AR Y
related to service concession RITKIBHELE
arrangements:
Expected to be recognised within TEEAE I —F AR
one year 3,792,591 3,271,166
Expected to be recognised after TEER R —F 1A 1ER
one year 42,052,157 44,135,038
Total transaction price allocated to ARERTXEBLE TN
the unsatisfied performance RPBEER
obligations 45,844,748 47,406,204
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. Ha AR W EE
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&xT FET
Government grants* BB & 32,442 30,640
Value-added tax (“VAT”) refunds** HED ( [EBEHR] ) B 2,643 21,786
Fair value gains/(losses), net: ArBEEWE (B1E) F5 -
Other financial assets - unlisted HEMemEE—JELmKRE 7,036 (31,218)
investments
Other financial assets - unlisted EemEE - LTRE 464 (1,586)
equity investment wE
Sundry income HMIEWA 22,602 26,385
65,187 46,007

Government grants of HK$32,442,000 were granted during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$30,640,000), to
subsidise certain waste water treatment plants of the Group in
the PRC. The receipt of such grants is unconditional. There is no
assurance that the Group will continue to receive such grants in
the future.

** VAT refunds of HK$2,643,000 were received/receivable during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$21,786,000), in relation
to certain of the Group’s waste water treatment and reusable water
projects in operation in the PRC. The receipt of such tax refunds is
unconditional. There is no assurance that the Group will continue
to receive such tax refunds in the future.

ke

HZE2024F12A31BLFEER -
AN E 532,442,000 7T (20234 -
30,640,000 7T) MERFH B S AT
A AEBRPEMNE TISKEER -
ZEHMNRGEN TGS - HER
BAEBENBRESERNEREE

B e

HZE2024F12A31BIEFEA - REE
PR BE B0 B TS /KB IE N B8 A 7K IR
B E W/ e YIS 7R R % /32,643,000
7T (20234 : 21,786,00087T) © %
SRR ARG S MY A R 1 - BLERREE
SIS R AEE IR BR T ©
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

7. NET FINANCE COSTS 7. e RS
Year ended 31 December
BEZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Finance income BA TR UL A
Interest income on: FEMWA -
Bank deposits RITHER 13,204 26,306
Amounts due from an associate R — KB N R IR 325 352
13,529 26,658
Finance costs B2
Interest expense on: FMERAY :
Bank and other loans RITREMER (302,677) (368,128)
Corporate bonds, ABS, NEES BEXRHES
MTN and SCP IR B B R B (238,018) (222,440)
Lease liabilities HEBE (381) (353)
(541,076) (590,921)
)

Net finance costs BI75E R SRR (527,547) (564,263
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BB B E A
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEEZBRBRATRFNE R/ GTA)
(crediting):

Year ended 31 December
HZ12B31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
FiEE FET FBIT
Depreciation (note (i) e (Fskd)
- property, plant and equipment S EN YN 14 50,502 51,771
- right-of-use assets -EREEE 15(a) 10,873 10,055
Amortisation #iE
- intangible assets (note (i) -fmEEE (H3E6) 16 148,744 150,641
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property,  REW¥E « WMEMRE
plant and equipment 2 B8 (M) 630 (19)
Loss on disposal of intangible assets & & EFEE 7 Ei8 - 2,853
Cost of construction services from RE RGBT E L
service concession arrangements Pz s RIS AR
(note (ii)) (Bf=EGi)) 2,194,521 1,629,194
R&D costs (note (iii)) e R BB R (BfRE(i)) 50,060 52,538
Rental expenses from short-term REHE HeH
leases 1,562 1,258
Allowance for expected credit losses ~ JEURBEZFBERZ B84 23
on trade receivables, net HRR 164,170 194,487
Allowance for expected credit losses ~ HAth fEUGIETEHZ E 23
on other receivables, net BFEE 20,523 466
Allowance for expected credit losses ~ A#EEFEHEE 21
on contract assets Bk 1,623 1,282
Foreign exchange differences, net M ERREER (14,093) (67,813)
Employee benefit expenses EEREARZ
(note (iv)): GEIMDE
Wages, salaries, allowances and I& #a - 28
benefits in kind NEDM = 444,290 492,614
Retirement scheme contributions RURET B
(note (v)) (P EE(V)) 47,689 59,154
491,979 551,768
Fees paid to auditor of the Company Sz T2 QB2 &H60 &
and other firms affiliated with KPMG EREBIBRARAREM
International Limited: WEBARIMER :
Audit fees =B 1,668 2,650
Non-audit fees FEEE
- Others - HAtb 1,139 2,019
Fees paid to other auditors SN TFEMBANER

Audit fees ETEMA 1,461 1,444




210

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (cont’d) 8. MBIATRF (&)

0] Amortisation of intangible assets, and depreciation of property, () #HZE2024F12A31HIEFEER -
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in a total of BEEEHRE VX BERR
HK$195,477,000 during the year ended 31 December HIFERGCABEENESZIL A
2024 (2023: HK$194,873,000) are included in “Direct costs B /195,477,000 7T (20234
and operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of 194,873,000/7C) « BRI AGZE 2 EH
comprehensive income. Wz AEY fE?ﬁﬁJ@ZK&W%%FHJ o

(i) Included in “Direct costs and operating expenses” in the (i) WHAZEZEWGERD [BEEXRR
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. P MﬁFﬁJ °

(i)  R&D costs include HK$44,927,000 (2023: HK$48,697,000) related (i) FHE B FAT44,927, 000587 (20234 -
to the cost of inventories consumed, employee benefit expenses, 48,697,000/ 70) + W RIFEHEK
and depreciation expenses. These expenses are either included in K -BIRBNEBRARFEER 258
the respective expense categories separately disclosed above or in REFTA X DB R EBEERER
note 22. HPFFE22 o

(v)  Employee benefit expenses include directors’ remuneration (v) EERAFAZaEEEZmME (ME9)
(note 9), employee benefit expenses in cost of construction BERBKAPNEERAMAL - UKk
services and employee benefit expenses in R&D costs. MEBEATNEERNMAX

(v} There were no forfeitures of contributions to retirement schemes in (v) 2024% x2023F K H:n'fﬁ—fﬁﬁ AR
2024 and 2023 that could be used to reduce future contributions RIRET B AR R 22 WK -
to the retirement schemes.

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEMe
The remuneration of the Company’s directors is set out KABEEMESHINLT
below:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31BLEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTERT FET
Fees we 2,086 1,977
Other emoluments: HAb B & -
Salaries, allowances and e REEREWMA
benefits in kind 3,328 5,392
Discretionary bonuses @’\J"i?EZI 1,612 2,863
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B K 829 937
5,769 9,192
7,855 11,169
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (cont’d) 9. EEME (&)
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits Retirement
inkind  Discretionary scheme
Fees %& 2R bonuses (jii)  contributions Total
e ENFE BB Gi)  RRGTEER BnE
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TERT TER
Year ended 31 December & Z=20244F
2024 128318 1LFE
Non-executive director; EhTES:
Mr. Luan Zusheng (i gEREE (i) - - - - -
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Hu Yanguo* (i) BB e A (i) - 351 1,612 197 2,160
Mr. Tao Junjie PEALAE - 1,470 - 248 1,718
Mr. Wang Yuexing (i) FHELEE (i) - 938 - 182 1,120
Mr. Luo Junling (i) HkExE () - 265 - 202 467
- 3,024 1,612 829 5,465
Independent BUFNITES :
non-executive directors:
Mr. Zhai Haitao BEERE 467 82 - - 549
Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul (i gL E (i) 187 53 - - 240
Ms. Cheng Fong Yee (i) BEEZL (i) 150 41 - - 191
Ms. Hao Gang i peen 467 64 - - 531
Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter (i BHEEE (i) 368 35 - - 403
Mr. Soh Kok Leong (i BEIREE (i) 447 29 - - 476
2,086 304 - - 2,390
2,086 3,328 1,612 829 7,855
Note: HisE

(i)

(i)

Mr. Hu Yanguo's discretionary bonuses have been paid-in
instalments and therefore, the above bonuses figure referred to his
bonuses received in FY2024.

Mr. Hu Yanguo and Mr. Luo Junling resigned as the executive
directors with effect from 18 March 2024. Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul
and Ms. Cheng Fong Yee resigned as the independent non-
executive directors with effect from 26 April 2024.

On 18 March 2024, Mr. Luan Zusheng was appointed as
non-executive director, Mr. Wang Yuexing was appointed as
executive director, Mr. Ng Joo Hee Peter and Mr. Soh Kok Leong
were appointed as independent non-executive directors.

The bonus amount for the Group’s directors and senior
management is not yet finalised.

(iif)

PHAL B SE 4 Y B 15 [EAL E e 7 B X T
B Ut - _F A 7E AL BUIR 15 09 2 B 1
202451 B F R IE{ZAYEAT

HEE S E R BBELERTRT
EE - N2024F3A18H AW -
MEELERBRELTBITBE L
JEHITESE  N2024F4F26H#E
AR o

M2024F3 5180 « BIEBLELERT
BIEBMITES  TIRELERZT AN
TEE  EMELRENEERALLESR
EABLIENITES -

FEENESFNSRERBNHESDE
RuBRET -



CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

212

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51
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*

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (cont’d) 9. EEME (8)
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits Retirement
inkind  Discretionary scheme
Fees %& 2R bonuses contributions Total
ue EYFE BETEA  RBRIRGHEMER k)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
THER THER THER TExT THER
Year ended 31 December ~ EZE20234F
2023 1283181t FE
Executive directors: WITESE
Mr. Hu Yanguo* BARER 5 A - 2,576 33 356 2,965
Mr. Tao Junjie M E - 1,474 1,304 278 3,056
Mr. Luo Junling BwEEEAE - 1,127 1,526 303 2,956
- 5177 2,863 937 8,977
Independent BUFMITES
non-executive directors:
Mr. Zhai Haitao BigELts 465 58 - - 523
Mr. Lim Yu Neng Paul N 582 58 - - 640
Ms. Cheng Fong Yee HEEZ L 465 52 - - 517
Ms. Hao Gang iR 465 47 - - 512
1,977 215 - - 2,390
1,977 5,392 2,863 937 11,169
Note: Kzt

Mr. Hu Yanguo's discretionary bonuses have been paid-in
instalments and therefore, the above bonuses figure referred to his

bonuses received in FY2023.

* BHIE ] SE 4 A BB TEAL B e 0 BT
Bt - £ A TEAT BUIR 5 1Y 2 B
202351 B F R IEIFAYEAT
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10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AEBRSEFHNES
The five highest paid employees during the year ended HZE2024F12A31BILFERN » 58K
31 December 2024 included three directors (2023: three =FMEERIEIRES (BZE2023F
directors), whose respective remuneration is included in note 12A31HIEEE 3%EE)  EX
9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year ended 31 BM &t A EXHIFE9 - B E20244F
December 2024 of the remaining two highest paid employees 12A31H LB TR EAR A FIES
(2023: two employees) who are neither directors nor chief MIEmSITHRAE (BZE20235F12A4
executives of the Company are as follows: BMHILFE : MERE) 2R=FME
EMFMEBAT -
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits e RBEREDN =
in kind 1,784 1,843
Discretionary bonuses (i) BEIEA (i) - 1,951
Retirement scheme contributions IRIRETEI K 351 408
2,135 4,202
(i) The bonus amount of the year ended 31 December 2024 for the (i) HE2024F128318BIFEERN » A&
Group’s directors and senior management is not yet finalised. MESNSNEEEBNES(IEER
BIEAR o
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest HMWEL NSHEANNIEEE N IERST
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following BAENSESHMER ASKOT -
bands is as follows:
Number of employees
BEAE
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T = -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,00178 72 1,500,00058 7T 2 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001%7C 22,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 £2,500,000/8 7T - 2
2 2

During the financial year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company or any of the highest
paid employees who are not directors of the Company
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

RAMRFE - AEBWERARBE
ERARAEARSFMIFEFRERE
MEABME - (ERIMAIRINAREE
2B E) B2 SR BE R AR E
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11.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No provision for Singapore and Hong Kong income tax was
made as the Group did not earn any income subject to
Singapore or Hong Kong income tax during the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

In 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development published the Global Anti-Base Erosion Model
Rules (“Pillar Two model rules”) for a new global minimum
tax reform applicable to large multinational enterprises. Certain
jurisdictions in which the Group operates are in the process of
implementing their Pillar Two income tax legislation. Therefore,
it is possible that the Group may be subject to additional
Pillar Two income taxes in those jurisdictions. In 2024 the
Hong Kong SAR Government amended the Inland Revenue
Ordinance to introduce a domestic minimum top-up tax which
will take effect from the year ended 31 December 2025. Under
the management assessment, there may not be significant
impact to the Group.

Tax for the PRC operations is charged at the statutory rate of
25% based on the assessable profits in accordance with the
tax rules and regulations in the PRC. Certain PRC subsidiaries
of the Group were subject to a preferential tax rate of 15%
pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations, and certain
PRC subsidiaries of the Group were subject to tax at half of
the foregoing statutory rate or fully exempted from income tax
pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations.

11

FriS®BiRAx

AR REEREE2024FE12 4318 1
FER - EF I EFE I E BT
I FERT AT - B I 2 1 B 37 03
HEBMERBE (20234F : #)

20214 » EEASEHERAK M
TEHARARNERCENTNZRER
BEREREN (EHRRHRER@ TR
ERRAD) ( [XREZDREHRE | ) -
ANEBEFMEMNTE LT AEERE T
EMESIEZFBRE - ALt - A%
B A REEE L RAE B R A NEEI
RSB - 20244 » FEER
THREBEE] T (FEER) - 5l A
TEHARAKEGBER @ BREE2025F
12A31EMEELEN - REETEFT
i REBAETSTIEATE -

RBEHBEBIEER SRR - P EER
Z T TR AR & SR & A DAK TE B R 25%
A E - IRBHBE T BEMBERE KA
B AEEETHENERRZESA
15%MEBEMEK - RIFFABRFGIER
FOER - AEEETHENEQEA
YA AUR TE B R 2 BN T IR S
FISHHAEZ B R o

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Current - PRC: BNEf—Ar Y -

Charge for the year (note 29) REERHE (H5E29) 257,271 260,619

(Over)/under-provision in prior BEFERE GBE) /T2
years (note 29) (Ff35E29) (5,850) 7,066
Deferred (note 29) BT (F15E29) 67,645 137,225
Total tax expense for the year REEMIBFAZ B 319,066 404,910
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (cont’d)

11

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory rate for the country in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax
expense at the effective tax rates is as follows:

Frig®ifx (&)

RERNARRRERE DM BA

EBRRZETHETERTATZF 28
EY NEEEEREAFE CHBET R

HERINT ¢

Year ended 31 December

BE12A3MALEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit before tax Br¥R BT & F 1,446,060 1,666,123
Tax calculated at tax rate of 25% 5% M RETE 2
(2023: 25%) BIE (20235[F : 25%) 361,515 416,531
Tax concession WIEEE (196,923) (222,487)
Adjustments in respect of current hiB T B < BNERFR IE 1
tax of previous periods 2 A (5,850) 7,066
Losses/(profits) attributable to g nm M—Ee gt RN
associates and a joint venture EE (BF) 1,621 817)
Income not subject to tax AR A (9,422) (37,471)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR S 51,652 181,186
Tax losses not recognised RNERBIBRE 49,438 11,017
Tax losses utilised from previous EFARTHRHE
periods E518 (10,701) (6,015)
Effect of withholding tax on the REEFEME AR R]
distributable profits of the Group’s MR &R 2 FEIF
PRC subsidiaries sz 77,736 55,900
Tax expense at the Group’s effective EAEEERMETE
rate Z I 319,066 404,910

kil
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12. DIVIDENDS

Year ended 31 December

BE12A3MALEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Dividends for the financial year: AR BREFEERE
Interim - HK6.09 cents (equivalent FH— DR AR TR
to 1.05 Singapore cents (“Sing 6.097% 1l (E1.05%15)
cent(s)’)) (FY2023: HK6.63 cents ([ %2 ) (20238
(equivalent to 1.13 Sing cents)) WFE : ST imRe.6381L -
per ordinary share HE113F) 175,092 189,901
Proposed final — HK5.81 cents BRARE — 9 Bl A ERRE B
(equivalent to 1.02 Sing cents) 5.81%(l (5E1.02%17)
(FY2023: HK5.81 cents (2023 LA E -
(equivalent to 0.99 Sing cent)) BRI %5818l -
per ordinary share Z£1H0.99%157) 166,217 166,323
341,309 356,224
Final dividend for the previous A RFEESAH E— R
financial year which was paid BFE AR E—ER TR
during the financial year - A&5.81781L (1E0.99%15)
HK5.81cents (equivalent to 0.99 (20230 FE : B
Sing cent) (FY2023: HK5.14 cents LiBAR5. 14810 - £{50.86
(equivalent to 0.86 Sing cent)) per o)
ordinary share 165,424 146,390

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2024 is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The final dividend
proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been
recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

2024F 12 A31 B ILBBFEERNZEZ D
K2 REAR BZEFA QA RERERE
JRREFERE FHEEBAEE - B
MEAREEZ DR ZARARBIL R
EREHAREREBE -
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based
on the Group’s profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company for the year divided by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue during

the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue

during the year.

13.

BREF
FREXRBMN RN N FEERE AR

EARRERAFREBMERARRBFA
ERTEBERINETFHEEE -

FA - NREEYEEM D ETRELES
BREZEER -

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#&T FET

Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company for the year

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during
the year

Basic and diluted earnings per share

REFARNBIERERAA
i lapeel

REFADEITEBK
ERS 2L

BREANEERT

1,019,609 1,187,412

’000 ’000
TR T

2,860,877 2,860,877

HK cents HK cents
=il Al
35.64 41.51
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERRZRE
Group REH
Leasehold
improvements, Motor
furniture and vehicles
fixtures  and office Construction
Plant and HEYE equipment in progress
Buildings  machinery £ BRR RERMRE (“cip”) Total
BF BERES RE RERME HEEA B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000  HK$'000
TR TR TR THET TR THET
31 December 2024 2024%12A318
Cost: PR
At 1 January 2024 1202451A18 666,523 417,841 19,045 107,697 12,547 1,223,653
Additions BE - 439 1,383 7,631 76,556 85,909
Transfer from CIP ERTREA 18,236 61,577 - 2,459 (82,272) -
Disposals RE - (403) (136) (7,640) - (8,179
Exchange realignment [ 3% (10,867) (7,475) (283) (1,751) (128)  (20,504)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 128318 673,892 471,979 20,009 108,296 6,703 1,280,879
Accumulated depreciation:  ZEHH7E
At 1 January 2024 20241 H1H 93,918 73,876 12,204 72,992 - 252,990
Charge for the year AEEHE 20,529 17,782 1,643 10,548 - 50,502
Disposals RE - (403) (110) 6,722) - (7,235)
Exchange realignment B 3% (1,736) (1,404) (178) (1,216) - (4,534)
At 31 December 2024 202412 A31H 112,711 89,851 13,559 75,602 - 291,723
Net carrying amount: EmFE:
At 31 December 2024 2024512 A31H 561,181 382,128 6,450 32,694 6,703 989,156
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d) 14. WE - BERRKE ()
Group (cont’d) RER (&)
Leasehold
improvements, Motor
furniture and vehicles
fixtures  and office
Plant and HEYE equipment Construction
Buildings  machinery £ &HR RERM  in progress Total
BF BERES £E NERE KEER okl
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
31 December 2023 2023% 128318
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 720231 H18 659,601 336,734 17,659 109,397 83,945 1,207,336
Additions ®E - 1,189 1,965 6,094 44,831 54,079
Transfer from CIP EEIREA 24,762 90,386 - 40 (115,188) -
Disposals RE - 9 (142) (4,959) - (5,110)
Exchange realignment X A% (17,840) (10,459) (437) (2,875) (1041) (32,652
At 31 December 2023 $2023% 128318 666,523 417,841 19,045 107,697 12,547 1,223,653
Accumulated depreciation:  ZEHHTE
At 1 January 2023 #2023F1A1H 75,489 57,267 11,401 68,229 - 212,386
Charge for the year AEENE 20,729 18,439 1,203 11,400 - 51,771
Disposals BE - o (142) (4,750) - (4,896)
Exchange realignment R AR (2,300 (1,826) (258) (1,887) - on)
At 31 December 2023 #2023F12A31H 93,918 73,876 12,204 72,992 - 252,990
Net carrying amount: REFE :
At 31 December 2023 2023F12A318 572,605 343,965 6,841 34,705 12,547 970,663

The property ownership certificates of certain buildings of
the Group in the PRC/Mainland China (the “Buildings”) with
aggregate net carrying amounts of HK$13,409,000 as at
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: HK$14,880,000),
have not yet been issued by the relevant PRC authorities.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, pursuant to
the relevant agreements signed with the local government
authorities in the PRC/Mainland China and based on the
advice from the Company’s PRC legal adviser, Zhong Lun
Law Firm, the Group has the proper legal rights to occupy
and use the Buildings.

PEAREEBY REHAERRNS
BHETEF ( [8F] ) OEEZE -
ZEYER2024F12A31BER
HEA13,409,0008 70 (20234
1283310 : 14,880,000/87T) « &K
BEERA  BIEEPEE BT #
AT W IERE i M AR Al R B AR
BT REMEEINER A5 E
BEEAEREIMEARERZEET -
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15. LEASES 15. HE
The Group as a lessee AEEEREBA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of land and AEEREKLERBERERATEEE L
buildings, equipment and others used in its operation. Lump B F RELAMEENEES
sum payments were made upfront to acquire the land lease Ao REBEEEL —IRMR BT
from the owners with lease periods of forty years, and no NmmeEWEEEAN+FMNHEELS
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these - MIBEZE L HEE 2GR - BF
land leases. Lease of buildings, vehicle and others generally VERIFE MR - L1 - RRIBNEMIA
have lease terms between one and three years. Generally, the ENHEERR—RAE—FE=F- —K
Group s restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased BT AREBEZ FRIASBEAINA L
assets outside the Group. EELODHEBEEEE -
(@  Right-of-use assets @  RAEEE
The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets AKBEEREEENREEERR
and movements during the year are as follows: REENERIFRIT :
Prepaid
land lease
payments
Fa{t+3#  Buildings Total
HEME BF Fok]
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FExT FET
As at 1 January 2023 7R2023F1 H1H 86,815 3,020 89,835
Additions 7E - 11,003 11,003
Disposals BRE - (8,331) (8,331)
Depreciation charge FrEH (2,874) (7,181) (10,055)
Depreciation reductions & E R HAT B R
due to expiration - 8,331 8,331
Exchange realignment P SR (2,251) (32) (2,283)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12 A
1 January 2024 31H k2024
F1R1H 81,690 6,810 88,500
Additions 2E - 5,998 5,998
Disposals BRE - (2,854) (2,854)
Depreciation charge FEXH (2,816) (8,057) (10,8793)
Depreciation reductions &R HAIT B AR
due to expiration - 2,854 2,854
Exchange realignment [ TR (1,269) (46) (1,315)
At 31 December 2024 MR2024F12A31H 77,605 4,705 82,310
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15. LEASES (cont'd)

The Group as a lessee (cont’d)

(b)

Lease liabilities

15.

The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities and
movements during the year are as follows:

HE (8
AEEEREEA (H)
L) HEAE

AR B E R FOEERERA
FENBHERNT

As at 31 December

W12A831H

2024 2023

2024% 2023%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Carrying amount at 1 January MM A1TBEEREE 6,855 3,007

New leases MEIE 5,998 11,003
Accretion of interest recognised FRER T EIZ N

during the year 381 353

Payments (NE-A (8,474) (7,485)

Exchange realignment bE 34 SR B (32) (23)

Carrying amount at 31 December M2 A31BEREE 4,728 6,855

The current portion and non-current portion of the
carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities are as

follows:

AEBEHEEAERAEENSH
B MIFBIEEE AT

As at 31 December

M12A831H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current portion BNERER > 3,341 5,412
Non-current portion FERNEREE 1,387 1,443

Total carrying amount at
31 December

1231 BERE#AE

4,728 6,855




222

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51
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15.

LEASES (cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (cont’d)

(©)

15. #HE (&)
FEBEERERAA (8

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c)

leases are as below:

RiasETRR 2 MEENeHE
T

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Interest expense on lease liabilites ~ HEBEMFIEEBAH (WFE7)
(note 7) 381 353
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  fFREEENESH (H:E8)
assets (note 8) 10,873 10,055
Expense relating to short-term REEENRAX
leases 1,562 1,258
Total amount recognised in profit RGP ERNESRE
or loss 12,816 11,666

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 33(c). (d)

HBEERENER ST EERN
$¥33(c) °
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15.

LEASES (cont’d)
The Group as a lessor

The Group leases one of its investment properties, consisting
of one commercial investment property in PRC. The shop
had been rented out for a period of 6 years from 1 November
2019 under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the
lease generally require the tenant to pay security deposits
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the
prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised by the
Group during the year was HK$162,000 (2023: HK$162,000).

The undiscounted lease payments receivables by the Group
in future periods under non-cancellable operating lease with
its tenant are as follows:

15.

HE (&)
FEBEFESHEA

AEERBLELCHELZHBEEERE
ME ZYVERTREAN—ER
EWEBANK  EEBCREBELEHE
LZHEHE2019FE 11 A1 A RBEHEE -
FAAOMIER —MRERKEABE A FRE
& TRBEEROMSBRTHAE
e  AEBRXRFEEANELS KA
£162,000/8 7T (20238 BFE -
162,000/ 7T) -

A ER [ B EFE ART S0 A RE AR 2 7

EiRE T RERHBARITIRA EYNTE
g

As at 31 December

MA12A318
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Within 1 year 1FEAR 71 162
After 1 year but within 5 years 15254 - 73

71 235
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. &|EEE
Group REH
Concession  Patents and Computer Customer
rights  trademarks software relationships Total
RgER  EIREE STERBY EFBE #z
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET FET TET FET
31 December 2024 2024F12A318
Cost: A
At 1 January 2024 7202441818 2,849,036 23,690 11,655 12,114 2,896,495
Additions ®E 345,371 - 1,228 - 346,599
Exchange realignment fE 5 R (49,999) (379) (202) (194) (50,774)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 3,144,408 23,311 12,681 11,920 3,192,320

Accumulated amortisation: ZEHE

At 1 January 2024 202451 H18 685,243 23,690 6,209 12,114 727,256
Amortisation provided FREHRE
during the year 147,170 - 1,574 - 148,744
Exchange realignment B 5 R (14,574) (379) (119) (194) (15,266)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H 817,839 23,311 7,664 11,920 860,734
Accumulated impairment Z5TRE
At 1 January 2024 202451718 13,213 - - - 13,213
Exchange realignment [ 5 R 211) - - - (11)
At 31 December 2024 202412318 13,002 - - - 13,002
Net carrying amount: FEFE:
At 31 December 2024 120245124318 2,313,567 - 5,017 - 2318584

At 1 January 2024 1202451518 2,150,580 - 5,446 - 2,156,026
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16.

N
5 R R M5
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d) 16. J\EEEE (H#)
Group (cont’d) RER (&)
Concession  Patents and Computer Customer
rights  trademarks software relationships Total
BaER  BiIREE TERBY EFB% BE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
31 December 2023 2023%12A8318
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 #2023%F1H1H 2,929,442 24,335 10,321 12,444 2,976,542
Additions ®E - - 1,636 - 1,636
Disposals RE (2,852) - (1) - (2,853)
Exchange realignment [ (77,554) (645) (301) (330) (78,830)
At 31 December 2023 2023%12A31H 2,849,036 23,690 11,665 12,114 2,896,495
Accumulated amortisation: ZEHE
At 1 January 2023 #2023F1H1H 552,584 24,335 4,987 11,200 593,106
Amortisation provided FREERE
during the year 148,032 - 1,377 1,232 150,641
Exchange realignment [E 5 3% (15,373) (645) (155) (318) (16,491)
At 31 December 2023 2023F12A31H 685,243 23,690 6,209 12,114 727,256
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE
At 1 January 2023 #2023F1H1H 13,673 - - - 13,573
Exchange realignment [E 5 A% (360) - - - (360)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 13,213 - - - 13,213
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2023 2023F12A31H 2,150,580 - 5,446 - 2,156,026
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 2,363,285 - 5,334 1,244 2,369,863
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GOODWILL

Group

17.

BE
REE

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FExT FHT
Cost and net carrying amount at FURRA K EEFE
the beginning of the year 1,364,093 1,400,952
Exchange realignment bE 5, (21,667) (36,859)
Cost and net carrying amount at FARKA R AREFE
the end of the year 1,342,426 1,364,093

Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has
been allocated to the Group’s groups of cash-generating
units (“CGUSs”) identified to the relevant sub-groups as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

The recoverable amount of the CGUs as at 31 December
2024 was determined based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets using
a revenue growth rate of 3% to 10% (31 December 2023:
3% to 10%) approved by management. The pre-tax discount
rates applied to the cash flow projections were ranged
from 7.5% to 9.3% for 2024 (31 December 2023: 11.4%).

RETRENR  BEEIEELRSE

B 2024612 A31H K%2023%F12 8

STEMATEZHATHEREELS
o ([ REEHERT | ) -

N20245F 128318 HEeEHETE
REREENEEREEHENI%NE10%
(2023F12A31H : 3% Z=10%)
BERAFENRAFHUKEEZR
SREEAEFAETNLE S - @
ARIRERETE H\JE’HRHHEIEYEA
2024 B7.5%%E9.3% (2023%F

Management determined the budgets based on service 12A318 :11.4%) - EEERIEK
concession arrangements governing the relevant operations. SRS FEETHENESRE
Management determined the pre-tax discount rates by ErEE ERERBMHFEMAMEF
using the weighted average cost of capital (‘WACC”), which BHERKA ( [WACC] ) K
was calculated by referring to public market data including EHRAITBEER - WACCRBAZR
risk free rate, market return, beta of comparable public EZRHEERBFIE  mHEHE
companies etc. and the specific risk of the business. Based A ETmAREBEEBRHESZEEANN
on the assessment, no impairment provision was necessary ’A MM EALERMNAEER
as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: Nil). Rt BB o BB - R2024%F
12A31R - EFFHERERE (202345
12A318 : &) o

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to the pre-tax discount rate and revenue growth
rate, representing the key inputs to the determination of the
recoverable amount.

VAT SRR D AT ThAR Y e e AT UK () 2 2R
M BWARE - RATITR R MR RX

Bt -
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17.

GOODWILL (cont’d)
Group (cont’d)

Impairment testing of goodwill (cont’d)

The headroom calculated based on the recoverable
amounts deducting the carrying amounts of the relevant
CGUs are ranged from HK$30,464,000 to HK$949,270,000
(31 December 2023: HK$1,754,000,000).

For the sensitivity analysis of the Group conducted during
the impairment review, had there been reasonably possible
changes with or an increase in pre-tax discount rate by
0.2%, or a reduction of the revenue growth rate by 0.5%,
it would cause the reduction of the recoverable amount
of the Group as follows, if one of the key assumptions
was to change while other variable held constant: as at
31 December 2024, the recoverable amount would decrease
by ranged from HK$41,996,000 to HK$431,733,000, ranged
from HK$35,911,000 to HK$423,908,000 (31 December
2023: when an increase in pre-tax discount rate by 0.2%,
or a reduction of the revenue growth rate by 1%, the
recoverable amount would reduce by HK$526,000,000 and
HK$1,752,000,000).

As disclosed above, the management has considered
and assessed reasonably possible changes for the key
assumptions and has not identified any instances that would
cause the carrying amounts of above CGUs to exceed its
recoverable amounts as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The underlying future business plans assumed in the
discounted cash flows are subject to estimation uncertainties,
which may pose a significant risk of resulting in material
adjustments in future periods. Changes in the business plans
and market outlook in the near term could have a material
impact on the CGUs’ financial performance.

17.

BE (#)
TEE (#)

BEATWESENBRBBIR ¢ E L
BEUREBEFE LT ERBE A
30,464,000/ 7T E 949,270,000/ 7T
(202312 A31H : 1,754,000,000
BIL) °

BAE AN BT RV E A B 2 SR
o FERBRR2YBLEE—F
(EtBSREBFTE) AlEEEZY
BN - 2024F12 31 B E %, Al
WK F300.2% - AT Y@ 4 5856 A 18
€ 541,996,000/ £ 431,733,000
BT WABREERTHOL% @ ATk
O &R ADIEEA35,911,0008 7T
Z423,908,0008 7 (2023%F 124
318 : HATIMIERE X FH0.2% » ATk
B4 %R 21526,000,000/8 70 @ W
AEREERTH1% - 7] Y@ £ 58 R >
1,752,000,000/% 7T ©

wmERT - EEEEZELAENE
TRARBRROAIEE(  WRAER
EAAREH MRS EL BTN
HeREBAELBE2024F k20235
12A31HM AT E S EERIE R ©

FHRADRT BRI BERKER
AEIXBEE I REEENTE - &R
EESBYARRARNERNAE - BH
REZ G (RN IR kXAl
HRSERETHNMBEEELEAX

By 488
rE e
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. HELQTER
Group NEE
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TAT
Share of net assets MG EEFE 3,540 11,953
Particulars of the Group’s indirect associates during the REBANE N EE 2 BER 2 N T
financial year are as follows, all of which are unlisted entities BT A AR ETES, &ARH

whose quoted market price is not available:

MERERHSE

Percentage of

ownership
interest
Place of attributable to
Particulars of registration the Group
Name capital and business AREEELEESE  Principal activities
8 EXF1E BRREXRHE EmEAl TEXK
Qingdao Haibohe Water Paid up PRC/ 49 Waste water
Operating Limited capital of Mainland China treatment
(“Qingdao Haibohe”) US$350,845 FR /AR A, Ak
BEMANKEGES BEHENR
RAoE ( [E8®am] ) 350,845% T
EW Data Intelligent Paid up PRC/ 40 Intelligent water
Operation (Shenzhen) capital of Mainland China system development
Limited (‘EW Data RMB1,000,000 B/ Bl A and Intelligent water
Intelligent”) BEHAER project operation
HKRBEEEZ (RYI) 1,000,0007T BRI R EEFE ]

ARAE ([HKBE] )

BekBEAES
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18.

19.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (cont’d) 18.

Group (cont’d)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually
material:

BEATES ()
AEE (%)

TREF] T A B R R 1 B E A
AT EBITEER

Year ended 31 December
HHZ12B31BLLEFE

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ExT FHIT
Share of the associates’ AN EHEE R RIFT L
(losses)/profits for the year (BE) 187 (7,174) 2,008
Share of the associates’ total RFEEHE N R EG
comprehensive income e ZR B (8,413) 431
Aggregate carrying amount of REEBEE AR R
the Group’s interests in the HIERTE 42 1E
associates 3,540 11,953
INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 19, AR
Group A EE
As at 31 December
»12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
Share of net assets A PTG AR 1,903 1,262
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19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (cont’d) 19.

Group (cont’d)

Particulars of the Group’s indirect joint venture during the
financial year is as follow, it is unlisted entity whose quoted
market price is not available:

RELXES ()
TEE (#)
$%E@$Eﬁﬂl$§2?&ﬁ%é%ﬁ¥%
ZZDT FIERRARLETER, EQH
i&{ET/T/\/ :

Percentage of

ownership
interest
Place of attributable to
Particulars of registration the Group
Name capital and business AREEELEESE  Principal activities
8 EXFE BRREXBE EmADl TEXK
JV Sotravic — St Martin Paid up Mauritius 50 Waste water
Partner Limited capital of EEKHr treatment
(“Martin Partner”) Mauritius Rupee JEK R I
10,000
10,000E It

The following table illustrates the financial information of the
Group’s joint venture that is not individually material:

7

TR T AR E B R @E B EKR
BECEZELMBER

Year ended 31 December
HZ12B31BLLEE

2024 2023
202445 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Share of the joint venture’s profit REFEEEPEMEET
for the year 689 1,261
Share of the joint venture’s total REEEEPLEEILEGRE
comprehensive income W e e zE 641 1,261
Carrying amount of the Group’s REFEHEEREKREDN
investment in the joint venture REEE 1,903 1,262
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20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20. B D Bl =
Company ARATH

As at 31 December

MW12A318
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost JEETIRG - AR 11,751,968 11,517,965
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NGBS 2,616,509 2,616,509

14,368,477 14,134,474
Impairment B (4,045,596) (4,111,360)
10,322,881 10,023,114

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest- FEUWHI B A R AR - RERI
free and have no fixed repayment terms. The balances are ﬁliﬁw\ c AEFEEMWESHRAR
considered by the directors as quasi-equity investments in ZEMB AR ERIEIRE o

these subsidiaries.

Movements in the provision for impairment are as follows: SEREZENT ¢

As at 31 December

M12A318

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT FHET

At the beginning of the year F4) 4,111,360 4,223,233

Exchange realignment b R (65,764) (111,873)

At the end of the year FR 4,045,596 4,111,360
Particulars of the major subsidiaries are disclosed in note 1. ZETEMB RIS HBERI KR
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS 21. AWEE
Group REH
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE FHET FAT
Non-current FEENER
Service concession RIS EEE
assets (@) 20,900,262 19,798,284
Less: Impairment B RE (©) (16,315) (18,573)
20,883,947 19,779,711
Current BIHEA
Service concession RIS EEE
assets (@) 2,063,829 2,005,427
Less: Impairment B RE (©) (1,611) (1,881)
2,062,218 2,003,546
Other contract assets  HMA LB E (b) 115,153 154,160
Less: Impairment B RE (©) (3,803) -
111,350 154,160
2,173,568 2,157,706

Total 1B%E 23,057,515 21,937,417

Notes MiEE -

(@  Service concession assets of HK$22,964,091,000 (a) MR2024F12A31BRHTRE
as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: BEHETES22,964,091,000
HK$21,803,711,000) bear interest at rates ranging Bt (2023F12A318
from 3.85% to 7.83% (31 December 2023: 21,803,711,000/%& 7T)
4.20% to 7.83%) per annum. As at 31 December BRAFANEXEMA3.85%E
2024, balances totalling HK$20,425,618,000 7.83% (2023%12A/318 :
(31 December 2023: HK$20,181,967,000) are 4.20%%E7.83%) ° 202445
related to the service concession arrangements 12A31H E®RBER
where operation has commenced. The amounts 20,425,618,000787C (20234
are not yet due for payment and will be settled by 12A31H :20,181,967,00078
revenue generated during the operating periods of 7r) B0 R 9 9B ) AR 5 R AT A

SLHER o REBINESEH

the service concession arrangements. Amounts billed = e o itk e
- : BRI e EEEPRNESE
will be transferred to trade receivables (note 23). Zqﬁﬁéi%%f o Eﬁ&%@,\\?ﬁZéE%ﬁ
Y| R EKERR (M5E23) -
As at 31 December 2024, contract assets of R2024F12A31H - & E
HK$1,217,987,000 were transferred out but not 1,217,987,0008 T2 E i - (2
derecognised under the Group’s asset-backed security WARBBEARNEEHE EZIFF

program (note 28). FErEIBUEER (Msk28) o
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS (cont’d)

Group (cont’d)

(b)

Other contract assets of HK$115,153,000 as
at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
HK$154,160,000) comprised contract assets arising
from the performance of construction management
service contracts. Such contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
service periods once milestones are reached.

Impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2024, HK$21,729,000
(31 December 2023: HK$20,454,000) was recognised
as an allowance for expected credit losses on contract
assets. The Group’s trading terms and credit policy
with customers are disclosed in note 23.

The movements in the provision for expected credit
losses of contract assets are as follows:

ANEE ()
AKE ()

(b)

MR2024F12A31HEMAE
HWEEH#%A115,153,000
Bt (2023F12A831H ¢
154,160,000/87T) © BIERETT
BREEEREENMEENE L
BE - ZSAHBERIERER
MR AR RIS EA A 2 B SR A9 15
TSR o

RER

M2024412 4318 » 21,729,000
B (2023F12H31H ¢
20,454,000 7C) HREBELE
EMTEEEBERE - A58
HEENZ S ERMEERRE
B SRR M sF 23 P I EE o

BHEEBEHERARELERS
;unE :

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FATT
At the beginning of the year F) 20,454 19,716
Impairment losses recognised (note 8)  CHEREHEREE (Fi:E8) 1,623 1,282
Exchange realignment M 5, S (348) (544)
At the end of the year FR 21,729 20,454
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS (cont’d) 21. BHEE (&)
Group (cont’d) RER (&)
(©)  Impairment assessment (cont’d) ©  ERE (&)
The Group measures loss allowance for contract Z'K%L\égg/\\\%1ﬁé§;ﬁﬁ§%ﬁ
assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECL’s, gﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%fgg E"j%ﬁaﬁjﬁi%@
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As at é%@?ﬁi“—ﬁ + R AR IR
31 December 2024, the expected loss rate of service fee i{fir: /EE\%O;MEQH 3/1 %' .
concession contract assets and other contract assets PRI =T E':H%;%* DE@ = Hoé
is 0.078% and 3.30%, respectively. ER BB E S 7750.078%
F13.30% o
22.  INVENTORIES 2. ®H
Group AEHE
As at 31 December
®W12A318
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET THET
Raw materials and consumables R RN 57,159 58,336
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an ERERRERRFAXNTESEDN

expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: s

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20244 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Cost of inventories consumed EREFENREEER 1,088,012 966,843
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 FEWURS R AR
Group RER
As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHET
Non-current JERNHA
Other receivables (i) H A EYGRIE (i) 21,922 22,869
Less: Impairment B RE (8,573) (9,782)
13,349 13,087
Recoverable VAT JERIB(EMN 162,952 193,824
Prepayments SN 79,197 28,214
242,149 222,038
255,498 235,125
Current BN A
Trade receivables (i)(v) FELURBE 2K (i)(iv) 6,071,978 5,060,763
Less: Impairment B ORE (778,263) (626,215)
5,293,715 4,434,548
Other receivables and sundry H M R IE N TR
deposits (i) % (i) (i) 400,325 636,027
Less: Impairment B RE (50,033) (29,187)
350,292 606,840
Recoverable VAT JERIZ(EM 100,972 121,805
Amount due from associates AN E L] 15,124 6,329
Prepayments TEfTRIE 86,563 213,239
552,951 948,213
5,846,666 5,382,761
Total 1ExE 6,102,164 5,617,886

(i)

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from
the date of billing.

Included in “Other receivables and sundry deposits”
as at 31 December 2024 were HK$422,247,000
(31 December 2023: HK$658,896,000), of
which HK$202,094,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$205,380,000), were government compensation
receivables arising from the termination of the 13
projects of Everbright River Basin Remediation
(Nanjing) Limited. Accordingly, the impairment of
HK$47,920,000 was made as at 31 December 2024
(31 December 2023: HK$12,050,000).

EH5RUEREBERTE Z AL
30E90KRAZIH

R2024F12A31H B A
[E b U 30 K 3808 17 2
HB422,247,00078 T (20234
124318 : 658,896,000/ 7T)
H202,094,000/8 7T (20234
12A318 : 205,380,000/ 7T)
AR AR EE (BR)
BRAF3EIERKIFMES
R T (E & FEURBR RN » F L -
HZE2024F 128318 BiEA
47,920,000/ 70 (20234124

318 :12,050,000/87C)
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23.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

(i)

(iv)

Included in current other receivables of
HK$274,126,000 as at 31 December 2023 were
government compensation receivables arising from the
disposals of service concession arrangement-related
intangible assets and contract assets in connection
to relocation and expansion of waste water treatment
plants of Everbright Water (Zibo) Limited. The amount
was received in 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables of
HK$629,429,000 were transferred out but not
derecognised under the Group’s asset-backed security
program (note 28).

All the current portions of the above balances are
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses
within one year.

Company

(iii)

(iv)

FEW AR R A ROR ()

HZE2023F12A8318 - EfthfE
U I8 BB 274,126,000 © B
ERRE RS TF LS
BB A E K E Y KK OF
B) BRAGRERBETK
RIEREBNENEEMEEN
BT BN GRIE - ZREDR
20244 g @] o

HZE2024F12A831H © EUEE
7X629,429,000/8 T EH - 8
FRBEAEBROE EXIFESH
ZIEUERER (Mizt28) -

ERAEOHA Y BN E
E—ERIRE LR RE -

As at 31 December

M12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT THEIT
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS B B A IRk IE 9,317,812 10,451,945
Amounts due from third parties U E = N RIFE 64,160 53,750
9,381,972 10,505,695

The amounts due from subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 are unsecured, interest-free

and repayable on demand.

The movements in allowance for expected credit losses on

BERIEE -

ARAIN2024F 2023512 A31H
FEUSF B8 A RN IB R EIE ~ 8 K

&Y
7

BUEAEMEEERRE 2EH

trade receivables are as follows: AN
Group AEE
As at 31 December
W12H831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
At the beginning of the year F] 626,215 446,835
Impairment losses recognised, EHERAREBERFE
net (note 8) (MF5E8) 164,170 194,487
Exchange realignment b 5 R (12,122) (15,107)
At the end of the year FR 778,263 626,215
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d) 23. BEWERRREMERRIE (F)
The movements in allowance for expected credit losses on HEM RS IBTREEEERE 22 F
other receivables are as follows: s
Group i
As at 31 December
W12A831H
2024 2023
2024% 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At the beginning of the year F1) 38,969 50,870
Impairment losses recognised, EERAREBERFE
net (note 8) (fF5E8) 20,523 466
Write-offs i - (11,200)
Exchange realignment bE 5, 5 (886) (1,167)
At the end of the year FR 58,606 38,969
The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the date RBEER - BEZHRAH (FUARE
of invoice (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net of RAH - UREBERE) RIBREHERE
allowance, as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: Z FEWER R ERE AT an T -
Group AEE
As at 31 December
W12H831H
2024 2023
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Within 1 month IR —1E A 557,066 1,012,238
More than 1 month but within wmR—EAETEZR
2 months & A 518,716 352,188
More than 2 months but within BEMEAETEZR
4 months o fE A 625,655 556,492
More than 4 months but within HBBUEAENZR
7 months +1& A 783,377 636,809
More than 7 months but within BBtEAETEZR
13 months T=1EH 959,159 605,792
More than 13 months Hid+=1EHA 1,849,742 1,271,029

5,293,715 4,434,548
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23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d) 23. EWERRREMEWRRIE (E)
Group (cont’d) RER (&)
Trade receivables mainly represent revenue from the provision EREREEREHESRBFELED
of operation services and the billed amounts of the contract WAREGHEER Eﬁﬁﬁﬁwé\%ﬁ ° [
assets. Since most of the debtors are local government MR ZEEB A BT EE 1 AT H#
authorities in the PRC and based on past experience, H*ET)%LE i EEERREEE
management believes that there has not been a significant BEWESERNEE NEFBILTFE Z
change in credit quality. The Group does not hold any LB TR -
collateral over these balances.
The Group has applied the simplified approach for providing AR BT A {05 R 3 BB B 7%
impairment for ECLs prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits WEKBEIORATHEHREES
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade BRI B - HfE T AT B MU
receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have FEAREAFENNEREE#E
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and #e Rt ETEHEEER  BREH
the days past due. The impairment as of 31 December 2024 [ (= & 2 b 4 B % i 2 K 8 FE
and 2023 was determined as follows: EROE - TXEHEEBETM
ABTEMEE c R2024F £20234F
12A31H E’Jﬂ@f&ﬁlﬂ—
Group REH
Past due
more than
1 year but Past due
Past due within over
within 2 years 2 years
Current 1year BHEB-—F AHRF Total
HE AH-FR BRAMER BLE #zg
31 December 2024: 2024%12831H
Expected loss rate HEETEEE 2.4% 3.5% 11.2% 51.7% 12.8%
Gross carrying amount REaE (F5rT)

(HK$'000) 783,831 3,037,210 1,262,487 988,450 6,071,978
Impairment (HK$’'000) mE (FEmT) 18,679 107,202 140,980 511,402 778,263
31 December 2023: 2023%F12A31H
Expected loss rate ERTEEX 7.5% 7.2% 17.0% 38.2% 12.4%
Gross carrying amount REeE (Fr)

(HK$’000) 1,060,050 2,518,405 945,504 536,804 5,060,763
Impairment (HK$'000) HE (FAT) 79,462 180,946 161,000 204,807 626,215
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d) 23. EWERRREMEWRIE (F)
Group (cont’d) RER (&)
The assumptions underlying the ECL model for trade FEW AR KA TR BE BB B IE R FTKIR A
receivables are subject to estimation uncertainties, which BREXBEFH IR E - Er 6
may pose a significant risk of resulting in material adjustments TEARREAEEN ERARNE RN ©
in future periods. Changes in the economic environment, FEIREEIRY - B M RA KM
customer payment patterns, or market conditions in the near AR L ] REH TE I E BB BART
term could have a material impact on the accuracy of the EREELEERNTE MY EUIRK
ECL estimates and, consequently, the carrying value of trade FEEEEEEEEATE -
receivables.
24, OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 24, HibemsE
Group REH
As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FAET
Unlisted investments, AR EBEFENIELTRE
at fair value - 88,150
Unlisted equity investment, AR EBEFENIELmARE
at fair value KE 32,928 32,998
Total 4BEE 32,928 121,148
Company VNS
As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT

Unlisted investments,
at fair value

URnBEFENIFLHRE

= 88,150
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24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (cont’d) 24, Hihe@mEE ()
Company (cont’d) AAR (])
As at 31 December 2023, the above unlisted investments MR2023F 128318 - Ltk FHEE
were wealth management products issued by financial REBERBEETHENMER I
institutions in Hong Kong which were fully redeemed during REE2024F12A31MBIEFEARAEH
the year ended 31 December 2024. The wealth management R - BT EREAABERKERT
products were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair RHEFEAESMEE  AREMHE
value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows e REMEEEZNAETFE -
were not solely payments of principal and interest.
As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the above HZE2024F12A318 K2023%F
unlisted equity investment represents the 6% equity interest 12H318 » Btk ETalERERE
in Yancheng CCCC Shanghai Dredging Water Environment Bt R EBERAKRRERERBRA
Investment Co., Ltd. F16%HI IR HE ©
25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. BRERAEFEY
Group &S 3
As at 31 December
M12A318
2024 2023
2024% 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Cash on hand and bank balances 7R e RIRTTA R 1,828,428 1,861,907
Restricted bank balances PRI RITAE R 19,377 19,494
1,847,805 1,881,401
Company RKATF

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Cash and cash equivalents He MIREEEY 122,815 42,470
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25.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (cont’d)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the restricted bank
balances are deposits pledged to banks for the issuance
of guarantees by the banks to the grantors in respect of
the specific performance duties by the Group under certain
service concession agreements.

Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 are deposits of HK$66,990,000
(31 December 2023: HK$84,485,000) placed with a related
party bank, which is a fellow subsidiary of the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents of
the Group amounted to HK$1,764,967,000 (31 December
2023: HK$1,820,452,000) are deposited with banks in the
PRC. The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. The
remittance of funds in and out of Mainland China is subject to
exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, cash at banks of the
Group and the Company were considered to be of low credit
risk, and thus the Group has assessed that the ECL for cash
at banks is immaterial under the 12-month expected losses
method.

25.

RERBELEEY (&)
MR2024F 2 2023F12A31H - 2K

RITEFERTIRT  AARERE
TREFAELHZER THNEERD

BEMARITRARBEAZELER -

MN2024%E 128310 @ st AXREH

fﬁ@&ﬂ@%E%J (2ECT R IN
REIRE T IRTT (ARAR R R

BAR) 2175 /A66,990,000/8 T
(2023124318 : 84,485,000587T) ©

MN2024E12A318 - AEBEFHK
REBEHNETHNREREE S SEE
%2%1,764,967,000,%7; (20234
128318 : 1,820,452,000&7T) -
ARBETEEERLBREMER - R
- BREPE R (HNEE IR
N (HE - SERNESERTE)
AEBEBERESEINEEE
BITBAREBNIBREMEE - &4
BE 3 2 (& ) Fp B 9 b 28 38 =T o B I T
B INEE S o

RITFEFIRFHEXRFTE > MEBE
YE*ETF#EI%E??T??” EREE - R

BRI FERNEER BT &
E%@%EiﬁzZﬁEﬁ °

R2024F K 2023F12831H » &KA&E
BIEARANRERESEEYH
RAEREERR At AEEE
RFE12E A NBEHRBEEEATIGES
%E@%E%EﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂgﬁéﬁT\
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EARRREMEMNRE
Group AEE
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Non-current FEENER
Deferred government grants IR A BN B & 61,406 -~
Current BO &R
Trade payables (i) FERTBRFR (i) 2,414,850 2,335,983
Distribution payable to holders of JERPKBERTEFFAA
perpetual capital instruments BN 24,726 25,128
Dividend payable to a non-controlling B —FE2EWB AR
shareholder of a non wholly-owned — IR R 2 I B
subsidiary 5,741 5,835
Interest payable FERTHE 145,362 155,216
Other tax payables HEMERTIE 209,855 176,442
Other creditors and accrued expenses H b EN BRI K FET & 483,194 543,132
3,283,728 3,241,736
Total kL] 3,345,134 3,241,736
() Trade payables totaling HK$1,826,276,000 as (i) HE2024F128318 * ET
at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: EF 4% A1,826,276,000
HK$1,864,144,000) represent construction payables I (2023F12A31H -
for the Group’s Build-Operate-Transfer and Build-Own- 1,864,144,00087T) - BAE
Operations arrangements. EiEE- LB EBENEE-AF-

BELZPFHEIR -



ANNUAL REPORT 2024
2024 EHRE

243

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

26.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont’d) 26.
Group (cont’d)
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the date of

invoice (or date of recognition, if earlier), as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

ENERREEEARE ()

TEE (&)

EHREHPR AEZEEH (KHERAH
H UREELE) SERNENES
BRRRBRE DT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2024 2023
202445 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET
Within 6 months TZ RN E A 1,543,260 1,514,769
Over 6 months HaiE < E A 871,590 821,214
2,414,850 2,335,983
Company bNNE
As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Amounts due to a subsidiary (i) FEASTFT B A RIZRIA (i) 2,187 2,340
Distribution payable to holders of JERXBEARTERBA
perpetual capital instruments EOBADITS 24,726 25,128
Interest payable FERTHIE 139,975 154,977
Other creditors and accrued expenses HMENER R ETER - 637
Total R 166,888 183,082

() The amount due to a subsidiary are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

() AT AR MRER TR
B - TRERHAEIE o



244

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

27.

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

BORROWINGS

Group

27. 1{BE&
TEE

As at 31 December 2024

As at 31 December 2023

12024F12H31H M2023%12831H8
Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$’000
A THERT = FHET
Non-current FEENHA
Bank loans - RITER -
secured (i)(iiiv)(v) A (i) (i) () (v) 2026-2039 2,585,514 20252039 2,426,280
Bank loans - RITER -
unsecured (i)l iv)(v) SRR (i) (i) (V) (v) 2026-2043 2,596,369  2025-2043 3,483,128
Bonds payable - e &S - BHEA
secured (note 28) (FE28) 2027 1,683,407 -
Bonds payable - ERES - EEA
unsecured (note 28) (MI5E28) 2026-2027 5,342,991 2025-2026 4,889,072
12,208,281 10,798,480
Current BN
Bank loans - RITER -
secured (i)i)(v)(v) A (1)(iif) (v) (v) 2025 251,682 2024 218,916
Bank loans - RITER -

unsecured (ii)(iii)(iv)(v)
Bonds payable -
secured (note 28)

Bonds payable -
unsecured (note 28)

A (i) (i) (iv)(v)
FERES - BHEIA

(KizE28)
JERHES - I

(BtzE28)

2025 2,658,280

2025 201,235

2025 1,070,132

4,181,329

16,389,610

2024 2,543,566

2024 1,844,411
4,606,893
15,405,373
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27.

BORROWINGS (cont’d)

Company

27. B8 (&)

ZNNG

As at 31 December 2024

As at 31 December 2023

12024F12H31H M2023%12831H8
Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$’000
A TERT FEA FHT
Non-current FEENHR
Bank loans - RITER -
unsecured (i)i)iv)(v) SIS (i) (1) (V) (v) 2026 490,784 20252026 1,160,661
Bonds payable - JERES - |
unsecured (note 28) (B5E28) 2026-2027 5,342,991 2025-026 4,889,072
5,833,775 6,049,733
Current BN
Bank loans - RITER -
unsecured (ii)(iii)(iv)(v) FIAR () (i) (iv)(v) 2025 1,932,072 2024 1,779,753
Bonds payable - B ES - EIKH
unsecured (note 28) (F¥zE28) 2025 1,070,132 2024 1,844,411
3,002,204 3,624,164
8,835,979 9,673,897
Group REEH

As at 31 December

®W12A31AH
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Analysed into: DI

Bank loans repayable: AR T HREE 2 RITER
Within 1 year or on demand —FRHIRERK 2,909,962 2,762,482
After 1 year but within 2 years —FUAEERMFA 1,151,855 1,156,400
After 2 years but within 5 years MEAEEBERAFA 1,333,342 2,172,073
After 5 years HEFELF 2,696,686 2,580,935
8,091,845 8,671,890

Bonds repayable: AR TSI HAR(ER 2 RSB S -
Within 1 year or on demand —FRHIRERK 1,271,367 1,844,411
After 1 year but within 2 years —F L ERMRER 3,948,393 1,083,721
After 2 years but within 5 years MENLEEBERAEFA 3,078,005 3,805,351
8,297,765 6,733,483
Total FEk] 16,389,610 15,405,373
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27. BORROWINGS (cont’d) B8 (&)
Company YAN/N|
As at 31 December
M12A318
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FHT
Analysed into: DI
Bank loans repayable: AR Ty HAREE 2 $RTT
Within 1 year or on demand —FAFIRER 1,932,072 1,779,753
After 1 year but within 2 years —FUAEERMFEA 490,784 498,461
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREEBERAFA - 662,200
2,422,856 2,940,414
Bonds repayable: AR TS HAREE 2 B ES
Within 1 year or on demand —FRFIRER 1,070,132 1,844,411
After 1 year but within 2 years —FLLEERWEA 3,740,736 1,083,721
After 2 years but within 5 years FA EERAFR 1,602,255 3,805,351
6,413,123 6,733,483
Total 4ERE 8,835,979 9,673,897
() Certain banking facilities of the Group are secured (i) XEEETRITER mﬁi & Z
by certain revenue, contract assets, receivables RS E RS FFEESRHE
and intangible assets in connection with the Group’s ZHBEA ERHNEE B
service concession arrangements (31 December 2023: WRBREFEEAREARD
certain revenue, contract assets, receivables and A THE QR 2 KEE Tiﬁ
intangible assets in connection with the Group’s service oo R2024F12H31H8
concession arrangements and the equity interests in ZERITERME 7%
certain subsidiaries). Such banking facilities, amounting 3,755,906,000% 7C (20234
to HK$3,755,906,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 12A31H :2,919,175,000/%
December 2023: HK$2,919,175,000) were utilised to Jt)  EEA2,837,196,000
the extent of HK$2,837,196,000 (31 December 2023: oL (2023F12A31H -
HK$2,645,196,000). 2,645,196,000/87T) °
(i) The unsecured banking facilities amounting to (i) M2024%12H318 -
HK$7,963,373,000 as at 31 December 2024 e Tfi HIRITE R E A
(31 December 2023: HK$7,356,294,000) were 7,963,373,000/8 L (20234
utilised to the extent of HK$5,254,649,000 12H31H :7,356,294,000
(31 December 2023: HK$6,026,694,000). Among Bor) - BE#/H5,254,649,000
the unsecured banking facilities of the Group, Bt (2023F12H318 -

facilities of HK$533,250,000 are guaranteed by the
Company as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: HK$734,139,000), and were utilised to the
extent of HK$107,040,000 as at 31 December 2024
(31 December 2023: HK$363,150,000).

6,026,694,000/87T) ° fEARNEE
EIMIFIRITRE D © R2024F
12 A31HAF533,250,00078 7T
mARAREMR (20234128
310 : 734,139,000/ 7T)

MR2024%12A831H E#A
107,040,000/ 7T (20234
12A318 : 363,150,008 7T) °
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27. BORROWINGS (cont’d) 27. {BE (&)

(iii) Banking facilities of HK$5,915,957,000 as (ii) P2024F12/331H » BT

at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: EXmMEAFS,915,957,000
HK$5,927,696,000), respectively, are subject B (2023 12A31H

(iv)

to the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain
of the Group’s financial ratios. If the Group
were to breach the covenants, the drawn down
facilities would become payable on demand. At
31 December 2024, such facilities were utilised to the
extent of HK$5,156,669,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$4,909,540,000). The Group regularly monitors its
compliance with these covenants and has not found
any defaults. Certain banking facilities also restrict
some of the Company’s subsidiaries from declaring or
paying dividends to shareholders without obtaining
prior written approval of the banks or require the Group
to process waste water treatment operating fee via
respective financial institutions. Further details of the
Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in
note 39.

Bank loans of HK$7,492,421,000 as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: HK$8,454,330,000)
bear interest at variable rates ranging from 2.40%
to 3.43% per annum (2023: 2.80% to 7.02%),
bank loans of HK$599,424,000 as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: HK$217,560,000) bear
interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.96% to 3.35%
per annum (2023: 3.35%), and bonds payable
of HK$8,297,765,000 as at 31 December 2024
(31 December 2023: HK$6,733,483,000) bear interest
at fixed rates ranging from 2.67% to 3.20% per annum
(2023: 2.82% to 3.75%).

The Group’s bank loans of HK$8,091,845,000
as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
HK$6,529,009,000) are denominated in RMB, no bank
loans as at 31 December 2024 are denominated in
HK$ (31 December 2023: HK$2,117,674,000) and EUR
(31 December 2023: HK$25,207,000).

(iv)

(v)

5,927,696,0007w) &
FHAEEARTHBLX
BRRLHE - W AEEE
IR R E 2&%*
o JA2024F12A31H
ARt &2 % H5,156,669,00
BT (2023@12)?31 =
4,909,540,000% 1) °
AEEeTHERZEREN
BITH )Rjt/xﬁﬁéiﬁf%fTLiﬁ
E e BTRITERBENR
BIARBETHEB AR TSHE
KRERTEFZEUE T AR
RERSZMAIRE » sk B A
EEBEIBE ‘Eﬁﬁﬁ&mﬁr&ﬁ
EKRIBEEE  c AEFHEIE
MEERRAE—FSFBHRL
M-Jluf?)9°

<

+N|' NS

T
T
Pt

X

{»

EJ#
g Y b 2

e

- %
at

= iﬂ\é

o

24%€ 12 A3 ’
,421,000,%7_5 (2023¢
31H : 8,454,330,000
) TEREZZH
R D %i3 43%%5t B
2023&12)%315 2.80%%&
7.02%) * FA20244E12A318 -

599,424 000 7T (20234
128318 : 217,560,000/ 7T)
MIRTERZETFF X
2.96%%3.35%5F 5 (20234
128318 : 3.35%) @ 20244
12H31H »8,297,765,000
Bt (20234 12A831H
6,733,483,000/87T) tHE
NEHFEBEFMNENT
2.67%%3.20%5F 5 (20234
128310 : 2.82%%3.75%) °

ﬁﬁl#2024¢12ﬁ31a
ZiR1TE8,091,845,000
BT (2023@12)%315 :
6,529,009,000/87T) LAARK
HE - RN2024F12A831H0 -
EIRITE RIAB T RE T
B (2023FE12A831H % 5l
B 2,117,674,0008 T &
25,207,000587T) o
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28.

BONDS PAYABLE 28. EES
Group AER
As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Non-current JERNHA
Asset-backed securities - secured (i) BEXFES — BEA (i) 1,683,407 -
Medium term notes - unsecured (i) RHRZE R — IR () 5,342,991 4,889,072
7,026,398 4,889,072
Current ENEA
Asset-backed securities - secured (i) BEXFES — BHEA (i) 201,235 -
Corporate bonds - unsecured (iii) nalfES — E\ER (i) - 761,506
Medium term notes - unsecured (i) FHEAZR R — | () 1,070,132 1,082,905
1,271,367 1,844,411
Total 1B 8,297,765 6,733,483
Company AT
As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Non-current JERNHA
Medium term notes - unsecured (i) FRHERERIE — IR () 5,342,991 4,889,072
5,342,991 4,889,072
Current BIEA
Corporate bonds - unsecured (iii) nAElES — EEA (i) - 761,506
Medium term notes - unsecured (i) FRERERIE — IR () 1,070,132 1,082,905
1,070,132 1,844,411
Total pake] 6,413,123 6,733,483
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

28. BONDS PAYABLE (cont’d)

U

Notice of registration acceptance received in 2023

On 2 March 2023, the Company received a notice of
registration acceptance issued by National Association
of Financial Market Institutional Investors of the
People’s Republic of China in respect of MTN, with a
registered principal amount of RMB5 billion, effective
for two years since the notice was issued.

On 17 April 2023, the Company issued the 2023 first
tranche of RMB-denominated MTN of RMB1 billion,
before related expenses of RMB3,000,000, with an
interest rate at 3.20% per annum, a subscription rate
of 2.37 times and a maturity period of 5 years from the
issuance date. The interest shall be paid annually from
18 April 2023 and up to the redemption date.

On 17 July 2023, the Company issued the 2023
second tranche of RMB-denominated MTN of RMB1.5
billion, before related expenses of RMB4,500,000, with
an interest rate at 2.97% per annum, a subscription
rate of 2.25 times and a maturity period of 5 years
from the issuance date. The interest shall be paid
annually from 18 July 2023 and up to the redemption
date.

On 283 August 2023, the Company issued the 2023
third tranche of RMB-denominated MTN of RMBH1
billion, before related expenses of RMB3,000,000,
with an interest rate at 2.82% per annum, a
subscription rate of 2.88 times and a maturity period
of 5 years from the issuance date. The interest shall
be paid annually from 24 August 2023 and up to the
redemption date.

On 8 January 2024, the Company issued the 2024
first tranche of RMB-denominated MTN of RMB1.5
billion, before related expenses of RMB4,500,000,
with an interest rate at 2.80% per annum, a
subscription rate of 3.07 times and a maturity period
of 5 years from the issuance date. The interest shall
be paid annually from 9 January 2024 and up to the
redemption date.

(i)

EaES (8

2023 F U B 5E 52 32 38 AN

MN2023F3A28 » KRR EE

FEAREMBEETETS X

SEHBeRPHEERINES

afiRME FMEAEAARE

;sﬁg)j;z%ﬁ' BRHZBNELEMER
W o

R2023F4 8170 - KD AT
2023F EE—HUARBHED
FHIZE SEAARBI0ET
(B 18RAF = AR #3,000,0007T
Al) - ENERAE3.20% RERE
HAE237TENBRHETAERE
FSTAMATE - FIBEHM20234F
AB18ARZEER R ILFFI -

N2023%7H17H - 4:
{72023 FE E 5 — 1
BEAENTHEE
ARBASE T (0 B%\
T AR®4 500, 000mﬁ
FERRE2.97% » REEEAE2.25
%&Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁ&ﬁsﬁ@%ﬁ,ﬁﬁﬁ
F o FBEAH2023FE7TA18AKEE
BB IFEFIM-

A
K
7%

|u?£|‘|*>>-
§%>b

20236 8H23H © RAT T
2023F BB =HUARBEHEN
HEHEE 2EAAREBI0ET
€ill's W‘%Eﬂ?z}\mz?)oooooo
TCRT) » FFIEBE2.82% @ REREH
A2 88 MR TR B A
HAR 4 o F|B/BH2023F8 A24H
EEERB FEFEIM-

W2024E 1888 - ARQREET
2024F EE—HUARBHED
RHER SEAARBISET
(?uma%ﬁﬁi/\ﬁwﬁoo 000
T_Eﬁﬁ) E%UTZ%Z 80% ’ wu %f
#A3.07TE MR RETA SR
BHSF - FBEM2024F 1898
REEDRISFESM -
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28.

BONDS PAYABLE (cont’d)

(i)

The Company submitted the application to the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (“SZSE”) on 8 December
2023 for a possible issuance of ABS by Everbright
Water (Shenzhen) Limited (“Shenzhen Water”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to qualified
investors in the PRC pursuant to an asset-backed
securities scheme (the “Scheme”). On 6 March
2024, the SZSE issued a no-objection letter (the “No-
objection Letter”) confirming that it has no objections
to the potential issuance of ABS. Pursuant to the
No-objection Letter, the issuance size of the ABS shall
not be more than RMB2 billion and the issuance of
ABS shall be completed within 12 months from the
date of the No-objection Letter.

On 19 April 2024, the ABS were successfully issued
with total amount of RMB2 billion, before related
expenses of RMB4,500,000, of which the preference
ABS amounting to RMB1.9 billion were subscribed
by qualified investors in the PRC and the subordinate
ABS amounting to RMB100 million was subscribed by
Shenzhen Water.

The original beneficiary of the securities is Shenzhen
Water. The underlying assets of the ABS are the rights
of three project companies in Shandong Province in
relation to four waste water treatment projects, to
receive waste water treatment fees during a specific
period of nine years starting from 1 November 2023.
The relevant project companies have pledged part of
the underlying assets in favour of the Scheme.

The preference ABS are classified into seven classes
based on the maturity dates of such preference ABS,
comprising:

(@) Preference ABS 01
(“Preference ABS 1”);

of RMB182,000,000

(b) Preference ABS 02 of RMB190,500,000
(“Preference ABS 2);

28.

ENES (&)

(ii)

RATN2023FE12 A8H &
YRR ORI BRE QG
( [RINKFE] ) KRBIZE2E
BB RAR)RIEEE S HEST
2 ( [Zst8] ) TeRTEE
THREFTHIRAEREEER
EEEERSH ([ LX)
B HE o N2024%3 868 -
ERmBErEREGR ( [EE
BER ) BREYAIRBTEE
TRHEFTERS BREEES
B BEYHEFNBETEET
BER2BTAREREESH
BHEARBEEZ AL
1218 B R FER 37T o

MR2024F 4 A19H BRI 47 48
H20B TAREMNEESH
FBE - (MBRBABEAIARE
4,500,0007CAHT) - EF19{85C
ANREELEREESHFSHA
FEAEERKEERER1ET
AREERBEESFFHIBRZR
YK FEREE -

ZEFEHZRIEER A BFRYIK
5 BESHELNBREES
—EMRILEENEE AR
E57KERIEIE B AT = A E20234F
11 A1 B AN F O E 2/
WNE5KERIBURE W& - RS
HE ARETHIDHEEEERZ
ETHITRME T EHER -

BIEMBESFFRFRBEARES
B ESFREFNEIA D A
SV lRNORES

(a) BAMEEXFEZHO
%182,000,0007T AR
®( [BEREEXEE
1)

(b) BEALEEIHFESR02
£190,500,0007T A R
( [BEREEXEE
#2] )
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28.

BONDS PAYABLE (cont’d)

(i)

(cont’d)

() Preference ABS 03 of
(“Preference ABS 3”);

RMB196,000,000

(d) Preference ABS 04 of
(“Preference ABS 4");

RMB212,000,000

(e) Preference ABS 05 of
(“Preference ABS 5);

RMB218,000,000

(f) Preference ABS 06 of
(“Preference ABS 6”); and

RMB228,000,000

9 Preference ABS 07 of
(“Preference ABS 77);

RMB674,000,000

The maturity dates for preference ABS are from 2024
to 2027.

The principal and interest of the preference ABS are
repayable pursuant to the repayment schedule of the
Scheme, with an interest rate ranging from between
2.50% to 2.70% per annum. The Company has the
option to adjust the interest rate of Preference ABS 4,
Preference ABS 5, Preference ABS 6 and Preference
ABS 7 from the 47" day before 28 February 2027
(“the 12" Repayment Date”) and 28 February
2033 (“the 24™ Repayment Date”). The holders of
Preference ABS 4, Preference ABS 5, Preference ABS
6 and Preference ABS 7 have an option to sell back
the notes to the original beneficiary at the nominal
price, and the exercisable period of this option is from
the 45" day before the repayment date to the 31" day
before the repayment date.

28.

ENES (&)

(i)

(#&)

(c) BALREBEXIFFESRO3
£196,000,0007T A R
( [BAREEXESE
%3] )

(d) BEALEEYFFESR4
A212,000,0007T A R
( [BEREEXRESE
k4] )

(e) EBEALEELIIFFHESOS
/218,000,0007T A R
( [BAREEXES
%5] ) ;

(f) BERLEEYIFFEHR06
£228,000,0007T A R
( [BEREEXREE
%6 ) &

(g) BAFEEXRFESRT
/674,000,0007T A R
( [BAREEXESE
%71 ) o

BERBEXFEFNEHAR
2024 220274 -

BREEIHEFNASHNFE
BiRRBA BN ERSREREE
E%IJTBH2.50%i2.7O%T\% °
NEBEEE2027E2 A28 A
FA7 R ( [FE128FB] ) M
203342 A28A ( r%24?zn
EIJ ) AREBAREENFFES
BEREEYHESS BL
i&éﬁ?sﬁ%u HF6FBRMEE
THESFTHAR - BENEE
SEEEL  BEREELHE
55 BEREEYIHESHCHE
EMEBESHELFTNEEAR
BUNEEERBEERELRIRS
SA c ZHRENTERAER
BA4S K EERHBRIZTK o
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28. BONDS PAYABLE (cont’d) 28.

(iii) The Company has repaid the principal and interest of
the third tranche of the Corporate Bond on 22 January
2024,

29. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF  29.
FINANCIAL POSITION

EaES (&)

(i) ABIEA2024FE1 A22RBET
FEHRREEFNAESFFE

BB AR R P TS B

Group AEE
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) BEEHHKIES I EMIEFZF
financial position represents: .
2024 2023
2024% 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At the beginning of the year F1) 84,410 61,329
Provision for PRC income tax REZR) P RMSHEE
charged for the year (note 11) (PfzE11) 257,271 260,619
(Over)/under-provision in prior WA FERE (BEE) T2
years (note 11) (BF5E11) (5,850) 7,066
PRC income tax paid B BIFTER (281,834) (242,495)
Exchange realignment bE 5, 8 (984) (2,109)
At the end of the year FR 53,013 84,410
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29. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF  29.
FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d)

BAMBIRRBRPWAES ()

&EH (&)
(b) EEZHELEHEEEFNEE

Group (cont’d)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

) The movements in deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (i) XMBEEELEMEH
during the financial year are as follows: (BE) /AENEEIER
LU
Temporary
differences
Fair value on assets
adjustments recognised
arising from under
acquisition of IFRIC 12  Undistributed
subsidiaries  RiEEIRIE R profits of
WHBREBARM SREBEEEE  subsidiaries
EEZDAEBE 125GBRAZEE WB2AR  Others Total
Eiikd ZERHER RABRBF Hity ok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
TERT TER TER TER TAT
At 1 January 2023 #2023 1A18 141,096 1376414 429,954 (27) 1,947,437
Deferred tax charged/  #B/ (Gt A) 18z
(credited) to profit or FIEER IR
loss (8,202) 89,498 55,900 29 137,225
Exchange realignment  [E i ;3% (6,016) (37,252) (12,329 - (55,597)
At 31 December 2023 $A2023F 12 A
and 1 January 2024  31H 220244
1A1H 126,878 1,428,660 473,525 2 2,029,065
Deferred tax charged/  #18/ (FtA) 18z
(credited) to profit or FIERETIE
loss (7,751) 89,057 77736 (91397) 67,645
Exchange realignment [ ¥ % (5,264) (26,567) (3808) 1,072 (34,465)
At 31 December 2024  FA2024%12831H 113,863 1,491,150 547,455 (90,223) 2,062,245
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29.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 29. BYHMBRRFRAPWAEBHR (F)
FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d)
Group (cont’d) AEE (&)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (b) EERWEEHELEENERE
(cont’d) (%)
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of (i) EBAEWHBARRKAOEER
financial position
As at 31 December
W12A831H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T THT
Net deferred tax asset in the A B TSR R 3R  RIRE
consolidated statement of MIBEE T8
financial position (42,954) (880)
Net deferred tax liability in the & W B AR 2R H B IR AE
consolidated statement of HEaEFE
financial position 2,105,199 2,029,945
Total B5E 2,062,245 2,029,065

The Group has estimated accumulated tax losses arising in
Mainland China of approximately HK$385,778,000 as at
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: HK$322,161,000),
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets in respect of such tax losses arising in
Mainland China have not been recognised as they have arisen
in certain subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

MR2024F12A31H » KEB GG
ERERAMELEMRGREERX
49/385,778,0008 7T (20234
128318 : 322,161,000 7T) © 1
—ZERFRINE BREHELSEE
BN Bl AR R FE AN FR FOE o 78 A B K B
EENEEZSERBBANELTHE
BEAWHER HAEZSELHRESR
EEERERCHEEBBNTFAG
MBTKATRLESTRANEINZEM
1B K H EMFEFE -
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

29.

30.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. All applicable
PRC subsidiaries’ undistributed retained earnings have been
applied with withholding taxes and recorded as deferred tax.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company

29.

30.

BUMBARRBERFPOAER (&)

BEABRCEMSH L RAPBERH
Y NERECEREINEEEE
IREI AL BB N10%TET - BT
B2008F1A1BEAR - WEAR
2007F12A318B% 2 &K » fiiH EH
Wi B INREEFTBRAERET A
BB S B RAREEINE
Ko REEMBERAMEA5%H10% °
FE L - A B AR A B A A S A
WMEB AT DIKBE2008F1A1HEE
E 2B DR EEETENA
B - TEEBANTPEKEARNR
PEBEFERECERENH L L AE
EFTERL o

7 ) 1A L B SRR B4 AR B8 S A B A 4]
FramER -

B2

HEBRAAT

As at 31 December

MA12A318
2024 2023
2024% 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHT
Authorised: ETE ¢
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 10,000,000,000/% &A% E &
par value of HK$1.00 each 1.0078 L&A 10,000,000 10,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BT RBEHT:
2,860,876,723 ordinary shares of 2,860,876,723 &I EE
par value of HK$1.00 each 1.0078 7T Ay I 8 I 2,860,877 2,860,877
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N
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE
30. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d) 30. B& (|
A summary of movements in share capital is as follows: RAZEBHELNT -
Group and Company NEBERAAT
Number of
shares in
issue Share
2RITRA capital
HA [
‘000 HK$°000
TR FET
Issued and fully paid: BETNREERT:
At 31 December 2023, H2023F 128318 -
1 January 2024 and 2024F1 1B R
31 December 2024 202412 H31H 2,860,877 2,860,877
The Group and the Company did not have any treasury HZE2024FE12831H K20234F
shares as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. 128318 ' KEBMARNGTEAET[AE
AR o
31. RESERVES 31. f&#FE
Note Group Company
M=t rEE YN
As at 31 December As at 31 December
M12831H M12A31H
2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 20234 20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET FET FBT
Share premium &5 E 1,599,765 1,599,765 389,715 389,715
Foreign currency SN B R (i)
translation reserve (1,625,513) (1,375,419) (1,472,613) (1,338,525)
Statutory reserve JRIE (ii) 899,590 776,715 - -
Contributed surplus S ZERFE (B (iii)
reserve 1,229,302 1,229,302 7,639,082 7,639,082
Other reserves Hitbf#H (iv) 8,203 8,203 64,953 64,953
Retained earnings RE B 6,862,896 6,306,678 535,805 379,366

8,974,243 8,545,244 7,156,942 7,134,591
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

31. RESERVES (cont’d)

Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve represents
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of the Company and foreign
operations whose functional currencies are different
from the Group’s presentation currency.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to allocate 10% of the statutory after-tax
profits to the statutory reserve until the cumulative
total of the reserve reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’
registered capital. Subject to approval from the
relevant PRC authorities, the statutory reserve may be
used to offset any accumulated losses or increase the
registered capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory
reserve is not available for dividend distribution to
shareholders of the PRC subsidiaries.

Contributed surplus reserve

Contributed surplus reserve arose from the reduction
of share premium. Pursuant to the special resolution at
the Special General Meeting of the Company held on
15 December 2015, the entire amount standing to the
credit of the Company’s share premium was reduced
to nil and transferred to the contributed surplus
reserve.

Other reserves

Other reserves comprise capital reserve and other
reserve.

wE (&)

Bt
0

(i)

(i)

(iv)

SN

SN B E R RRE e E T H
REBIHEE N RIH A DR M
HIGINET 2 AR MARFTE LR
PE SRR -

ETE MR

Rz E AR B KB A R R

(PEARKMBRARE) - K
BRRBELHAE MBIELEE -
RIBRTE - ZD10%BDEERRT
BRENBDEDEE R AR
REtRBREEEM B AR M
BARE50% 43 LE o FrAERE P B
BAEHLIR - AT MR A AR
L] RETES TR I8 hNHT 8 A B /Y
HEMEAR - SXEREETEARA
BRI A A 2 BRIRAS AR,

BARERFERE

BABREBABHRTER
BRAB M EE - RIX20154F
12 15 B AR R RIETTEV R IR
REFMBBHNRFRIRER - AR
AR EENEHESRRETY
BREMABHRERE -
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31. RESERVES (cont’d) 31, f#&E (@)
Notes: (cont’d) fisE . (8&)
(v A summary of movements in the Company’s changes (iv) ZAREEREHHENT :

in equity are as follows:

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AR R E AL
Foreign
currency Contributed
translation surplus Perpetual
Share Share reserve reserve Other Retained capital Total
capital premium  SMEEBEE  BABE reserves earnings Total instruments equity
BE  RiDEE 4] s HttEE REEAN #m XEELIA BES

HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000

At 1 January 2024 R2024F1A18 2,860,877 389,715 (1,338,525) 7,639,082 64,953 379,366 9,995,468 806,982 10,802,450
Profit for the year AEZRF - - - - - 496,955 496,955 25,047 522,002
Other comprehensive  FREAM2HE

loss for the year: B
Foreign currency NI E =T

translation differences - - (134,088) - - - (134,088 - (134,088)
Total comprehensive FRzEKE

income for the year ek . - (134,088) - - 496,955 362,867 25,047 387,914
Transactions with WUFrEE &R

owners in their HREEET

capacity as owners: HRG:
2023 final dividend EEIK2023

declared (note 12) FREBRE

(H312) - - - - - (165424) (165,424) - (165,424)

2024 interim dividend 2Ek2024

declared (note 12) FhHRE

(12) - . - - - (175092 (175,002) - (17509)

Distribution to holders DIRFKEEBR

of perpetual capital TEBEA

instruments (note 32) (P5£32) - - - - - - - (25,047) (25,047

At 31 December 2024 720245
12A31H 2,860,877 389,715  (1,472,613) 7,639,082 64,953 535,805 10,017,819 806,982 10,824,801
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

31.

RESERVES (cont’d) 31, f#E (#)
Notes: (cont’d) isE . (8&)
(v A summary of movements in the Company’s changes (v) AREEREEBENT : (B)
in equity are as follows: (cont’d)
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
RAREGEEE AES
Foreign
currency Contributed
translation surplus Perpetual
Share Share reserve reserve Other Retained capital Total
capital premium  SMEEBEE  BABE reserves earnings Total instruments equity
BE  REOEE ikt fkfE HitfEfs RERN #E KEEAIR R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
At 1 January 2023 20231718 2,860,877 389,715  (1,143,689) 7,639,082 64,953 343,666 10,154,604 806,982 10,961,586
Profit for the year KEFEEF - - - - - 371,991 371,991 37,678 409,569
Other comprehensive EREMZE
loss for the year: B
Foreign currency INEHEETE
translation differences - - (194,836) - - - (194,836) - (194,836)
Total comprehensive FREERE
income for the year k] - - (194,836) - - 371,991 177,155 37,578 214,733
Transactions with UREESH
owners in their BB EET
capacity as owners: HR5:
2022 final dividend EEIk2022
declared (note 12) FRERS
(fEE12) - - - - - (146,390) (146,390 - (146,390)
2023 interim dividend 2Ek2023
declared (note 12) FHERE
(MiFE12) - - - - - (189,901) (189,901) - (189,901)
Distribution to holders 2R FkEB AR
of perpetual capital TEBBA
instruments (note 32) (P5E32) - - - - - - - (37,578)  (37,578)
At 31 December 2023 720234
12A31H 2,860,877 389,715  (1,338,625) 7,639,082 64,953 379,366 9,995,468 806,982 10,802,450
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32.

33.

PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS 32. KEEARIER
As at 31 December
W12A831H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
At 1 January B1A18 806,982 806,982
Share of profit for the year Fr{h 2 [E & 7 25,047 37,578
Distribution to holders of perpetual DIRTKEEARTH
capital instruments BAEA (25,047) (37,578)
At 31 December »12HA31H 806,982 806,982
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 33. #IRABEESHRERMKT
CASH FLOWS
(@  Major non-cash transactions @ EBRFRERH
() During the years ended 31 December 2024 (i) HE2024F K2023%F
and 2023, the interest expenses on corporate 12A31BIEMEER -
bonds, MTN and ABS of HK$129,679,000 REBHAKRBEBLAE
and HK$144,462,000, respectively, were not % AHmHEBELEES
yet settled by the Group, and recorded in FEHEMHNEERD B
“Trade and other payables” in the consolidated /129,679,000/8 7T #
statements of financial position as at 144,462,000/8 7T © I
31 December 2024 and 2023, and have no S48 1E 20244 20234

(i)

cash flow impact to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
distribution to holders of the first tranche of
perpetual capital instruments of HK$24,726,000
(31 December 2023: HK$25,128,000) was not
yet settled by the Group as at 31 December
2024, and recorded in “Trade and other
payables” in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and
have no cash flow impact to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
non-controlling shareholder of a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary made capital contribution
of HK$37,187,000 to the non-wholly-owned
subsidiary by using dividends declared in 2023,
and had no cash flow impact to the Group. No
such non-cash transaction occurred in 2024.

(ii)

(i)

12H31H m,ﬁv?é.\ﬁﬁrf%ﬁﬁﬁ
=8 [ENEREZRRHARE
NFE] - HAEETE
WETEFE -

HZE2024F 128318 1k
FER  KEBHEALE
BE—HKBEEARIA
B A24,726,000/8 7T
(20234F12H318 :

25,128,000/ L) » W &d

\iE

37202412 A3 1EIE’]
ﬁ*Aﬁﬁ“Hk/Ri‘%m [ FEfS
AN E b ESFRIE ]
gﬁﬁllﬁﬁ ERE
HE2023F12H31H
HTEE > —HEE2E
BB rA M — & IEE
f% B BB B @ F AR
2023F ER A B M
E%Eé—é’éwﬂ%@ﬂi}zﬁ

HARE

37,187,000/ 7T -
liﬂfﬁﬁfﬁé%% i
2024 F A FAIEIR & %75
A o
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 33. HZEBESREXRME (F)
CASH FLOWS (cont’d)
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BEIBAEENAEES
Dividend =
payable to Distribution
non-controlling  Payable to
shareholders holders of
of non perpetual
wholly-owned capital
subsidiaries  instruments
Bonds Interest  Ef{k2EH 2RENT
Bank loans  payable payable  BAFEEKR  KEEAI
RITER EAEZF EAFE R AR E ARBAA
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR T TAR TET TET
At 1 January 2023 ©202351 18 8,979,416 6,282,719 128,912 5,364 13,672
Changes from financing ~ BEREREEEM
cash flows s (133,352) 683,036  (550,329) - (25,558)
Finance costs MBER 6,024 4,124 580,420 - -
Dividend declared to BENEINSES!
a non-controlling JEERRAR R
shareholder of a BEIRARE
subsidiary - - - 37,187 -
Capital contribution K-k ENE
received by a non ARIMIEERAR
wholly-owned ihel:opz-y
subsidiary from a
non-controlling
shareholder - - - (37,187) -
Profit attributable to DIEFKEEATER
holders of perpetual EYEPN: oplE=
capital instruments - - - - 37,578
Foreign exchange a0
movement (180,198) (236,396)  (3,787) 471 (564)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 124318
and 1 January 2024 2024%1A18 8,671,800 6,733,483 155,216 5,835 25,128
Changes from financing ~ BERSREEEN
cash flows 8 (468,652) 1,690,507  (536,096) - (25,047)
Finance costs MBER 4,443 7,624 528,628 - -
Profit attributable to DKRKEBATA
holders of perpetual BB
capital instruments - - - - 25,047
Foreign exchange i
movement (115836) (133849  (2,386) (04) (402)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 8,091,845 8,297,765 145,362 5,741 24,726
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33.

34.

35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 33. HZEBESREXRMTE (F)
CASH FLOWS (cont’d)
(c)  Total cash outflow for leases ) HERSKHBRE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FeRenERMEEERESM
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: ﬁwaﬂ%ﬁﬁDT
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MBLLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$’ 000
FExT FAT
Within operating activities e Ee 1,562 1,258
Within financing activities EREES)H 8,474 7,485
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34, EEERH
As at 31 December 2024, certain concession rights of the R2024F 12310 » REEKERE
Group’s water environment management projects (comprising BIIEE K % BEFEEE (B2
concession rights of intangible assets, contract assets mEAE  cREERESEEK
and trade receivables) with aggregate carrying amounts of HNFFREE) NERESER
HK$8,782,066,000 (31 December 2023: HK$5,550,547,000) 8,782,066,000/8 7t (2023412 A
were pledged to secure bank loan facilities granted to the 318 : 5,550,547,0007C) WEH
Group and the issuance of the ABS (31 December 2023: NERAESEESETERLETE
bank loan facilities). EXFHES (2023F12A8318 « B17
E \/T/\)
COMMITMENTS 35. A&k
(@  The Group had the following commitments as at the @  AEERNEFHmEE R AE
reporting date: W

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T THT
Purchase commitments EEASEREEE LN
outstanding in connection BREEAENT -
with the Group’s construction
contracts were as follows:
Contracted, but not provided for ERTAVEREE 1,318,309 2,857,994
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35.

36.

COMMITMENTS (cont’d)

(b)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had an
outstanding capital commitment of HK$22,348,000
(31 December 2023: HK$22,711,000) relating to the
capital contribution to an unlisted equity investment.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in this consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following material related party transactions
during the year. Unless stated otherwise, the following related
party transactions did not constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions:

(@)

The Group entered into the following related party
transactions with non-controlling shareholders of non
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group:

35.

36.

i (H)

(b)  A2024F12H31H » KNEE—
EHIELETRERETEZCER
HEHE22,348,00058 T (20234
12A31H : 22,711,000/ 7T) °

EXBHAIRS

BRAFBRREMAD AR 25 R
BERIN  RER - AEBBAET NIE
KBRS - FRIFEXBHH - T
BMORXHTERAER SR ISERE
R5

@ AEERAEEERANEAT
0 3¢ 12 0% PR SR AT 52 T 51 BRI 5
%5

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Revenue from project operation 15 B & & RISUA
service 13,338 10,610
Cost of construction service B IERRTE A AR 369,241 404,465
Sales of equipment FEIHE 71,321 4,142

Included in revenue from project operation service
for the year ended 31 December 2024 was revenue
from operation service amounting to HK$13,338,000
(31 December 2023: HK$10,610,000), which
constituted a continuing connected transaction (“CCT”)
but was fully exempt from the reporting, annual
review, announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) of the
SEHK Listing Rules (“Fully Exempt CCT”).

HZE2024F 128318 ILFEE -
4 %8/513,338,000/8 7T (20234
12A31H : 10,610,000/ 1)
RELIRFWATTAEREL
RISWA - BREREEKISER
BRy ( [BEBREXRS] )
MR EMER BT AT ETE
BIEE14AT6( N IEMERR - FE
B RERBIRERER
F ([ 2HERREEBE
x5 ) -
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(b)

36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d) 36. ERBHLERSE (&)
The Group entered into the following related party (b) AEBEASEE—EIEDEN
transactions with an affiliate company of a non- B2 A A FEIEAR AR SR A R B 8 A
controlling shareholder of a non wholly-owned HEITT NS
subsidiary of the Group:
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Revenue from project operation service 18 B & & JRIGUA 74,474 77,191
Finance income A 10,935 12,790
The Group entered into the following related party (c) Z’K%ﬁjx%*?ﬂﬂ%ﬁ%@agé
transactions with associates of the Group: ETNNBE SRS
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Service expenses for operation of KB IR R B
waste water treatment plants ﬁaﬂiﬁ 44,223 46,165
Technical operation service fee F & %E 111,854 42,981
The Group entered into the following related party (d) AEBEEA B KEBRKHD
transactions with subsidiaries of China Everbright NAalZHEB AR L T5
Group Ltd., which also constituted connected BtHR5 o IR TR 8l
transactions or continuing connected transactions THHES SR EEBBES
under the Listing Rules, details of which are disclosed 5 HIFEBEHEREZTeBHANR
under the section entitled “Connected Transactions (BB S N/ ERER S ]
and/or Continuing Connected Transactions” in the —E5:
Directors’ Statement:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FH&T THT
Sales of equipment FiEIHE (i) 5,319 11,509
Underwriting service fee IR E A (ii) 976 8,962
Insurance expenses R E M (i) 3,310 2,844
Healthcare protection 2RI FE AR TS & A (iv)
services expenses 14,738 14,615
Cost of project operation T8 B & & RIS A (v)
service 1,759 284
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36. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d) 36. BEABBLIXZ (&)
(d)  (cont'd) (d) (&)
Notes: BeE -
0] The sales of equipment to fellow subsidiaries of the (i) ‘“1ﬁfﬁﬁ%$%lﬂ%5ﬁ§
Group were conducted based on mutually agreed AIRE T BENIRTET - IR

(i)

terms. Sales of equipment amounted to HK$5,265,000
(2023: HK$11,509,000) constituted a CT which was
exempt from independent shareholders’ approval
requirement pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the
SEHK Listing Rules. Further details regarding the
relevant framework agreement are provided in the
section entitled “Connected Transactions and/or
Continuing Connected Transactions” of the Directors’
Statement. The remaining amount of HK$54,000 (2023:
Nil) constituted a Fully Exempt CT.

The underwriting service fees were paid to a fellow
subsidiary in connection to the issuance of the MTN for
year ended 31 December 2024. The fees were calculated
pursuant to the relevant underwriting agreements. This
constituted a CCT which was exempt from independent
shareholders’ approval requirement pursuant to Rule
14A.76(2) of the SEHK Listing Rules. Further details
regarding the relevant framework agreement are provided
in the section entitled “Connected Transactions and/or
Continuing Connected Transactions” of the Directors’
Statement.

The insurance expenses were charged by a fellow
subsidiary of the Group on mutually agreed terms. This
constituted a Fully Exempt CCT.

(ii)

(i)

%Fﬁﬁﬁf\ﬁﬁtmiﬁﬂlJ%MA 76(2)
& ©£% 45,265,000/ T
(2023¢ 11,509,000 7T)
SENEBRIERS - B
ﬁh#ﬁiﬁx%ﬁt/ﬁ%ﬁ;ﬁ £
E—FSHBHERAFEREZE
$A§EHEP [FER S R/
BRERS| BEfi - R T &8
54,000 70 (20234 : &) 1#
REEMSZRRREERS

MAESBERREWE QAR
2024412 431 B X 895 84 AR
BEREEITHFERBITKE
BEATHER ZESEAR
BHARERETE - BIRE
R ETARAIZE14A.76(2) 5
ttlﬁiﬁﬂi%%%%%%ﬁ%&%
Zfi?@%‘ SFOB AR AR
TE © ﬁﬁ%aﬁ%[ B 15 55 ) i —
THBHRAFTEREZES
GEAFT [FERHN/EE
BiERS ] EHi e

R SENCESE =N TEHE’M%
b 2 P T 4% B 07 1 2 e R SRR
HY - Jitlﬁﬁl%ﬁﬁﬁﬁkiﬁﬁgﬁ%ﬁ
BRER S

(v)  The healthcare protection services expenses were charged (iv) MEAEERRKBA TEHE’]&
by a fellow subsidiary of the Group on mutually agreed FRIRBIRIS B R IRE 5 %
terms. This constituted a CCT which was exempt from R ER © LT%EXTZS%E’Jﬁ
independent shareholders’ approval requirement pursuant BHBRESEB I - BRI
to Rule 14A.76(2) of the SEHK Listing Rules. Further B E#RAIE14A.76(2) 15 » 1t
details regarding the relevant framework agreement are EBRERFERERS &
provided in the section entitled “Connected Transactions BT E L REIERTE
and/or Continuing Connected Transactions” of the EHEEBERBZOE—TF
Directors’ Statement. BERNAFERECEEGE

A [BER S R/SIFERE
5] B
(v) The cost of project operation service to fellow subsidiaries (v BEEBERBRATASHRA

of the Group were conducted based on mutually agreed
terms. This constituted a CCT which was exempt from
independent shareholders’ approval requirement pursuant
to Rule 14A.76(2) of the SEHK Listing Rules. Further

M B R RRE 1 IR
HET o ARIE R FT E W AR Al
FE14A.T6(2)15 - ﬁtl&i%ﬁﬁ%
RIFERER S Zggﬁ‘ﬁa‘

details regarding the relevant framework agreement are BIBREMRERTE - BH *ﬁ

provided in the section entitled “Connected Transactions l%ﬁ ERBHAE— T fﬂz &

and/or Continuing Connected Transactions” of the RAFEREZEEGEN

Directors’ Statement. H fF@ BRGNS E R E
X5 B e
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36.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

(€)

Transactions with other stated-owned entities in
Mainland China:

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned and/or controlled by the PRC government
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or other
organisations (collectively “Other SOEs”). During the
financial year, the Group had transactions with the
Other SOEs including, but not limited to the waste
water treatment service and utilities consumption.
The directors of the Company consider that the
transactions with the Other SOEs are activities in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business, and that
the dealings of the Group have not been significantly
or unduly affected by the fact that the Group and the
Other SOEs are ultimately controlled or owned by the
PRC government. The Group has also established
pricing policies for products and services and such
pricing policies are not carried out on non-market
terms and do not depend on whether or not the
customers are the Other SOEs. Having due regard
to the substance of the relationships, the directors
are of the opinion that none of these transactions is
a material related party transaction that would require
separate disclosure.

36.

BEXBABARS (&)

()

B ch B 9 it Kt B A b H
%5

ARE BB P KERERTE
BT BER S - M EE
HoAth A0 8 P B 1 Sk R IR R B /3
2Hl 2% (5 [RaEed
%)) MBI - RAFERF
EA - AEEQEEMEA DK
#EIT 2R 5BE (BRRR) )5
IKEIBRTE - AR R HFRMHE
E-ARAEERL %FH
HEEALEXZ XY EAKE
REBEBBRPETZER
MAEE 22 F 8 EAREE K
HAb BB X1 i BB &K
ZHI PR M X B EBRSBER
& - AEE IS HE E LR
EEBER - ™A EERRILIF
BIEMIZIEFBIE] - IR TEURR
EFREEREMBAEDLE - &%
RERLBRBEREZANER - AR
REERARAEXH W IFBIER
VBEBIEXNEMTRS o
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36.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d) 36.

(0

Balance with related parties:

EXBBALIRS (&)

(f)

B RRRE T AR -

() Amounts due from related parties JE L5 R RS 5 SRIE
As at 31 December
R12A31HLLFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade receivables: FEWBRSK
- Non-controlling shareholder —RIEREMBARIN
of non wholly-owned — B IERRAR R
subsidiaries 7,942 9,608
- An affiliate company of a —RI3EREMBARIR
non-controlling shareholder —Z IEERRAR R
of a non wholly-owned | /NC]
subsidiary 19,536 6,810
27,478 16,418
Other receivables: E fth RIS AR SR
- Non-controlling shareholder —ME2EMB AT
of non wholly-owned — A IEPEARAR R
subsidiaries 25,633 22,096
- Associates* /N 15,124 6,329
40,757 28,425
Contract asset: BREE:
- An affiliate company of a —fEFEEEMBATN
non-controlling shareholder —Z IEFEARARER
of a non wholly-owned /NG
subsidiary 151,656 179,313

Amounts due from associates of the Group
of HK$15,124,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$6,329,000) as at 31 December 2024 included
amount due from an associate of HK$7,493,000
(31 December 2023:HK$6,329,000) that was
unsecured, repayable on demand and interest-
bearing at a rate of 3.35% (31 December 2023:
4.75%) per annum.

MR2024F12A31H » & &
EEWESE QAN REA
15,124,000 7t (20234
12HA318 : 6,329,000/67T)
Hbh R —EHBEQ a0
FKIE7,493,000/8 7T (20234
12HA318 : 6,329,000/67T)
ZRBEBEER  EEXRE
B F8/53.35% (20234
128318 : 4.75%) °
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36.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d) 36.

(0

Balance with related parties: (cont’d)

(i)

Amounts due to related parties

EXBBAIRS (&)

() HEEEET &R - ()

(i FEfSREEE )T 5K0R

As at 31 December

R12A31HLLFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade payables: PETERFR :
- Associates* NI 11,837 8,552
- Non-controlling shareholder —RIE2EMBARIA
of non wholly-owned — R IR AR R
subsidiaries™ 200,112 208,791
211,949 217,343
Other payables: HEIRR
- Non-controlling shareholder —RI 2 EMBARE
of non wholly-owned — B IR AR R
subsidiaries** 224,942 218,220
- Associates*™ N 3,390 708
228,332 218,928
Dividend payables: EBERE :
- Non-controlling shareholder —RER BB ARIR
of non wholly-owned —ZIEEARAR R
subsidiaries 5,741 5,835

The trade payables are all unsecured, interest-

free and repayable on credit terms similar to those
offered by the associate to its major customers.

* The other payables of

HK$181,569,000 **

(31 December 2023: HK$184,521,000) are
unsecured, interest-bearing at rates announced
by the People’s Bank of China and repayable

on demand; and
HK$46,763,000 (31

remaining balance of
December 2023: HK$

34,407,000) are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

N E 5 F0RIE R EER - E8
NMIRIEEGITER - EEENF
MEFEEFPREHEMNEERN
B -

Hftb fE {718 181,569,000
BIL (2023F12H318
184,521,000/87C) AT -
BHEARBITAMEFES
B UEREREE:: Fii
%046,763,000/8 7L (20234
128318 : 34,407,000 7C) &
K EENIRHEE -
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36.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

(¢),

The Group paid compensation of directors and key

management personnel as follows:

36.

EXBBAIXRS (&)

(9)

AEBEXNTEERERER
ABZ BT

Year ended 31 December
HZ12B31BLLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T BT
Salaries, bonuses and related e - A MAERIER
benefit (note 1) (fF5E1) 8,706 18,707
Directors’ fees E==Roalen 2,086 1,977
Retirement scheme contributions IRIRETEI R 1,465 2,057
12,257 22,741
Comprising amounts BIEEM/ER TSR
paid/payable to: T
Directors of the Company KARES 7,855 11,169
Other key management Hi AR EREAR
personnel 4,402 11,572
12,257 22,741
Note 1:  The bonus amount of the year ended 31 December MfizE1: EZE2024F12A31HIEF

2024 for the Group’s directors and senior management

is not yet finalised.

The Group has rental contracts with three (2023:
two) fellow subsidiaries of the Group. At the reporting
date, the Group had total lease liabilities with fellow
subsidiaries under non-cancellable leases falling due

as follows:

B AEBEERSRER
ENRSEENARER °

AREFE=R (20234F : —fH)

GEGIEPNGIHNENE): 35T 8
FEAH - RRER - AEEHE
REMBAR ZHEAEDESL
BRI :

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Lease liabilities — current HEaE - B8 1,769 3,202
Lease liabilities — non-current HEAE - FEANE 340 874
2,109 4,076
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36.

37.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)
(h) (cont’d)

Under such rental contracts, the minimum lease
payment during the year was HK$5,081,000 (2023:
HK$5,293,000), which constituted a CCT that was
exempt from independent shareholders’ approval
requirement pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the SEHK
Listing Rules. Further details regarding the relevant
framework agreement are provided in the section
entitled “Connected Transactions and/or Continuing
Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ Statement.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s right-of-use
assets relating to such rental contracts amounted to
HK$2,151,000 (31 December 2023: HK$4,082,000).

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, current portion of contract assets,
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and
borrowings approximate their carrying amounts largely due to
the short-term maturities of these instrument.

The Group’s financial management department is responsible
for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, the financial management department analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with
the audit committee.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values.

The fair values of the non-current portion of contract assets,
other receivables and borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for borrowings as at the end of each of the
financial year was assessed to be insignificant. The carrying
amounts of these assets and liabilities approximate to their
fair values.

36.

37.

EXBBAIXRS (&)

BEZSHEAY  FEHK
MENREA5,081,000/8 7T
(2023 KFE : 5,293,000
BIr) c REBRET ETEA
F14A.76(2) 15 - &tléﬁ K
RIFERERLS » EEPIBT
ﬁ_LHxﬁﬁt/&i‘ﬁ;E ° ﬁ%ﬂa%ﬁ
ERBEHE - FTHFBIHAR
m%&:i&%2§$mﬁﬁﬂﬂh
(FEX I R/IKEBEEH
ERX S| B o R20244F

12A318 » AEEHEZEFEMR
= ’Jﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂiﬁﬁ%ﬁ?i

AN

= A

%8 42,151,000 7T (20234
128318 : 40820007571) °

EMIANAABERAAEBEER

BE ?mﬁ%&fﬁﬁ%—r{ﬁ% &Y
M ﬁﬁﬂfiuﬁ I K AT R R S B
J& < SR IR &Y B 2 26 &fﬁiéfz@fc

)

&

i

EEEZEFEEEAS  TEARNZ
FTARNEHAZIE -
AEBZUBERMLFIEEET SR
TARAABEAEZRELRERF - 1B
HEHmEEH - MBEEEHRFIE N
SWMIAZ BEED W ER
ERzEIBHARE - HEAEFH
BEERNEL BAEZEEIWMA
BREFRER -

jzﬁs%ﬁ%tlj

=

5B T 18 5 B0 3 B B 2 5

e
I8

S
S i gy

BDE
A
[

\
P

SE I B 28 Nl

B o S o

28 D S
&

D i B8 X S D o
% B+

|
=

b

pili
g

Ity N@ S5
R INE Y E

N
/i



ANNUAL REPORT 2024
2024 F ERE

21
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

The fair values of unlisted investments at FVTPL as at
31 December 2023 are based on net asset value of the

investees which approximate the fair value.

The fair value of unlisted equity investment at FVTPL
31 December 2024 and 2023 is based on the expected
future cash flows of the investment.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

EMITANAABERAAEBEER
(%)

M2023F12A31H » UAARBETTA
B2 ELMREZ AR BEIIBER

BRERNRNEEFEET  BRAEEF

(=8

P20244F 2023412 A31H » LA
BET ABm 2 LMRERE 2R

RAEERE -

AV

R EEDREBERENAEHRAR SR

BEFE °

TRBA20245F K 2023F12H531H
SR T AMEZ BT B A SUE

NEEEGREDN

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Ratio Sensitivity of fair value to the input
HER EXTUEERASE KX AREEHBABENSEYE
Unlisted equity Discounted cash Discount rate 31 December 31 December 2024: 1% increase
investment at flow method R E 2024: 2.8% (decrease) in discount rate would result
FVTPL WRBERER 2024%12H318 ¢+ in decrease in fair value by HK$158,000
UAREEFA 2.8% or increase in fair value by HK$160,000
BRI LR 2024128318  RE LF
ERE (TR8) 1%BBHAL BERD

Unlisted equity
investment at
FVTPL

UAREBETA
BamIE LR
ERE

Discounted cash
flow method

FRBLRED

Discount rate

FrRE

31 December
2023: 2.8%

2023F12A318 -

2.8%

158,000/ 70 2E N 160,000/ 7T

31 December 2023: 1% increase
(decrease) in discount rate would result
in decrease in fair value by HK$319,000
or increase in fair value by HK$325,000
2023%F12A318 - B E A

(TB8) 1%HBH AR BERD
319,000/ 731 1 325,000 T
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37. fR®RIAENAABERAAREBEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) (%)

Fair value hierarchy AREEER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRINTAEBEEMTAENA R EBEGT
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: =E4

Assets measured at fair value: BARBEENEE

Group NEE

As at 31 December 2024 202412 H31H

Fair value measurement using

AREEFERAUTEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

REBTSN EBEAUBEREHA BEATTEESH nE
BE (5-8) BB (=R ABE (F=4)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
THET FET FET TET
Unlisted equity investment ~ LAR 7 BB AIER
at FVTPL B EmARER & - - 32,928 32,928
- - 32,928 32,928
As at 31 December 2023 72023912 A31H
Fair value measurement using
DMABHEFERAUTEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WEBTEN EBEATBEBA BEAFTUERH FCE ]
BE (F-%K) EE (F=H) ABE (F=#R)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
TET FET FTET TET
Unlisted investments at AR EBETAEBRE
FVTPL WIELTIRE - 88,150 - 88,150
Unlisted equity investment AR B{EFTABZ
at FVTPL B EMARIERE - - 32,998 32,998

- 88,150 32,998 121,148
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE
37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37. £RIAMNAREBERAANEBEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (cont’d) AREEREHR (&)
Company ¥ YN
As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023
R2024%12H31H 72023%12H31H
Fair value measurement using
AREEFTERANTEE
Significant Significant
observable observable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 2)
BEATHRGA Total BERUHEGA Total
HE (E=R) e HE (B=4) wmE
Unlisted investments LAAREBETAER
at FVTPL B LR E - - 88,150 88,150
Group and Company REBEMAN T

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 2

during the year are as follows:

FE_RORBEAERAFEARZE
LU

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT

Unlisted investments at FVTPL: AR BEFTAESNIELETIRE
At 1 January »1A18 88,150 186,219
Fair value gain/(loss) (note 6) nrEEZe ks (BE) (iEe) 7,036 (31,218)
Redemption f&[ol (94,811) (62,442)
Exchange realignment PE H 7R 2 (375) (4,409)

At 31 December

M12H31H

= 88,150
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

Fair value hierarchy (cont’d)
Group

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

EMITANAABERAAEBEER
(%)

IREEER (B
REE

E=WARBESERAERNZ EH)
T

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

Unlisted equity investment at FVTPL: AR A BEST ABRMIELTRIERSE
At 1 January MA1H 32,908 35,498
Fair value gain/(loss) (note 6) “nEEESNE (B1E) (Miie) 464 (1,586)
Exchange realignment BE 3¢ 8% (534) (914)
At 31 December Mm12H31H 32,928 32,998

The Group and Company did not have any financial
liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2024
(31 December 2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were
no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1
and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

NEBRARQNTN2024F 128311
YETAZARBETFENEREE
(2023%12831H : #&) -

HE2024F12A31BILEERN &
—HMMEBEB_RAAEBEEFEZHAIL
EEMES - HREFHEELRS R
B BZHNMEMLAE AKE L
(20234 : 4#) o
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 38. RERIESINEMIA

REMBRFER - SRFNEBT AN

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of each financial year are as HEBENT :
follows:
Financial assets SHMEE

As at 31 December 2024
M2024%F12831H

Financial Financial

assets at assets at

amortised FVTPL

cost EAAEMER
REBEAART ABENER Total
ENERMEE BE LR L]
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Group rEE FET FHET FET

Financial assets included in T AFEURBRE ZR N E Aty
trade and other receivables KGR ©REE 5,672,480 - 5,672,480
Other financial assets Hih & @EE - 32,928 32,928
Cash and cash equivalents R MRSEEY 1,847,805 - 1,847,805
7,520,285 32,928 7,553,213
As at 31 December 2023
72023F12 H31H

Financial Financial

assets at assets at

amortised FVTPL

cost EAREERT
REIENRAE  ABzmMESR Total
ENEMEE BE Haza
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
Group REE FHT T THT

Financial assets included in T AEWER R R E A

trade and other receivables JEWF B &R E E 5,060,804 - 5,060,804
Other financial assets Hiv e pt & E - 121,148 121,148
Cash and cash equivalents Be LRSS ED 1,881,401 - 1,881,401
6,942,205 121,148 7,063,353
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (cont’d) 38. RERESHNERMIE (8)
Financial liabilities - financial liabilities at amortised SRAE — RESBHATENSREE
cost

As at 31 December

M12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
Group AEE FHET FET
Financial liabilities included in AR R E b A
trade and other payables IR eREE 3,073,873 2,897,784
Borrowings BE 16,389,610 15,405,373
Lease liabilities HeEalE 4,728 6,855
19,468,211 18,310,012
Financial assets SREE
As at 31 December 2024
A20245F12H31H
Financial
assets at
amortised
cost
RS R AT Total
ENEREE k)
HK$’000 HK$’000
Company ARATHE FHET FHET
Financial assets included in T AE MR GRIE 2
other receivables TREE 9,381,972 9,381,972
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRSEEY 122,815 122,815

9,504,787 9,504,787
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (cont’d) 38. BREREHNERMIE (&)
Financial assets (cont’d) SMEE (&)
As at 31 December 2023
R2023F12731H
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
amortised FVTPL
cost EHARBEE
ARG ABmARER Total
ENEHEE BiE R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Company ¥ N/NC | FET FET FET
Financial assets included in A A EUGRIE 2
other receivables PRIEE 10,505,695 - 10,505,695
Other financial assets Hib S REE - 88,150 88,150
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRSELEY 42,470 - 42,470
10,548,165 88,150 10,636,315

Financial liabilities - financial liabilities at amortised
cost

TREE — REREATENSRAE

As at 31 December

M12H831H

2024 2023

2024 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

Company RATF FET FHET
Financial liabilities included in ST AE A RIE

other payables JEBBE 166,888 183,082

Borrowings BE 8,835,979 9,673,897

9,002,867 9,856,979
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables and lease liabilities, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s borrowings, and cash and cash equivalents.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The Group does not use financial
derivatives to hedge against the interest rate risk. The Group’s
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out
in (i) below.

39.

BBEREE R BREE

rEEBZFECRTIABERSE B
EMRECEEY  HWEFESMTAZE
ZEMER/ARE 2 RBESREMH
Bg - AKEESHMEREERE
& -+ B F5 M U AR R N L il B U IR
ENERREMENRALREESR
& NDERREERBEL

AEBERTAELEZTZ2AREBRE
MERR - SMNERR - EERR &R
HHER EFSEBELMBEREES
EE%@@Z@%'%%@%W%%
™ o

FIFE 52

AEBZMNEEREBEREAEE 2
EEMAERREEEY - LFBF
ERBEEMEH B 2 BEESAER D
AASAESRENXER - A&H
WENBEEOTE T AR DA ERE
o REBMERRAEEREE
B HER T X() e
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  39.
POLICIES (cont’d)

BBEREEERREE (#)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

HEmE (&)
FZRBE S

NEREAEBE NS B BEE R
ZEEFE (At Re@afdn
RITEFERENRREFED)
Z IR

0) Interest rate profile 0)

The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s net borrowings (being interest-bearing financial
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents) at the end of
each of the financial year.

As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023

R2024%F12831H M2023F12A31H
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BB A= BRRA =
HK$’000 HK$'000
% TR % FAT
Net fixed rate TEEE (FH)
borrowings/(deposits): FE
Borrowings = 2.67-3.35 8,897,189 282-3.75 6,951,043
Less: Amount due from R — R
an associate NA)FIA 3.35 (7,493) 4.75 (6,329)
8,889,696 6,944,714
Net variable rate FEEE (7%
borrowings/(deposits): R
Borrowings e 240-3.43 7,492,421  280-7.02 8454330
Less: Cash and cash B ReMReE
equivalents =t 0.00-155 (1,847,805) 0.00-1.85  (1,881,401)
5,644,616 6,572,929
Total net borrowings BEEFE 14,534,312 13,517,643
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

It is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 1%
in interest rates at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: 1%), with all other variables held constant,
would decrease/increase the Group’s profit before tax
by approximately HK$56,446,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: HK$65,729,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit before tax
that would arise assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period.
In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk arising from floating rate non-derivative instruments
held by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit before tax is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense
or income of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis was performed on the same basis throughout
the financial year.

39.

BBEREEEBRRER (#)

HEmE (&)

(i)

GRS

MR2024F12A31H - FEFAAEH
HhEEEZTENBRLT 0
RuaEE FF/ T 1% (20234
12A31H : 1%) © (HetBER
REFEEHE2024F12 8318 1E
FENGRBRIET D B /18
hN4956,446,000/8 71 (20234
128318 : 65,729,000/&7T) °

bt BRSO AT 4R AN R RO
B 90 AT & ) 1] R BE A A0 B
B GUREDMEBRANEREH
RBEEMREKHLE XEH
REFFENKEEMFAALR
HERREAREEBE LR E
BNEERNSEIA - HRY
HASBRNHRERARATFTEN
FENERFETETAMELR
AeRENERRRE  HEHAE
EBETAAFNNTEESER
NMEEPMELNRFIFREL
MBS H K AEMLE - B
DITEFBHHRERFEABRE
JFEHETT
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Foreign currency risk

M

Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily from
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, receivables
and payables that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which they relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily HKS$,
RMB, US$, SGD and EUR.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown
in HK$, translated using the spot rate at the end
of the reporting period. Differences resulting from
the translation in the financial statement of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency are
excluded.

39. BIgERE

SMEERR

(i FAXZ GEAR

281

EEERBR (&)

AREBRAAINE (ARBEEZ
WREEB I EE) sHEZE

5 Ha kA
BN NS
5| A [ B
ARE -

EEY) - UK
Iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂmm [z
S EEEFEAE I -
%E s T BT

NRAVNARERNRERRED
REEXRE (UHEEE
W EBIAIN EHEHE) Pﬁ?
Az EMER - RHE2W

R 2 8 iR RS B

B BN EARE & 5 3 8 TT IR o
ﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁ%i$ﬁl
£W“M%F$Z§§

AEBRER

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in HK$)
ERZ 2GR
(B THR)

As at 31 December 2024
72024%12H31H

RMB SGD HK$ Us$ EUR
AR N T BT ES Bt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx FEx FERx FEx FiET
Cash and cash REMREE
equivalents EY 9,089 3,444 16,545 46,225 -
Borrowings faE (107,040) - - - -
Amounts due Jeds /(1) 18
from/(to) related SEQFFIE
companies, net HER 281,674 (196) 5,337,209 23 34,413
Trade and other R R EAM
oayables P 20 (2,271) (1,975) - (1,037) -
181,452 1,273 5,353,754 45,211 34,413

im‘-
:ZD#
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (cont’d)
Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

0) Exposure to currency risk (cont’d)

39. HMBEMEEBERBEK (&)

ShEE R (AE)
(i TAZzEERR (&)

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in HK$)
TAK ZINE R

(ABTHIR)

As at 31 December 2023
72023128318

RMB SGD HK$ US$ EUR
AR FIET BT Y BT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FExT TET FTExT FTHET
Cash and cash BeEMReE
equivalents =) 16,833 2,522 17,044 15,246 -
Borrowings faE (163,170) - (1,917,694 - (25,207)
Amounts due FERT 1 (M) 187
(to)/from related SBRRFHIE
companies, net Pecs - (523,583) (55) 4,328,433 23 35,252
Trade and other FERTBR R e EoAth
payables FERTEE (5,608) (1,301) (4,268) - ©®
(675,528) 1,166 2,423,515 15,269 10,037
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit before tax that would
arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all other
risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it
is assumed that the pegged rate between the HK$
and the US$ would be materially unaffected by any
changes in movement in value of the US$ against
other currencies. Except for those subsidiaries with
their functional currencies other than HK$, the impact
of foreign exchange rate fluctuations with respect
to the assets and liabilities denominated in US$ is
insignificant as the HK$ is pegged to the US$.

As at 31 Decem

39. WMBEMEEBERBEK (8)

SNERE (&)

(i)

ber 2024

R2024512A31H

GRS

TNREIBRENERE RS
1% [ 4 B K SN e B ) P SR T
BAHIRES) - MM 2R
BERREDE - REBEORD
RIBMNKERINERTZE - 51
M E - RGBT HETTHEND
[EXTERXTHAMER 2K
BEHMZBNERTE - R TI
FELABTERBEER 2B L
AN MARTAHEZEER
BEME  ARNBITEETH
8 B E RN E M E P EIW T
BEXe

As at 31 December 2023
R2023F12A31H

Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease) (decrease) (decrease)

in foreign in profit in foreign in profit

exchange rate before tax exchange rate before tax

EBREH/ BRHEARF e FF/ PR AT & F

(FE&)  EF/ (TBE) (~F&) EF (CFBE)

HK$’000 HK$’000

% FHET % AT

RMB NG 5 9,073 10 (67,553)
RMB AREE (5) (9,073) (10) 67,553
SGD Frns T 5 64 10 117
SGD b oT (5) (64) (10) (117)
HKS$ BIT 5 267,688 10 242,352
HK$ BT (5) (267,688) (10) (242,352)
US$ ETT 5 2,261 10 1,527
uss$ ET (5) (2,261) (10) (1,527)
EUR BT 5 1,721 10 1,004
EUR BT (5) (1,721) (10) (1,004)
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis (cont’d)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous
effects on each of the Group entities’ profit before
tax measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to
remeasure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including
inter-company payables and receivables within the
Group which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that would
result from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation
currency. The analysis was performed on the same
basis throughout the financial year.

Credit risk

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis. Debts are
usually due within 30 to 90 days from the date of billing.

Trade receivables of the Group represent receivables

in respect of revenue from environmental water project
operation services which are settled on a monthly basis. In
addition, the Group has contract assets in respect of the
BOT, TOT and certain BOO arrangements.

39.

BBEREEERREK (#)

SNEREE (&)
i  BERUEDT (B)

EREVNODITERBIE T AR
EERBRSANNEEHTEN
BERAIBANERTE AR
ERBERRNERERTER
FBTCEHR

ERREHESHEPRALE
BFTH B KL AR B F A INE
Rl e TE - BRFRAERA
FERANI LT AN E S
HENEBRNA R Z FEMNFRIA
Ko FEMURIR © %0 T MER #/8 Sh
XM RRBRE/NEEZ
PIEBEPTELERER 20 ITR
BEGTFERRA—EERT

=EER

BRERTEMEEBR  UHEERE
BRES 2 EERR - BHRARHFAR
HHAEFT30E £90H NEFIH] -

AEEZ EWERFIERE/KIREHAEB ~
BERBWAZEWERER - A IE
A WER o thoh - REBEIRE W KA
BOT » TOTE#&E TBOOLZHHEAE L
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

At 31 December 2024, “Trade and other receivables”
and “Contract assets” amounted to HK$30,018,277,000
(31 December 2023: HK$28,240,941,000) of which
HK$1,509,482,000 (31 December 2023: HK$4,239,729,000)
were due from the largest customer and HK$8,212,424,486
(31 December 2023: HK$9,042,498,000) were due from
the five largest customers in aggregate of the Group. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Since the parties to BOT, TOT
and BOO arrangements are local government authorities
in the PRC, the Group considers the credit risk is low as at
31 December 2024 and 2023. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Upon the adoption of IFRS 9, management groups financial
instruments on basis of shared credit risk characteristics,
such as instrument type and credit risk ratings for the
purpose of determining significant increase in credit risk and
calculation of impairment.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract such as a default or past due
event;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

To manage credit risk arising from trade receivables and
contract assets, the credit quality of the debtors is assessed,
taking into account their financial position, historical
settlement records, past experience and other factors. The
Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables and contract
assets.

The Group has established a policy to perform an
assessment as at 31 December 2024, of whether a financial
instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default
occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.
The Group groups its other receivables into Stage 1, Stage 2
and Stage 3, as described below:

Stage 1 When other receivables are first recognised, the
Group recognised an allowance based on 12
months’ ECL.

Stage 2 When other receivables have shown a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the Group
records an allowance for the lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3  Other receivables considered credit-impaired. The

Group records an allowance for the lifetime ECLs.

Management also makes periodic individual assessments for
other receivables on the recoverability of other receivables
based on historical settlement records, past experience and
other factors. Management believes that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of
other receivables as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, all cash and cash equivalents were
deposited with banks without significant credit risk.
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk. Further quantitative
disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from “Contract assets” as well as “Trade and other
receivables” are set out in notes 21 and 23, respectively.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy
is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

39.
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As at 31 December 2024

R2024%12A31R
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
undiscounted 1yearor  but within but within
Carrying cash flow on demand 2 years 5years  More than
amount AURFER —FRy —FU0EE  WEUALE 5 years
EEEE ERERE REX RMER REER RENLE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
TR TR THER THET TR TR
Financial liabilities AAERER K
included in trade HAERFIRR
and other payables ~ £RIEE 3,073,873 3,073,873 3,073,873 = = =
Lease liabilities HERR 4,728 4,917 3,479 1,438 - -
Borrowings (EY 16,389,610 17,939,887 4,643,088 5,451,162 4,795,231 3,050,406
19,468,211 21,018,677 7,720,440 5,452,600 4,795,231 3,050,406




288

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RA TSR R MY 51

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31H It FE

39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Liquidiity risk (cont’d)

Total

contractual

undiscounted

Carrying cash flow
amount  AKIRITEE
REEE ERERE

39. HMBEMEEBEERBEK (&)

B ()

As at 31 December 2023

R2023%12A31R
More than More than
Within 1 year 2 years
1 year or but within but within
on demand 2 years 5 years More than

—FAzk —FUEE  WMEULE 5 years
REX NGED RAFR BENE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TET FEL FEL TEL
Financial liabilities BN LT
included in trade H e ZIa K
and other payables ~ £RIEE 2,897,784 2,807,784 2,897,784 - - -
Lease liabilities HEaE 6,855 7,498 5,596 1,491 64 347
Borrowings L= 15,405,373 16,911,415 5055420 2575330 6,368,008 2,912,657

18,310,012 19,816,697

7,958,800 2,576,821 6,368,072 2,913,004

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to
maximise shareholders’ value.

In order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, issue
new shares or obtain new borrowings. The Group’s strategies
are to maintain a prudent balance between the advantage
and flexibility afforded by a sound capital position and the
higher return on equity that is possible with greater leverage.
There was no change in capital management policies during
the reporting period.

AEBGCEEREARKNTERRARE
REBBEFBLE REFREERRE
BEVEE S - DARFTICREESRAIL
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’d)

Capital management (cont’d)

Consistently, the Group monitors capital based on a net
debt against equity ratio. The net debt against equity ratio
is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity. Net debt
including borrowings and lease liabilities less cash and cash
equivalents. Total equity comprises share capital, reserves,
perpetual capital instruments and non-controlling interests.

39.
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As at 31 December

»12A831H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T FET
Current liabilities meaE

Borrowings BE 4,181,329 4,606,893
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,341 5,412

Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings BE 12,208,281 10,798,480
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,387 1,443
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReRIReEEY (1,847,805) (1,881,401)
Net debt BT 14,546,533 13,530,827
Total equity e AARE 13,991,678 13,452,342
Net debt against equity ratio B TR R ® 104% 101%

Except for the banking facilities which require the fulfilment of
covenants relating to certain of the Group’s financial ratios as
disclosed in note 27, the Group does not subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

BRI EE27 PR ER 2 RITRR BB A B S
REBEETHHL R 2 ZEI - REE
IS INE N2 B AN TE PR o
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40.

41.

42,

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 8 January 2025, the Company announced the
completion of the issuance of China Everbright Water
Limited First Tranche Medium Term Notes 2025 (the “2025
First Tranche MTN”) on 6 January 2025 and 7 January
2025, which was fully subscribed for by institutional
investors in the national inter-bank bond market (the
“Institutional Investors”) of Mainland China. The 2025 First
Tranche MTN has a principal amount of RMB1.5 billion, with
a maturity period of 5 years (with an interest rate adjustment
option to be exercised by the Company and a resale option
to be exercised by the noteholders at the end of the third
interest-bearing year) and an interest rate of 1.78%. The
proceeds from the issuance of the 2025 First Tranche MTN
are used to replenish the working capital of the Company’s
subsidiaries and repay the interest-bearing debts of the
Company or its subsidiaries.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted mainly
to conform to current year’s presentation and to provide
comparative amount in respect of items disclosed in 2024.

AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR
ISSUE

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
directors on 25 February 2025.

40.

41.

42.
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hFEEENE
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 2023 2022 20214 20204
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET FAET FAT FET
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Property, plant and ME - BENEE 1,082,384 1,070,259 1,096,183 1,160,372 181,222
equipment, right-of-use FREEE
assets and investment ea-¢ES
properties
Intangible assets BVEE 2,318,584 2,156,026 2,369,863 2,280,920 1,880,919
Goodwill EES 1,342,426 1,364,093 1,400,952 1,531,576 1,295,475
Interests in associates kYN 3,540 11,953 11,094 231 8,143
Interest in a joint venture AENTIRER 1,903 1,262 - - -
Contract assets BHEE 20,883,947 19,779,711 19,077,113 19,750,324 17,348,620
Trade and other receivables TE U BR 0 255,498 235,125 556,154 771,809 289,902
Hfth YR IR
Deferred tax assets ERERBEE 42,954 880 3,253 6,127 -
Other financial assets HiemaE - - - 36,122 443,198
Net current assets REEEREE 2,436,715 1,662,901 13,007 740,566 595,027
Total assets less BEETR 28,367,951 26,282,210 24,527,619 26,278,047 22,042,506
current liabilites nEBEE
Non-current liabilities FnFaE (14,376,273) (12,829,868) (11,526,741) (13,114,815) (10,636,647)
NET ASSETS BEFE 13,991,678 13,452,342 13,000,878 13,163,232 11,405,859
Share capital e 2,860,877 2,860,877 2,860,877 2,860,877 2,860,877
Reserves =1 8,974,243 8,545,244 8,106,613 9,009,206 7,673,416
Equity attributable to AREEREAA 11,835,120 11,406,121 10,967,490 11,870,083 10,534,293
equity holders of the bR
Company
Perpetual capital instruments — KEEARTE 806,982 806,982 806,982 - -
Non-controlling interests IEERER 1,349,576 1,239,239 1,226,406 1,293,149 871,566
TOTAL EQUITY R 13,991,678 13,452,342 13,000,878 13,163,232 11,405,859




CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED

202 RE K AR R T
FFEZEEME
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 2020%F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT FEL FHEL FHEL FAT
Results %5
Revenue WA 6,851,918 6,704,684 6,727,967 6,912,371 5,663,292
Profit from operating 4R S E) 2 | 1,993,621 2,253,775 1,915,399 2,129,954 1,827,857
activities
Finance costs I%ER (541,076) (590,921) (544,615) (435,302) (348,795)
Share of (losses) and JE{EEE N A (7,174) 2,008 11,226 (6,758) 4,224
profits of associates (E518) REBF
Share of profit of [E{EEENRIET 689 1,261 - - -
a joint venture
Profit before tax BT E R 1,446,060 1,666,123 1,382,010 1,687,894 1,483,286
Income tax expense FrisfiEs (319,066) (404,910) (315,101) (404,908) (396,922)
Profit for the year REZEF 1,126,994 1,261,213 1,066,909 1,282,986 1,086,364
Attributable to: FEMEEf S
Equity holders of the KAGIERSEEA 1,019,609 1,187,412 1,010,565 1,200,329 1,024,271
Company
Holders of perpetual capital KEERTEABEA 25,047 37,578 14,334 - -
instruments
Non-controling interests IR 82,338 36,223 42,010 82,657 62,093
Profit for the year REZRF 1,126,994 1,261,213 1,066,909 1,282,986 1,086,364
Basic earnings per share BRERET 35.64 41.51 35.32 41.96 35.80
(Hong Kong cents) (L)
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IHE S

Raw Water Protection Project / /KR 1E B

Project under Construction / #E2218 B

Project Water Supply Capacity
EHE (m®/day)
KRB (I75K/8)
1 Tongxiang West Area Drinking Water Sources Protection PPP Project 600,000
T8 75 BB EX F7KIR IR &2 7R TAZPPPIE B
Water Supply Projects / 7k 1B H
Projects in Operation / #Z3& 8 B
Project Water Supply Capacity
HH (m3/day)
fkBRE (Z5K/8)
1 Zhanggiu Yellow River Water Transfer and Water Resource 100,000
Replenishment Project
& 5| =k EIRE B
2 Zhanggiu Chengdong Industrial Water Supply Project 50,000
ErERNRTEEMHKER
Project in Preparatory Stage / #7218 H
Project Water Supply Capacity
HH (m3/day)
HkRE (ZFK/B)
1 Zhanggiu Baiyun Water Plant Water Supply Project Phase | 100,000

ErAEKE—HTREA
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Municipal Waste Water Treatment Projects / T BUS/KEEER

Projects in Operation / #%3& 18 B

Project Waste Water Treatment
HE Capacity (m?®/day)
EKEERE (ZFK/AB)

1 Qingdao Waste Water Treatment Project (Maidao Plant) 140,000
FEKEERERE (EBH)

2 Qingdao Waste Water Treatment Project (Haibohe Plant) 80,000
F8KERER C8HFmM)

3 Qingdao Waste Water Treatment Project (Maidao Plant) Upgrading N/A
FETKERBEE (XBRK) RIFMSE i A

4 Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project (Southern & Northern Plants) 250,000
EIHEKEIEIER (FRBRR&ILR)

5 Zibq Waste Water Treatment Project (Upgrading) N/A
EIESKEIEEE (FHARSGERR) i

6 Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project (Northern Plant) Relocation and 50,000
Expansion Project
MIETKEIEER (b)) BEMERER

7 Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project (Southern Plant) Upgrading N/A
EIESKEIEIEE (MAR) RIFSCEER T3 A

8 Ji'nan Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 1 & 2) 420,000
B SKERIBIEE (R /)

9 Ji'nan Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 1 & 2 Expansion and 80,000
Upgrading )
BETKEEEE (—HRk ZBIEERIER)

10  Ji'nan Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 1) Expansion 50,000
BEEKEEER (—/K) B2

11 Ji'nan Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 1) Phase IV Expansion 100,000
BESKERIEER (—) MEEE

12 Ji’'nan Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 2) Phase Ill Expansion 100,000
BEKEIEER (ZRK) ZHER

13  Zibo High-tech Zone Waste Water Treatment Project 100,000
BB SRS /KEIEER

14 Zibo High-tech Zone Waste Water Treatment Project Upgrading N/A
MRS TR)5/KEIEIE B IR IEuE TiE A

15  Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project 190,000
LR 5/KEREIE R

16 Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project (Upgrading) N/A
IRRSKEEBIER (FARSGE) TEH
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IHE S

Project Waste Water Treatment
HA Capacity (m®/day)
EKEERE (LFK/E)

17 Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project (Shizhuang Plant) Upgrading N/A
TRSKEIDER (BB REE o

18  Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment (Binjiang Plant and Chengxi Plant) N/A
Upgrading Project TERA
TRISKEE CRTRMEMRE) RIS R

19 Zibq Zhoucun Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 40,000
SRS KRR —

20  Zibo Zhoucun Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | Upgrading N/A
SIS AR TR EIRTE B —HiR IR S A5 A

21 Zibo Northern Waste Water Treatment Plant Expansion Project 20,000
1816 355K 12 R A

22  Zibo Zhoucun Waste Water Treatment Plant Upgrading Project N/A
L e Sl

23  Binzhou Boxing Waste Water Treatment Project (Phase ) 30,000
BINEESKEIEIER (—H)

24 Binzhou Boxing Waste Water Treatment Project (Upgrading and Phase || 30,000
Upgrading & Expansion)
BMNBRS KRR (FHRSER AR - HEAE)

25  Binzhou Boxing Waste Water Treatment Project (Upgrading & Expansion) 20,000
BNBESKERER (FASERERER)

26  Binzhou Boxing Waste Water Treatment Project Upgrading | N/A
BMNE B 5K EEIRTE B AR IR A NE

27  Binzhou Boxing Waste Water Treatment Project Upgrading I N/A
BN 8BS K BRI T B SRS i

28  Ji'nan Licheng Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 3) Phase | 100,000
BEBEHTKEIZEE (=) —H

29  Ji'nan Licheng Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 3) Phase I 100,000
EEERSKEERR (ZF) —H

30  Ji'nan Xike Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 4) 30,000
BREEESKERER (TR

31  Ji'nan Xike Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 4) Phase || 70,000
BEEARS/KEEEE (UE) —H

32  Dezhou Lingcheng Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 1) 30,000
RN R 5KEIEIEE (— )

33  Dezhou Lingcheng Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 1) Upgrading | N/A
EMERRE TKEIRIEE (—/) RIZHSGE A
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Project Waste Water Treatment
HA Capacity (m®/day)
EKEERE (LFK/E)

34  Dezhou Lingcheng Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 1) Upgrading I EI/A
EMNE R 5KEIRIER (—) RESCE TNaEm

35  Dezhou Lingcheng Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 2) 30,000
MR SKEEEE (ZH)

36  Dezhou Lingcheng Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 2) Upgrading N/A
RIS KERIEE (ZR) EIENE Sl

37  Dezhou Lingcheng Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 2) Expansion 30,000
RINESESKEEER (—/) B

38  Dezhou Nanyunhe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 75,000
=M m 5K R IR IE B — A

39  Dezhou Nanyunhe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase I 75,000
M EERSKEIEIAR —

40  Zhanggiu Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 3) 30,000
Er5kRIBER (F=HK)

41 Zhangqiu Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 1) 50,000
BE5KEERIER ()

42 Zhangqiu Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 2) 40,000
BE5kKERERIER (M)

43 Zhanggiu Waste Water Treatment (Plant 4) PPP Project 50,000
% £ S 00/KE 2L BRPPPT B

44 Zhangqiu Waste Water Treatment (Plant 4) Upgrading Project N/A
E R EIKE B RESETEIER A5 A

45  Binzhou Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 40,000
BN R S/KEIETE B —H

46 Binzhou Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | N/A
Upgrading T EA
BN RTKEIEE B — R RS

47  Binzhou Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project Phase |l 20,000
BMFAERS/KERER — 8

48  Binzhou Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project Phase |l 40,000
Expansion
BINFE RS/KEIETE B —HiRE

49  Deodorisation work of Binzhou Development Zone Waste Water N/A
Treatment Project TE M
BMAERTKEEEERRTRE

50  Kunshan Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 25,000

BRI R)5/KERIEIR B —H
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IHE S

Project Waste Water Treatment
HA Capacity (m®/day)
BAKEEBRE (XFK/B)

51 Kunshan Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project Phase I 25,000
B ILFE R 5/KEIRIEE —H

52  Lianyungang Dapu Waste Water Treatment Project 100,000
EEBXHT/KEIEER

53  Lianyungang Xugou Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 40,000
EEBERTKEIEEE —H

54  Lianyungang Xugou Waste Water Treatment Project Phase I 40,000
EERBERISKEEAE — 8

55 Nanjing Pukou Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 40,000
MR ARIKIS/KEIRIER —H

56  Nanjing Pukou Waste Water Treatment Project Phase Il and Upgrading 40,000
MU TKEIEIE R IR B BRE

57  Nanjing Liuhe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 20,000
MRNASKERIEIE B —H)

58  Nanjing Liuhe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase Il and Upgrading 20,000
FRNA TKEIEIE B —H R R M IRIR

59  Suzhou Wuzhong Chengnan Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 75,000
Stage |
BN R ESKEIETER —#—F

60  Suzhou Wuzhong Chengnan Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 75,000
Stage Il and Upgrading
FRNR PR S/KERIEIA B — B LR IR S

61 Suzhou Wuzhong Chengnan Waste Water Treatment Plant Effluent N/A
#R N R AR 57K BRI R R K R AR & TR B NEm

62  Yangzhou Jiangdu Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project 12,500
Phase |
BN IR ER)5KEETER —H

63  Yangzhou Jiangdu Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project 12,500
Phase Il and Upgrading
BN IR R5/KEIRIA B — BN RER

64  Sanmenxia Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 30,000
=PI 5KERIEIEE —H]

65  Sanmenxia Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | Upgrading N/A
=PI 5K ERIRTE B — AR A A

66  Daxing Tiantanghe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 40,000
N[ K =505 7K IETE B —Hf

67  Daxing Tiantanghe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase Il and Upgrading 40,000

A B[ R 57K B IR TE B — B MR IR BGE
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Project Waste Water Treatment
HA Capacity (m®/day)
FKEERE (ZFK/A)

68  Xianyang Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 100,000
5 R AD 5K ERIRIE B —HA

69  Xianyang Waste Water Treatment Project Phase || 100,000
RS R AL 5K IR E — 5

70 Xianyang Waste Water Treatment Plant Upgrading and EI/A
Advanced Sludge Dewatering Project TEA
5 R AD 57K R IR R R AR BGE K5 e R E B K IE B

71 Dalian Quanshui Waste Water Treatment Project 35,000
AT RKTKEEIETE B

72 Dalian Malanhe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase I 80,000
A& S RAE/KEREEE — 8

73 Dalian Chunliuhe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase |l 120,000
REM A TKEIEEE —H

74 Dalian Siergou Waste Water Treatment Project 100,000
RiE<F 5B 5K B

75 Lvshun Bailanzi Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 30,000
IRl E F5KEIEEE —HA

76  Lvshun Bailanzi Waste Water Treatment Project Phase I N/A
IeIERE FITKEIEE R —H iE A

77  Lvshun Sanjianpu Waste Water Treatment Project 10,000
IRIE= MR 5/KEIEEE

78  Pulandian Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 20,000
LHEMS/KERIEER —H

79  Zhuanghe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 30,000
R KERIEIE B —HA

80  Panjin 1st Waste Water Treatment Project 100,000
BRIPTHE —5/KEIEIA

81 Panjin 1st Waste Water Treatment Project Upgrading N/A
ARERTH 58 — /KR IR IE B IRIR S TiE A

82  Anshan West 2nd Waste Water Treatment Project 100,000
BILMPEE —5/kKEIEIEE

83  Shenyang Hunnan New District Waste Water Treatment Project 40,000
&I Em R ®) 5K IEIE B

84 Dandong Waste Water Treatment Project 100,000

FHR™)5/KERIER
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PROJECT OVERVIEW
IHE S

Project Waste Water Treatment
HA Capacity (m®/day)
SKBEEE (XIK/A)

85  Inner Mongolia Tongliao Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project 50,000
NRGREREESKEEIER

86  Inner Mongolia Tongliao Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project N/A
Upgrading TERA
NR o RERER5/KEEIER BIESGE

87  Pulandian Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | Expansion 20,000
LTRETS/KEIEIEE — B

88  Pulandian Waste Water Treatment Project Phase |l 30,000
LHIE5/KEIETE B — 8

89  Pulandian Waste Water Treatment Plant Phase | and Reusable Water Plant 40,000
Integration Project
LR SRR —HA R K — 8L IE B

90  Dalian Liangjiadian Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 20,000
A5 R 557K EEIRTE B — 85

91 Dalian Quanshui Waste Water Treatment Project Upgrading N/A
AERKFKEIEIE B IR sE i A

92  Dalian Chunliuhe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase Il Upgrading N/A
RNEFYASKEEIE R ZHRESGE T EA

93  Lvshun Bailanzi Waste Water Treatment Project Upgrading N/A
IRIEA & FI5/KERIETE B 1R IF SUE TiEMA

94  Zhuanghe Waste Water Treatment Project Phase || 50,000
ORI EREIEE — H

95  Xinyi City Waste Water Treatment Project 70,000
o EKEEIER

96  Xinyi City Waste Water Treatment Project Upgrading N/A
TSR IE B RIRNUE TEA

97  Xinyi City Waste Water Treatment Project Phase |lI 30,000
T TS KR IRIE B = 53

98  Ju County Shudong Waste Water Treatment Project 20,000
EHNRSKEERIER

99  Jiangyin Chengxi Waste Water Treatment Project Phase |lI 30,000
IRREFS/KEIEEE = H

100 Jiangyin Chengxi Phase Il Pipeline Network Pump Station N/A
TR = HREEMRIL TEA

101 Ji’nan Huashan Waste Water Treatment Project 30,000

B EILIKE R AR
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Project Waste Water Treatment
HA Capacity (m®/day)
SKBEHE (XK/A)

102 Dezhou Lingcheng Waste Water Pipeline Network PPP Project N/A
N R 57K E EPPPIA B TNEA

103 Dezhou Lingcheng Waste Water Pipeline Network PPP Project Expansion N/A
2 R 5K E HIPPPIE B &2 NEA

104 Laiyang Waste Water Treatment Sub-Project 15,000
H5mKERIEFIER

105 Ji'nan East Station Area Underground Waste Water Treatment Project 100,000
R R UG @ TS /KEE IR IR B

106 Huaiyin Eastern City Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 50,000
SRR TKEIEIER —H

107 Ji'nan Tangye New Area Waste Water Treatment PPP Project Phase | 25,000
B AR5 /KERIEPPPIE B —Hf

108 Ju County Urban Waste Water Treatment Project 80,000
EEWMISKEIEER

109 Changzhou Zhenglu Waste Water Treatment Project Phase I 20,000
BNEREE 5K EE IR TE B — A

110 Beitang Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | and Upgrading 150,000
Jb¥E)5/KERIEIE B —H RIRRBGE TR

111 Gangdong Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | and Upgrading 25,000
BERISKEEEE —HRRERIETE

112 Huanghua Tengzhuangzi Waste Water Treatment Project 20,000
BRI 5/KERIFIA R

113 Huanghua Town Waste Water Treatment Project 10,000
EEEASK R IR TE

114 Huanghua Urban Area Waste Water Treatment Project 10,000
R 5K EEIETE B

115 Dandong Waste Water Treatment Project Phase Il (Stage 1) 100,000
FIERMSKEREEE —H (—FR)

116 Huaiyin Eastern City Waste Water Treatment Project Phase || 50,000
HERR BRI /KEE IR B — B

117 Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project (Binjiang Plant 2) and 40,000
Ancillary Pipeline Project
TmKkEEEE (BI R MEEEHIESR

118 Jiangyin Lingang Economic Development Zone Xili Center Waste Water 50,000
Treatment and Ancillary Pipeline Network and Pumping Station Project
IRERBCEREEANPLITKEEREEEEMRIMIER

119 Zhangqiu Waste Water Treatment (Plant 5) PPP Project 40,000

SR FRNREFCMPPPIERE (O57KEE)
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Projects under Operation and Management / Z5CiE &8 B

Project Waste Water Treatment

HA Capacity (m®/day)
FKBRERE (LFKR/B)

Zhenjiang Zhengrunzhou Waste Water Treatment Plant Operation and 125,000

Management Project

ETAEEMN KRB METESER

Mauritius St. Martin Waste Water Treatment Plant Operation and 69,000

Management Project
EERMES T KEERETELER

Project Completed Construction / &5k 5 T8 H

Project Waste Water Treatment
HE Capacity (m®/day)

FKBRERE (LFKR/B)
Dezhou Ling County Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 2) Upgrading I N/A
EINERIE TKERIEEE (ZR) —XIRESuETRR i A

Projects under Construction / #££78 B

Project Waste Water Treatment

HE Capacity (m?®/day)
EKEERE (LFK/E)

Qingdao Maidao Waste Water Treatment Plant Expansion and Upgrading Project 80,000

FEEETKEEHmERATEER

Ji'nan International Centre for Medical Sciences Waste Water 50,000

Treatment Project Phase |

BB EER 205K ERIETEE — B

Anshan West 2nd Waste Water Treatment Project Upgrading N/A

BILTAESE 5K EIEIE B RFSGE TR TiEM

Jiangyin Chengxi Waste Water Treatment Project Phase IV 45,000

LR BT S/KEIRIE B Y

Ji'nan Prior Zone Detonation Area Waste Water Treatment PPP Project 40,000

BRI SE1TIR SR R )5 KERIE M PPPIA B

Binzhou Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project Upgrading N/A

BINFE R SKEEE B IRIRSUET R NiEH

Anyang Municipal Waste Water Treatment Centre Phase | Project 100,000

ZfEMBUT/KEER O —HTEER

Ji'nan Tangye New Area Waste Water Treatment PPP Project phase I 20,000

EFEE R TR 5/KEEIEPPPIA B — Hf

The projects listed above are not regarded as independent projects.
VW ol ot Y = e ey o E AV =l
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PROJECT OVERVIEW
IHE S

Projects in Preparatory Stage / & 7218 H

Project Waste Water Treatment
HE Capacity (m?®/day)
FKEERE (LFHK/B)

1 Yancheng No.3 Flood Control Area Water Environment Treatment 50,000
PPP Project
By R F =R KRIEAR AR IEPPPIER

2 Inner Mongolia Tongliao Development Zone Advanced Waste Water N/A
Treatment Project TERA
POt 8 B B 5K R R RO

3 Suzhou Wuzhong Chengnan Waste Water Pipeline Network and N/A
Pump Station Upgrading Project TEA
FR MR A @I E 5K B A8 B 5 /KR A SR UL IR AR & TE B

4 Cangzhou Huanghua Waste Water Treatment Plant PPP Project Upgrading N/A
AN BT 5/ k A2 BPPPIE B IR 1B TA2 i

5 Yangzhou Waste Water Treatment Plant Upgrading Project N/A
B E KR IR BRI R e TA2 TR A A5 A

* Beijing Daxing Tiantanghe Waste Water Treatment Project Expansion and 6,000
Upgrading

bR B[ K R B A KB A UE TR B

*

The projects listed above are not regarded as independent projects.

W _EARRE A B 5K B FEIR B Tat BB IR -
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Industrial Waste Water Treatment Projects / T % EE/KEIE1E B

Projects in Operation / #%3& 18 B

Project Waste Water Treatment
HE Capacity (m®/day)
BEKEEBRE (LFK/B)

1 Xinyi Economic Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 10,000
T RERE R EKERIEIEE —H

2 Xinyi Economic Development Zone Waste Water Treatment Project 10,000
Phase I
T ROER R EEKERIETEE — 5

3 Nanjing Pukou Industrial Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 10,000
MRUR A LREEKERIEIER —H

4 Nanjing Pukou Industrial Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | (Stage 2) 20,000
FRUBH T RKEIEIHE — 58 (ZRER)

5 Ju County Chengbei Waste Water Treatment Project 40,000
E R 5KEIEIE B

6 Ju County Chengbei Waste Water Treatment Project Upgrading N/A
EEBIE)5KEIRIE B IR UE NiE A

7 Ju County Chengbei Waste Water Treatment Plant Expansion Project 20,000
Phase |
E Bt 5K R miERIE B —

8 Suizhou Xihe Town Waste Water Treatment Plant and Ancillary Pipeline 10,000
Network Project
BENAT R SR 57K R IR R M L E B A9TE B

9 Yangzhou Jiangdu Development Zone Industrial Waste Water Centralised 6,000
Pre-treatment and Ancillary Pipeline Network Project
BN IR E R TREKEPERE KR EE®ER

10  Zhangdian East Chemical Industry Park Industrial Waste Water Treatment 5,000
Project Phase |
3RIE R L T TEAKR2IEA — 1)

11 Zibo Zhangdian East Chemical Industry Park Industrial 5,000
Waste Water Treatment Plant Upgrading and Expansion
S ESRE REME TR T 3Rk B IR B iR (R R 12 1H B

12 Shenyang Dadong Zhuertun Waste Water Treatment Plant Retrofitting 5,000

and Expansion Project

RIS KRR R 5 /K B IR R R 2 IR
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Project under Operation and Management / Z L84 T8 B

Project Waste Water Treatment
HE Capacity (m?®/day)
BEKEERE (ZLFHK/B)
1 Yixing Economic Development Zone Industrial Waste Water Treatment 25,000
Operation and Management Project
HEGBERMFAE R TREKRIEMETELER
2 Shenyang Dadong Zhuertun Waste Water Treatment Plant Operation and 5,000

Management Project
B AR ARRE 5/KEERETEEER

Project Completed Construction / #£A 5c T 18 B

Project Waste Water Treatment

HE Capacity (m?®/day)
BEKEERE (ZFHK/B)

1 Haimen Waste Water Treatment Project and Upgrading 10,000

BFE/KEIETA B MR IRUGE

Projects under Construction / £ 218 B

Project Waste Water Treatment
HE Capacity (m®/day)
BEKEERE (ZLFHK/B)
1 Changzhou Zhenglu Industrial Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 5,000
N ERRE TS ERKEIBIEE — )
2 Shandong Linyi Luozhuang Economic Development Zone Waste Water 20,000
Treatment Plant and Ancillary Pipeline Network Project Phase |
PRI R R SKEIER M EERER
3 Shen County Waste Water Treatment (Plant 3) and Ancillary Pipeline 60,000

Network PPP Project
FERE=IKEERMEEE A TIZEPPPIER

Project in Preparatory Stage / £3&18 H

Project Waste Water Treatment

HA Capacity (m®/day)
BEKEEBRE (LFK/B)

1 Nanjing Pukou Industrial Waste Water Treatment Project Phase |l 50,000

AU A TREEKERIERE — B
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Reusable Water Projects / #17k[E] FHIE B

Projects in Operation / #%3& 18 B

Project Reusable Water Supply
HE Capacity (m?/day)
ROKERE (ZFK/B)

1 Ji'nan Licheng Reusable Water Project 42,000
B A RS AR K TE B

2 Jiangyin Reusable Water Project 10,000
Lked/KIER

3 Jiangyin Chengxi Waste Water Treatment Plant Reusable Water Project 33,000
LB SKEERP/KEAIER

4 Zibo Reusable Water Project 9,600
JETEARKEIAIE B

5 Nanjing Pukou Reusable Water Project Phase | 20,000
MUBARIKIER —H

6 Nanjing Pukou Waste Water Treatment and Reusable Water Plant 40,000

Project Phase I
RROR Sk IR KRB B — 5

7 Beitang Reusable Water Project 45,000
IbyERAKIER
* Zhangaiu Waste Water Treatment (Plant 4) PPP Project — Reusable Water Project 30,000

B HIKEF#EmPPPIE B -F/KE AHIER

As a supplementary facility to Zhangqiu Waste Water Treatment (Plant 4) PPP Project, the reusable water project listed above is not
regarded as an independent project.
U IZEE I K B TR B A E B KEF L BPPPIE B #IALEIE B %5t - TA1 A8 7 EH -
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IEEE
Project Completed Construction / £ 5t T8 B
Project Reusable Water Supply
HE Capacity (m?®/day)
ROKERE (ZF5K/B)
* Zhangaiu Waste Water Treatment (Plant 5) PPP Project - Reusable Water Project 20,000
ERFAKEFCHPPPIEE - /KEIAIEE
Project under Construction / #2218 B
Project Reusable Water Supply
HE Capacity (m?®/day)
ROKERE (ZF5K/B)
* Nanjing Pukou Industrial Waste Water Treatment Project Phase | 9,000

(Stage 2) - Reusable Water Project
FRUBOIXEKEEEE —8 (ZFR) -HF/KEIAIER

Projects in Preparatory Stage / #5218 H

Project Reusable Water Supply
EHE Capacity (m®/day)
ROKERE (L FK/B)
1 Nanjing Pukou Industrial Waste Water Treatment Project Phase I - 12,000
Reusable Water Project
F OB A T RE/KERIETE B —#3-F /KB RIE R
* Ji'nan Prior Zone Detonation Area Waste Water Treatment PPP Project - 30,000
Reusable Water Project
B TR SR 5K R IR RPPPIE B -+ kBl FA1E B
* Jiangyin Chengxi Waste Water Treatment Project Phase IV - 15,000

Reusable Water Project
LB 5/KEIEIE R WA -HIKEIRIER

* As supplementary facilities to the respective waste water treatment projects, the reusable water projects listed above are not regarded as

independent projects.
PR Kk B IR B /34 IE 5K B FEIE B AIACEIR B %5t + 15t R B v EA °
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IHE S

River-basin Ecological Restoration Projects / g 4 18 B

Projects in Operation / #%3& 18 B

Project Waste Water Treatment

EH Capacity (m3/day)

FKEBRERE (LFKR/B)

1 Nanjing Municipal Water PPP Project N/A

Ak TI2PPPIER @A

2 Nanning Shuitang River Integrated Restoration PPP Project 40,000
MEKIETIAA B TIZPPPIER

3 Zhenjiang Sponge City Construction PPP Project N/A

LB AR T 2R PPPIE R A5 A

4 Laiyang Water Environment Management Sub-Project N/A

RI5KIRIRGIEFIER A5

Projects in Preparatory Stage / &i£18 H

Project Waste Water Treatment

HE Capacity (m?/day)
FKEEBRE (XFK/AB)

1 Suizhou Fuhe Riverbanks Landscaping Project N/A
BE N TR i = AR L TE B NiE A

2 Suizhou Piaoshui Park Phase | Construction Project N/A
BENZKABE—HITIZIER A
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Sludge Treatment and Disposal Projects / ;5 R EEEEH

Projects in Operation / #%3& 18 B

Project Sludge Treatment
HE Capacity (tonnes/day)
FREERE (WE/H)

* Zibq Sludge Treatment and Disposal Project 530
ME S RRIEREEA

* Ji'nan Sludge Treatment Project 430
R E(rIE R

* Ji'nan Licheng Sludge Treatment Project 200
BT R E (L IE R

* Jiangyin Sludge Treatment and Disposal Project 340
IR REIEEETE R

* Pulandian Sludge Treatment and Disposal Project Phase | 50

ERMESRREREEA — 5

regarded as independent projects.

VTR R B IR B E R TR TR A AIBCE IR B &Rt - TaT E B e

Projects under Construction / fE5£18 B

As supplementary facilities to respective waste water treatment projects, the above-listed sludge treatment and disposal projects are not

Project Sludge Treatment

HA Capacity (tonnes/day)

TREESRE (W/R)

1 Anshan Municipal Sludge Disposal Project Phase | 500
BILMBUTRREEER —H

2 Dandong Waste Water Treatment Plant Sludge Drying Project 125

FRSKERIER SRR R

Livestock and Poultry Manure Resource Utilisation Project / BB #;5& R{tFHAER

Projects in Operation / #3& 18 B

Project Livestock and poultry manure

HE treatment capacity (tonnes/day)
BEEESEERE (W/AH)

1 Nanxiong Livestock and Poultry Manure Resource Utilisation Project 300

MEEEE)SE RN AIER
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Izt st B

As at 13 March 2025 720254 3H13H

Authorised share capital : HK$10,000,000,000

JETERRAR 10,000,000,000/8 7T

Issued and fully paid-up capital : HK$2,860,876,723

BT E 2 BT 2,860,876,7237% 7T

Class of shares : Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each
RERER Bk - FREMEET.0087T
Number of shares : 2,860,876,723

Bin 8 E

Voting rights : One vote per ordinary share
RERE G —H

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

MRS
NO. OF NO. OF

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS SHAREHOLDERS % SHARES %
RAESRE REHE Bt ROBE Btk
1~99 536 10.15 15,727 0.00
100 ~ 1,000 1,001 20.65 530,012 0.02
1,001 ~ 10,000 1,881 35.60 8,798,198 0.31
10,001 ~ 1,000,000 1,731 32.77 131,086,150 4.58
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 1,000,0018k A 44 0.83 2,720,446,636 95.09
TOTAL #5t 5,283 100.00 2,860,876,723 100.00

As at 13 March 2025, no shares issued in the share capital of the Company (the “Shares”) were held as treasury
shares or by any of the Company’s subsidiaries.

20253138 EARRIRAFREITHRG ([AATREG] ) REIEREFRIFA - L REARNA R A (ERIME
NS

Based on the information available to the Company, approximately 27.13% of the equity securities of the Company are
held in the hands of the public. This is in compliance with Rule 8.08 of the SEHK Listing Rules and Rule 723 of the SGX
Listing Manual, which require at least 25% and 10% respectively of a listed issuer’s equity securities to be held by the
public.

ERARRBIAEFHER  ANRTK27A3%RMN A RREFE o &I AIRFaB A2 Ar_E AR RIS 8.08 &M 2P LT F
ME723GRHAER - ZERADFIBERAREDEFE LT A THER M ESFE25%FM10% A F -
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Izt st B

As at 13 March 2025 720254 3H13H

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

A=+ RIRR

NAME NO. OF SHARES %

=L BFREE Bkt
1. CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER HOLDINGS LIMITED 2,084,724,572 72.87

B RRISIZER B R AR
2 HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED 347,393,664 12.14
3 MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 62,212,217 217
4 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 61,618,354 2.15
5. DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 33,028,019 1.15
6 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 13,685,648 0.48
7 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 12,834,152 0.45
8 TAN SWEE PENG 12,625,325 0.44
9. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 9,752,204 0.34
10. OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 8,400,250 0.29
11. TAN SWEE TECK MICHAEL 4,800,000 0.17
12. HENG SIEW ENG 4,719,900 0.16
13. CHEN ZENENG 4,300,000 0.15
14. KUEK SIAW KIA @ QUEK SHIEW POH 4,260,488 0.15
15. IFAST FINANCIAL PTE. LTD. 3,283,786 0.11
16. PANG LIM 3,082,400 0.1
17. OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED 2,879,005 0.10
18. CHIEW CARLTON 2,832,667 0.10
19. MOOMOO FINANCIAL SINGAPORE PTE. LTD. 2,725,492 0.10
20. SEAH SEOW CHER 2,318,600 0.08

TOTAL #&5t 2,681,376,743 93.71
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
fRtEd st E R

As at 13 March 2025 720254 3H13H

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

FERK

DIRECT INTEREST DEEMED INTEREST

s AR

NO. OF NO. OF
NAME OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER SHARES HELD % SHARES HELD %
FTERFREE EREE Bk EREE Bk
China Everbright Water Holdings Limited 2,084,724,572 72.87 - -
AR B ROK TSI IR B BR A A
China Everbright Environment Group Limited™ - - 2,084,724,572 72.87
R AIRE (£E) BBRAR "
Guildford Limited® - - 2,084,724,572 72.87
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited® - - 2,084,724,572 72.87
REAEEARAR Y
China Everbright Group Ltd.” - - 2,084,724,572 72.87
PR AEBRAAE
Central Huijin Investment Ltd."” - - 2,084,724,572 72.87

FARESREFREELNA O

Notes:

FifsE

(1) China Everbright Environment Group Limited (“Everbright Environment”) is the holding company of China Everbright Water Holdings
Limited and is deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by China Everbright Water Holdings Limited.
REIE ARG (RE) BRAF ( [XRBE] ) BREXAKFERERARZERAF - WHH BN AOKBIERERAFIFEK
RRTRAD Z A s -

2 Guildford Limited holds more than 20 per cent. but not more than 50 per cent. of the total issued shares in Everbright Environment and is
deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which Everbright Environment has an interest.
Guildford Limited #§8 Jt RERIF AR BREY 20% LA £ (B8R 50%) - W ARRFRHBHAR RN ZHEEER

) China Everbright Holdings Company Limited is the holding company of Guildford Limited and is deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which Guildford Limited has an interest.
B K E BB R A F) & Guidford Limited 2 A& A 7] » 173 Guildford Limited 578 BIZAR R R (D = A i iR -

4) China Everbright Group Ltd. (“China Everbright Group”) is the holding company of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited and is
deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which China Everbright Holdings Company Limited has an interest.
FENARERNAF ( [FRAXARE] ) RAEXAKEERARZERAR  THHEXARERRARFENARFIRL =
BfaEEs -

(5)  Central Huijin Investment Ltd. holds 63.16 per cent. of the shares in China Everbright Group and is deemed to have an interest in the
Shares in which China Everbright Group has an interest.

RRESIREBRE TR TG T AREBLRN B 63.16% + WHFEAREBREHARFRG FAMEER -
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
fRtEd st E R
As at 13 March 2025 720254 3H13H

(i) Relationship between the Company and each of China (i) AAREPEREGRETATMAPR
Investment Corporation and Central Huijin Investment Ltd. ELHREERETQATNERE

]

Each of China Investment Corporation and Central Huijin Investment R EEEERET AR MPRESKERR
Ltd., which is ultimately owned by the State Council of the People’s B QA A& & B P E AR LM % B
Republic of China (the “State Council”), is deemed to have a ( [E%BE] ) #8 - @l?xﬁﬁﬁﬁ?!&@ﬂ
controlling interest (via Everbright Environment) in the issued share  FMARESIEEGRET A FRBN RIRES

\

i

capital of the Company. RAFNEBITIRAZ B EEERER -
Based on the information furnished to the Company, below is the — EREHAERNAFNEE - FRXM T KA A
shareholding structure of the Company: RN AE T
State Council
Bl Bt
100%
National Council for Ministry of Finance China Investment Corporation
Social Security Fund BER HEBREEREEAT
2EHEREECESS
, ; 33.43% Mt 100%
3.40% (Note fifzt)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd.
PRESREGREELT

63.16% (Note Bifix)

China Everbright Group Ltd.

HEEREBRD A H
100%
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited
FEXAREEERD A
100% 100%

Everbright Investment & Management Limited

Guildford Limited RABRESEERAT

39.57% 3.51%

China Everbright Environment Group Limited
FEEARERIR (@) BRAA

100%

China Everbright Water Holdings Limited
FEIEARKBEZERERAR

72.87%

China Everbright Water Limited
REERKBERAR

Note:  The percentages may not add up to 100% due to rounding.
st - BRBABE - B DL IERKAEETER 100% °



ANNUAL REPORT 2024
2024 F ERE

313

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Izt st B

As at 13 March 2025 720254 3H13H

Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (“Huijin”)

Huijin, established in December 2003, is a state-owned investment
company incorporated in accordance with the Company Law of the
PRC, with a mandate to exercise the rights and the obligations as an
investor in major state-owned financial enterprises, on behalf of the
PRC. Huijin, in accordance with authorisation by the State Council
makes equity investments in major state-owned financial enterprises,
and shall, to the extent of its capital contribution, exercise the rights
and perform the obligations as an investor on behalf of the PRC in
accordance with applicable laws, to achieve the goal of preserving
and enhancing the value of state-owned financial assets.

China Investment Corporation (“CIC”)

CIC was founded in September 2007 as a wholly state-owned
company incorporated in accordance with the Company Law of the
PRC. CIC was established as a vehicle to diversify China’s foreign
exchange holdings and seek maximum returns for its shareholder
within acceptable risk tolerance. Huijin is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CIC. However, Huijin’s principal shareholder rights are exercised
by the State Council. Strict operational firewalls exist among CIC’s
overseas business and the domestic business run by Huijin.

Extract of the articles of association of Huijin and CIC

The articles of association of each of Huijin and CIC provide that
each of Huijin and CIC “shall not interfere in the day-to-day business
operations of the state-owned major financial enterprises it controls”.
The articles of association of CIC further provide that “as a matter of
principle, [CIC] shall not actively seek investment in domestic non-
financial enterprises, except for purchasing overseas listed stocks,
passive shareholdings and other circumstances as approved by the
relevant governmental authorities”.

Board of Directors of Everbright Environment and the Company

In addition, neither CIC nor Huijin has any nominees sitting on the
board of directors of Everbright Environment. Similarly, neither CIC
nor Huijin has any nominees sitting on the board of directors of the
Company.
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(ii) Not regarded as “controlling shareholders”

On the basis that each of Huijin and CIC does not in fact exercise
control over the Company, the SGX has confirmed that each of
Huijin and CIC will not be regarded as “controlling shareholders” of
the Company for the purposes of the SGX Listing Manual.

Accordingly, each of the State Council, Huijin and CIC and their
respective associates (other than China Everbright Group and its
associates) will not be regarded as “interested persons” of the
Company and consequently, will not be subject to the rules and
requirements under Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual governing
interested person transactions. For the avoidance of doubt, China
Everbright Group is regarded as a “controlling shareholder” of
the Company for the purposes of the SGX Listing Manual and
accordingly, China Everbright Group and its associates are subject
to the rules and requirements under Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing
Manual governing interested person transactions.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting
(the “AGM”) of China Everbright Water Limited (the “Company”)
will be held at Pan Pacific Singapore, Ocean 4 & 5 Room,
Level 2, 7 Raffles Boulevard, Marina Square, Singapore 039595
on Wednesday, 23 April 2025 at 9:30 a.m. (Singapore time), to
transact the following businesses.

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.

To receive and consider the Directors’ Statement and Audited
Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 and the Auditors’ Report thereon.

(Resolution 1)

To declare and pay a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of
5.81 Hong Kong cents (equivalent to 1.02 Singapore cents)
per ordinary share for the financial year ended 31 December
2024 as recommended by the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”) of the Company.

(Resolution 2)
To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$357,582
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
$$340,000).
(Resolution 3)
To re-elect the following Directors pursuant to Bye-law 86(1)
or Bye-law 85(6) (as the case may be) of the Company’s
Bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”), and who, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election as the Directors.
() Mr. Tao Junjie
(See Explanatory Note i) (Resolution 4a)
(b) Ms. Hao Gang
(See Explanatory Note i) (Resolution 4b)
(c) Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy

(See Explanatory Note i) (Resolution 4c)
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5. To re-appoint KPMG LLP and KPMG as the Auditors of the
Company in Singapore and Hong Kong respectively, to hold
office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting
and to authorise the Board to fix their remunerations.

(Resolution 5)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary
resolutions with or without modifications:

6. Authority to allot and issue shares

(@) That, pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Listing Manual (the
“SGX-ST Listing Manual”) of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX” or “SGX-ST”) and
the Rules (the “SEHK Listing Rules”) Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK?”), approval be and is
hereby given to the Board at any time to such persons
and upon such terms and for such purposes as the
Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit, to:

0) allot and issue shares in the capital of the
Company (the “Shares”) whether by way of
rights, bonus or otherwise;

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options
that might or would require Shares to be issued
or other transferable rights to subscribe for or
purchase Shares (collectively, “Instruments”)
including but not limited to the creation
and issue of warrants, debentures or other
instruments convertible into Shares; and/or

(iii) issue additional instruments arising from
adjustments made to the number of
Instruments previously issued in the event of
rights, bonus or capitalisation issues; and

(b) (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by
the Shareholders may have ceased to be in force)
issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made
or granted by the Board while the authority was in
force, provided always that, subject to any applicable
regulations as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST and
the SEHK,
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the aggregate number of Shares to be issued
pursuant to this resolution (including Shares to
be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or
granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not
exceed fifty per cent (60%) of the total number
of issued Shares excluding treasury shares of
the Company, of which the aggregate number
of Shares (including Shares to be issued in
pursuance of Instruments made or granted
pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued other
than on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders
does not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of
the total number of issued Shares excluding
treasury shares of the Company, and for the
purpose of this Resolution, the issued Shares
shall be the Company’s total number of issued
Shares excluding treasury shares at the time this
Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

a) new Shares arising from the conversion
or exercise of any convertible securities
outstanding or subsisting at the date
of the general meeting where the share
issue mandate is approved;

b) new Shares arising from exercising
share options or vesting of share awards
outstanding or subsisting at the time
this Resolution is passed provided the
options or awards were granted in
compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of
the SGX-ST Listing Manual and Chapter
17 of the SEHK Listing Rules; and

@) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation
or subdivision of Shares;

in exercising the authority conferred by this
Resolution, the Company shall comply with
the provisions of the SGX-ST Listing Manual
as amended from time to time (unless such
compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST),
the SEHK Listing Rules as amended from time
to time (unless such compliance has been
waived by the SEHK) and the Bye-laws; and
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(iii) such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by
the Company at a General Meeting, continue
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting or the date by which the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company is
required by law to be held, whichever is the
earlier.

(See Explanatory Note iv)
(Resolution 6)

Authority to allot and issue Shares under the China Everbright
Water Limited Scrip Dividend Scheme (the “Scrip Dividend
Scheme”)

That authority be and is hereby given to the Board to allot
and issue from time to time such number of Shares as may
be required to be allotted and issued pursuant to the Scrip
Dividend Scheme.

(See Explanatory Note v)
(Resolution 7)

Renewal of the share buy-back mandate
That:

(@) the Directors be and are hereby authorised to
exercise all the powers of the Company to purchase
or otherwise acquire issued Shares not exceeding in
aggregate the Maximum Limit (as hereinafter defined),
at such price or prices as may be determined by the
Directors from time to time up to the Maximum Price
(as hereinafter defined), whether by way of:

(i) market purchase(s) on the SGX-ST and/or the
SEHK; and/or

(ii) off-market purchase(s) (if effected otherwise
than on the SGX-ST and/or the SEHK, as the
case may be) in accordance with any equal
access scheme(s) as may be determined or
formulated by the Directors as they consider
fit, which scheme(s) shall, as required under the
SGX-ST Listing Manual, satisfy all the conditions
prescribed by Section 76C of the Companies
Act 1967 of Singapore (the “Singapore
Companies Act”),
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in accordance with the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the SGX-ST Listing
Manual, the SEHK Listing Rules, the Code on Share
Buy-backs of Hong Kong, and the Code on Takeovers
and Mergers of Hong Kong, as may for the time being
be applicable (the “Share Buy-back Mandate”);

unless varied or revoked by the Company in General
Meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors
pursuant to the Share Buy-back Mandate may be
exercised by the Directors at any time and from time
to time during the period commencing on and from the
date of the passing of this Resolution and expiring on
the earliest of:

0) the date on which the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company is held;

(ii) the date on which the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company is required by law to
be held; and

(iii) the date on which purchases and acquisitions
of Shares pursuant to the Share Buy-back
Mandate are carried out to the full extent
mandated;

in this Resolution:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the
closing market prices of the Shares over the last five
(5) market days on which the Shares were transacted
on the SGX-ST or the SEHK (“Market Days”), as the
case may be, before the date of the market purchase
by the Company, or as the case may be, the date of the
making of the offer pursuant to the off-market purchase,
and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the
SGX-ST Listing Manual for any corporate action which
occurs during the relevant five (5) Market Days and the
day on which the purchases are made;

“date of the making of the offer’ means the
date on which the Company makes an offer for
the purchase or acquisition of Shares from the
Shareholders, stating therein the purchase price (which
shall not be more than the Maximum Price) for each
Share and the relevant terms of the equal access
scheme for effecting the off-market purchase;

TETERUREEANGRE
1981%F (RBIE) (BFTHR) -
IR EFM - BT TR
A « & CRARIRMDEIESTAD
NEE CARWE RAFSTRD
( IRPEERE] )

BRIERDAIERRARE LB
- BAMEFAREKR
MEBEREXTEENE NS
TREFREBBER (BHFEZ
B) @=T3 A (NKRFEH
R BER R AT

() AR TERRBEFRE
BI728

(i)  EERBRETHRBERITAR
ATERRBFRAEZ
H

(i) BB OEREEE R
Ue BB Y RN &) R B BT
RN ERZA

EARRES

[FHBHE] BHEEARQA
EITMISEE 2 BAT > HARIB
RME - REBETIHIIBEIEL
BHZHE - AN E A
AR A (ARBRME)
ZHHEAG)ERSE ([X
8. ) OFHEHE - HZ
FFHRHEGR RS EREF
P BT F M AN AR B A (5) &
RHAHMEAAREBE 2 B#
ERRRIITENETT T HE

MEFHEN 2B ] 28EA QA
TR 2 AR BCREE 8 3 W B R
RAEMZ B ZEEZHTF
HABREEER (TREE
R=RE) WEEHETSING
BEn) P EREERSIMMABIGR



320

CHINA EVERBRIGHT WATER LIMITED
PR ARKBERDE

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

AR

FRGEM

“Maximum Limit” means the number of Shares
representing 10 per cent (10%) of the total number
of issued Shares as at the date of the passing of this
Resolution (excluding any treasury shares and any Shares
held by subsidiaries of the Company in the circumstances
referred to in Sections 21(4), 21(4B), 21(6A) and 21(6C) of
the Singapore Companies Act); and

“Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be
purchased or acquired, means the purchase price
(excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods
and services tax and other related expenses), which
shall not exceed:

0] in the case of a market purchase of a Share,
five per cent (56%) above the Average Closing
Price; and

(i) in the case of an off-market purchase of a
Share, five per cent (5%) above the Average
Closing Price; and

the Directors and each of them be hereby authorised
to complete and do all such acts and things (including,
but not limited to, executing all such agreements and
documents as may be required in connection with this
Resolution and the Share Buy-back Mandate) as they or
he/she may consider necessary, desirable or expedient
or in the interests of the Company to give effect to this
Resolution and the Share Buy-back Mandate.

(See Explanatory Note vi)

(Resolution 8)

9. Renewal of the interested person transaction mandate

That:

(@)

approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of
Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual (“Chapter 9”),
for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated
companies that are entities at risk (as defined in Chapter
9), or any of them, to enter into any of the transactions
falling within the categories of interested person
transactions described in Appendix 1 to the Company’s
Circular to Shareholders dated 28 March 2025 (the
“Circular”) with any party who is of the class of interested
persons described in Appendix 1 to the Circular, provided
that such transactions are made on normal commercial
terms and in accordance with the review procedures for
such interested person transactions (the “IPT Mandate”);
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(b) the renewal of the IPT Mandate above shall unless
revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting,
continue in force until the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company; and

(c) the Directors and each of them be hereby authorised
to complete and do all such acts and things
(including, but not limited to, executing all such
agreements and documents as may be required in
connection with this Resolution and the IPT Mandate)
as they or he/she may consider necessary, desirable
or expedient or in the interests of the Company to
give effect to this Resolution and the IPT Mandate.

(See Explanatory Note vij)
(Resolution 9)

10.  To transact any other ordinary business which may be
properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

China Everbright Water Limited
Kwan Yun Fui
Legal Counsel and Joint Company Secretary

Singapore and Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

Notes:

1. The Annual General Meeting will be held, in a wholly physical format, at
Pan Pacific Singapore, Ocean 4 & 5 Room, Level 2, 7 Raffles Boulevard,
Marina Square, Singapore 039595 on Wednesday, 23 April 2025 at
9:30 a.m. (Singapore time). There will be no option for Shareholders to
participate in the Annual General Meeting via electronic means.

Arrangements relating to the submission of questions to the Chairman
of the Annual General Meeting in advance of the Annual General
Meeting and the addressing of substantial and relevant questions
(if any) at the Annual General Meeting are set out in the Circular.

2. A member of the Company (other than The Central Depository (Pte)
Limited) entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting and who
holds two or more Shares shall be entitled to appoint not more than two
proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member
of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, he/she shall specify the proportion
of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be
represented by each proxy respectively.
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The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand
of the appointer or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it
must be executed under its common seal or under the hand of its attorney
or duly authorised officer.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, together with the power of
attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or certified copy
thereof, must be:

(i) if submitted by post, deposited at the Company’s Singapore Share
Transfer Agent, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd.,
at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore
098632 (in the case of Singapore Shareholders), or the Company’s
Hong Kong Share Registrar and Transfer Office, Boardroom Share
Registrars (HK) Limited at 2103B, 21/F., 148 Electric Road, North
Point, Hong Kong (in the case of Hong Kong Shareholders); or

(ii) if submitted electronically, submitted to the Company’s Singapore
Share Transfer Agent, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services
Pte. Ltd., at CEWLAGM2025@boardroomlimited.com (in the case
of Singapore Shareholders) or the Company’s Hong Kong Share
Registrar and Transfer Office, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK)
Limited, at srinfo.hk@boardroomlimited.com (in the case of Hong
Kong Shareholders),

in either case, at least 72 hours before the time set for the Annual
General Meeting.

The Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“2024 Annual Report”) and the Circular may be accessed at the
Company'’s website at (www.ebwater.com) as follows:

0] for the 2024 Annual Report, by going to “Investor Relations” and
clicking on the hyperlink “Annual & Interim Reports”; and

(ii) for the Circular, by going to “Investor Relations” and clicking on the
hyperlink “Announcements & Circulars — SGX” or “Announcements
& Circulars — HKEX”.

Copies of the 2024 Annual Report and the Circular may also be accessed
on the SGXNet (www.sgx.com) and the website of Hong Kong Exchanges

and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hkK).

Explanatory Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

Detailed information relating to Mr. Tao Junjie is set out on page 47 of the
2024 Annual Report and in the section entitled “Biographical Details of
Directors” and Appendix 2 of the Circular.

Detailed information relating to Ms. Hao Gang is set out on page 50 of
the 2024 Annual Report and in the section entitled “Biographical Details of
Directors” and Appendix 2 of the Circular.

Detailed information relating to Ms. Chan Pui Shan Sandy is set out
on page 53 of the 2024 Annual Report and in the section entitled
“Biographical Details of Directors” and Appendix 2 of the Circular.
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(V)

(vii)

The Ordinary Resolution 6 proposed in item 6 is to authorise the Directors,
subject to the applicable regulations as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST
and the SEHK, from the date of the above Meeting until the next Annual
General Meeting to allot and issue Shares and convertible securities in
the Company up to an amount not exceeding in aggregate 50 per cent
(50%) of the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares of the
Company, of which the total number of Shares and convertible securities
issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders shall not
exceed 20 per cent (20%) of the total number of issued Shares excluding
treasury shares of the Company at the time the resolution is passed, for
such purposes as they consider would be in the interests of the Company.
This authority will, unless revoked or varied at a General Meeting, expire at
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Pursuant to the Special General Meeting of the Company held on
28 October 2005, the Shareholders approved the passing of the ordinary
resolution relating to the Scrip Dividend Scheme. In the circular dated
11 October 2005, the Scrip Dividend Scheme provides the Shareholders
with the option to elect to receive Shares in lieu of the cash amount of any
dividend declared on their holding of Shares. The Ordinary Resolution 7
proposed in item 7, if passed, will empower the Directors to allot and
issue Shares in the Company pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Scrip Dividend Scheme.

The Company intends to use internal sources of funds, external borrowings
or a combination of internal resources and external borrowings, to finance
the purchases or acquisitions of its Shares. The amount of financing
required for the Company to purchase or acquire its Shares, and the
impact on the Company’s financial position, cannot be ascertained as
at the date of this Notice as these will depend on, inter alia, the manner
in which the purchase or acquisition is funded, the aggregate number of
Shares purchased or acquired, and the consideration paid at the relevant
time. For illustrative purposes only, the financial effects of an assumed
purchase or acquisition by the Company of 10 per cent (10%) of its issued
Shares excluding treasury shares of the Company as at 17 March 2025, at
a purchase price equivalent to the Maximum Price per Share, based on the
audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
financial year ended 31 December 2024 and certain assumptions, are set
out in the section entitled “Financial Effects” of the Circular.

The Ordinary Resolution 9 proposed in item 9 is to approve the renewal of
the IPT Mandate to enable the Company, its subsidiaries and associated
companies that are entities at risk (as defined in Chapter 9 of the
SGX-ST Listing Manual), or any of them, to enter into certain interested
person transactions with specified classes of interested persons, as
described in the Circular. Please refer to the Circular for more details.

Personal data privacy:

By submitting a proxy form appointing the Chairman of the AGM as a proxy to
attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member
of the Company consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s
personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing
and administration by the Company (or its agents) of the appointment of the
Chairman of the AGM as proxy for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof)
and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other
documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order
for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules,
regulations and/or guidelines.

(iv)

(Vi)

(Vi)
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